
 
City Commission Agenda

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Great Falls, MT
Commission Chambers Room 206

September 18, 2018

CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS

AGENDA APPROVAL

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
(Public comment on any matter that is not on the agenda of the meeting and that is within the jurisdiction of the City Commission. Please
keep your remarks to a maximum of 3 minutes. When at the podium, state your name and address for the record.)

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Boards and Commissions.

CITY MANAGER

4. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Manager.

CONSENT AGENDA
The Consent Agenda is made up of routine day-to-day items that require Commission action. Items may be pulled from the Consent Agenda
for separate discussion/vote by any Commissioner.

5. Minutes, September 4, 2018, Commission Meeting.

6. Total Expenditures of $1,687,361 for the period of August 15, 2018 through September
5, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $1,300,669.

7. Contracts List.

8. Approve Change Order #1 in the amount of $148.64 for the ADA Handicap Ramps 2nd
Street NW project, and Approve final payment in the amount of $16,372.40 to United
Materials of Great Falls and $165.37 to the State Miscellaneous Tax Fund, and authorize
the City Manager to make the payments.

9. Not award a contract for the Public Works Facilities Repairs project at this time and
recommend staff re-bid the project in early 2019. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 1 of 351                                     



10. Approve the Amendment to the Citywide 911 Emergency Ambulance Services Contract
with Great Falls Emergency Services.

Action:  Approve Consent Agenda as presented or remove items for separate discussion and/or vote

PUBLIC HEARINGS

11. Resolution 10255, Establish Residential and Commercial Water, Sewer, and Storm
Drain Utility Service rates effective October 1, 2018.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10255. (Presented by Jim Rearden and
Melissa Kinzler)

12. Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase 1. Action: Conduct joint public hearing. (Presented by
Craig Raymond)
 
I. Resolution 10268, annexing a 21.10 acre tract identified as Parcel 1 on Certificate of
Survey #5162.  Action: Adopt or deny Res. 10268 and the accompanying Findings of
Fact.
 
II. Ordinance 3180, establishing Planned Unit Development zoning and the
accompanying Findings of Fact.  Action: Adopt or deny Ord. 3180 and the
accompanying Findings of Fact.
 
III. Preliminary Plat for the 40-lot Major Subdivision and the accompanying Findings of
Fact. Action: Approve or deny the Preliminary Plat and Findings of Fact. 

13. Ordinance 3188, Repealing and Replacing Title 10, of The Official Code of The City of
Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining To Vehicles and Traffic.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Ord. 3188. (Presented by Sara Sexe)

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

14. Resolution 10248, Levy and Assess Properties within the Business Improvement
District.
Action: Adopt or deny Res. 10248. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

15. Resolution 10249, Levy and Assess Properties within the Tourism Business
Improvement District.
Action: Adopt or deny Res. 10249. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

16. Resolution 10269, repealing Resolution 10241 adopted August 21, 2018;
Resolution 10270, fixing the Annual Tax Levy.
Action: Adopt or deny Res. 10269 and adopt or deny Res. 10270. (Presented by Melissa
Kinzler)

17. Ordinance 3192, Amending Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 2, Section 050 of The Official
Code of The City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining to Burden of Proof.
Action: Adopt or deny Ord. 3192. (Presented by Sara Sexe)

18. Ordinance 3193, to assign PUD Planned Unit Development zoning to the properties
legally described as Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended Plat of Lot 4 of the Medical Tech

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 2 of 351                                     



Park Minor Subdivision.
Action: Accept or deny Ord. 3193 on first reading and set a public hearing for October 16,
2018. (Presented by Craig Raymond)

CITY COMMISSION

19. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Commission.

20. Commission Initiatives.

ADJOURNMENT
(Please exit the chambers as quickly as possible. Chamber doors will be closed 5 minutes after adjournment of the meeting.) Commission
meetings are televised on cable channel 190. If a video recording is available it will be posted on the City's website
at https://greatfallsmt.net after the meeting. City Commission meetings are re-aired on cable channel 190 the following Wednesday morning
at 10 am, and the following Tuesday evening at 7 pm.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 3 of 351                                     

https://greatfallsmt.net


Agenda # 5.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Minutes, September 4, 2018, City Commission Meeting

From: City Clerk's Office

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Draft Minutes, September 4, 2018 Commission Meeting

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 4 of 351                                     

Cl 



JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS
September 4, 2018

Regular City Commission Meeting
Commission Chambers Room 206

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

City Commission members present:  Bob Kelly, Bill Bronson, Owen Robinson, Tracy Houck and
Mary Sheehy Moe.  Also present were Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson; Deputy City Clerk
Darcy Dea; Public Works Engineer Dave Dobbs; Planning and Community Development Director
Craig Raymond; Library Director Kathy Mora; Finance Director Melissa Kinzler; Park and
Recreation Director Steve Herrig; City Attorney Sara Sexe; and Police Chief Dave Bowen.

AGENDA APPROVAL

No changes were proposed by the Deputy City Manager or City Commission.  The agenda was
approved as submitted.

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

Commissioner Bronson announced that he would be abstaining from the vote and participation in
discussion with regard to Agenda Item 13.

PROCLAMATIONS

Constitution Week, Down Syndrome Awareness Month and Vets4Vets Month.

Mayor Kelly announced that the Vets4Vets Stand Down would be on September 28 and 29 at
the Montana Expo Park.

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements.

Aaron Weissman, 315 4th Avenue North, commented that it is important to have a municipal
aquatics program that provides recreational, as well as athletic opportunities, for the community. 
Mr. Weissman requested that the Commission present a detailed replacement plan before closing
the Natatorium.

Shyla Patera, 1013 7th Avenue NW, commented that she would like to continue a community
conversation about either keeping the Natatorium open or replacing it.

Bob Sechena, 1526 Central Avenue, expressed concern that citizens will not have the
opportunity to learn how to swim if the Natatorium closes. 

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 5 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Pam Peck, 916 7th Avenue North, commented that having an indoor municipal pool is important
to the health of the community.
 
Diane Trescott, 820 2nd Avenue SW, commented that the Natatorium is the only place available
for citizens to get exercise.
 
Barbara Linn, 1507 High Street, commented that no other swimming facilities have an easy
access into the pool, and having the Natatorium open during the winter months is important.
 
Lori Wurtz, 57 Hardy Creek Lane, Cascade, MT, explained that she drives from Cascade to
swim at the Natatorium, and that others outside the community appreciate the pool.  Ms. Wurtz
referred to a previous study that outlined the recommendations needed to keep the Natatorium in
good shape, and inquired the status of how many of the recommendations were followed.
 
Barbara Bozung, 5501 Songbird Lane, commented that the Natatorium is the only pool that has
dedicated swim time for citizens with disabilities.
 
Becky Monroe, 1801 2nd Avenue North, explained that the Natatorium is the only pool deep
enough for Malmstrom Air Force to do scuba lessons. Ms. Monroe expressed concern with
citizens losing jobs at the Natatorium.
 
Bob Stingley, 221 4th Avenue North, Great Falls High School (GFHS) Pool Manager,
commented that the Natatorium, Peak and GFHS are the only three indoor pools in the
community, and that each pool serves a diverse population.  Mr. Stingley explained that GFHS
would try to accommodate the citizens that utilized the Natatorium.                               

Hildreth Grimes, 926 Avenue B NW, commented that swimming has helped her to be able to
walk, and would like the Natatorium to remain open.
 
John Hubbard, 615 7th Avenue South, pointed out that Mr. Ron Gessaman had passed away,
and noted that he was a good, honest man.  Mr. Hubbard expressed opposition with regard to
water rate increases.  With regard to the Natatorium, Mr. Hubbard opined that it would be
cheaper to repair than to build a new facility.
 
Karen and Mike Kaszula, 2416 2nd Avenue North, commented that it is important to have an
indoor community pool.
 
Chris Hunter, 2600 4th Avenue South, commented that the Natatorium is a gathering place for
the community, and keeps kids off the street.  Mr. Hunter opined  that a community this size
should be able to keep an indoor pool open all year long.
 
Carlie Boland, 1215 6th Avenue North, Montana State Senate, representing District 12,
reported that she was contacted by several citizens about the importance of the Natatorium. 
Senator Boland encouraged the Commission to consider the pool at the Montana School for the
Deaf and Blind as possible solution.
 
Donna Williams, 2916 2nd Avenue North, thanked the Commission for its hard work with
regard to passing the budget.  With regard to the assessment process of the budget, Ms. Williams
encouraged the Commission to consider the resources that are available, as well as to utilize
money from the budget efficiently in order to serve all citizens fairly.
 
Corrine Tucker, 4233 3rd Avenue North, commented that there are several citizens that depend
on the Natatorium for exercise.  Ms. Tucker expressed concern with regard to the high cost to
swim at the Peak.

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 6 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 
Mayor Kelly explained that closing the Natatorium had been discussed at prior meetings, as well
as budget meetings.  Keeping the Natatorium functioning is a public safety issue, as well as
a financial issue.  Referring to a previous speakers comments about how many recommendations
were followed from a previous study, Mayor Kelly responded that the Clerk's office could be
contacted to research the request.
 
Referring to Senator Boland's comments, Mayor Kelly reported that considering the pool at
the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind as an alternative to provide exercise, therapy, and
lessons, is one of many solutions staff is looking into.
 
Commissioner Houck commented that previous Natatorium fundraising money could still be
utilized for finding an alternate solution.
 
Referring to the August 30, 2018 memorandum from Manager Doyon regarding the City
Aquatics Program options, Commissioner Moe commented that the report verified that putting
more money into the Natatorium in order to make it safe was throwing good money after bad. 
Commissioner Moe added that she feels an obligation to the community who rely on an indoor
pool for health, and explained that the City is working hard to find an interim plan.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

Shyla Patera, 1013 7th Avenue NW, reported that Neighborhood Council 2 had taken a break
over the summer, and would be meeting on September 12 at 7:00 p.m. at West Elementary
School.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Reappointment, Design Review Board.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission reappoint Tyson Kraft to the Design Review Board for a three-year term
through March 31, 2021.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Bronson commented that Mr. Kraft takes his job very seriously and contributes to
the successful operation of the Design Review Board.
 
There being no further discussion,  Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0

4. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Boards and Commissions.

Joan Redeen, Great Falls Business Improvement District (BID), 318 Central Avenue, provided

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 7 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



and discussed the BID's ten year report.  Ms. Redeen reported that in 2009 the total tax
valuation of all of the properties located within the BID boundaries was $65,433,684 and most
recently was $110,547,999 in 2018.  The BID boundaries have not changed, however individual
parcels are now Residential Condominiums.

CITY MANAGER

5. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Manager.

Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson announced that:
 

The second session of City 101 was held August 30th and the third session will be held
September 27th.
Two positions are available for the Board of Adjustments.
The Police Department will be swearing in two new officers, Christopher Brown and
Anthony Formell on September 5th.
The Cascade County Humane Society thanked the Animal Shelter for providing volunteers
for its spay neuter clinic.
City Manager Greg Doyon is on vacation until September 10th.
The adjusted certified taxable valuation was received from the Montana Department of
Revenue; however, as a result of the change, Resolution 10241 will be rescinded at the
September 18th Commission meeting.

 
Deputy Manager Anderson discussed the August 30, 2018 memorandum from Manager Doyon
regarding the City Aquatics Program options, and announced that the memorandum would be
available in the Manager's Weekly Packet. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA

6. Minutes, August 21, 2018, Commission Meeting.

7. Total Expenditures of $2,417,739 for the period of August 1, 2018 through
August 22, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $2,151,804.

8. Contracts List.

9. Approve the purchase of one new 2019 Toro Groundsmaster 5900-D mower
for $93,414.55, including trade-in, from Midland Implement Company, Inc., of
Billings, through National IPA (National Intergovernmental Purchasing
Alliance Company).

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 8 of 351                                     Attachment # 1

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 
• 



10. Approve the purchase of two Freightliner M2-106 bucket trucks for a total of
$231,900 from Altec NUECO.

11. Approve final payment for the West Bank Sanitary Sewer Manhole Lining, in
the amount of $13,207.14 to CIP Construction Technologies and $133.41 to the
State Miscellaneous Tax Fund and authorize the City Manager to make
the payments.

OF
1695.6

Commissioner Moe moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City Commission
approve the Consent Agenda as presented.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.

Motion carried 5-0

PUBLIC HEARINGS

12. Resolution 10247, to Levy and Assess the Great Falls Park District
Number 1.

Finance Director Melissa Kinzler reported that on June 5, 2018, the Commission adopted
Resolution 10238 creating the Great Falls Park District Number 1.  According to Mont. Code
Ann.(MCA), prior to annually levying assessments the Commission must adopt a budget and
Resolution establishing the annual assessment for the District.  The annual assessment will be
based on a taxable value of each parcel in the district.   The annual assessment for FY 2019 will
be $1.5 million, and the estimated annual assessment for a $100,000 market value property
would be $22.92.
 
Commissioner Robinson stepped out at 8:30 p.m. and returned at 8:32 p.m.

Mayor Kelly  declared the public hearing open.
 
Speaking in support of Resolution 10247 was:
 
Tim Hodges, 108 32nd Avenue NE, commented that it is critical to start making a difference in
the parks.
 
Speaking in opposition to Resolution 10247 was:
 
John Hubbard, 615 7th Avenue South, expressed opposition to an increase in taxes.
 
Mayor Kelly closed the public hearing and asked the will of the Commission.

Commissioner Robinson moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 9 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Commission adopt Resolution 10247.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck commented that Resolution 10247 is the beginning of a social investment
in the community.
 
Mayor Kelly reiterated that the assessment is for one year, and will be assessed every year as
long as the Park District is in place.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

13. Medical Tech Major Subdivision, Preliminary Plat and Accompanying
Findings of Fact.

Planning and Community Development Director Craig Raymond reported that the applicant,
NeighborWorks Great Falls (NWGF) is proposing the annexation, establishment of Planned Unit
Development (PUD) zoning, and preliminary plat of a major subdivision on two parcels of land
that total approximately 20.5 acres. The subject properties are undeveloped land located in
Cascade County adjacent to Great Falls along 20th Street South and 24th Avenue South. The
applicant is proposing an 85-lot subdivision, fully developed with the establishment of several
proposed roadways and alleys to access the lots, sidewalks to create pedestrian circulation, and
City utilities to provide services to the subject properties.
 
There are two distinct types of lots with specific goals and market targets for each type. At least
50 of the proposed 85 lots will be fairly typical single family dwellings which are called "alley-
loaded." The balance of the lots will have what is known as “cottage style” homes located on
them that are designed primarily for entry level first time home buyers or empty nesters who do
not wish to maintain large homes or properties. The lots which these homes are to be located are
under the typical R-3 zoning minimum lot size requirement. This and the desire for a variety of
product types are the reason why the applicant is requesting PUD zoning. The PUD zoning
designation provides the Commission the opportunity to allow a tailored approach to incentivize
the development of certain identified residential needs in the city. In this case, a higher density
than what ordinarily might be sought will help incentivize affordable workforce housing and home
ownership goals. What makes developments like this work are multiple points of access to the
City’s existing and future transportation network, however the subdivision has one issue which
staff finds to be concerning. The location of the subdivision is located in an area that has a
roughly 7 and a half minute emergency response time.

Staff and the developer have worked through a detailed Improvement Agreement which defines
the roles and responsibilities of the developer and the City. The Agreement spells out what
improvements are required by the City and who shall pay for them. For the most part, the
developer shall pay for all street, water, sewer and storm water improvements which are
necessary to support this development. The City will pay for upsizing of utility lines as may be
specifically requested by the City for utility continuity and future growth. The City also intends to
purchase one of the subject lots to keep in reserve for a possible future water pump station that
may be needed in the future. 
 
Commissioner Bronson stepped out at 8:35 p.m. and returned at 8:38 p.m.

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 10 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Mayor Kelly declared the public hearing open.
 
Speaking in support of the Preliminary Plat was:
 
Sherrie Arey,  NeighborWorks Great Falls, 509 1st Avenue South, expressed appreciation to City
staff, and Planning and Community Development Planner Erin Borland for their
diligence working through the project.  Ms. Arey commented that the 85-lot subdivision will help
with housing stock in the community.
 
No one spoke in opposition to the Preliminary Plat.

Mayor Kelly closed the public hearing and asked the will of the Commission.

Commissioner Houck moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission approve the Preliminary Plat for the Medical Tech Subdivision and the
accompanying Findings of Fact subject to fulfillment of conditions stipulated by the
Planning Advisory Board.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck received clarification that the Kranz property concept was utilized for the
Medical Tech Major Subdivision.
 
Commissioner Robinson expressed concern with regard to the emergency response time, and
commented that when expanding new areas, public safety for the City needs to be well
addressed.
 
Commissioner Moe expressed concern of possible congestion with parking  exacerbating the
emergency response time, however there is an improvement in the streets with the multiple
avenues of egress.
 
Mayor Kelly received clarification that the City intends to purchase one of the subject lots to
keep in reserve for a possible water pump station that may be needed in the future.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 4-0-1 (Commissioner Bronson abstaining)

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

14. Library Boiler and Controls Replacement Project. OF
621.1

Planning and Community Development Director Craig Raymond reported that in August, 2017,
the City entered into a contract with McKinstry to perform an energy audit of numerous City
facilities including the Civic Center, Library, Downtown Parking Facilities, Police Station and

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 11 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Fire Stations. The audit resulted in a large and comprehensive list of energy savings projects as
well as required improvements due to years of deferred maintenance, safety and code compliance
issues. After the initial audit was completed, staff worked with McKinstry to focus and prioritize
a list of improvements. McKinstry subsequently solicited competitive bids from area sub-
contractors based on the prioritized list of projects. The City could not tackle the entire list of
projects due to budget constraints, and this particular project is critical in nature if the Library is
to remain viable and open to the public.  The initial competitive bids have expired due to the
amount of time that has lapsed since they were originally submitted. New bids were obtained and
the correct amounts are reflected in the contract.
 
Commissioner Houck stepped out at 8:50 p.m. and returned at 8:53 p.m.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission award a contract for the Library Boiler and Controls Replacement Project
to McKinstry Essention, LLC in the amount of $459,000 and authorize the City Manager
to execute said contract.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Bronson reported that the project was being funded through reserves that the
Library had been accumulating for the past few years, and commented that the project is much
needed.
 
Commissioner Robinson commented that starting the project is urgent since the Library would be
without heat.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

15. Ordinance 3188, Repealing and Replacing Title 10, Of The Official Code
Of The City Of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining To Vehicles and
Traffic.

City Attorney Sara Sexe reported that in an effort to update the Official Code of the City of
Great Falls (OCCGF), staff has assembled input from the different departments to continue a
comprehensive revision of the Code. Ordinance 3188 would repeal and replace OCCGF Title
10, pertaining to vehicles and traffic. Non-substantive changes include chapter re-designation to
put chapters in correct numerical order, typographical errors, and reformatting of subsections. 

The first proposed substantive change is relocating all definitions applicable to the Title to
Chapter 1. Staff is proposing this change to improve readability and organization.  The next
substantive proposed change is adopting specific penalty provisions throughout the Title.  Other
proposed substantive changes include updating payment options for parking meters and amending
parking violations to include violation of parking facility lease rules. 

Ordinance 3188 proposes to require Montana Department of Transportation (MDT) approval

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 12 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



for traffic control devices placed on MDT rights-of-way.  Another proposed substantive change is
to allow the City Parking Administrator, in consultation with the Parking Advisory Commission,
to add meters in Commission established parking districts.  Ordinance 3188 would allow the
Parking Administrator to remove commercial loading zones when loading zones are creating
traffic hazards, as well as allowing the Public Works Department, in conjunction with the Police
Department, to remove vehicles that are parked in construction zones.

Commissioner Houck moved, seconded by Commissioner Bronson, that the City
Commission accept Ordinance 3188 on first reading and set the public hearing for
September 18, 2018.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Robinson requested that  Eighth Avenue North be changed to a through street,
and eventually change the speed limit from 25 mph up to 30 mph, and that he would 
discuss syntax concerns with City Attorney Sexe.
 
City Attorney Sexe responded that syntax changes could be discussed and certain changes could
be incorporated into Ordinance 3188.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

16. Ordinance 3192, Amending Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 2, Section 050 of
The Official Code of The City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining to
Burden of Proof.

City Attorney Sara Sexe reported that the Board of Adjustment (BOA) is the quasi-judicial body
that hears appeals regarding Land Use Decisions, as well as appeal decisions regarding allocation
of Community Development Block Grant funds. The burden of proof conducted by the BOA is
established by the Official Code of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF). 

The proposed amendment would require the individual or applicant appealing a decision to the
BOA to maintain the burden of proving the decision which is being appealed should be reversed
or modified.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission accept Ordinance 3192 on first reading and set the second reading for
September 18, 2018.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 13 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



CITY COMMISSION

17. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Commission.

None

18. Commission Initiatives.

None

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before the Commission, Mayor Kelly moved, seconded by
Commissioner Houck, to adjourn the regular meeting of September 4, 2018, at 9:05 p.m.

Motion carried 5-0

 
 

_________________________________
Mayor Bob Kelly

 
 

 _________________________________
City Clerk Lisa Kunz

 
Minutes Approved:
September 18, 2018DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 14 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 6.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Total Expenditures of $1,687,361 for the period of August 15, 2018 through September 5, 2018, to
include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $1,300,669.

From: Fiscal Services

Initiated By: City Commission

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Fiscal Services Director

ATTACHMENTS:

5000 Report

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 15 of 351                                     

D 



Agenda # 6

Commission Meeting Date: September 18,2018

CITY OF GREAT FALLS

COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT

ITEM: $5,000 Report

Invoices and Claims in Excess of $5,000

PRESENTED BY: Finance Director

ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval with Consent Agenda

LISTING OF ALL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECKS ISSUED AVAILABLE ONLINE AT 

https://greatfallsmt.net/finance/checkregister

TOTAL CHECKS ISSUED AND WIRE TRANSFERS MADE ARE NOTED BELOW WITH AN

ITEMIZED LISTING OF ALL TRANSACTIONS GREATER THAN $5000:

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECK RUNS FROM AUGUST 23, 2018 - SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 1,641,776.51

MUNICIPAL COURT ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR AUGUST 15, 2018 - AUGUST 31, 2018 45,584.00

 

TOTAL:  $ 1,687,360.51

GENERAL FUND

POLICE

A T KLEMENS INSTALL NEW RTU AT PD 9,163.00

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

SUPPORT & INNOVATION

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS JULY 2018 TAX DISTRIBUTION 12,568.59

 IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

911 SPECIAL REVENUE

CENTURYLINK DISPATCH MONTHLY LINE CHARGES 5,840.80

STREET DISTRICT

GREAT FALLS SAND & GRAVEL ASPHALTIC CONCRETE MATERIAL 67,434.52

ENNIS-FLINT INC PAVEMENT MARKING SUPPLIES 16,921.98

WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL OF 1476.6 VINYARD ROAD STORM WATER 5,362.86

TECHNOLOGIES INC MANAGEMENT (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

KUGLIN CONSTRUCTION OF 1730.2 ADA HANDICAP RAMPS 71,209.49

LIBRARY

OCLC ONLINE COMPUTER LIBRARY FY 2019 SERVICE CONTRACT 5,905.63

CENTER INC   

Page 1 of 3

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 16 of 351                                     Attachment # 1

https://greatfallsmt.net/finance/checkregister


ENTERPRISE FUNDS

WATER

TD&H ENGINEERING OF1494.6 WATER MAIN CROSSINGS UNDER 36,908.92

THE UPPER MISSOURI & SUN RIVER

ADVANCED ENGINEERING & OF 1699 WATER/SEWER COST OF SERVICE 8,797.12

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES STUDY (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

ADVANCED ENGINEERING & OF1625 WATER STORAGE TANK 34,251.09

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES EVALUATION PHASE 1

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SOFTWARE USER PACK SUBSCRIPTION 1,225.00

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SHARED HOSTING (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS) 50.00

INDUSTRIAL AUTOMATION CONSULTING OF 1519.6 WTP IMPROVEMENTS PHASE 1 27,231.35

UV & CHEMICAL BLDG, SURGE TANK & 

ELECTRICAL BLDG

BLACK & VEATCH CORP OF 1519.6 WTP IMPROVEMENT PHASE 1 67,703.13

CONSTRUCTION

LANDMARK STRUCTURES OF 1625.2 GORE HILL TANK REPLACEMENT 225,357.91

SEWER

CIP CONSTRUCTION TECHNOLOGIES OF 1695.6 WEST BANK SANITARY SEWER 5,931.73

MANHOLE LINING

ADVANCED ENGINEERING & OF 1699 WATER/SEWER COST OF SERVICE 8,797.13

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES STUDY (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SOFTWARE USER PACK SUBSCRIPTION 1,225.00

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SHARED HOSTING (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS) 50.00

STORM DRAIN

WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL OF 1476.6 VINYARD ROAD STORM WATER 17,177.14

TECHNOLOGIES INC MANAGEMENT (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

  

SWIMMING POOLS

CTA ARCHITECTS ENGINEERS OF 1393.7 NATATORIUM FAÇADE 5,087.79

EVALUATION

RECREATION

BIG SKY BUS LINES, INC SUMMER CAMPS BUS TRANSPORTATION 6,630.00

Page 2 of 3

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 17 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



INTERNAL SERVICES FUND

HEALTH & BENEFITS

LEIF ASSOCIATES INC ACTUARIAL SERVICES GASB 75 7,500.00

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

SITEIMPROVE, INC. 1 YEAR SITEIMPROVE SUBSCRIPTION 8,740.00

CENTRAL GARAGE

NORTHWEST FUEL SYSTEMS OF1455.9 PW FUEL TANK PURCHASE/ 61,689.21

 INSTALL

MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP FUEL 21,212.40

PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SOFTWARE USER PACK SUBSCRIPTION 50.00

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

CARTEGRAPH SYSTEMS SHARED HOSTING (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS) 4,900.00

TRUST AND AGENCY

COURT TRUST MUNICIPAL COURT

CITY OF GREAT FALLS FINES & FORFEITURES COLLECTIONS 33,147.50

PAYROLL CLEARING 

STATE TREASURER MONTANA TAXES 54,028.00

ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 8,149.22

US BANK FEDERAL TAXES, FICA & MEDICARE 237,105.31

AFLAC EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 10,304.36

LABORERS INTERNATIONAL UNION EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 30,094.09

WESTERN CONF OF TEAMSTERS EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 17,555.13

MONTANA OE - CI TRUST FUND EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 28,738.09

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 27,770.72

MONTANA VEBA HRA EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 11,597.72

UTILITY BILLS

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY AUGUST 2018 MONTHLY SLD CHARGES 64,831.30

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY JUNE 2018 TRANSMISSION CHARGES 8,923.79

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY JULY 2018 WATER PLANT CHARGES 23,502.26

CLAIMS OVER $5000 TOTAL: $ 1,300,669.28

Page 3 of 3

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 18 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 7.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Contracts List

From: City Clerk's Office

Initiated By: Various Departments

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Contracts List

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 19 of 351                                     

D 



 

 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA                                                                                                                 AGENDA:     7                                               

 

COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION                     DATE: September 18, 2018 

 

ITEM:    CONTRACTS LIST 

Itemizing contracts not otherwise approved or ratified by City Commission Action 

(Listed contracts are available for inspection in the City Clerk’s Office.) 

 

PRESENTED BY:   Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Ratification of Contracts through the Consent Agenda 

 

MAYOR’S SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________                                                                       

 

CONTRACTS LIST 

 
 
 

 
DEPARTMENT 

 
OTHER PARTY (PERSON 

OR ENTITY) 

 
PERIOD 

 
AMOUNT 

 
PURPOSE 

A 

Great Falls Police 

Department 

Ron Smith & Associates, 

Inc. 

09/18/2018-

10/31/2018 

$2,400 Professional Services Agreement to 

provide a training session on the 

Fundamentals of Crime Scene 

Examination and Evidence Collection, 

October 22-26, 2018 

 

B 

Great Falls Police 

Department 

Ron Smith & Associates, 

Inc. 

09/18/2018 – 

09/28/2018 

$1,600 Professional Services Agreement to 

provide a training session on Forensic 

Examination of Violent Crime Scenes, 

September 24-26, 2018 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 20 of 351                                     Attachment # 1

I I 



C 

Planning and 

Community 

Development 

Kendall G. & Maxima S. Cox 09/18/2018 

 

N/A Public Roadway Easement providing for 

a temporary vehicular turnaround and 

access for residents of West Ridge Phase 

VIII, beginning at the northwest corner of 

Lot 9, Block 6, West Ridge Addition 

Phase VIII to the City of Great Falls, and 

shall be vacated upon mutual agreement 

of the parties, in writing, upon the 

extension of Choteau Avenue NE to the 

west of the plat of West Ridge Addition 

Phase VIII 

 

D 

Administration – 

City – 190 

Municipal Code Corporation  

(Municode) 

Annual 

Subscription 

with auto 

renewal 

$7,000/yr Master Subscription Agreement for 

online meeting and agenda management 

services and support 

 

E 

Public Works Great Falls Public Schools 

District 1 & A 

Permanent N/A Maintenance Agreement for Private 

Stormwater Treatment System located at 

Sun Addition, Block 001, C M Russell 

School, in the NW1/4 of Section 2, 

T20N, R3E, PM MT, Cascade County, 

Montana, to maintain stormwater Best 

Management Practice (BMP’s) for a 

private stormwater treatment system 

associated with the 2018 CM Russell 

High School project 

 

  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 21 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



F 

Public Works 726 10
th
 Avenue Association, 

Inc. 
Permanent N/A Maintenance Agreement for Private 

Stormwater Treatment System located at 

Lots 3 & 4, Fifteenth Addition to Great 

Falls, NE¼ of Section 13, T20N, R3E, 

PM MT, Cascade County, Montana, 

(COS#5125/Special Warranty Deed 

#R0357039) to maintain stormwater Best 

Management Practice (BMP’s) for a 

private stormwater treatment system for 

Planet Fitness/Bostons Restaurant 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 22 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 8.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Change Order #1 and Final Payment - ADA Handicap Ramps 2nd Street NW, OF 1730.1

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approve Change Order #1 and Final Pay Request for Office File 1730.1

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:      
 

"I move that the City Commission (approve/not approve) Change Order #1 in the amount of
$148.64 for the ADA Handicap Ramps 2nd Street NW, and (approve/not approve)  Final Payment
in the amount of $16,372.40 to United Materials of Great Falls and $165.37 to the State
Miscellaneous Tax Fund and authorize the City Manager to make the payments."
 

2. Mayor calls for a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve Change Order #1 and Final Payment Request.
 

Summary:
This project installed sixteen curb ramps and sidewalk to establish an ADA accessible route in  a high
priority area as defined by the Public Right of Way ADA Transition Plan. Additionally the project
included replacement of curb and gutter and the installation of valley gutters within the project limits
along 2nd Street NW from Smelter Avenue to 17th Avenue NW.

Background:
Citizen Participation:
The construction activity required temporary closure of 2nd Street NW and the CMR High School
faculty parking lot entrance and exit. The closures were planned around the school year to interfere as
little as possible with school activity. Access to residences and businesses adjacent to construction zones
was maintained. Great Falls Public Schools was kept informed throughout the project.
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 23 of 351                                     



Workload Impacts:
The design phase engineering, plans and specifications were completed by the City Engineering staff
with assistance from the City Street Division. City Engineering staff provided construction phase
engineering services and project inspection. 
 
Purpose:
The primary objective of this project was to install sidewalk ramps at three intersections along 2nd
Street NW. These ramps are compliant with ADA requirements. In addition to the sidewalk ramp
installations, a driveway entrance was reconstructed for the CMR High School faculty parking lot.
Valley gutters were also installed and repaired as part of the project. Due to these installations, a
portion of 2nd Street NW and the adjacent intersections was reconstructed and 2nd street NW was
milled and overlaid from 17th Avenue to Smelter Avenue.
 
Project Work Scope:
This project consisted of replacing approximately 660 lineal feet of integral concrete curb and gutter,
1,430 square feet of four (4) -inch concrete sidewalk, 1,730 square feet of six (6) -inch concrete
sidewalk, 16 truncated domes, 1,815 square feet of six (6) -inch reinforced concrete valley gutter
installation and modification, and 2,620 square feet of sod replacement. The project was completed in
two mobilizations to ensure that access to the CMR faculty parking lot was maintained while school was
in session and to allow the Great Falls Public School's contractor to have unrestricted access through the
summer months for building construction.  
 
Evaluation and Selection Process:
Five (5) bids were received on August 23, 2017 with the bid prices ranging from $84,538.00 to
$175,542.00. United Materials of Great Falls submitted the low bid. The City Engineering staff
recommended award to United Materials and the City Commission awarded the contract on September
5, 2017.
 
Final Payment:
The final project cost is $84,686.64 which is $148.64 greater than the amount that was originally
awarded and approved. More sod than was anticipated was needed at the entrance to the faculty parking
lot and on a private lot to correctly grade the lawns. The Change Order will provide the contractor
compensation for the additional sod and associated labor.
 
Conclusion:
City staff recommends making the Final Payment and recommends approving the Change Order for the
ADA Handicap Ramps on 2nd Street NW to United Materials of Great Falls.
 
City staff verified that the contractor has completed all work and punch list items in accordance with the
plans and the contract. The project was completed within the contract time. The two year warranty
period started at the time of substantial completion, which was August 28, 2018.

Fiscal Impact:
Funding for this project is from the City street repair and maintenance funds. 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny the Final Payment and Change Order #1.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 24 of 351                                     



ATTACHMENTS:

OF 1730.1 final pay and change order #1

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 25 of 351                                     

D 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 26 of 351                                     Attachment # 1

f .. . 

APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT NO. -F1nal Pav Request 

To: Citv of Great Falls 
From: United Materials of Great Falls 
Contract: ADA Handicap Ramps iia St NW 
Project: ADA Handicap R,rnps 

., 

' 

(OWNER) 
(CONI'RACTOR) 

OWNER.'s Contract No. OF 1730.1 ENGINBBR's Project No.=P~W34~ 1-8=03~-------
For.Worlc. accomplished through the date or. August 28. 2018. 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
s. 

6. 
7. 
8. 
9. 
10. 

Original Contract Price: 
Net change by Change Orders and Written Amendments (+or-): 
Cummt Contract Price (1 plus 2): 
Tot.al completed and stored to date: 
Retainage (per Agreement): 

_Q_ % of Completed Work: $-=0=.00..._ _____ _ 
_Q_ % of stored material: $ ___ ____ _ 

Total Retain.age: 
Total completed and stored to date less retainage (4 minus S): 
Less previous Applications for Payments: 
Gross Amount Due this application: (6 minus 7): 
Less 1 % State Gross Recefph Tu: 
DUE TRIS APPLICADON (8 MINUS 9): 

Accompanying Documentation; 
Pay Application quantities sheet 

CONTRACTOR'S Certification: 

$84.538.00 

$0.00 
$ 84.686.64 
$68.148.86 

The undersigned CONTRACTOR certifies that (1) all previous progress payments received from OWNER on 
account of Work done under the Contract refetred to above have been applied on account to discharge 
CONTRACTOR'S legitimate obligations incurred in connection with Work covered by prior Applications for 
Payment numbered l through 1 inclusive; (2) title of all Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said 
Work or otherwise listed in or covered by this Application for Payment will pass to OWNER at time of payment free 
and clear of all Liens. secm:ity interests and encumbrances ( except such as are covered by a Bond acceptable to 
OWNER indemnifying OWNER against any such Lien, security intemrt or encumbrance); and (3) all Work covered 
by this Application for Payment is in accordance with the Contract Documents and not defective. 

Dated 8 ~ Z, ,/8 United Matqiak of Great Falls 

By. ,... 

Payment of the above AMOUNT DUE TillS APPLICATION is recommended. 

Dated e/zqje =-'City~~. ___.._-·<....U.Xt.O,...__ _ _ _ _ 

By; 

EJCDC No. 1910-8-E (1996 Edition) 
PR!p8l"Cd by the Engineers Joint Contract Doc:umeot.s Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the 
Construction Speci.fications Institute. Moadied by Che City of Great Falls to add items 9 and 10. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 27 of 351                                     Attachment # 1

Change Order 

No. ONE 

Date of i$Suance: .... Au-"-"g=us""'"t~3 ...... 1,=2=0 .... 18..._ ____ _ Effective Date: August 28, 2018 

ProJeet:OF 1730.1 A.DA I OWner. CltY. ot Great Falls 
Handicap Ramps 2ii0 Street NW 

Owner's Cont~ No.: 
O. F. fl30.1 

Contractor: United M~t('rlals of G~t falls; Inc. Date 9fContr~ct: 
9/8/17 · 

:Contractor: United Materials of Engineer's ProJect No.: 
Great Falls Inc, PWS41803 

Description: Additlo!'lartirne maJerlars~nd labor needed to complete sod/lan:dscaping; 

Attachments: {List Qcicu.ments supporting char:,ge ): 
Pay Trackl119 Sheet 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRfCE;. 
Original Contract Price: $84,538.00 · 

J 148.64 
. . I 

pn~ase) [D!)CIUse} (rQm prevf01Jl11Y approved Cllaoge 

Orders No. -~o ___ to No._1 _____ _ 

$ 146,84 

Contll!ct Price prior to this Change Order. 

$84538.00 

tlnc!!u•J [Decrease] of this Change Order: 

$146.64, 
Conlract Price illQOrporating this Change Order. 

$ 84 686.64 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES; 
Or!Qfnal Contract Times: 

• Woddngdays D Caierid'at:dll)'$ 

Subslanl!al oompleli.on (daYS « date}:_~5l~-- --
Ready for fi"-"1 ~YJTiel!lt (d11Y,S or dale);.__.812811"'""'""'· 8..__ _ _ _ 

Oncreaaei [Decteasej frorrt prevlot,lsly eppl'OI(~ Chan~ Orders 

No. Q toNo._~--
S.ubs1antlal completion (days):_+'""· ..._ _______ _ 

Ready for final payment (days):.~: _______ _ _ 

Contract llmes prior to thl& Change Order; 
Substantial eom~on (days or date):.~ . .... ·.5=-1'--------

ReadY. for'final payment (days ordate):~48~-----

0ncrease) (Decrease) of lhls Change Order. 
Substantial completlon{days or date):_"'---- ---

Ready for final payment (days or date)._: 812....,.8/.._.1,...8 ____ _ 

Conltact Times with all approved ·Change Orck!rs: 
Substantial completion (days or date):,_48~--- - - -

Ready for final payment {days or date):._812==8/~1=8 ___ _ 

:: ---:--
Date: 'Q[?,1//PJ Date:.~--- ~_.__'------~ By: 

Data:~ 

Date:'--------- --Appro:ved by Funding Agency (If appllcable): __________ _ 

EJaic * cm cum-••> 
l'ttpand b)' lllf ~ l ol111 <:cu,tnct l><N:1"""'1S C-.,.n,. au udonal by~ 
Assad""' G<ocnlC..otnmusor •-l"!l ll>~~nSpocllimll""lllSl!n,10. 

Pagel of2 



Agenda # 9.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: Public Works Facilities Repairs - O.F. 1733

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Not award contract and re-bid project early next year

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

“I move the City Commission (award/not award) a contract for the Public Works Facilities
Repairs project and recommend staff (re-bid/ not re-bid) the project in early 2019."
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends not awarding a contract and re-bidding the project early next year. 

Background:
Significant Impacts
This project will replace the roofs, exterior sheathing, doors, windows, and  include other miscellaneous
improvements to the Public Works Central Garage, Sanitation/Streets and Wash Rack Buildings.
 
Citizen Participation
The construction activities will have little impact on Citizen’s access to Public Works Facilities for
standard services offered in these buildings.
 
Workload Impacts
Nelson Architects has and will continue to provide professional services for the project. At the time of
construction, Engineering Staff will assist Nelson Architects with construction inspection and perform
administration duties.
 
Purpose
The items being replaced and repaired during this project have either reached the end of their intended

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 28 of 351                                     



service life or have been damaged and are in need of repair.  The roofs on the buildings are over 40
years old and due for replacement.  The windows, personnel doors and overhead doors are original to
the buildings and are in poor conditions after years of use.   There are many locations on the doors and
siding where heavy utility vehicles have damaged areas of the metal siding.  New evaporative coolers,
mechanical dampers, and insulation will improve environmental working conditions.  Improvements to
these facilities will update the color scheme to match other recently refurbished public works facilities.
 
Project Work Scope
Improvements in this project include removing and replacing the metal roofs, roof insulation, rain gutters,
downspouts, fascia, soffits and skylights; replacement of metal siding/stucco on exterior walls; removing
and replacing garage and entryway doors and windows; installing evaporative coolers and other various
mechanical equipment; and  miscellaneous work  including patching, weather stripping, caulking, and
painting.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process
The project was initially bid on August 8, 2018 with no bids being submitted. Staff recommended,  and
the Commission approved, re-advertising and re-bidding the project.
 
Two bids were received and opened on September 5, 2018. The bids ranged from $1,132,769.00 to
$1,374,574.00, with Geranios Enterprises providing the low bid.
 
Both bids exceeded the project budget by more than $300,000.
 
Conclusion
Nelson Architects has indicated that the higher than expected bids are likely due to current high steel
prices, contractor commitment to other projects and bidding at this time of the year. City Staff
recommends not awarding the contract at this time and rebidding the project early next year when the
bidding climate will likely be more favorable.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes the received bids. This project is programmed to be funded
through the Central Garage, Sanitation, Streets and Public Works Administration Facility Improvement
Funds.
 
By not awarding a contract, there will be no impacts to those funds at this time. If awarded, those funds
would be severely depleted.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to award the construction contract or cancel the project.
 
Attachment/Exhibits:
1. Bid tabulation    

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tabulation Summary

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 29 of 351                                     

[) 



C
ity

 C
om

m
is

si
on

 M
ee

tin
g 

- S
ep

te
m

be
r 1

8,
 2

01
8 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  P

ag
e 

30
 o

f 3
51

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
A

tta
ch

m
en

t #
 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS 
P.O. BOX 5021 
GREAT FALLS, MT 5940~ 

Name & Address of 
Bidder 

1 
EJ Carpentary 151 6th Ln NE 
Fairfiled MT 59436 

2 
Genmios Enterprises PO Box 
2543 Great Fall~ MT 59403 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 Engineer's Estimate 

BID TABULATION SUMMARY 

City of Great Falls Public Works Facilities Repail'l' 
O.F. 1733 

Project Number PW36 I 808 
Bid Received at Civic Center 

Date: September 5, 2018 
Tabulated By: Jim Young 

Certificate of 
Certificate of Acknowledge Acknowledge 10% Bid Affidavit of Non-

Compliance with Total Bid Addendum#! Addendum#! Security Non-Collusion Segregated 
Facilities 

Insurance Req. 

X N/A N/A X X $1,374,574.00 

X N/A N/A X X $1,132,769.00 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

N/A N/A 

Page I of 1 

Deductive Deductive Dc<iuctivc 
Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 

N/A $118,940 $40,828.80 

N/A $77,851.00 $21,460.00 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

NIA 

N/A 

N/A 



Agenda # 10.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Amendment to the Citywide 911 Emergency Ambulance Services Contract with Great Falls
Emergency Services

From: Stephen A. Hester, Fire Chief

Initiated By: Stephen A. Hester, Fire Chief

Presented By: Stephen A. Hester, Fire Chief

Action Requested: Approve the  Amendment to the Citywide 911 Emergency Ambulance Services
Contract with Great Falls Emergency Services (GFES).

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:           
 

“I move the City Commission (approve or disapprove) the Amendment to the Citywide 911
Emergency Ambulance Services Contract with Great Falls Emergency Services."
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the amendment. 

Summary:
Great Falls Emergency Services, (GFES) has requested a temporary change to section 2.2A and Exhibit
B of the contract.  The change will allow for up to one ambulance per shift to be staffed with two
Emergency Medical Technicians and respond to calls at the basic life support level rather than the
advanced life support level.

Background:
According to Section 2.2A of the performance contract, the contractor had agreed that City emergency
911 ambulance transports shall all be at the  Advanced Life Support (ALS) level. According to section
11.4 of the contract, failure in providing ALS ambulance transport on the part of the contractor would be
considered a major breach of the contract.
 
The Contractor asked the City to consider a change to the staffing requirement to allow up to one Basic
Life Support (BLS) ambulance (two EMTs) when the Contractor could not find paramedics to staff their

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 31 of 351                                     



ambulances. They would continue to staff at least two ALS ambulances during this period. 
 
In the event that a Contractor's BLS ambulance is at the scene of an advanced life support (ALS)
incident, the City shall provide a paramedic for transport.  This is possible because Great Falls Fire
Rescue (GFFR) has provided ALS non-transport services to the community since 2000.  In addition,
GFFR has provided mutual care and transport to ensure continuity of care for critical patients.
 
The City EMS system has used Emergency Medical Dispatch (EMD) protocol for several years to
provide initial triage of patients and allow for a tiered response.  EMD differentiates between ALS
incidents and BLS incidents and could be used to send the correct level of service to EMS calls.
 
Historically, during times when calls exceed GFES resources (surge events), GFFR has provided ALS
ambulance patient transport.  This currently occurs approximately 6 times each month.  These situations
have required GFFR firefighter/paramedics to transport patients to local Emergency Departments.
 
According to GFES' General Manager, there are a variety of circumstances that have created a shortage
of paramedics making it impossible to staff all three ambulances on a daily basis.  The explanation for
paramedics shortages was due to vacancies, long term health issues, and the inability to recruit
additional paramedics. They have no estimate as to when vacancies shall be filled or when the
contractor can abide by the contract as agreed.
 
The current contract is through May 21, 2019. This amendment, if approved, would provide an
opportunity for the City  to evaluate the City's EMS system and determine the actual service needs for
Advanced and Basic Life Support services.
 
Changes to exhibit B would allow fees to be assessed when the City provides a paramedic to support
patients being transported by GFES.  The fee would be $100.00 per intercept.  If the City transports a
patient using the City Ambulances, the fee would be $500.00 for each incident that meets the identified
criteria for emergency transport.

Fiscal Impact:
The City may experience additional overtime to ensure enough paramedics are assigned to shift to have 3
paramedics on duty.  The Fire Department also has experienced a decline in paramedics with only 16
paramedic positions filled out of 24 authorized. Also in 2019 GFFR shall be temporarily short two
paramedics who will be deployed with the Air National Guard mission out of the Country. 

Alternatives:
Commission could chose  to deny the amendment and hold Great Falls Emergency Services accountable
for a major breach of the contract.  

Concurrences:
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposed contract amendment.

ATTACHMENTS:

Amendment EMS Transport Contract Sec. 2.2A
Correspondence

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 32 of 351                                     

[) 

[) 



 

1 

 

 

AMENDMENT NUMBER 1 

TO THE 

AGREEMENT WITH GREAT FALLS EMERGENCY SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

GREAT FALLS, MONTANA FOR CITYWIDE 911 EMERGENCY AMBULANCE 

SERVICES 

 

  

THIS AMENDMENT is entered into as of September ___, 2018, by and between, the 

City of Great Falls, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as “City,” and Great Falls 

Emergency Services, Inc., hereinafter referred to as “Contractor.”  The parties agree as follows: 

1. The City and Contractor entered into an Agreement for Citywide 911 Emergency 

Ambulance Services (Contract) on May 21, 2014.  The term of said Contract is set to expire May 

21, 2019. 

2. The Contractor has advised the City that it cannot meet its obligations under the 

Contract, because of staffing shortages; a failure to provide ALS ambulance transport on the part 

of the Contractor could be considered a major breach of contract according to the Contract at 

Section 11.4. 

3. In the interests of public safety and the adequate provision of emergency services, 

the City recognizes the need to consider a short-term trial amendment to the terms and conditions 

of the Contract as stated herein, and thus agrees to a short-term trial amendment to the terms and 

conditions of the Contract, without waiving any other rights under the existing Contract. 

4. Enforcement of the terms of Section 2.2.A. of the Contract is suspended, and the 

terms are replaced by the following, to apply during the remainder of the Contract term: 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 33 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

2 

 

Provide a minimum two ALS staffed and equipped ambulances to provide pre-hospital  
emergency medical care and transport services to emergency medical calls within the 
City twenty-four (24) hours each day, seven (7) days a week, without regard to the 
patient’s financial status.  Any additional ambulances above the minimum of two can be 
staffed at the BLS level.  If a GFFR paramedic is provided to increase care level of BLS 
ambulance to ALS level and conducts transport to a receiving facility, the GFFR will be 
the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) of EMS care.    

5. The following language is added to the Contract terms, to apply during the 

remainder of the Contract term: 

Exhibit B:  ALS Intercept 

The Contractor agrees to pay a $100.00 dollar fee to the City each time GFFR 

Firefighter/Paramedics, in their discretion, increase service delivery of the ambulance to 

ALS level for patient care. 

6. All other conditions and provisions of the Contract remain in full force and effect, 

and are hereby ratified and affirmed by the parties.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment Number 1 

the day and year first above written. 

GREAT FALLS EMERGENCY SERVICES, INC. 

 

 

By:  ________________________________ 

Its:  _________________________________ 

 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS 

 

 

By:  _____________________________ 

        Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 34 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

3 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

By:  ______________________________    (Seal of the City) 

        Lisa Kunz, City Clerk                 

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

By:  _______________________________ 

        Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 

* By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 35 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 36 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

City Manager's Office 

Memorandum 

To: Mayor Kelly and City Commissioners 

From: Gregory T. Doyon - City Manage 

Re: Great Falls EMS Paramedic Shortage Update 

Date: August 15, 2018 

Please find attached four (4) documents relating to Great Falls EMS' notification that the 
company has a paramedic shortage. The staffing shortage causes an unintended operational 
change which means that GFEMS not able to meet the current terms of the City's existing EMS 
transport contract. 

The documents include: 

• July 17, 2018 - GFEMS notification of staffing shortage 
• July 27, 2018 - City of Great Falls response to staffing shortage 
• July 31, 2018 - GFFR response to fill staffing void 
• August 1, 2018 - GFEMS revised deployment plan 

The City is unclear about the duration of the shortage. GFEMS and GFFR are working closely 
and will keep each other apprised of any additional changes (good or bad). In the meantime, the 
City has placed GFFR on notice that it has not waived its ability to declare a breach of contract 
and will do so if necessary. 

Staff will continue to monitor the situation closely. We'll make every effort to make sure that 
initial medical response process and transport remain at near current levels. It is too early to tell 
whether not this model will be sustainable for an extended duration. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Gtd 

Page I of I 

6 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 37 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

.• Great Falls Emergency Services 

17 July 2018 

TO: 

FROM: 

Chief Hester, 

Chief Hester 
EMS System Administrator 

Justin Grohs 
General Manager 

We have been monitoring the trend of the current national paramedic shortage, and are observing a 
local trend of fewer paramedics available for employment in the State of Montana and in our area. 

GFES is currently contending with this paramedic deficit. We continue to have an ability to staff multiple 
BLS units, but may have challenges staffing all trucks at an ALS level over the next few months. 
In the interest of staying ahead of this issue, we would like to open a dialogue with you to address both 
short term and long term solutions. We want to ensure that the community of Great Falls continues to 
receive the top-notch EMS response to which they are accustomed, and that as a system we are utilizing 
resources appropriately, i.e. that patients who truly need an ALS response get that level of response. 

GFES is committed to providing excellent EMS response to all our response areas. We look forward to 
working with you proactively to address these issues before they significantly affect our system. 

Justin Grohs 

C: David Kuhn 

Great Foils Emergency Services 514 9th Ave South, Great Foils, Montano 59405 
406.453.5300 great/alls-ems.com 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 38 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

P.O. Box 5021 , 59403-5021 

July 27, 2018 

Great Fal1s Emergency Servic-es 
Attn: Justin Grohs 
514 9th Avenue South 
Great Falls, Montana 59405 

RE: July 17, 2018 Notice 

SENT VIA EMAIL TO: jgrohs@gfes.net 

Dear Mr. Grohs: 

I have been provided with your July 17, 2018 letter indicating that you may have staff shortages 
at the "ALS level over the next few months" and appreciate your advising the City of this issue. 
We too want to ensure that Great Falls and the community receives excellent EMS response to 
all areas served. 

Obviously, your letter is quite concerning to the City and as such, we feel the need to remind you 
of some of the pertinent requirements of the current contract between Great Falls Emergency 
Services (GFES) and the City of Great Falls. 

Please recall that the 2014 Emergency Services Contract (Contract) at Section 2.2.A., along with 
the Deployment Plan dated 7/2012, require the 24/7 /365 availability of two ALS paramedic 
ambulances in service with a third crew on call, all which are able to respond to 90% of all calls 
in nine minutes or less. In your letter, you indicate that the staffing challenges may occur in the 
next few months. If this occurs, causing GFES to be unable to meet its contractual obligations, 
we would expect that GFES will advise the City as soon as possible, but in no case later than 
within two business days, according to Section 2.2.M. of the Contract. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 39 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

., 

Justin Grohs 
July 27, 2018 
Page2 

Recall as well: 

5.1 

) ) 

Clinical and Staffmg Standards 

City expects that the provision of emergency ambulance services shall conform to 
the highest professional standards and shall comply with all applicable State laws 
and regulations, and City EMS policies, procedures, and field treatment 
guidelines. All persons employed by the Contractor in the performance of work 
under this Agreement shall be competent and shall hold appropriate and currently 
valid certificates, licenses or accreditations in their respective trade or profession. 
The Contractor shall be held accountable for its employees' licensure, 
performance and actions. Changes resulting in a negative fiscal impact to the 
contractor will be analyzed before implementation. 

A. Ambulance Staffing - Contractor shall, at al1 times, staff each ambulance with 

at least one person who is certified and licensed in the State of Montana as a 

Paramedic and one person who is certified and licensed in the State of 

Montana as an Emergency Medical technician (EMT). Staffing exceptions 

will be allowed only during times of disaster declaration. 

Please be advised that in the event that GFES advises the City that it is unable to meet its 
responsibilities under the Contract, the City wil1 likely consider such action to constitute a Major 
Breach of the Contract (as referred to in Section 11) as violating the contract in multiple areas, 
including but not limited to the Sections referenced above. In such case, a thirty day notice to 
cure the violations will be sent to you, pursuant to Section 11.1.A. of the Contract. 

If the staffing issues are not corrected within the thirty day time period following, the City will 
have no choice but to demand payment of the performance security as required of Section 9.1 , 
the provision of ambulances and equipment under Section 11 .2, minimum liquidated damages 
under Section 11.5, among other contractual remedies. 

Finally, please note that the current security in the form of an Irrevocable Standby Letter of 
Credit has an expiration date of July 31 , 2018. We require a copy of the new security be provided 
before such expiration, pursuant to the Contract. 

We request that you undertake all efforts available to ensure that the staffing shortages which 
you have referenced do not cause GFES to be unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. To 
assist in this regard, the City is available to discuss potential service strategies to assist GFES, 
including evaluating a short term amendment to the existing Contract. However, by such 
evaluation and assistance, the City will not waive any existing rights it may have under the 
Contract. We simply want to work together to ensure that our citizens receive the best possible 
emergency medical service. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 40 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

Justin Grohs 
July27,2018 
Page 3 

Gregory T. Doyon 

cc: Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson 
City Attorney Sara R. Sexe 
Fire Chief Steve Hester 
Assistant Fire Chief Jeremy Jones 
EMS Advisory Board 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 41 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

DATE: 7/31/2018 

TO: City Manager Greg Doyon 

FROM: AC Jones 

RE: Paramedic shortage 

GREAT FALLS FIRE RESCUE 
1 05 9TH STREET SOUTH 

GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 59401 
WWW.GREATFALLSMT. NET /FIRE 

(406) 727-8070 

On July 16th
, 2018, Great Falls Emergency Services Manager {GFES) Justin Grohs informed Fire Chief 

Steve Hester and me that GFES will be facing Paramedic staffing shortages in the near future. The "near 

future" is now upon us, with GFES informing us that they will no longer be able to provide paramedic 

coverage on all ambulances stipulated by the contract, beginning August 11, 2018. GFES states that this 

shortage is due to Staff members moving away, pursuing other employment and maternity leave. This 

struggle mirrors a nationwide trend of Paramedics being in high demand, resulting in difficulty 

attracting, hiring and retaining them in many EMS systems. Justin advised us that he believes he can 

keep two 24 hour ambulances staffed to the ALS level, but stated that he will not be able to keep that 

level of service all of the time with GFES' third ambulance. The performance agreement between the 

City of Great Falls and Great Falls Emergency Services states that all ambulances will have at a minimum 

(1) Paramedic that is licensed with the State of Montana (section 5.1,A) for 911 response. Without a 

variance to the current contract, GFES would not be able to provide (3) ambulances for response within 

the City. 

After notifying you of the situation, we Initiated conversations with GFES, working cooperatively to find 

a solution that would ensure adequate ALS coverage was maintained for the citizens of Great Falls 

during this period. Great Falls Fire Rescue (GFFR) has provided ALS service since 2000, utilizing dual role 

Engine companies that can handle any type of emergency from structure fires to medical emergencies. 

This type of versatility and the ability to provide Advanced life Support care to customers in need of 

emergency medical service has always been the response model for our department, the standard we 

strive to meet for our community and has worked well because of City's support over time. By granting 

a variance to the existing Ambulance performance contract, allowing GFES to respond to 911 calls with a 

Basic life Support (BLS) ambulance, we can begin to utilize a true Emergency Medical Dispatch {EMO) 

system and right resourcing protocols. These changes would allow for a more sustainable, long-term 

partnership with GFES and Dispatch sending an appropriately staffed ambulance to the appropriate call 

level. The BLS ambulance would respond to all BLS calls as they are processed through dispatch, leaving 

the ALS ambulance more readily available for ALS calls. When the 911 system is busy with a heavy call 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 42 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

load and more than two ALS calls are ongoing, GFFR would utilize a Paramedic from the responding 

GFFR ALS Engine Company to provide the ALS level of care on a GFES BLS ambulance. This practice has 

been ongoing for many years, but in the past, GFES has always had a Paramedic as part of their 

ambulance staffing. We also will continue to utilize our ambulance (Rescue) for transport services as 

needed, during surge events. GFFR currently has four platoons staffed with four Paramedics each 

allowing for all Engine companies staffed at the ALS level. Our interim model during this shortage period 

is to keep all outside fire stations (2, 3, and 4) at the ALS level and allowing Fire Station 1 to be BLS when 

we have a Paramedic off on vacation, sick or injury. To maintain this level of service, occasional 

Paramedic hire backs will be required when vacation, sick leave or injury drops the platoon below three 

Paramedics. The cost for this could remain neutral if we are "hiring back" to maintain minimum 

manning requirements or the cost of wages if we are hiring back above the minimum manning 

requirement. This will be tracked during the interim period for an accurate representation of expenses 

for this commitment. 

GFES has agreed to pay $100.00 ALS Fee every time GFFR utilizes one of our paramedics on a GFES BLS 

ambulance to complete an ALS transport to the Emergency Department (ED). This will be tracked and 

enforced monthly during normal performance contract management. ALS patient's that are being cared 

for by a GFFR Paramedic will be billed by GFES SLS rate. 

The Great Falls 911 system Medical director, Dave Simpson, MD, is aware of and in agreement with this 

arrangement and believes that it will help stabilize our communities EMS system while providing better 

prehospital emergency resource management for the citizens of Great Falls. When GFFR provides the 

Paramedic to conduct an ALS transport to the ED, GFFR will be the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) of 

all prehospital care given to the patient. 

During times, that G FFR is part of transporting a patient to the ED, the remainder of that Engine 

Company will remain in partial service status and available to handle additional EMS calls in that district 

until that Paramedic or EMT is returned to their Engine Company, allowing it to return to full service 

status. This practice has been ongoing in our department since we began providing EMS service. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 43 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

~ Great Falls Emergency Services .. 
1 August 2018 

TO: 

FROM: 

Chief Hester, 

Chief Hester 
EMS System Administrator 

Justin Grohs 
General Manager 

This letter is a follow-up to my letter dated 17 July 2018. 

Effective 11 August 2018, GFES will be deploying three trucks daily, including two (2) ALS level trucks 
{ALS 1 and ALS 2) and one (1) truck that will be ALS some days and BLS other days (ALS 3 or BLS 3). 
The third truck w ill be on-duty 0800-1000 (0000 on weekends) and will be in an on-call status from 
0700-0800, and from shift end to 0700 the next day. 

Effective September 1, and until further notice, the third truck will be staffed consistently at a BLS level 
(BLS 3). 

Respectfully, 

Justin Grohs 

Great Falls Emergency Services 514 9th Ave South, Great Falls, Montana 59405 
406.453.5300 greatfalfs--ems.com 



Agenda # 11.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10255 Public Hearing to Establish Residential and Commercial Water, Sewer, and
Storm Drain Utility Service rates effective October 1, 2018

From: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Initiated By: Public Works and Finance Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director & Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: Conduct Public Hearing 

Public Hearing:
1.  Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for opponents and proponents.

 
2.  Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

“I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10255 establishing residential and
commercial water, sewer, and storm drain utility service rates effective October 1, 2018.”

 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion and calls for the
vote.

Summary:
Each year, staff reviews and analyzes the financing needs of the water, sewer, and storm drain funds. 
The City contracted with Advanced Engineering and Environmental Services, Inc. (AE2S) for a water
and sewer utility rate study based on a comprehensive review of the City’s water and sewer funds and
budgets, Water Master Plan, Wastewater Facilities Plan, customer classes, current usage data and future
planned growth of the City.  The study was conducted to ensure revenue adequacy, cost of service and
rate planning analyses and evaluated current and future costs and compared them to the industry standards
for Montana and our region.  The results included the following information:
 

1. A comparison of current water and sewer system costs (operations, capital improvements, and

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 44 of 351                                     



bonded debt) against appropriate industry benchmarks.
2. Recommended baseline rate structures required to fund water and sewer systems and considerations

for annual inflationary, indexed adjustments to rates needed to maintain each utility.
3. Recommended ways of communicating utility system costs including recommendations for

restructuring utility bill format.
4. Equity for all types of property ownership including single and multi-family units, MaltEurop,

Calumet, Montana Refining, Black Eagle and Malmstrom Air Force Base.

Background:
Adjustments in utility rates are necessary to provide adequate revenue to finance the capital
improvements program, meet debt service coverage requirements and to maintain appropriate reserves.
The rate projections to meet future revenue requirements and gradually address cost of service for the
various user classes have changed the way in which the proposed rates are being presented. 
 
In order to correct existing inequities for water, staff is recommending a change in fixed charges to align
the fees with the American Water Works Association (AWWA) and to adjust essential water use from
300 cf to 600 cf per month.  With the adjustment in essential water use, the residential user class
consuming 300 cf of water will see a slight increase.  The commercial class will see an increase of 5%
to correct existing inequities in this user group.  Staff recommends eliminating the tiered rate for
residential sewer consumption in order to be more consistent with common wastewater industry
practices and level out the rate.  This will correct existing inequities in the residential user group.  Staff
recommends increasing commercial sewer rates to fix existing inequities in the commercial user group. 
Staff recommends a 10% increase in storm drain rates. 
 
For Residential customers, an average water bill would decrease $1.71 per month or 9%, from $19.35
per month to $17.64 per month.  An average sewer bill would increase $.23 per month or 1%, from
$23.49 to $23.72 per month.  An average storm drain bill would increase $.57 per month or 10%, from
$5.69 to $6.26 per month.  The average monthly Residential utility bill would decrease $.91 or 2%.
 
For Commercial customers, an average water bill would increase $2.72 per month or 5%, from $51.74
to $54.46 per month.  An average sewer bill would increase $2.09 per month or 3%, from $72.03 to
$74.12 per month.  An average storm drain bill would increase $.67 per month or 10%, from $6.69 to
$7.36 per month.  The average monthly Commercial utility bill would increase $5.48 or 4% to adjust
inequities in the Commercial user group.
 
The rate increase for water is due to approximately $102.8 million in capital improvements needed over
the next 10 years.  The significant projects include Ongoing Watermain Replacement $30.6M, WTP
Electrical Upgrades (Phase 1 & 2) $22.6M, North/South River Crossings $11.5M, WTP Filter Media
Replacement & Upgrade (Phase 1, 2 & 3) $9.6M and WTP Sludge Processing Improvements $5M. 
Over the next 10 years, operating expense is projected to grow from $6.2M to $9.8M.  The projected
cost escalation for key operational expenses is due to chemicals, power, labor and general inflation.
 
Fire hydrants are integral to the water system as a whole, and are included as a monthly charge within the
rate structure rather than a once a year special assessment.  Staff recommends a gradual per meter size
correction strategy with differing increases applied by meter sizes to gradually correct ratios to ensure
that the total revenue is in line with the cost of service.  Therefore, staff recommends a 10% increase or
$.31 per month for 1” meters and a 6% increase or $.71 per month for 2” meters,.
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 45 of 351                                     

I 

I 



The rate increase for sewer is due to approximately $45.4 million in capital improvements needed over
the next 10 years.  The significant projects include Ongoing Sewer Rehabilitation $11M, WWTP
Westside Pump Station Improvements $1.75M, Lift Station No. 1 Rehabilitation $3M and Nutrient
Discharge Improvements $10M.  Over the next 10 years, operating expense is projected to grow from
$5.9M to $8.6M.  The projected cost escalation for key operational expenses is due to chemicals,
power, labor and general inflation.
 
The rate increase for storm drain is due to the approximately $23.2 million in capital improvements
needed over the next 10 years.
 
Specific Conductance ($12), Total Coliform & E coli MPN ($26), and Ammonia Totals as N ($22) are
tests no longer performed by the Water Treatment Plant (WTP).  Appendix A was updated subsequent to
the Commission setting the public hearing at its meeting on August 21, 2018, to accurately reflect WTP
fees.

Fiscal Impact:
The last water and sewer cost of service study was done in 2001.  After adjusting rates to the study
conducted in 2018, the average monthly Residential utility bill would decrease 2% or $.91 per month.
The average monthly Commercial utility bill would increase 4% or $5.48 per month.  Comparisons of
current versus proposed charges, rate and fee structures are attached. 

 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to deny Resolution 10255 and not adjust the rates. 

Concurrences:
Representatives from Public Works and the Finance Department worked together with AE2S throughout
the process to develop fair and equitable rates for all user classes based on the level of service
provided, reset the rate structure based on the amount of time that has passed since the last
comprehensive study, benchmark existing and future rates considering affordability and competitiveness
and to ensure rate increases are sufficient to achieve long term water and sewer utility funding
objectives.

ATTACHMENTS:

RES 10255
PUBLIC NOTICE
APPENDIX A CURRENT VS PROPOSED RATES
2018 UTILITY RATE REVIEW CALENDAR

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 46 of 351                                     

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 



RESOLUTION NO. 10255 

 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL 

WATER, SEWER, AND STORM DRAIN UTILITY SERVICE RATES 

EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2018 

 

 WHEREAS, an annual review is performed of the water and wastewater cost of service for the 

municipal water and wastewater utilities, and rate and fee schedules prepared to generate sufficient 

revenue to pay all costs for the operation and maintenance, administration, and routine functions of the 

existing and such future facilities as may be established within the service area; 

 

 WHEREAS, the cost of service review indicates a need for extension, repair, improvement, and 

continued operation and maintenance of existing and proposed water and wastewater system facilities for 

the providing of water and wastewater services to the inhabitants of the City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 13 of the Official Code of the City of Great Falls, the City of Great 

Falls is authorized to regulate the City’s municipal water and wastewater utility and to establish all rates, 

fees and charges for use of the utility systems or for permits, licenses, connections or inspections; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is essential to the public health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the City of 

Great Falls to provide an adequate public water and wastewater system and to provide adequate funding 

to meet the cost of constructing, maintaining, and operating the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, notice having been provided as required by law, the City Commission of the City of 

Great Falls conducted a public hearing on Tuesday, September 18, 2018, at the Civic Center, 2 Park Drive 

South, Commission Chambers Room 206, Great Falls, Montana, at 7:00 p.m., and did consider the cost 

of operation, equipment, facilities, debt service, and capital improvements for the Water, Sewer, and Storm 

Drain Utility systems. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 

 

Water, Sewer, and Storm Drain Utility Service Rates are hereby established as set forth in  

Appendix A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, this 18th  

day of September, 2018. 

 

      ________________________________ 

               Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 47 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

_________________________________ 

Joseph Cik, Assistant City Attorney 

 

              

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 48 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 49 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

PUBLIC NOTICE 
PUBLIC HEARING ON RESOLUTION 10255 

TO ESTABLISH WATER, SEWER, AND STORM DRAIN 
RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL UTILITY SERVICE RATES 

The City of Great Falls is proposing to raise residential and commercial water, sewer and 
storm drain utility service rates, effective October 1, 2018. The increases are necessary to 
provide adequate revenue to finance the capital improvements program, to meet debt service 
coverage requirements and to maintain appropriate reserves. 

Typical Residential Customers 

Residential customers with a lot size of 7,500 square feet and a 3/4" meter who use 600 cubic 
feet of water per month and have a winter quarter average of 600 cubic feet per month to 
calculate their sewer rate would see rate increases as follows: 

• A water bill would decrease $1 .71 or 9%, from $19.35 to $17.64 per month; 
• A sewer bill would increase $.23 or 1.0%, from $23.49 to $23.72 per month; and 
• A storm drain bill would increase $.57 or 10%, from $5.69 to $6.26 per month. 

The average monthly Residential utility bill would decrease $.91 or 2%. 

Typical Commercial Customers 

Commercial customers with a lot size of 7,500 square feet with a 1" meter and consumption of 
2,400 cubic feet of water and sewer per month would see rate increases as follows: 

• A water bill would increase $2.72 or 5%, from $51 .74 to $54.46 per month; 
• A sewer bill would increase $2.09 or 3%, from $72.03 to $7 4.12 per month; and 
• A storm drain bill would increase $.67 or 10%, from $6.69 to $7.36 per month. 

The average monthly Commercial utility bill would increase $5.48 or 4%. 

Public Hearing 

The public hearing will be held on Tuesday, September 18, 2018, at 7:00 pm in the Civic 
Center Commission Chambers, 2 Park Drive S. Please mail any comments to City Clerk, City 
of Great Falls, PO Box 5021 , Great Falls, MT 59403. 

For further information, contact a City of Great Falls Utility Billing Clerk at (406) 727-7660 or 
Room 104 of the Civic Center, 8:00 am to 5:00 pm. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 50 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 
Resolution 10255, Appendix A 

Current Rates vs. Proposed Rates 

pg 1 of 3 

Combined Quantity Charges Monthly Service Charges 
Water & Sewer CCF / Mo. Not Meter Based• Service Line Size (Inches) 

1st I Over I Over Meter I (3/4") I I I I I I I I see 6" if "na• 
300 cf I 300 cf I 600 cf Based 0.75 1 1.25 1.50 2 3 4 6 I 8 I 10 I 12 

RESIDENTIAL 
WATER 

2017 Regular Residential I 1.47 I 2.46 I I 7.56 I 8.06 I 14.61 I 14 .61 I 18.52 I 49.37 I 71.44 I 143.98 I 216.74 I 306.47 I 452 25 
2018 Regular Residential 1.68 1.68 2.81 I I 7.56 I 8.62 I 14.61 I 14 .61 I 19.26 I 55. 79 I 78.58 I 143.98 I 216.74 I 306.47 I 452.25 

2017 Low Income Residential 

I 
1.33 

I 
2.21 

I 
I 6.81 I 7.25 I 13 14 I 13 .14 I 16.65 I 44.42 I 64.31 I 129.59 I 195.06 I 275.84 I 407.03 

2018 Low Income Residential 1.51 1.51 2.53 I I 6.81 I 7.76 I 13.14 I 13.14 I 17.32 I 50.19 I 70.74 I 129.59 I 195.06 I 275.84 I 407.03 

(90 % oJ Regular Residential) 

Fire Hydrant 

2017 Monthly I 2. 10 I 3.08 I 8.56 I 8.56 I 11.83 I 37.51 I 56.02 I 116.52 I 
2018 Monthly I 2. 10 I 3.39 I 8.56 I 8.56 I 12.54 I 37.51 I 56.02 I 116.52 I 

2017 An~I I 32.40 I 37 03 I 102.70 I 102.70 I 142.00 I 450.08 I 672.27 I 1,398.20 I 
2018 Annual I 32.40 I 40.68 I 102.70 I 102.70 I 150.48 I 450.08 I 672.27 I 1,398.20 I 

SEWER 

2017 Regular Residential 

I 
1.86 I 3.08 

I I 867 I 
2018 Regular Residential 2.48 2.48 2.48 8.84 

2017 Low Income Residential 

I 
1.68 I 2.78 I I 7.79 I 

2018 Low Income Residential 2.23 2.23 2.23 7.95 

(90 % of Regular Residential) 

COMMERCIAL 
WATER 

2017 Regular Commercial 

I 
1.82 I 1 82 I I 7.56 I 8.06 I 14 61 I 14.61 I 18.52 I 49.37 I 71 .44 I 143.98 I 216.74 I 306.47 I 452.25 

2018 Regular Commercial 1.91 1.91 1.91 I I 7.56 I 8.62 I 14.61 I 14.61 I 19.26 I 55.79 I 78.58 I 143.98 I 216.74 I 306.47 I 452.25 

2017 Black Eagle 1.89 I 1.89 I 2 • 8" meters @ 216 74 
2018 Black Eagle 1.97 1.97 1.97 I 
2017 Malmstrom AFB 2.10 I 2 10 I 1 • 8" olus 1 • 10" meter 216 74 olus 306.47 
2018 Malmstrom AFB 2.21 2.21 2.21 I 1 • 8" olus 1 • 10· meter 216.74 olus 306.47 

2017 Raw Water 0.31 I 0 31 I 2018 Raw Water 0.33 0.33 033 I 
Fire Hydrant 

2017 Monthly I 2. 70 I 3.08 I 8.56 I 8.56 I 11.83 I 37.51 I 56.02 I 116.52 I 
2018 Monthly I 2. 10 I 3.39 I 8.56 I 8.56 I 12.54 I 37.51 I 56.02 I 116.52 I 

201 7 Annual I 32.30 I 37.03 I 102.10 I 102 10 I 142.00 I 450.08 I 672.27 I 1,398.20 I 
2018 Annual I 32.40 I 40.68 I 102.10 I 102.10 I 150.48 I 450.08 I 672.27 I 1,398.20 I 

Fire Lines 

2017 Monthly I na I na I na I na I 2.88 I 4.38 I 6.77 I 12.04 I 16.31 I na I 41.99 
2018 Monthly I na I na I na I na I 1.80 I 4.38 I 7.24 I 21.07 I 44.85 I na I 130.17 

201 7 Annual I na I na I na I na I 34.58 I 52.53 I 81 .24 I 144.48 I 195.76 I na I 503.85 
2018 An~I I na I na I na I na I 21.60 I 52.53 I 86.88 I 252.84 I 538.20 I na 11 562.04 

SEWER 

2017 Regular Commercial 2.64 2 64 

I I 8.67 I 
2018 Regular Commercial 2.72 2.72 2.72 8.84 

2017 Black Eagle 2.64 2.64 

I I 8.67 I 
2018 Black Eagle 2.72 2.72 2.72 8.84 

2017 Malmstrom AFB 2.30 2.30 

I I 8.67 I 
2018 Malmstrom AFB 2.39 2.39 2.39 8.84 

2017 MaltEurop 1.84 I 1.84 I I 7.87 I 
2018 MaltEurop 1.90 1.90 1.90 8.03 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 51 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 
Resolution 10255, Appendix A 

Current FNs vs. Proposed Fees 
pg 2 of 3 

Quantity Charges Not 

PRE-TREATMENT SEWER CHARGES CCF /Mo. M•t•r B•Hd 

0.70 0.70 0.00 

2017 Reout•r Chtrge1 I , 20 , 20 • 07 
2011 Regut•r Charge. 1.35 1 35 884 

2017 800 > 0 mg/\. --- 0545 
2018 BOD> 0 mg/l ·--- 0 332 

2017 TSS > Omo,'l -- 0373 
2011 TSS > O m g.tl. ner DOUnd 0400 

SEWER EXTRA STRENGTH CHARGES 

BOO > 200 mgll 

2017 R...,, Comm•c••I - 0545 
2011 Regular Commerdal oer oound 0 332 

Inc Malmat,om AFB & Black Eagle 

2017 ll• llEurop ..,....., 0332 
2018 MaltEurop Oflr DOUnd 0 .332 

TSS > 250 mgll 

2017 R,.gularCommlll"(lal --- 0 373 
2011 ReQi.llar Commercial -=nd 0 .400 

Inc Malmst,om AFB & Black Eaol• 

2017 llllahEurop - 0 313 
2018 MaltEurop ---~ 0.400 

Water S.rvlc• Lin. Siu (lnchea) 
(3/4") 

0. 75 1.00 1.50 200 4.00 O.M .,., 1"."" 

CONNECTION FEES 
WATER 

2017 S504 .... S080 ., .. 11420 S2.201 S3 eeo S7 378 
2011 $51'1 $571 S700 ., .. $ 1,483 $2 287 $ 3 700 $1697 

Fff aMII be ADDEO TO: O.neral Plumbing Permit for extanaion to new bulldlngs; or, lnap,1clion P•""lt.s tor larger diameter p4pt,. 

SEWER 
Single Family Residentia l 

2017 ~ 
2018 S 270 

Commercial & Multi Family Units 
2017 I 2e2 I S ... s 000 s 201& s e 919 • .... s 15.338 s 20508 
2018 s 270 $ 504 s ... s 2,075 s 7,12e s 10 ,298 s H5 798 s 30 393 

Connection feH a,. f or connection of Hrvlce line to WATER ANO SEWER ma Ina, and do not Inc lude lnat•llatlon °' oeneral plumbing permits, 
There la no fH to connect to the STORM SEWER S YSTEM. 
Call City of O,.•I Fall• Community Development for mo,. lnform• llon ft 40M53-8-430 

lnes,ectlo,- and the •aeoclated , ... are for the hwpectlon •nd approval of • II w a tar and Hwer s e rvice wOJk and connection• undtr OCCGF, Tit~ 13 
Call City of OrHI F• II• Engineering for more lnform•tlon Cll 40~ 771 -1258 

Whfr• on• m• t• r Mrv•, one multl•pufl>Ot,• d• .,.lopm• nt, • lther mobile home, multiple f• m ltv hotalng unlta, local busin• n , commercial, 
lndu.trl• I, r• ald• n t lal u.• zonn or variance, the connection charge wU be baHd up0n the a l:t11 of th• watar I.Ip. If th• r• la no w• ter t• p, 
the charge wlll be baHd up0n the the HW•ge being discharged on th• Nme ratio •a for other H W9r connections, 

I (3/4") I 
0.75 ,oo I , .50 I 200 I 4 00 I •oo I 800 I ,2.00 I 

TAPPING FEES (Water) Fee fo, any new or replaoernet1t tap being made on• water main 

1 to5tap• Fee per Tap· 
2017 s 540 s 607 s 055 s 1 078 s 500 s 631 s os, s 505 
2018 s 650 s 684 s 080 s 11 11 s 524 s 547 s ... s .,, 

e or more tapt Fee per Tap: 
2017 s 483 • 620 s 055 s 1 078 N'A NIA NIA NIA 
2018 l 407 s "45 • 880 s 111 1 NIA NIA NIA NIA 

INCLUDED In this fH la lnat• lla t lon of a corpo,atlon • top on the m • in, and furnl• hlng of COfporallon stop, curb • top and box. 
NOT INCLUDED. and to bt BILLED EXTRA, la the coat of u ddlH, cl• mp1, •nd other .xtr• neoua fitting ,.quired for the tap, 

TURN ON/OFF AftuHoura Aft•r Houra 

Flat fH of: 
2017 S ,. 2017 s 100 REOCCURAENC E FOR NON-PAY 2017 $ 150 2017 s 200 
2018 s 75 2018 s 100 REOCCURRENCE FOR NO N-PAY 2018 $ 150 2018 s 200 

WATER TREATMENT PLANT (WTP) 
Laboratory Fees 

Total Total Chlorine, 
Specific Coliform & E Coliform & E Ammonia, Ammonia , Chlorine, Free Total 

Ak• llni111 H• rdneu •H C<lflductanc. coli. PIA coli. MPN Turbtd1t HPC To tal H N ., .. Residual Realdual 

2017 $ 2050 s 2850 s 10 2.5 s 10 75 s 2200 N,A s 12 00 s 4000 s 2025 s 2028 s 12 50 s 14 00 
2018 ~ 22.00 . 28.50 . 12.00 . 2 4,00 s 14.00 $ 45.00 • =. 5 s 12.50 S 14.00 

• THts no longer perform•d at the W• t•r Tra• tmant Plant. 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT (WWTP) 
Industrial Discharge Permit Appllcatlon Fees (Based upon WHtewater DiKharge Quantity) 
Gallons pw O.y (GPO) 

pet 100,000 
GPO.or 

10.001 to 2.5,001 to po,tlon 
Oto 10000 25.000 100,000 OV$' 100 000 •PLUS ..... , 

2017 1 S 11800 • 20700 I s 285 00 s :.>e.5 oo I s 7800 
2018 s 132.00 s 213.00 s 27300 s 273.00 s 00.00 

Hiuled W,ste Disposal Fees 
Oto 100 O• llont 

discharged d11ecUy from tho recreational vehicle and mu tt not eJ\Ceed 100 g• llona 
2017 No Ch• ,ge 0.apoMI of ••• "°"' hokttng lanh of 1mv• i.ly 0'NMd r-=ree~1 Y•hlcfN mutt be, 

dtac:harged d,rectly h-om lhe recr•bonlll V9htcl•- and muat not~ 100 gallon• 
2018 NoChari:,e Oispoul of waste• from holding tanks of privately~ roc,.,.tion.l vehleles mu,t ~ 

dlacharged dlrocUy from the recreational vehlcle and must not exceed 100 gallon& 

will be levied for each load delivered. 
2017 S 28 20 p-, 1.000o• llona or portK,n tt.eof. for hauled Watte A minimum charge for 1000 o• lk>n• 

..... bei.vM!dforMChlo.d~1....,ed 
2018 s 30.50 per 1.000 0111llons. o, POrtion thereof. tor hauled waste A minimum eh• rge lo, 1000 0,• llon1 

wUI be levled fOf each load delivered 

Additional Fees 
Additional fees may be charged fOf necessary testing priOf lo •ccept• nc:e of w• slM clHs1fled as non-domestic: or Industrial In nature 
NSF Fee$30. 
Delinn1Jent Penalt 1.5% after 150 da.,.. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 52 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

A 
2017 
2018 

B 
2017 
2018 

C 
2017 
2018 

D 
2017 
2018 

E 
2017 
2018 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 
Resolution 10255, Appendix A 

Current Rates vs. Proposed Rates 
pg 3 of 3 

STORM DRAIN 
2017 10.00% 
2018 10.00% 

Sin le Famil Res. Sq Ft Cap 15,000 
Base 1.7567443080 Per S Ft 0.0005270233 
Base 1.93241 87388 Per S Ft 0.0005797256 

Multi le Residential Sq Ft Cap 0 
Base 1. 7567 443080 Per Sq Ft 0.0006587791 
Base 1.93241 87388 Per S Ft 0.0007246570 

Commercial Sq Ft Cap 0 
Base 1.7567443080 PerS Ft 0.0008564129 
Base 1.93241 87388 Per S Ft 0.0009420542 

Heav Commercial Sq Ft Cap 0 
Base 1.7567443080 Per S Ft 0.0011858024 
Base 1.93241 87388 Per S Ft 0.0013043826 

Unim roved Areas Sq Ft Cap 10,000 
Base 1.7567443080 Per S Ft 0.0001317558 
Base 1.93241 87388 Per s Ft 0.000144931 4 



Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 31

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1 1 2 3 4 5 6

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

9 10 11 2 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31

30

DATE TASK RESPONSIBILITY

PRESENTATION OF RATE ANALYSIS Commission

City Commission Work Session Finance / Public Works

STORM DRAIN PRESENTATION Commission

City Commission Work Session Finance / Public Works

SET PUBLIC HEARING Commission

City Commission Meeting Finance / Public Works

1st PUBLICATION OF NOTICE IN GF TRIBUNE Great Falls Tribune

2nd PUBLICATION OF NOTICE IN GF TRIBUNE Great Falls Tribune

WEEK 2 PUBLIC NOTICE INSERTED IN UTILITY BILLS AND Finance

EMAIL SENT TO EBILL CUSTOMERS

WEEK 3 MAILED Finance

WEEK 4 MAILED Finance

9/5/2018 WEEK 1 MAILED Finance

3rd PUBLICATION OF NOTICE IN GF TRIBUNE Great Falls Tribune

PUBLIC HEARING/FINAL ACTION Commission

City Commission Meeting Finance / Public Works

EFFECTIVE DATE FOR RATE INCREASES Finance

8/21/2018

2018 UTILITY RATE REVIEW CALENDAR

July August

September October

8/25/2018

9/5/2018

9/2/2018

7/17/2018

8/21/2018

9/18/2018

10/1/2018

9/5/2018

9/9/2018

9/5/2018

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 53 of 351                                     Attachment # 4



Agenda # 12.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Public Hearing - Resolution 10268 to annex a 21.10 acre tract identified as Parcel 1 on
Certificate of Survey #5162, Ordinance 3180 to establish Planned Unit Development zoning, and
Preliminary Plat for a Major Subdivision to create 40 lots for Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I

From: Tom Micuda, Deputy Director, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: KYSO Corporation

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10268, (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3180,
(approve/deny) the Preliminary Plat for Major Subdivision, and the Findings of Fact.

Public Hearing:
1. Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2. Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
Commissioner moves:
 
      I. "I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10268 to annex the 21.10 acre tract
identified as Parcel 1 on Certificate of Survey #5162 and the accompanying Findings of Fact."
 
Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote.
 
and if Resolution 10268 is adopted, proceed to suggested Motions II and III; however, if Resolution
10268 is not adopted, Motions II and III are moot and need not be addressed;
 
    II. "I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3180 establishing Planned Unit
Development zoning and the accompanying Findings of Fact."
 
Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote.
 
and:
 
     III. "I move that the City Commission (approve/deny) the Preliminary Plat for the 40-lot Major
Subdivision and the accompanying Findings of Fact."
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 54 of 351                                     



Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends denial of the proposed annexation, Planned Unit Development zoning request, and
Preliminary Plat for a Major Subdivision of the subject property, based on the Findings of Fact. 

Summary:
The applicant, KYSO Corporation, is requesting annexation, zoning, and subdivision of a 21.10 acre
parcel located south of the East Great Falls Retail Center anchored by the Walmart Superstore as Phase
I of the Wheat Ridge Estates development. The 21.10 acre parcel is one of three parcels that comprise
227.63 acres owned by the applicant. The applicant's 227.63 acres are bordered by the Walmart store
and vacant commercially zoned property to the north, the KOA Campground and vacant property to the
west, vacant property to the south, and vacant property to the east. The northeast portion of the 227.63
acres adjoining US Highway 89 and the Malmstrom Air Force Base contains a 10.21 acre Airfield
Restrictive Easement not being disturbed for development. This decreases the total potential
development area to 217.42 acres.
 
The 21.10 acre parcel and two other remaining tracts are located within the Cascade County Planning
Jurisdiction.  These tracts are zoned Agricultural, allowing development to single family detached units
or two-unit dwellings on parcels that must be at least 20 acres in size. Because the 21.10 acre parcel
is contiguous to the City limits as a result of the East Great Falls Retail Center annexation, it is
eligible to be considered for a developer-initiated annexation request.
 
The applicant has long had a vision of developing the entire 200+ acre area for a master planned
community featuring different types of residential housing products,  mixed use parcels immediately
adjoining the East Great Falls Retail Center, a Town Center featuring some higher density housing and
commercial services, and numerous pocket parks and linear greenways. Because of this concept, the
applicant is requesting Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning for the 21.10 acre tract to be annexed.
The applicant's proposal for this tract also includes subdivision to create three mixed use lots.  Although
these lots would be zoned PUD, the development of the lots is proposed to be modeled almost precisely
according to the standards and allowed uses of the City's M-1 Mixed-use zoning district. This district
allows a range of residential housing types, some retail uses, office uses, institutional uses, and light
manufacturing. The combined area of the mixed use lots is 1.82 acres.
 
The applicant also wishes to subdivide another portion of the 21.10 acres for 37 single family detached
home lots. All of the proposed lots would be at least 11,500 square feet and most
resemble development one would find in the City's R-2 Single-family medium density zoning district,
which requires 11,000 square foot residential lots. The remaining development standards for this portion
of the proposed PUD, such as lot width, building heights, setbacks, and lot coverage percentage, are
requested to be a mix of standards found in the City's R-1, R-2, and R-3 zoning districts.  Although the
proposed use of the lots will be for single family detached homes, the applicant is requesting permitted
uses consistent with the R-1 zoning district. The combined area of the residential lots is 12.50 acres,
with the remaining acreage being devoted to streets (public and private) and greenspace.
 
The applicant's request for annexation, establishment of PUD zoning, and a Preliminary Plat to
subdivide the mixed use and single family home lots requires consideration by both the Planning
Advisory Board/Zoning Commission and City Commission. Staff analysis of applicable review issues

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 55 of 351                                     



is provided in the background section of the report.
 
Due to the challenges created by the applicant's request, as well as the difference of opinion between the
Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission and City staff, two meetings were needed to reach a
recommendation. First, a public hearing was conducted by the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning
Commission on March 27, 2018. After the close of the public hearing, the item was tabled for a later
date because of the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission members' desire to take additional
time to evaluate a significant amount of new information which was presented by the applicant at the
March 27 meeting.
 
At the April 24, 2018 meeting of the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission, both City staff and
the applicant provided additional presentations and materials as follow-up to the previous month's public
hearing. After hearing additional testimony, the Board rejected the staff's recommendation of denial and
recommended to the City Commission that the requested annexation, establishment of PUD zoning, and
subdivision be approved. The Board's recommendations on all three requests were not unanimous, with
the votes being 6-3 in favor of annexation, 6-3 in favor of establishing PUD zoning, and 5-4 in favor of
the preliminary subdivision plat.  At the meeting, City staff assisted the Board in developing alternative
findings of fact to support these recommendations. The alternative findings plus the staff's original
findings of denial are being provided for the City Commission's review.

Background:
The applicant has been developing property within Great Falls for many years. Specifically, the
applicant has developed the Berkner Heights residential subdivision as well as the East Ridge
residential subdivision in the southeast portion of the community. The applicant has been interested in
developing the larger 227.63 acre parcel since 2005. For various reasons, including City concerns about
the potential impacts of development on Malmstrom Air Force Base, no development proposal has
moved forward for public hearing review.
 
Annexation is discretionary, not mandatory.  The City is not required to approve every application to
annex property, but rather to evaluate requests for annexation on their individual merits as they relate to
the City's interests - particularly the ability for the City to provide essential services and the
compatibility of the project with the principles and goals of the City's growth policy. If a weighing of the
merits does not support annexation, the City may disapprove the application pursuant to MCA §7-2-
4601(3). 
 
The City's evaluation of the applicant's annexation, zoning, and subdivision requests requires the City
Commission to accept specific Findings of Fact for each request. The basis for decision for an
annexation by petition request is listed in the Official Code of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF)
§17.16.7.050. The basis of decision on Planned Unit Development requests is listed in
OCCGF §17.16.29.050 and the basis for decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny a
proposed subdivision is based on the proposed subdivision meeting the requirements of 76-3-608 MCA.
The recommendation of the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission and the decision of City
Commission shall at a minimum consider the criteria which are attached as Findings of Fact. 
 
 In its own evaluation and development of proposed Findings of Fact, City staff discussed the proposed
project with other City departments, defense counsel for a lawsuit against the City on an adjacent
parcel, as well as representatives from Malmstrom Air Force Base. These discussions revealed the
presence of the following challenges:

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 56 of 351                                     



 
Public Safety Service: Because the 21.10 acre parcel is only contiguous to the City limits on the
parcel's north side and because the property is located at the southeast boundary of Great Falls, 
it  presents challenges for police, fire, and emergency services. In the event of a fire or EMS call, the
typical response to an incident on this parcel would come from City Fire Station #3 located at 3325
Central Avenue. According to Great Falls Fire Rescue (GFFR), the current average response time to
provide service to the closest edge of the adjoining Walmart property is approximately six to
seven minutes. A 4 minute response time is the industry standard for service according to the National
Fire Protection Association. Please see a color-coded response time map provided by the Fire
Department as an attachment to this report.
 
During the Planning Board hearing, the applicant argued that the GFFR response time map did not
support Staff's indication that the emergency response time to the proposed development was six to seven
minutes. Staff agrees that the map itself does not indicate a six to seven minute time. The response time
map was illustrative based upon data from 2014-16, which was two to four years old. Around the time
Walmart opened, GFFR performed a test run to determine the response time, and it took GFFR seven
minutes and twenty seconds to respond to the store. Additionally, eight 2018 calls from the Walmart
store, two of which were non-emergent, had an average response time of six and a half to seven minutes.
The  response time is the time en route to the time GFFR arrives on scene.
 
Additionally, information provided in July 2018 to GFFR by the City's contracted private ambulance
service provider, which referenced a nationwide paramedic shortage, adds to the City's concern
regarding overstretching its emergency response capabilities. As a result of this shortage, GFFR
believed it had no choice but to present Item No. 10 to the Commission in this Agenda packet, in the
interests of public safety and the adequate provision of emergency services.
 
While the attached map shows other areas already in the City that have equal or even longer response
times, there are some other aspects about the parcel's locational context and proposed access design that
cause additional challenges. First, the submitted Phase I Subdivision Plan only shows a single public
street access for the 37 single family lots and 3 mixed use lots using a proposed extension of 57th
Street South. The 2012 International Fire Code (IFC), Appendix D, requires two separate and approved
fire apparatus access roads when the number of dwelling units exceeds 30. The applicant has initiated
the permit process with the Montana Department of Transportation to get an emergency access approach
onto Highway 89. An exhibit showing the proposed approach location is included as an attachment to
this report. The applicant has incorporated the emergency access into the proposed Phase I plan
and committed to its construction.  
 
The City-adopted 2012 International Fire Code (D.102.1) pertains to the applicant's proposed
secondary access drive. This section reads:
 

D102.1 Access and Loading. Facilities, buildings or portions of buildings hereafter constructed
shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an approved fire apparatus access road
with an asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface capable of supporting the imposed load
of fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 pounds (34 050 kg).

 
The applicant's proposed emergency access drive utilizing a millings surface was evaluated by City
Engineering and GFFR Staff. Both departments have indicated that the asphalt milling is not acceptable
for a number of reasons, including, but not limited to:
 

1. An asphalt-milling surface will not provide a durable emergency access point, especially

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 57 of 351                                     



considering Great Falls' climate and ground conditions. Further, the applicant indicates that the
access road would need to be seeded to prevent non-emergency use. This seeding requires water
and maintenance for grass to become established, and such rooting will degrade the integrity of the
milled surface;

2. An asphalt-milled surface requires significantly more maintenance than an asphalt surface; and
 

3. An asphalt-milled surface will not be as resistant to degradation after precipitation. Rain or
snowfall will lower the ability of the roadway to bear the weight of at least a 75,000 pound fire
engine.

 
Complicating the City service issue even further is the parcel's location in reference to properties to
the west. The parcel borders a developed property, the KOA Campground.  However, that property is
not annexed into the City and is served by a private drive which does not connect to the applicant's
parcel. The nearest existing east-west oriented public street to the west of the parcel (13th Avenue
South) is over 1/2 mile from the applicant's property. The Annexation Improvement Agreement for the
East Great Falls Retail Center (which includes the new Walmart) required dedication of a 60-foot wide
right of way between the applicant's property and the Walmart property. If the applicant's property is
annexed and future phases of the larger acreage are considered for development, the applicant should be
required to construct a small portion of 13th Avenue South. However, the full construction of 13th
Avenue South from 57th Street to another viable connection point into the City limits would require the
cooperation of other private parties, over which the City has no control.
 
Based on the proposed design, locational context and limiting factors that the City has no control over,
full build out of the master planned community will create adverse transportation impacts. This will
particularly be true  when adjacent commercial properties are developed. It is incumbent on the City to
require effective transportation connectivity to mitigate current and future growth. This proposal
completely dismisses appropriate transportation design and connectivity.
 
In summary, the City Fire and Engineering Departments have legitimate concerns over the functionality
of the proposed secondary emergency access drive, and all staff are concerned about the difficulty in
creating a viable public street connection into the City to provide much needed additional access. 
 
The applicant correctly indicates that the City may levy impact fees under MCA §7-6-1601 et seq. to
address improvements to public safety service. While the City Staff agrees that the City Commission has
the discretion to levy impact fees, the applicant's position does not consider four salient points:
 

1. The City Commission has been adverse to assess impact fees for the past thirty or so years;
 
2. Impact Fee levies are tools available when the City chooses to exercise its discretion if it
determines that an annexation is in the City's best interests. Given the issues particular to this
application, Staff does not recommend annexation here; and
 
3. The City would still be required to fund the construction of the necessary emergency services
infrastructure, then relying on impact fee revenue that will ebb and flow based on market conditions
and resulting construction activity.
 
4. Notwithstanding the analytical burden imposed in creating an impact fee service area report,
under §7-6-1602(7)(e), impact fees are not permitted to include operational or maintenance
expenses. In consideration of the already stretched public safety services, this would be an

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 58 of 351                                     



additional unfunded burden that the City is not equipped to undertake at this time.
 

Stormwater Management: The applicant has provided a preliminary stormwater drainage submission
to the City for the entire master plan area. This plan proposes a series of detention ponds designed to
hold the post-development rate of flow to slightly  less than the pre-development flow rate currently
occurring for the property.  The applicant is proposing a fairly large detention pond that would
temporarily remain in the County's jurisdiction and has been designed to capture and detain storm
drainage from the proposed Phase I subdivision as well as future development phases 2-9 (almost the
northern half of the entire property).
 
Much like with the public safety issue, the challenge for the City is the property's location. Phase I as
well as the larger proposed master plan area is located at the top of a drainage basin that flows into an
area known as "Gibson Flats." As discussed in great detail during Planning Board deliberations, the City
is currently defending claims against itself where over $2,000,000 in damages have been claimed by L.
Johnson Corporation. These claims are based upon alleged damage to the Corporation's property
resulting from drainage issues from prior developments in the Berkner Heights, Whispering Ridge,
Charles Russell, Christensen, East Ridge, and East Great Falls Retail Center Additions. The L.Johnson
farm ground is directly south and west of the applicant's proposed development as can be seen in an
attached map exhibit which was also displayed for the Planning Board.
 
Although the applicant's detention plan addresses reduction in stormwater flow rate, it does not mitigate
for the increased total volume of water resulting from the conversion of farm ground to impervious
surfaces. The plan also creates a concentration of the stormwater discharge point rather than dispersed
points of natural flow. Finally, the applicant's plan also does not account for the potential of a resulting
increase in groundwater flows. Detention involves temporary storage of stormwater allowing for the
water to evaporate or drain through the walls of the pond. Even with the applicant's proposal to reduce
flow rate, the result may increase issues in the downstream area, potentially exacerbating an issue
already in litigation.
 
This potential exacerbation is apparently evident to the plaintiff in the L. Johnson litigation, as the
lawyer representing the L. Johnson Corporation even attended the Planning Board meetings and has
requested that the City provide informal discovery, copies of documents, and the recording of the March
27 meeting. Simply, if this annexation application is approved, the City anticipates that the Plaintiff will
claim that there are increased damages in its case, potentially resulting from this development.  L.
Johnson recently disclosed an expert opinion in the litigation which stated that "any additional recharge
to the shallow groundwater will cause the water table to rise higher than it would normally and stay
higher for longer periods."
 
To assist the City Commission in understanding the financial impact of this ongoing litigation, the City
requested an update on legal expenses from its outside Counsel in the L. Johnson litigation.
To date MMIA has expended significant amounts of expert and legal fees in defense of this case as it
involves complex concepts requiring testimony from multiple experts.
 
City Engineering staff has proposed the applicant's retention of stormwater through a lined pond system
(where the stormwater would evaporate and not drain through the pond walls) or diversion through
artificial piping of the stormwater to the next drainage basin to the north, as alternatives to the detention
plan offered by the applicant. However, the applicant contends that such alternatives adversely affect
downstream water rights and that the City (not the applicant) would have to obtain permits for such water
rights use with retention or diversion.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 59 of 351                                     



 
If this application is approved and the land is annexed, the City will be faced either with an exacerbation
of an existing issue already in litigation or the potential of additional water rights litigation. Staff
believes that the stormwater issues alone are sufficient for the City to exercise its discretion to deny
annexation of this property, in light of the unique characteristics of applicant's property.
 
Impacts Associated with Malmstrom Air Force Base: Once again, the property's location creates an
annexation and development challenge because of its proximity to Malmstrom Air Force Base (MAFB).
City staff members have talked to both representatives of MAFB, as well as Montana Air National
Guard (MANG) about the potential development of the master plan area. Additionally, staff
members have discussed the specific Phase I annexation and development  proposal with Malmstrom
representatives.
 
After MAFB had its historical flying mission officially realigned in 1995 due to a BRAC, Base
Realignment and Closure, regular discussions have occurred among the MAFB, City, and County
officials over how to strike an appropriate balance between how to protect the existing and future
operational capabilities of the Air Base, while still allowing for appropriate development on the east
side of the community on lands proximate to the Base's runway.
 
Discussions on this issue gained focus during the planning and development of what is known as the Joint
Land Use Study (JLUS). Resolution 9965 pertaining to this study was adopted by the City Commission
on May 1, 2012. The last recital before the proclamation states, "Whereas, the City of Great Falls finds
the recommendations contained in the JLUS may protect the mission and future missions of Malmstrom,
encourage compatible land use around the base and help to sustain growth within the City and Cascade
County." The City Commission accepted the report and indicated that it may be used as a resource in
developing future land use decisions.
 
The JLUS identifies a significant portion of the larger master plan area within what is known as
Accident Potential Zone I (APZ). Please see a map attachment developed by the City overlaying the
Phase I project, larger parcel, and APZ. According to the map results, approximately 89 percent of the
larger parcel is within the APZ. For the proposed 21.10 acre annexation and subdivision request,
slightly less than 30 percent of the acreage is shown within the APZ.
 
The following excerpt from pages 3-8 of the JLUS provides some guidance regarding land use planning
in areas proximate to the Air Base:
 

COMPATIBLE USES
Open Space – This use typically has few structures and excludes residential and other developed
uses.
Agricultural – This use typically restricts the number of structures and allows for limited or very
low density inhabitable structures and other developed uses.
Commercial – This use is compatible when not within a designated military safety zone and
buildings and structures are below a specified building height.
Industrial – This type of use typically may be compatible because industrial uses have many of the
same characteristics as military uses (e.g. noise, dust, steam, smoke, safety, etc.). Industrial uses
located near military housing, however, can be incompatible but impacts may be mitigated
depending on the specific use.
 
INCOMPATIBLE USES

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 60 of 351                                     



Medium to High Density Residential – These uses are not compatible within close proximity to
military facilities because high numbers of people are permanently congregated in small areas. In
general, residential uses are discouraged near military facilities because of increased safety risks,
noise exposure and the typical heights of high density buildings, which can interfere with low-level
flights.    
Schools, Childcare Centers, Assisted Living Complexes – These uses encourage the
congregation of people and tend to be noise sensitive.
Public Institutions – These uses encourage the congregation of people and tend to be noise
sensitive.
Office Buildings – These uses encourage the congregation of people.
 

The JLUS is a land use planning document that has not resulted in revisions to the City's Land
Development Code or zoning maps. Staff is providing this summary to the City Commission because the
document should be considered in the evaluation of the applicant's annexation request.
 
Currently, there are helicopter training sorties flying over the subject property owned by the applicant.
Staff has been advised that the MAFB and the MANG units are also collaborating to consider
developing a future C-130 flying mission that would involve the construction of what is called an
"Assault Landing Strip" that is proposed to be located just east of the current runway. The planning for
this landing strip is in the Environmental Assessment process. Although staff acknowledges that the
higher volume noise contours of the Environmental Assessment  are not shown to encroach on the
applicant's annexation area, staff remains concerned about the possibility of noise complaints and
expected sound mitigation requests from future residents of the proposed development. Staff has advised
the applicant  on multiple occasions to proactively identify proper noise mitigation techniques into the
construction design for both the mixed use buildings and residential dwellings. To date, the applicant has
refused to cooperate on this issue in its petition for annexation. If the Commission overrules the
staff recommendation and votes in favor the project, this mitigation should be considered as a condition
of approval.
 
The applicant states that City staff is using the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) as a regulatory document.
However, this is not correct. Staff is referencing the JLUS for guidance to consider in evaluating this
annexation request in the area evaluated by the JLUS. Simply because the JLUS was not adopted as a
regulatory document, but one providing guidance (similar to the City's Growth Policy), does not mean
that the JLUS should be ignored. The JLUS provides the City with guidance as to how its decisions may
affect the long term viability and mission of MAFB.
 
The applicant further asserts that the use of the JLUS impacts its property rights. However, this position
is misplaced. The analysis here is whether this specific annexation is in the City's
interests. Annexation is a discretionary decision the City can make under applicable Montana law. A
rejection of the annexation request would not impact the applicants' property rights, as the City has no
jurisdiction over the property if annexation does not occur.
 
On this point, a document and public statement were provided by Cascade County Commissioner Joe
Briggs at the March Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission meeting. He described the
Application as an attempt to "circumvent the existing County Zoning," as the property is currently zoned
in Cascade County for Agricultural uses and that zoning was established to avoid encroachment and
potential disruption of the MAFB mission. If that were the case, the zoning action was taken by the
governing body with the power to restrict the applicants' property, Cascade County.
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 61 of 351                                     



Further, Lt. Col. Mignery, MAFB Base Engineer, provided City staff with a Bullet Background Paper
On Encroachment Impacts from Development of Compatible Lands which is attached as Memo from
MAFB. This includes the applicant's 21.10 acre property. A summary of points from the Bullet
Background Paper includes:
 

1. Undeveloped lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB are currently compatible, however, the
potential exists for residential and/or commercial development that could impact military
operations;
 
2. Several assets would be impacted by the potential development area, including helicopter
movement areas, Drop Zones and proposed Assault Landing Zone; and
 
3. Development could have an impact to Helicopter operations and C-130H operations.

The Bullet Background Paper also discusses that development could have the following negative
impacts:

1.  Light pollution effects on multiple arrival and departure flight tracks of the Helicopter
operations,
 
2.   Flights at 500 feet above ground and aircraft noise posing a nuisance to the proposed
development,
 
3.   That the location of the approach and departure zones for the active drop zones and proposed
assault landing zones may be impacted by development.
 

In addition to the summary points provided by Lt. Col. Mignery, please also note the comments provided
to the City from Assistant Secretary of the Air Force for Installations, Environment and Energy, John W.
Henderson. In response to a contact from the City, the Assistant Secretary noted general USAF concerns
about installation encroachment, incompatible development, and its potential negative impacts on
operational effectiveness and influence on future basing decisions. An email from the Assistant Secretary
has been provided as an attachment to this report (Additional Public Hearing Attachment 1).

 
An additional issue that was discussed at some length during the Planning Board meetings for the request
is the economic impact associated with the potential property tax benefits of adding 37 new single family
homes into the City. Supporters of the project indicated that the potential added property tax value as
well as the need to provide more available residential lots should be important considerations in
this annexation decision. Attached to this report is an exhibit estimating the total amount of tax property
revenue anticipated from the addition of 37 new residential lots into the City (Additional Public Hearing
Attachment 1). The total amount of revenue will depend on the ultimate market value of the proposed 
homes, but the City asserts that this value is not substantial and must be compared to hard costs such as
public street/traffic control maintenance, public utility maintenance, and sanitation service (if provided
by the City), as well as public safety service costs. Furthermore, Commissioners should also consider
the property tax benefits of new development in reference to the economic impact of Malmstrom Air
Force Base. 
 
Please see the attached material in the packet that quantifies this impact (Additional Public Hearing
Attachment 1 and 2).  Across the United States, the issue of how communities should address land
development decisions for properties that are in the vicinity of military bases is being considered. Staff
has included an exhibit from the National Association of Realtors to indicate the importance of good
planning and zoning decisions for communities like Great Falls which host military installations

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 62 of 351                                     



(Additional Public Hearing Attachment 1).
 

As for the issue of Great Falls having enough vacant lots zoned to allow single family housing, City
Planning and Mapping staffs worked to quantify this number.  The current inventory of vacant lots that
are zoned to allow single family homes is 765. The approximately acreage of these lots is 329 acres.

 
Other Issues and Review Comments: During the City's review of the proposed annexation, PUD,
and preliminary plat, the City has identified a short list of additional issues that should be discussed
by the City Commission if it approves the proposal.  These include:
 

1. Annexation Improvement Agreement - Because City staff and the applicant both prefer a City
Commission decision on the annexation before working on a detailed Annexation Improvement 
Agreement, any decision to approve the project should be conditioned on the City and applicant
developing a separate Improvement Agreement that would have to be approved by City
Commission. The Improvement Agreement will address all required public improvements, any off-
site improvements, and reimbursements owed to the owner or paid out by the owner for previously
installed infrastructure.
 
2. Transportation Connectivity - If the entire master plan area is developed, more streets should
be stubbed to perimeter property lines - particularly 57th Street South, 2) Additionally, the
applicant should be required to construct 13th Avenue South to a public street connection within
City limits as part of additional development of the master plan area.
 
3. Utilities - Significantly more detailed discussions are required between the applicant and Public
Works concerning the design of sewer, water, and stormwater facilities.

Fiscal Impact:
The applicant contends that the proposed development of the 21.10 acres would have a positive fiscal
impact to the City because of property taxes generated from the proposed single family and mixed use
parcels which will be developed. Staff contends that such revenues are more than outweighed by the
following negative factors:
 

1) the potential of added complication and damage claims related to the on-going Gibson Flats
litigation;
 
2) the potential for inadequate public safety response, poor roadway connectivity, and maintenance
concerns associated with the proposed emergency response access drive; and
 
3) the development impacts to both the current and potential long-term missions of Malmstrom Air
Force Base and Montana Air National Guard, with such impacts being in conflict with the policy
guidance of the JLUS.

 

Alternatives:
If there are justifiable reasons to do so, the City Commission could take the same action as the Planning
Board/Zoning Commission and approve the requested annexation, PUD zoning, and Preliminary Plat for
the 40-lot subdivision. The Planning Board/Zoning Commission findings are included as attachments,
and the City Commission could utilize those findings or develop new findings if it wishes to approve the
project as an alternative to the staff recommendation.  If the Commission approves the project, the

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 63 of 351                                     



Commission should also consider potential conditions of approval. Potential topics for conditions, such
as the development of an Annexation Improvement Agreement and noise mitigation, are noted in
this report. 

Concurrences:
The Fire Department, Public Works Department, Legal Department, and City Manager's Office have
been consulted extensively on this petition and concur with the staff's recommendation against the
applicant's request for annexation, PUD zoning, and subdivision based on negative impacts to public
safety, downstream stormwater concerns, and the short and long-term impacts to Malmstrom Air Force
Base.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 64 of 351                                     



ATTACHMENTS:

1) Resolution 10268
2) Resolution 10268 - Attachment A - COS#5162
3) Vicinity Map
4) Existing Conditions
5) Annexation - Findings of Fact - Staff Proposed
6) Annexation - Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Board Recommended
7) Ordinance 3180
8) Ordinance 3180 - Attachment A
9) Ordinance 3180 - Attachment B
10) Ordinance 3180 - Attachment C
11) Purpose and Intent Narrative
12) Conceptual Site Plan
13) Overall Site Plan
14) PUD Lot Design
15) Road Section
16) Monument Examples
17) Planned Unit Development - Findings of Fact - Staff Proposed
18) Planned Unit Development - Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Board Recommended
19) Phase I Site Plan
20) Subdivision - Findings of Fact - Staff Proposed
21) Subdivision - Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Board Recommended
22) MAFB Accident Potential Zone Map
23) Memo from MAFB
24) Exhibit - City of Great Falls Growth Policy
25) Fire Response Time
26) Drainage Map
27) PAB Minutes 3-27-18
28) Information Submitted at PAB Public Hearing 3-27-18
29) PAB Mintues 4-24-18
30) Information Submitted at PAB 4-24-18
31) Additional Public Hearing Attachment 1
32) Additional Public Hearing Attachment 2
33) Email from Assistant Secretary Henderson
34) Letter from Cascade County Commissioners
35) Letter from Loren Smith with Great Falls KOA

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 65 of 351                                     

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION 10268 

 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, TO EXTEND THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS TO INCLUDE 

PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY #5162, A 21.10 

ACRE TRACT LOCATED IN THE W 1/2 SECTION 15, 

TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, PMM, CASCADE 

COUNTY, MONTANA, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

PROVISION OF SECTION 7-2-4601, MONTANA CODE 

ANNOTATED. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the 

State of Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of 

the first class; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, 

a certain tract of land situated in the County of Cascade, State of Montana, and described 

as follows: 

 

 Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey #5162; a 21.10 acre tract located in the W 1/2 

Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East, PMM, Cascade County, Montana;  

 

as attached hereto marked Attachment “A”, and by this reference made a part hereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4601, Montana Code Annotated, provides that whenever 

the owners of real property contiguous to any incorporated city of the first class petition to 

have said property made a part of the municipal corporation, such lands may be embraced 

within the corporate limits thereof and the boundaries of such city of the first class extended 

so as to include the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the owner of the hereinabove described property has submitted a 

petition to have the subject property annexed to the City of Great Falls; and 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 66 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that it is to the best interest of the City of 

Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said property into the 

City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict 

compliance with and in conformity to the laws of the Montana Code Annotated, Title 7, 

Chapter 2, Part 46, Annexation by Petition, and all conditions, acts, and actions required to 

be performed precedent to and in the passage and adoption of this resolution have been 

properly and legally done, and performed. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be, and the same are hereby 

extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city, all of the 

land hereinabove described, included as: “Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey #5162; a 21.10 

acre tract located in the W 1/2 Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East, PMM, 

Cascade County, Montana,” as shown on attached Attachment “A.” 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 That the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to 

change the appropriate boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include said tract 

of land; and 

 

 That this Resolution shall become effective from and after the date of the filing of 

said document in the office of the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, 

Montana, on this 18th day of September, 2018. 

 

 

     Bob Kelly, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________ 

  Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 (SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 67 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

  Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 68 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 69 of 351                                     Attachment # 2

' 

Resolution 10268 - Attachment A 

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY 
LOCATED IN THEW 1 \2 SECTION 15, T.20N., R.4E., P.M., MT 

CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

9 10 I I I -------- -"--- 10~ 
: I I EAST GREAT FALLS ~ _, '~ 2 " ALUM CAP -FOUNOSECTIONCORNER3 1/4" ALUMINUM 

5 

~ 

13 

- ------

FOUND SECTION CORNER 3 I /4" ALUMINUM 
CAP MARKED "BABB T20N R4E S19S10S15 
516 2007 11699LS" 

R.O.W. 

f I , RETAIL CENTER / "'-.. t:s ..,,.'fl;t~ & MARKED 4:5 CAPMARKED' N1/4 BABB 11699LS ' 
: ( ADDIT ION / ' ~ 1{J \~~ ~'MDT 17+88 4" J 

! , : DETAIL2 ~ , '•~ 5/8" REBAR 

LLI N.T.S "-I & '''! I> , 2 " ALUM CAP 

I / rll.UMW l "'5~& I>, - ,_,_.-----;,: UNREADABLE 
.- 100.00· 1 

~ / "<111.,. I&~'& uNFWI.BI.E t..c/&0<1:1s, .... I~ 
S1 °02 '17"E 

1.200 95' -----i 
MONUMENT I

' 1 

1

, R.0.W. 1 · ®',, / 4.;,. <1;, <.;, ,, , ~ 

I 
\ ,,, a,,. 1¢, < "--- _.

1
"---::: 

[GFR.CA "~, -(~ <ts , 3.5" ALUM CAP : 1 4 ~-'1./¾/,0.ri_, ,, 
IR1-586"58''.38"W 177 ,80) 

N88' 57'0 1 "E 
: NS8°55'46" E 11.ct·'o~ /-........__ ..__0->,.,;,.;,,,, . __.- , MARKED " MAFB 

~ lg_ 
3666,, V ~003 LS 1 1 699" 

16 

DETAIL 1 
NTS./ 

/ 

KOA 

(R2 -N88"5 8 '38"'C> 750,QOl ]77 75' 
S88°57'19''W -750.01' . -- -- - ------ --- ------ --

(!) KOA CAMPGROUND ~ S: 
:>:: I EXPANSION ~" r--. ~re 
~ Ul2- S88"58''.!0"W - '.!09.00') ~N ~ 
C:: I N88°57'05"E ~? ~ 
~ 389.00' ~ Z 

I 

' I 
• 
I 
' 

I I I 
, . j ,;: PARCEL 1 
fli1 j ml~ 21.10 acres 

' 
I I 

100.00' ACCESS · j 
EASEMENT BENEFITING --1---1 

I 
I 

' R2 ,$1°0 1'22''E/ 

I 51 ' 02'55"E 
117.99' 

MiDSfCTION UNE 

g 
~ 

PARCEL2 · I 

tR2 -$$8"58 '38 "W ,3<50_99·, 

S88'56'14"W 
36 1.03' 

1.364.23' 

FOUND l / 4 SECTION 
CORNER CONCRETE 
BLOCK WITH "X" 

588°56'55"W 

100.00' 

N1 °03'05"W 

177.46' 

N89'47'09"E- 2728.46' 

- lOUNDARY 

ADJUSTED 
T HIS SURVEY 

PARCEL 2 

FOUND 1-1 /2" 
!RON PIPE 

120.39 acres 

SMITH ~ 

TR4C7 
\','1 

FOUND 2 " 
IRONPIPE~ 

z 

AREHART 

1.367.73' 

JOHNSON 

0 300 
w--.<-1 
1" = 300' 

P .O.B. 
P ACEl l 

N69° 10'05" W 

242.76' 

__ .;,. < ,y, . s ' 
,..,.:/?'), , ~,i' l=10.29' o'oa<1;/t1G'1y~ 

'.t v 0'",/'" R=11589.19' 3>,'IA. '1,, --~ 
q" 9"-·d' CB=N59°52'06"W ~v.l :..:iy 

<o_,{i-~ 0 /6 & > 

1.364.23' 

if'!, LC=10.29' 6<1,9 ·<e, <S- & , 
/ 0'03'03' ·66, 9 

IR 1 - 1. ~ IQ,\l.'l ' 
40 ' 03' 15") 

,__ 
~ 

~ 

"' "' N 

"' ~ 
°' -0 

z 

0 
"' ~ 
N 
N 

< 

S60°44'08" E -42.84' 

/ 
/ 

/ ~• 
,/ ~'r· ,,/ 

/ / 

''- / 

-✓ 

AREHART 

,/ 

FOUND 1 / 4 SECT10N 
CORNER 2" IRON PIPE~ 

N89'46'58"E -2732.30' ___ ~ 
MID-SE:CIDN LIN[ 

1 
~ 

15 
SE 

11
~4~- CENTER QUARTER 

CORNER 
FOUND l /2" REBAR 

SECTION 15 
T20N. R4E 

TRACT OF RECORD 3 
E1 /2 SW1 /4 HIGGINS 

"' "' ., 
'" ,--
z 

FOUND 1 / 4 SECTION 

1.367.73' 

CORNER 2' IRON PIP£~ 

PO.C. 

~---a.f _ .... ,, .. 
EM:11•t,...n1 mu_..1, 11 

"' N 
"' "' N 

---------

-~ ·~ 
S-0005162 CS 
Total PAges . 1 R 26 .00 By tmarch 07/0212018 10 37 3-8 A!'I 
Ca$cade Coun t y , Ri na Ft Moor• - Clerk I Recorder 

1111 IJJ'.iMr lll~.lll~'ltl1,lt.~1\k'I fill,111111111' I l:N1iv/. 1111 1 

LEGEND 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 

POINT OF BEGINNING 

SECTION LINE 

CURRENT SURVEY LINE 

ADJACENT PROPERTY LINE 

ROADWAY CENTERLINE 

ACCESS EASEMENT 

FOUND MONUMENT AS NOTED 

SET A 5/8"0 REBAR W/ 2" 
ALUMINUM CAP · ''WOITH ENGJNEERING 
PLS 19235" 

FOUND RED PLASTIC CAP BABB 11699 LS 

FOUND QUARTER CORNER 

FOUND SECTION CORNER 

SETA5/8"0REBARW/ 2" 
ALUMINUM CAP · "WOITH ENG!NEERING 
T20N R4E 
S15S16S21S22 
PLS 19235" 

RECORD PL 2007·0000024 

RECORD CS 0004836 

SURVEY NOTES 

POC. 

P.0 .8 . 

0 

®• 

• 
IXXl 

❖ 

+ 
(Rll 

(R2) 

THE PURPOSE OF THIS SURVEY !S TO RELOCATE THE COMMON BOUNDARY BElWEEN TWO TRACTS OF RECORD . 

THE BASIS OF BEARINGS FOR THIS SURVEY 15 REFERENCED TO A DIRECT GPS MEASUREMENT FROM GEODETIC NORTH (USING 

WGS 84), RESULTING IN A BEARING OF S 1 °04'44' ' E BE1WEEN THE MONUMENTED QUARTER SECTION CORNER COMMON 

SECTIONS 15 AND 16 , TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST AND THE MONUMENTED SECTION CORNER COMMON TO S ECTIONS 

15, 16. 21, 22, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 E.A.ST, AS SHOWN HEREON. 

NO UNDERGROUND UT!UTIES OR SUBSURFACE IMPROVEMENTS WERE MAPPED AS PART OF THIS SURVEY. 

MULTIPLE FENCE LINES, UTILITIES, AND ROADWAYS EXIST, TAKE NOTE THAT THEY DO EXIST AND ARE NOT SHOWN HEREON. 

EASEMENTS OF SIGHT AND RECORD NOT SHOWN HEREON MAY EXIST. 

CERTIFICAT E OF OWNER 

THAT WE THE UNDERSIGNED OWNERS DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT WE HAVE CAUSED TO BE SURVEYED THE FOREGOING TRACTS OF 

LAND AS SHOWN AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED HEREON. 

THAT SAID SURVEY HAS BEEN PERFORMED WITH FREE CONSENT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DESIRES OF THE UNDERSIGNED 

OWNERS AND PROPRIETORS OF SAID LANDS: 

THAT WE, KYSO CORPORATION, CURRENTLY OWN TWO TRACTS OF RECORD. RECORDED AS FOLLOWS: 

TRACT OF RECORD 1 

PART OF THE NORTHWEST ONE-QUARTER(NWl / 4) OF SECTION FIFTEEN (15), TOWNSHIP TWENTY (20) NORTH. RANGE FOUR (4) 

EAST, OF THE PRINC IPAL MERIDIAN OF MONTANA: 

CONVEYED BY THAT DEED RECORDED ON PAGE 1 160 OF BOOK 328 OF DEEDS. RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE C LERK AND 

RECORDER. CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA. 

AND 

TRACT OF RECORD 2 

PART OF THE WEST ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHWEST ONE{)UARTER 0N 1 /2NW 1 / 4) OF SECTION FIFTEEN ( 15). TOWNSHIP TWENTY 

{20) NORTH. RANGE FOUR (4) EAST. OF THE PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN OF MONTANA; 

CONVEYED BY THAT DEED RECORDED ON PAGE 1160 OF BOOK 328 OF DEEDS. RECORDED IN THE O FFICE OF THE CLERK AND 

RECORDER. CASCADE COUNTY. MONTANA. 

THAT WE, THE UNDERSIGNED DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT WE DESIRE THE COMMON LJNE BETWEEN THE AFOREMENTIONED TRACTS 

OF RECORD TO BE RELOCATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS MAP CR[ATING PARC[L 1 AND PAflC[L 2 AS DEPICTED AND 

SECONDARILY DESCRIBED HEREON '. 

THAT PARCEL 1 AND PARCEL 2 ARE SUBJECT TO AN'i OTHER EASEMENTS. RESTRICTIONS, RESERVATIONS. RIGHTS-OF-WAY , AND 

CONDlTlONS OF SIGHT AND/OR RECORD INCLUDING . BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE SHOWN HEREON, 

DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL 1 

A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST ONE-QUARTER (NW 1 / 4) OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN OF MONTANA (P.M,MT). CASCADE COUNTY. MONTANA. AS SHOWN HEREON. 

SAID PARCEL 1 BEING DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE ONE-QUARTER SECTION CORNER COMMON TO SECTION 1 5 AND 22 OF TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 

EAST: 

THENCE. N 1 ° 13'48" W. 2662. 14 FEET. ALONG THE NORTH·SOUTH MID-SECTION LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 5 TO A POINT, BEING 

THE CENTER ONE-QUARTER OF SAID SECTION; 

THENCE, N 1 ° 12'50" W , 1224.60 FEET. ALONG SAID MID-SECTION LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTHERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY OF THAT STATE HIGHWAY COMMONLY KNOWN AS STATE HIGHWAY 200: 

THENCE, N 60°45'37" W . 366 ,62 FEET, ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY TO A POINT; 

THENCE, ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY FOLLOWING A CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 1 0.29 FEET, A 

RADIUS OF 1 1 598.1 9 FEET. A CHORD BEARI NG OF N 59•52 '06" W. A LONG CHORD OF 10.29'. ANO A ti OF 0° 03'03" : FOR A 

DISTANCSOF 10.29 FEET, TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE EAST GREAT FALLS RETAIL CENTER 

ADDITION; 

THENCE. S 42°21 '32" W, 591 .64 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A PO!NT, SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING: 

THENCE, S 42°22'09" W, 135.02 FEET. TOA POINT: 

THENCE, S 13°24'34" E. 29.03 FEET, TO A POINT; 

THENCE, S 20°49'55'' W. 210.00 FEET. TO A POINT: 

THENCE, N 69° 10'05" W. 242.76 FEET, TO A POINT; 

THENCE, S 55 °04'41 " W, 692.16 FEET. TO A POINT; 

T H E NCE. N l 0 03 '05" W . 177 .46 FEET. TO A POINT: 

THENCE, S 88°56'55" W, 1 00.00 FEET. TO A POINT; 

THENCE, S 43°56 ' 18" W. 589.54 FEET. TO A POINT; 

THENCE, S 88°57'05" W. 150.05 FEET. TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE BOUNDARY OF THE KOA CAMPGROUND 

EXPANSION: 

THENCE. N 1 °02'55" W . 748.27 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POlNT: 

T H ENCE, N 88°57'05''E, 389.00 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POINT: 

THENCE, N 1 °02'28" W , 359.97 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTHERLY BOUNDARY 

OF THE EAST GREAT FALLS RETAIL CENTER ADDITION ; 

THENCE, N 88°57'0 \ 1
1 E, 177.75 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF THAT ROAD COMMONLY 

KNOWN AS 57 TH STREET SOUTH: 

T HENCE, N 88°55'46 " E, 100.09 FEET. TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF THAT ROAD COMMONLY KNOWN AS 57 TH STREET 

SOUTH; 

THENCE. S 76° 24'03" E, 997 . 16 FEET. ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO THE PO INT OF BEG!NNJ N G : 

SAID PARCEL 1 ENCOMPASSES 21 . 10 ACRES. 

DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL 2 

A PORTION OF THE NORTHWEST ONE,OUARTER (NW 1 / 4) AND A PORTION OF THE WEsr ONE+IALF OF THE SOUTHWEST 

ONE{)UARTER (Wl /2SW1 / 4) OF SECTION 15. TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH. RANGE 4 EAST, PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN OF MONTANA 

(P.M.MD. CASCADE COUNTY. MONTANA. AS SHOWN HEREON. 

SAID PARCEL 2 BEING DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE ONE,QUARTER SECTION CORNER COMMON TO SECTJON 15 AND 22 OFTOWNSHJP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 

EAST: 

THENCE, N 1 ~ 13'48" W. 2662.14 FEET, ALONG THE NORTH-SOUTH MICrSECTION LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 5 TO A POINT, BEING 

THE CENTER ONE,QUARTER OF SAID SECTION , SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING: 

THENCE, N 1 ° 12'50' ' W. 1 224.60 FEET, ALONG SAID MICrSECTION LINE TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTHERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY OF THAT STATE HIGHWAY COMMONLY KNOWN AS STATE HIGHWA'i 200: 

THENCE, N 60°45'37" W, 366.62 FEET. ALONG SAID RIGHT·OF-WA'i TO A POINT; 

THENCE. ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY FOLLOWING A CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 10.29 FEET, A 

RADIUS OF 1 l 598. 19 FEET. A CHORD BEARlNG OF N 59°52 '06' ' W, A LONG CHORD OF 10.29', AND A !J OF 0° 03'03": FOR A 

DISTANCS OF 10.29 FEET. TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE EASTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF THE EAST GREAT FALLS RETAIL 

CENTER ADDITION: 

THENCE. S 42° 2 1 '32" W. 591 .64 FEET, ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POINT: 

THENCE, S 42°22'09" W , 135.02 FEET, TO A POINT; 

THENCE. S 13°24'34" E. 29.03 FEET. TOA POINT: 

THENCE. 5 20°49'55" W , 2 10.00 FEET, TOA POINT 

THENCE. N 69° l 0'05" W. 242.76 FEET. TO A POINT; 

THENCE . S 55°04'41 " W. 692 . 16 FEET. TOA POINT: 

T HENCE. N 1 °03'05" W. 177 .46 FEET, TO A POINT: 

THENCE, S 88°56'55" W. 1 00.00 FEET, TO A POINT: 

THENCE. $ 43°56' 18" W. 589 .54 FEET. TO A POINT: 

THENCE, S 88°57'05" W, 150.05 FEET. TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE BOUNDARY OF THE KOA CAMPGROUND 

EXPANSJON ; 

THENCE,$ 1 °02'55" E. 117.99 FEET. ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POINT: 

T H ENCE, S 88° 56' 14'' W . 36 1.03 FEET. ALONG SAID BOUNDARY TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE SECTION LINE 

COMMON TO SECTIONS 1 5 AND 1 6: 

THENCE, SO 1 °04'44" E, 2663,30 FEET. ALONG SAID SECTION LINE TO A POINT. BEING THE SECTION CORNER COMMON TO 

SECTIONS 1 5, 16, 2 1 AND 22; 

THENCE, S 89°45'33'' W , 1367.73 FEET, ALONG THE SECTION LINE COMMON TO SECTIONS 15 AND 22 TO A POINT, BEING THE 

WEST ONE-SIXTEENTH CORNER COMMON TO S ECTIONS 15 AND 22: 

THENCE. N 01 °09' 16" W, 2662.72 FEET, TO A POINT, BE ING THE SOUTHWEST ONE·SIXTEENTH CORNER OF SECTION 1 5: 

THENCE . N 89°47'09" E, 1364.23 FEET, ALONG THE EASH\IEST MID-SECTION LINE OF SAID SECTION 15 TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING: 

SAID PARCEL 2 ENCOMPASSES 120.39 ACRES. 

WE HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY IS EXEMPT FROM REVIEW AS A SUBDIVISION IN ACCORDANCE WITH MCA 

76·3·207(1 )(A}: ''DIVISIONS MADE OUTSIDE OF PLATrED SUBDIVISIONS FOR THE PURPOSE OF RELOCATING COMMON BOUNDAR'f 

LINES BET\'VEEN ADJOINING PROPERTIES:" 

WE FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY IS EXCLUDED FROM REVIEW BY THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY IN THAT 

PARCEL 1 AND PARCEL 2 EACH CONTAIN MORE THAN 20 ACRES AND THUS DO NOT MEET THE DEFINITION OF A SUBDIVISION 

PURSUANT TO MCA 76'4· 102(17): "SUBDIVISION" MEANS A DIVISION OF LAND OR LAND SO DIVIDED THAT CREATES ONE OR MORE 

PARCELS CONTAJNING LESS THAN 20 ACRES. EXCLUSIVE OF PUBLIC ROADWAYS, IN ORDER THAT THE TITLE TO OR POSSESSION OF 

THE PARCELS MAY BE SOLD. RENTED, LEASED. OR OTHERWISE CONVEYED AND INCLUDES AN'i RESUBDIVISION AND AN'i 

CONDOMINIUM OR AREA, REGARDLESS OF S!ZE, THAT PROVIDES PERMANENT MULTIPLE SPACE FOR RECREATIONAL CAMPING 

VEHICLES OR MOBILE HOMES. " 

DATEDTHE '.1,nf: DAYOF .\\)tJS, . 20 18 

STATE OF MONTANA) 

ss 
COUNTY OF CASCADE ) 

ON THIS~AY OF ~lJN(.. . 2018. BEFORE ME, A N OTARY PUBLIC, IN AND FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA, PERSONAL 

APPEARED DANA HEUSTIS, AN AUTHORIZED OFFICER OF KYSO CORPORATION. KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE PERSON WHO 

EXECUTED THE FOREGOING C ERTIFICATE OF SURVEY AND HE ACKNOWLEDGED TO ME THAT HE EXECUTED THE SAME. 

SEAL 

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEYOR 

l, MARK THEODOR LARSON , PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR. MONTANA LICENCE No. I 9235LS, DO HEREBY CERT!FY 

THAT IN MARCH.2018 I SURVEYED THE TRACTS OF LAND LOCATED IN THEW 1 /2 OF SECTION 15. T20N, R4E, P.M.MT. 

CASCADE COUNTY . MONTANA AS SHOWN AND DESCRIBED IN THIS C ERTIFICATE OF SURVEY AND THAT THE SURVEY WAS MADE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH TH E PROVISIONS OF TITLE 76. CHAPTER 3 , PART 4. MCA. 

MARK THEODOR LARSON. PLS 

MONTANA REG. N0.19235 

CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY TREASURER 

I. JAMIE BAILEY. COUNTY TREASURER OF CASCADE COUNTY. MONTANA. DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I HAVE EXAMINED THE 

RECORDS COVERING THE AREAS INCLUDED IN THE ACCOMPANYl~,'.l[ERTIFl:rt,~SU~VEX ~-~• .FIND THAT THE TAXES ON THE 
SAME HAVE BEEN PAID FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS. DATED TH lsci DAY OF .. . · . ' 

-- , .,_,"'\'I' 
. . , G,: .. ·., '!! 

/ , _ _. OfFIOA!, !,, 
( ......... 
\~~~/ 

EXAMINED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH 
SUBDIVISION & PLATTING ACT 

TREASURER'S STAMP YES NO 
DATE __________ _ 
BY ___ ________ _ 
CASCADE COUNTY PLANNING DIVISION 

.._..
1
~~

4
+-'~~~c-+-/=2~~:+-"-R4=E-f I« WOITH ENGINEERING, INC, 

Jr~ ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 
P,O. BOX 7326, GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 59406 

JOB NO. 1404 

F.BNO '. GP.S. 

FILE. 1404-WRE COS 

DRAWN: O.W.. C.C. 

DATE 05-07·18 

1 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 70 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

-

-· 

-• - -- II IIILA•I 
a11•1r11, 

, 
•• •• •• 

.... . , ' ... ,,. --·, 
.· --

• 

-, 

---
-

. . , . "" . .. 
•• ·-,. 
..... ' 

' . . . 
/ 

.. 

.. . 
'If ·-.. 

AIR FOR E 
BASE 

-------=-- -----

PROJH:CT 

SITE 

. .. '" ~ .. , -··-,, ............ ~. 

I 
I 

,,•• .... . ... ..... 

• en (.) a: :z:: 0 
>-

C, UJ 
:z:: > a: a: ::, w en w 
:z:: ~ 
C, en 
:z:: a: 

UJ w UJ :::c ::z 
I- -C, 
0 ::z 
3: UJ 

3 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 71 of 351                                     Attachment # 4

' , 
'"-, ,/' 

'"-,, ,/' "' /, ',v,, 

. 
(.) 
:z: 

C, 
:z: -a: 
w 
w 
:z: -C, 
:z: 
w 
::c 
1--
0 
3: 

en cc 
0 
>w 
> cc 
::::::, 
en 
oc!S 
en cc 
w 
w 
:z: -C, 
:z: 
w 

4 



1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ANNEXATION 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls 
§17.16.7.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning 
Advisory Board and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the 
following criteria: 
 

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits.  

The 21.10 acre site proposed for annexation is contiguous to existing City limits to the 
north. 

 

2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City's growth policy.  

The proposed project is not consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the City of 
Great Falls Growth Policy Update. The annexation is supported by some of the Plan’s 
Goals as noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

In contrast, the annexation is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons 
outlined in the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

 
Soc1.4.12 – When annexing land for residential development, consider the 
timing, phasing and connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 
 
Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure 
improvements, where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing 
development in the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 

While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street 
containing water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location context creates 
significant challenges for the provision of stormwater and public safety services. With 
regards to the Plan’s guidance on supporting the current and future military mission of 
Malmstrom Air Force Base and the Montana Air National Guard, page 154 of the Plan 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 72 of 351                                     Attachment # 5



2 
 

document has been included as an attachment. Staff notes the following policy guidance 
as being most applicable to the Planning Board’s consideration of this finding: 

 
 Eco3.1.2 - Support the Malmstrom Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study (2012), also 
 referred to as the JLUS study, and participate in the joint coordinating committee so 
 as to implement the report’s recommendations.  

 

Eco3.1.3 - Should there be a change in the current mission and role of the military at 
Great Falls, follow the recommendations of the Office of Economic Adjustment 
(OEA) in responding to this condition so that the City is well positioned and prepared 
to respond to any change of status, be it new missions, adjustments, downsizing or 
closure. 

 

3. The proposed annexation is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any.  

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted 
Neighborhood Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is 
located in Neighborhood Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5, 
and the Council voted in favor of the project. 

 

4. The proposed annexation is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the 
City Commission, including a river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area 
plans. 

The subject property does not lie within any adopted plans or sub-area plans, except for 
the Great Falls Area Long Range Transportation Plan. This annexation is consistent with 
the goals and purpose of the Plan through the extension of 57th Street South. 

 

5. The City has, or will have, the capacity to provide public services to the subject 
property. 

The 21.10 acre parcel’s location outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s 
corporate limits presents challenges for local services such as street maintenance, snow 
removal, and public safety response. Complicating these issues are the following: 1) the 
property is only contiguous to the City limits in one direction – to the north, 2) the 
developer hasn’t shown or committed to constructing a paved secondary access for 
either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the nearest public street to 
the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the parcel being considered for 
annexation. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding that the City has the 
capacity to provide public services.  

 

6. The subject property has been or will be improved to City standards.  

The developer has demonstrated the feasibility to connect and extend City water 
service. While the developer’s preliminary proposal for installation of a force main and 
temporary lift station still requires additional design, providing sanitary sewer service 
seems to be feasible. The proposed roadways also will meet typical design standards.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 73 of 351                                     Attachment # 5



3 
 

However, the subject property is not being improved to the standards acceptable to the 
Engineering Department or Fire Department. For Engineering, the property’s location 
upstream from the Gibson Flats area requires a preliminary plan to re-route or retainage 
of all stormwater for the annexed parcel. For the Fire Department, their standards for a 
second fire apparatus route and response times have not been addressed. 

 

7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property 
to City standards and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of 
protest to the creation of a special improvement district created to pay, in whole or in 
part, any necessary improvement.  

An Improvement Agreement is being deferred in order to first address the issue of 
whether or not the parcel should be annexed. The owner is anticipating financial 
responsibility of installing street and utility infrastructure. The owner has not committed 
to installing a complying secondary ingress and egress route for fire protection and 
improved connectivity. Additionally, no agreement has been reached regarding the 
Engineering Department’s stormwater recommendations.  

 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the 
County Clerk and Recorder.  

A Certificate of Survey has been recorded for the subject property. 

 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject 
property that may require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal.  

These services can be feasibly provided to the subject property. 

 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation.  

The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation. 

 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA.)  

The subject property is not located in another city or town.   

 
12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, 

refining, transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any 
purpose incidental thereto. (See: 7-2-4608 (2), MCA) 
The subject property has been utilized for agriculture, but the developer is willingly 
giving up this land use option to seek annexation into the City. 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 74 of 351                                     Attachment # 5



1 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ANNEXATION 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls 
§17.16.7.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning
Advisory Board and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the
following criteria:

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits.

The 21.10 acre site proposed for annexation is contiguous to existing City limits to the
north.

2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City's growth policy.

The proposed project is not consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the City of
Great Falls Growth Policy Update. The annexation is supported by some of the Plan’s
Goals as noted below:

Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 

Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 

In contrast, the annexation is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons 
outlined in the agenda report addressing public service impacts. 

Soc1.4.12 – When annexing land for residential development, consider the 
timing, phasing and connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 

Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 

Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure 
improvements, where needed, to support development. 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing 
development in the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

While sStaff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street 
containing water, sewer, and stormwater mains., the property’s location context creates 
significant challenges for the provision of stormwater and public safety services. With 
regards to the Plan’s guidance on supporting the current and future military mission of 
Malmstrom Air Force Base and the Montana Air National Guard, page 154 of the Plan 

                     Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Advisory Board Recommended 4/24/18

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 75 of 351                                     Attachment # 6

-------



2 
 

document has been included as an attachment. Staff notes the following policy guidance 
as being most applicable to the Planning Board’s consideration of this finding: 

 

 Eco3.1.2 - Support the Malmstrom Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study (2012), also 
 referred to as the JLUS study, and participate in the joint coordinating committee so 
 as to implement the report’s recommendations.  

 

 Eco3.1.3 - Should there be a change in the mission and role of the military at Great 
 Falls, follow the recommendations of the Office of Economic Adjustment (OEA) in 
 responding to this condition so that the City is well positioned and prepared to 
 respond to any change of status, be it new missions, adjustments, downsizing or 
 closure. 

 

3. The proposed annexation is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any.  

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted 
Neighborhood Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is 
located in Neighborhood Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5, 
and the Council voted in favor of the project. 

 

4. The proposed annexation is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the 
City Commission, including a river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area 
plans. 

The subject property does not lie within any adopted plans or sub-area plans, except for 
the Great Falls Area Long Range Transportation Plan. This annexation is consistent with 
the goals and purpose of the Plan through the extension of 57th Street South. 

 

5. The City has, or will have, the capacity to provide public services to the subject 
property. 

This finding is met.The 21.10 acre parcel’s location outside the southeastern boundary 
of the City’s corporation limits presents challenges for local services such as street 
maintenance, snow removal, and public safety response. Complicating these issues are 
the following: 1) the property is only contiguous to the City limits in one direction – to 
the north, 2) the developer hasn’t shown or committed to constructing a paved 
secondary access for either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the 
nearest public street to the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the 
parcel being considered for annexation. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding 
that the City has the capacity to provide public services.  

 

6. The subject property has been or will be improved to City standards.  

The developer has demonstrated the feasibility to connect and extend City water 
service. While the developer’s preliminary proposal for installation of a force main and 
temporary lift station still requires additional design, providing sanitary sewer service 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 76 of 351                                     Attachment # 6



3 
 

seems to be feasible. The proposed roadways also will meet typical design standards.  
However, the subject property is not being improved to the standards acceptable to the 
Engineering Department or Fire Department. For Engineering, the property’s location 
upstream from the Gibson Flats area requires a preliminary plan to re-route or retainage 
of all stormwater for the annexed parcel. For the Fire Department, their standards for a 
second fire apparatus route have not been addressed. 

 

7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property 
to City standards and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of 
protest to the creation of a special improvement district created to pay, in whole or in 
part, any necessary improvement.  

An Improvement Agreement will be required to address developer and City 
responsibilities.is being deferred in order to first address the issue of whether or not the 
parcel should be annexed. The owner is anticipating financial responsibility of installing 
street and utility infrastructure. The owner has not committed to installing a complying 
secondary ingress and egress route for fire protection and improved connectivity. 
Additionally, no agreement has been reached regarding the Engineering Department’s 
stormwater recommendations. 

 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the 
County Clerk and Recorder.  

A Certificate of Survey has been recorded for the subject property. 

 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject 
property that may require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal.  

These services can be feasibly provided to the subject property. 

 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation.  

The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation. 

 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA)  

The subject property is not located in another city or town.   

 
12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, 

refining, transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any 
purpose incidental thereto. (See: 7-2-4608 (2), MCA) 
The subject property has been utilized for agriculture, but the developer is willingly 
giving up this land use option to seek annexation into the City. 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 77 of 351                                     Attachment # 6



 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3180 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF PUD PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO THE PROPERTY LEGALLY DESCRIBED 

AS: PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY #5162; A 21.10 ACRE TRACT 

LOCATED IN THE W1/2 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 

EAST, P.M.M. MT, CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

 WHEREAS, KYSO CORPORATION is the owner of record and has petitioned the City 

of Great Falls to annex and subdivide the subject property, consisting of ±21.10 acres, as legally 

described above; and, 

 

WHEREAS, KYSO CORPORATION has petitioned said property to be assigned a City 

zoning classification of PUD Planned Unit Development district, upon annexation to the City; and, 

  

 WHEREAS, notice of assigning said zoning classification to the subject property was 

published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 

would be held on the 18th day of September, 2018, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; 

and, 

 

 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and decided that said zoning 

designation be made; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the zoning map amendment on said property meets the Basis of Decision 

requirements in the Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Section 17.16.29.050; and, 
  

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on April 24, 

2018, to consider said zoning and at the conclusion of said hearing passed a motion recommending 

the City Commission zone the property legally described as Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey 

#5162; A 21.10 Acre Tract located in the W1/2 of Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East 

P.M. MT, Cascade County, Montana to PUD Planned Unit Development district. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested zoning assignment will meet the criteria 

and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 17.16.29.50 of 

the Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls.  

 

 Section 2. That the property legally described as: Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey #5162; 

A 21.10 Acre Tract located in the W1/2 of Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East P.M. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 78 of 351                                     Attachment # 7



MT, Cascade County, Montana be designated as PUD Planned Unit Development district, subject 

to the development standards attached hereto as Attachment A and the Allowable Land Uses 

attached hereto as Attachment B, and by this reference made a part hereof, as well as all other 

applicable regulatory codes and ordinances. 

 

 Section 3. Except for the development standards in Attachment A and Allowable Land 

Uses in Attachment B, where the OCCGF regulations apply to a specific zoning district, M-1 

Mixed-use district regulations shall apply to the lots designated as “Mixed Use M-1” in the Phase 

I area of Attachment C and R-2 Single-family medium density district regulations shall apply to 

the lots designated as “Single Family Residential PUD” in the same attachment.  

 

 Section 4. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage 

and adoption by the City Commission. 

 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first reading 

August 7, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second reading 

September 18, 2018. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Sara R.  Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

 

 I, Lisa Kunz, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did post as 

required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3180 on the Great 

Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 79 of 351                                     Attachment # 7



 

 

   

 Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 80 of 351                                     Attachment # 7



Ordinance 3180 - Attachment A

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 81 of 351                                     Attachment # 8

1Uheat~'Je 'Estates f ~ .J 
PUD ZONING STANDARDS 

Standard SINGLE FAMILY PUD M-1 

Residential density -
500 sf of lot a re a per 

dwelling unit 

Minimum lot size for newly created lots 11,500 7,500 

Minimum lot width for newly created lots 60 50 

Lot proportions for newly created lots (maximum depth to width) 2.5:1 or< N/A 

-
Maximum building height of principal building 35 feet 35 Feet 

Maximum building height of detached garage 
24 feet but not higher than 

N/A 
principal building 

Maximum building height of other accessory structures and buildings 12 feet 
24 feet but not higher than 

principal building 

Minimum front yard setback 30feet NONE 

Minimum rear yard set back lOfeet 10 feet 

Accessory structures and buildings rear yard set back 2 feet lOfeet 

Minimum side yard set back lOfeet NONE 

Maximum lot coverage of principal and accessory buildings 50% 
CORNER LOT 70%, 

OTHER65% 



Ordinance 3180 - Attachment B

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 82 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat 1<i'3e r.states 

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

Agrlcultural u .. 

Agriculture, horticulture, nursery p 

RNidentlal U.. 

Mobile home/park -

Residence, single-family detached p 

Residence, zero lot line -

Residence, two-family -

Residence. multi-family -

Residence, townhouse . 

Residence, manufactured/factory-built p 

Retirement home -

Spec:lel care Faclllllea 

Community residential facility, type I p 

Community residential facility, type II C 

Day care center C 

Emergency shelter -

Family day care home p 

Group day care home p 

Nursing home -

OVemlght Accommodatlona 

Campground 

Hotel/motel 

Pagell9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 83 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat 1<.i'Je r.sfafes 

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

Food and Beverage Sal• 

Micro-brewery -

Restaurant -

Tavern -

General 8alea 

Agriculture sales -

Auction sales -
Construction materials sales -

Convenience sales C 

General sales -
Manufactured housing sales -

Off-site liquor sales -

Secondhand sales -

Shopping center -

Page219 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 84 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

Genentl Servlces 

Administrative services -

Commercial kennel -

Financial services -

Funeral home -

General services -

Professional services -
Sexually-oriented business -

Veterinary clinic, large animal -
Veterinary cllnic, small animal -

Rental and General Repair 

Large equipment rental -

Small equipment rental -

General repair -

Vehicle Trade and Service 

Vehicle fuel sales -

Vehicle repair -
Vehicle sales and rental -

Vehicle services -

Page 3 I 9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 85 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

1Vheaf 1<!':Je ':£stat es 

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

I 

General Storage 

Agricultural commodity storage facility -

Climate controlled Indoor storage -

Fuel tank farm -

Mini-storage facility -

Freight terminal -

Warehouse -

Indoor ReclNtlon/Spor1SIEntilrtalnrnent 

Casino, type I -

Casino, type II -

Indoor entertainment -

Indoor sports and recreation -

-
Outdoor Rec:Natlon/Sports/Entertalnment 

Golf course/driving range C 

Miniature golf -

Outdoor entertainment -

Park p 

Recreational trail p 

Page 4 J 9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 86 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat tR.i'Je ~fates ,,, 
PRINCIPAL USES 

use PUD 

Community Servlce8IUNs 

Administrative governmental center -

Animal shelter -
Cemetery C 

Civic use facility C 

Community center C 

Community cultural facility C 

Community garden p 

Public safety facility C 

Worship facility C 

Health Care 

Health care clinic -

Health care facility -

Health care sales and services -

Page 5 I 9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 87 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat 1<.i'Je r.sfafes 

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

Education 

Commercial education facility -

Educational facility (K-12) C 

Educational facility (higher education) -

Instructional facility -

Solld Wute, Recydlng and Composting 

Composting facility -

Recycling center -

Solid waste transfer station -

Telecommunlcatlona 

Amateur radio station p 

Telecommunication facility 

Concealed facility C 

Unconcealed facility -

Co-located facility -

Page 6 l9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 88 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

1Uheat 1<.idje r:&fafes 

PRINCIPAL USES 

Use PUD 

Utllltlea 

Utility installation I C 

Transportation 

Airport -

Bus transit terminal -

Heli-pad -

Parking lot, principal use -

Parking structure -
Railroad yard -

Taxi cab dispatch terminal -

Contractor Yards 

Contractor yard, type I C 

Contractor yard, type II 

lndiatrlal/Manufac:turlng 

Artisan shop -

Industrial, heavy -

Industrial, light -

Industrial park -

Junkyard -

Light manufacturing and assembly -

Motor vehicle graveyard -

Motor vehicle wrecking facility -

Page 7 I 9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 89 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat 1<i'Je 'Estates 

ACCESSORY USES 

Use PUD 

Accessory living space p 

Agriculture, livestock p 

A TM, exterior -

Bed and breakfast C 

Fences p 

Gaming, accessory -

Garage, private p 

Home occupation p 

Private stable/barn p 

Residence, accessory -

Roadside farmer's market p 

Storage containers -

Wind-powered electricity systems p 

Page 8 I 9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 90 of 351                                     Attachment # 9

Wheat <Ri':Je £',fates 

TEMPORARY USES 

Use PUD 

Garage sales p 

Itinerant outdoor sales -

On-site construction office p 

On-site real estate sales office p 

Outdoor entertainment, temporary -

Sidewalk cafe -

Sidewalk food vendor -

Page 9 I 9 



Ordinance 3180 - Attachment C

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 91 of 351                                     Attachment # 10

~EGEND 
Mixed Use District - M-l 

Single Family Res. - PU D 

Cluster Res. 

Storm 
Water 

, Area 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Jl 

8 

CLUSTER 
RESIDENTIAL 

north 

ESTATE 
RESIDENTIAL 1 

~ 1 1 ,~u1u· if' ~· 
'C: ~ \ t 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 92 of 351                                     Attachment # 11

We have annotated the City of Great Falls Development Application checklist, form date 5/1/14, to assist you and your staff in evaluating the 
submission . The following is intended to supplement the checklist annotation : 

PURPOSE AND INTENT 

a) Project Overview and Goals 

The proposed residential and mixed-use community, offering homes within walking distance from newly developed commercial and retail 
locations, inviting trails and wide sidewalks, an overall park-like setting, and interconnecting streets that reach out to the community at 
large, sets the standard for communities to come in Great Falls. For these reasons, the applicant respectfully requests a PUD zoning to help 
further promote flexibility in development design and to permit planned diversification while at the same time creating a community rich 
with functional and beneficial open spaces, both natural and proposed. 

b) Overall design concept to include, use categories, themes, or other significant features 

The location of the development and the topography of the existing property drove the design and layout of the proposed development. A 
connected neighborhood/ community was the primary design concept with a desire to provide diverse housing options in order to be 
inviting to all prospective home buyers/ tenants. Lots with higher elevations and those along the perimeter were conceptually designed to 
be view lots to take advantage of the natural property to the south of the development. Moving towards the center of the community the 
density of the proposed development increases. It would include alley-loaded town house, a gated community, and a multifamily parcel 
surrounding a town center type of commercial area that would be the eventual focal point of the development for community events and 
activities. 

As the development is constructed the focus of the design was to maintain a sense of continuity and accessibility for non-motorized traffic. 
The central parkway is the foundation of this and serves as the main corridor from the entrance to the community down to the town center. 

Land Use Plan 

a) Description of proposed land use categories, include acreages and location if more than one land use category is proposed 

The overall concept of the development was to include multiple land uses in order to provide more of a community feeling. In the 
conceptual layout of the site the largest use category will be residential (~197acres) with varying densities represented. Commercial/ Mixed 
Use areas (~7 acres) were included at the entrance to the development as well as in the middle or the project to serve as a focal point for 
activities. 

b) Brief discussion of the Conceptual Site Plan 

The main idea of the layout of the site was to extend S7th Street from the northern boundary all the way to the south to the Town Center 
area and that would serve to give access directly to the center of the site for non-residents while giving residents local access that was a step 
up from the standard roadway. Density of the residential areas starts out low along the north and east boundaries with the view lot concept 
and gradually increases towards the center of the site where the higher-density, alley-loaded townhome concept is introduced surrounding 
the Town Center areas. 

Natural topography was followed as closely as possible and drainage pathways were analyzed and used as the basis of the layout of the 
pathway system throughout the site. Non-motorized access around the site as well as to the commercial area to the north of the 
development was a primary focus of the design not only to provide local residents with alternative transportation methods to and from the 
site but also to make the neighborhood accessible and inviting to visitors. 

Site Conditions and Location 

a) Acreage 

The overall site proposed for the development contains 227.63 acres. The portion of the overall site that is proposed as Phase 1 is 20.98 
acres. 

b) Location in relation to major intersections or areas of regional significance 

The development is located to the south of the 57th Street and 10th Avenue South intersection which is a signalized intersection to 
accommodate the commercial developments that will be constructed on the lots on the adjacent properties to the north of the site. 

c) Topography and natural features 

The elevations on the site are highest on the north boundary and slope downward as you move to the south with some higher areas along 
the east side of the property. There are multiple drainage pathways on the site that convey storm water from the north and northeast areas 
in a south and southwesterly direction. 

Zoning and Land Use Compatibility 

a) Describe existing zoning on and adjacent to site, to include conformance with the objectives, policies, design guidelines, and planned 
land uses and intensities of all applicable planning areas 

The site proposed for development is currently used for agriculture and is located outside of the Great Falls city limits. The current zoning 
assigned to the lot is A which is the same as the zoning assigned to the adjacent lots to the southwest. The lots to the west are zoned MH. 

b) Describe existing land uses on and adjacent to site 

Properties to the east, south, and southwest have similar land uses to the subject property which is used as an agricultural field. The 
property to the west is a KOA Campground and the properties to the north are commercial properties that are in the process of being 
developed. 

c) Describe existing and adjacent character 

Development of the site will be a major transformation of the site from a bare land to a new and exciting neighborhood and community that 
will bring new life and energy to this side of town in addition to the new commercial developments that are proposed to be constructed to 
the north. 

List of Uses 

a) Permitted Uses 
Land uses for this development will follow the proposed PUD zoning regulations 

Development Standards 

a) Density and number of dwelling units 

Phase 1 of the development will contain 3 mixed use and 37 single-family residential parcels. 

Future proposed phases will have low density single-family residential, pockets of medium to high density residential, mixed-use, 
commercial, multi-family, private community, and estate lot parcels. Based on preliminary master plan site layouts of the entire parcel there 
could ultimately be more than 500 lots created. 

b) 
c) 
d) 
e) 
f) 

Minimum lot width/depth 
Building setbacks/build to lines 
Landscape setbacks 
Building separation 
Height 

g) Lot coverage 

( See attached PUD Zoning Standards table 
for items b - h ) 

- Assumed maximum building footprint of 50' x 50' = 2,500 sf 
- Assumed a 25' wide driveway from setback to lot line= 500 sf 
Total lot coverage area= 3,000 sf (used 3,500 sf in storm calcs) 

h) Division of Uses 

Design Guidelines 

The Guidelines for Design Review section of the Zoning Ordinance establishes minimum design guidelines for development. The PUD Narrative 
is expected to exceed these standards by meeting the Objectives outlined in the Planned Unit Development Basis of Decision (17.16.29.050) 

Signs 

a) Location 

An entry feature is proposed on the north end of the parkway and road signage will be placed at each intersection closely following standard 
City of Great Falls standards. 

b) Size 

Road signs will closely follow City standards for size. 

Infrastructure 

a) Circulation Systems (streets, pedestrian circulation, trails, etc.) 

Road layout has been based on a master site plan that can be seen on the overall site layout plan. An overall pedestrian/ bicycle trail system 
has been incorporated into the master plan which includes a dedicated bike lane on both sides of the entire length of the parkway from the 
north boundary to the Town Center. 

Road layout was configured to follow the existing topography of the site while focusing the travel through the site to the town center on the 
south end of the site which is the main feature of the development. 

b) Grading and Drainage 

The Phase 1 site grading has been designed to closely follow existing topography where possible. The north end of the Parkway will be 
lowered from the existing grades to minimize the road grade and it will include drainage channels on both the east and west sides that will 
be the main collection method for runoff and will convey runoff to the south through a number of culverts and temporary swales to the 
proposed detention pond which has been designed to control flows from the first 9 preliminary phases. 

• 

(.) 
:z 

C, 
:z 
a: 
w 
w 
:z 
C, 
:z 
w 
:::c: 
l-
o 
3: 

en a: 
0 
> w 
> a: 
::::::, 
en 
olS 
en a: 
w 
w 
::z: -C, 
::z: 
w 

5 



Wheat Ridge Estates Conceptual Landscape Plan /Master Plan

Mixed
Use
M-1

SINGLE
FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL - PUD

SINGLE
FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL - PUD

CLUSTER
RESIDENTIAL

MEDIUM
DENSITY

RESIDENTIAL

SINGLE
FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL - PUD

SINGLE
FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL - PUD

ESTATE
RESIDENTIAL

SINGLE
FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL - PUD

MULTI-FAMILY
RESIDENTIAL

MULTI-FAMILY
RESIDENTIAL

MIXED USE M-1
TOWN

CENTER

STORM
WATER
POND

PHASE 1
Mixed Use District - M-1

Single Family Res. - PUD

Cluster Res.

Medium 
Density
Multi-
Family
Estate
Res.

LEGEND

Park

Storm
Water
Area

north

8
City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 93 of 351                                     Attachment # 12

I 
I 

• 
• • • 

I 

• • I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

l __ _ 
11 
1 1 
1 1 
11 
11 
I I 
11 
11 I 
fl I 
11 
11 
11 
1 1 
11 
11 

GREAT FALLS, MT 

.. , 
• 
• 

• 
• •• • 

, oo· 200· JOO' 

S C A L E 

WOmt ENGINEEIING, INC. 
"'ENGINEERS lSU~Ef!S 

IIAlm!m,IEol!AIUI, 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 94 of 351                                     Attachment # 13

; I ' I - / / / \} - ✓ ,'\, - I - ·-" ....... -l i !I: D ETE NTI ON POND 1 NOTES: / / --------._____' ....... , _ -------.____ ______ _ 
:1, 1 / i I -, ' -, 
IIJI 1. POND SIZED TO DETAIN FLOWS FROM PHASE 1 AND FUTURE : : ·--.____ __ ',~ -., __ 

Wheat 1<.i/_Je 'Esta{ es 
i I, I PHASES 2- 9 OF THE DEVELOPMENT WITH OVERALL / / '-,, , '-., 

A PLANNED U N IT DEVELOPMENT IN 

\ 111 IMPERVIOUS % OF ALL PHASES CALCULATED TO BE 34.60%. : i .______ \ "\, "-.. , 
•

1 

I , I (SEE DETENTION POND CALCULATIONS FOR DETAILS) f , "-,J ) '- , 
THE CITY O F GREAT FA LLS. MONTANA 

I ,,. - ·--- 1· i ,_ i '..__ - --, 
:,.l, l ,, .,... IMPERVIOUS % CALCULATED USING THE FOLLOWING: ! \ / "1 '-- , ,,. _ ..._' --....,. __ 

t I j I '< ' ,, 
: I I PARKWAY ROW 49% IMPERVIOUS , • / / / ~ ..._-. ._ ·-......_ 
I Ii I LOCAL ROAD ROW 75% IMPERVIOUS I ' j / / t ;<, .__ ._-..... '-.. 
j I, I ALLEY 95.8% IMPERVIOUS : I;; !\ / 1 I .,"> ..._, , , "-., 
: 11 1 LOT AREA 3,500 SF / LOT IMPERVIOUS I '' / / / / --,_ "' , __ 
II I I ~ I ' ' / I -,_ " "::" ' "'--

SECTION 1 5 , T20N. R4E, PMM, 

CASCADE COUNTY, MONTA NA 

C&W DEVELOPMENT / 

KYSO CORPORATION 

: 111 · E.A.ST G REAT F"ALL.S 1 1 1 ·, '-, ,, '·-I 2 DETENTION POND CAPACITY 195,1 13 CF 'i I \ / / .- ', , 
I-' I · . ; ) / ,• F TA I L C E N ·r E R, 1 ,,,,. ,.,.. ~ -. " "' --, · : ii I I ( / ~ . I / / ,/ .....,__ ' ' --- ' --, i 

11 I 1 ' ·1 I I / ' --~::: I I // J --, --- - .::: .:::-~' '--.____l 0 150 

\. 1, 1 3. ToP AREA 42.oa6 sF I , ) __ - - " 0 0 r-1 10 I'~ 1 1 1 / o1 

7
. ✓- , , -- • 

, 4. DEPTH 6.50 FT , , I ( _ _ \ , , ,I / I / I I ,J -- • - " , , , -.____ 

I' I 11 I I I / " - ,,.,, / / / / / ,/, , / >-..__ " '- ' .,_ 1' --, 
1,1 5. RELEASE RATE PRE 29.32 CFS • : i / / '-,, .~/ ,,_" // / / ,/ / / =------..::-,,~, ',, '·-, 1" = 1 50' 

I' ll POST 28.92 CFS ! l I / / /~ ", ' ,. ,,. ,, // / ,/ / / ,._ 5·" '- '- i-- --.____ 
:1ol _j I / l - -- ..J-<l' ,,,,._/ / I ....,; •' I /I✓ ,,,,.'\... ' --, 

: I ' I ' I I I C ITY LIMITS ,•"' ,,,,. / J I I z.FI I t ,,,,. '!--.. '--. 
IIJi 6. OUTFALL PIPE 24" PVC W/ 23"¢ ORIFICE - ! l \ l \ / -.. GREAT FALLS ,.,..,.~ _......-'_,., ,,.,1 ,-...- .J \ / / 

1
1 , ,,,... .,.. •y, j --.____ __ 

-~-= - ~ .J+--~ -_.J._-- I - - - _,., / ,/ ) / " I I "- ' l.iJj_ ----- --- --- I I I / - _,.1~ - - / ,/ ' , / / J I I I. ' C --.______ -., 

l\l: . ..~. :

1 

· • r:·--,/ f ~ .- _-_-_-__-: __ ... - -~/- /_/ 'Exf~!~f ;~,'ci F1iLt-: ', .. , '-,,_ '-, 
li! l ~~QA CAMF>GROUND 't~~o - ""'"0 

/ · ,,__ / ,. • .,-- ,... 1h I F;?t:,-,.:.t 'VRJ (., f LY E 1- j --, •• .______ '-•• ·-, 

ll! l EXPANSIOI'~ ,..." --~ i ,,,,.,,. I .,,u;--: ~ / ~ - ) ~, ,E:MENIENT - ·1-;1 I '--,__ '--./ 

' il l / ..._ __ / ,/ ~ ., 4 
OPEN .. ,_~ 1" / 1 Q)./r.! 1, ACRES- / . ,/ "' . !1, 1 ,,_, ,,- --.... ,,1-- .,, -- ~ ::r. .. ,_., " ~ ' -:PACE __ ..,..,_ ' , ,,. , ., • , , I r --, / ,. 

11 i I - - - / - 2 • ,., ., .,, ,,,,. / ' )- .,, 14 1 ' - ", I "' I I I ( ' ·-.____ '/ 
:111 / ✓- - ,,, .,- -, ~~~ , .,, ,,.-- ,, ,,. ✓- ✓ / \_ ~...,....- I .... , ., ,, - 1<v_1 I ' ( / I 1 ~ -, --..__J,•' 
! I I, I / .r.,,. .- .,, - u~ - / ,..- ' ""' " ,,- \ • ,. ,.., / / •• I; / \ - - 1 / / I i , ,/'-....... 

I # I' - - - ,... / _). / \ \ ,:v , • .,. " I / ~ \ I / / I , FUTURE ,/' 

l \11\ \ "1 ,._ .,.. ..__ ., : ✓: l ,,.:,:/_,, ~ •;,,,v - --- ' ,._,:!., (Y":.__"_'1 // 1/i., \"•~;' /// // //) I/ I ! \ ~~i~~~~~~ ,,///, 
: 1,

1 
1 r· ..... ,....,,_..,, , ,, ✓ .,:,',!,, .,,.,,, _ _ ) , 1 1 _, 1 , 1 1 

1 
, , 1 , AccEss / 

~ ,., ;,...... ., - 'I / / / .. I I / ' ) \ I ' 

!IJI ( -, ,.;!,,, ,,,,. - ••- /,o ;/ ., ., / ~ \ ( I ,J / I I ,< I \ ) ,/,, jl •I \ g _ ... - / .,... /1 I / ,....,... ,,.;! ,:' ~ 1 I I ,/ !.I I 1 '-.__ ) ' , , 

: 1 I 1 \ I \ , t ' l / /, 1'?; - - - ( , • ,, -;., ., - - ,/ - - ---::_;' - _,, / I 'jj~ I / I I ~ . I )i /,,/ / 
1:1: ", ''-'"It ' ~.~ -,! , . ' / _JI~ I ~~",,, ., 1" ' ,,, ... -- .r~;✓'--~~ ½/ ~ii/I / _ j , ~...... ;' / l /,' /,' ! I I I ' ~ V / V / / ✓ ., I .........___ / .. ( I I I \ -~ I ' ,' , 

I I 11 • • .. ~! .. ' ' I I Ii I 1' ,.. ' - '>-./ ., ., ,j, t , ' ' ~ - -..______ ' / I / / ~ i /' ,/ • 1 ! 1 , ' I ' ' Vi / / ,j " I - ~ -- ; .,~ / ... ., 4 I ' ' :::.. --:.. .........___ ., / ' f I ~ \ ' '; ✓ I ,/ _./' 

11, I 1,-L..-,,:'.___j_ •• ~ 1 
,:i ti; .,, .1---...,.,-~ .,,,.... " /'"'--- PHASE 1 / ., .J.. / ., .... ,, "-.!, J ~ J -b I;' ,_ -;. ' ,/' ./' 

:i 11 / '' '""" / ,/ I : I / 42 . ... ~ .. / - BOUNDARY J., \ ', , t ~ , _, ,1 /' ,/· 
I 1, 1 1 ,, 

1 
1 ,, / ,, / 1,..,..,.. 1 - , , / 20.9 7 ACR~_s ! \ , )} I L \ \ ' ;- _ 1'.__ ,, ,/· 

/ 24 ~ / 11 /, 

,li l .,....__,,,,.- 1 ,.,. ,.,/
1 

/ ,;:. ,., <.. .,., .~,, .,,' ,. / ..... ,._ / .," ,., :::,,, ;"-.. I --........... __ -./__ .........___ -"' '- \ / 1:i \ ' _\ __ =7/ '- \ I ,/' 
I iJ v ,, /. : ,, (r ,,,,. .1 i - 1✓ ..... / - ., \i - - "' i ' I .J, r , ~--- I _/-
! II '1 : / / / / / / ; ,,, /( < . .p;,, I / ,0 I - • / / /., ,,., / / - - I,~ ---;, \ I \ .... ~ / / J ! ' 1,' ' ' - ..- /., ', ' : - --,._ _./ 

,:J} ,..... ,,,,.,,, ✓;.,.,;, .,/: / ////, __ , __ / 1 ./ ,.,....-~ .,.✓/ ,......,, ✓ - tlo/J., ✓, ,,,---- 1 • / 11 , ]'-=- EXISTING I-, , -- t- -
I __ ...... -- / / / ' ·¥ ,,. / .,,.,,.- / ,\ ,..," .,-' _,. .... --- ,,. i?l / 11· I / 1 ~ . ', ', , ' -,....... I V 

' I ' I ,,,,. ._ _,, / .,,, ,,. ,., ,,_ ; 1 '/ 1 - / ./' / - ,... / 1 -"\, _,, I 
I 

J \ 1 DRAINAGE 1 1 , j 
1 11 ( ,.✓, /; / / ,.,,,.,, / / 1/ / ---1 _.,., • ✓:r ... ✓ I ,, I I I , 1 PATH ... _, I ' _ 
j::11 ✓✓-- ✓ ,,.,,, ,.,,.-:,,, ,.,,, I / ,.: .. ,- ~, - .,,/ I , /7 .,, / ., /~-\ (/ •. , : . ,, // J\r, r , I', ' r-
:,Vt 11 ·;_.....~/..-," / I ,...,,.. / / I ,. - ' .,: / r _ /., ,. VJ " ~ \ I I , __ / ~\ I ' ,,, , 

I 'I' / '/ /, / _.... /,,. / - ,,.. / / ' / / / .,... .., / 1/ / ; I ,,--- - ~ _,, ~..: \ .., ., 7 - / I '\ I \ :~ I -' -.... '' ' : I --- ' ' 

/ I f ' ' 

- --- - ~ ~ --~✓ - - ~ ~ -~ - - --~- '·-- ~ = = ~ __ __ ', _ _ 
- :ti' «. - 1 • ,- z-_ / -, /' .. ,7 - ,-,' ,' _,,. --rL \, .,-' r 

1//\I \ ' - -- - _,, ,Ii/ ',, ,Q J/4 • SEl/4 
:u:~✓ / : f r---- /I ,, / /,,. // /.~/,.,..- / -------✓y ,.,-// ,;{, \ l /_., .,-' -----~ : '- ... , ___ r l ,/;.--;.--/<;- ilk 
' I I - l / / / / , J ,,t / ., ., ..: ii I \ \ ,., / - / J I I I ,r' 1 J,."' s EC TIO N 1 5 
1, 1 ,,--.,----- J ( -- L~ ✓/ I /. , ,,- - - ---- \ I ✓ / ✓ -:.... - / ,j, \ I --- ' ;;;) 
I I / J\ / -1 I I · / / - - I ' / ' V ~ T20N R4 E 
'I:,, I / ,' I , / .,... - ~ r; ' .," / .J,v - ', ""~ - --~<" / '1 ' ' ' P,1 , ,.,- l J / / .,.. ,./ ,,..~ /\ 'I' / ~ .,-' I k-""?~ I ' 1-
11 1 ,,, - , ·"" ' , /. - · ,,-;/ r/ I I PROPOSED_/ • ' ., ':!./ k, 1 I . ~v-k-" / _j I Il l~, _:;.~ ,,>, - / (/// ,' -,,1/' I_,.- ( 1_ DRAINAGE ' \;r/../, , ✓ ," -- __ --,, ,\J .,,....-~ --+-- , : v-~"' 

llll / '>-, "' , . I ,' ,,...,,,. ..... J -✓1 PATHS / • / ', _,-1-- ·\ ,/ / I ,;,// l / 
I I r ' ""vJ"' 7 / ,,, .,,,, ./ ,,,. J., ,,. .,. ....._ ,,,,,-,,. , " It' ' ,.... .- y ,.- / 

\]~( /,,,,. - ),... .<, ,r ,' _,. -; - -- \ ,,_... , : /~ ,,. ,r - ., / .,' ~ / - , •• ,.- - / / ., ;• - -/4 Ii -- ,,-~ I J i/v/ 17 
I ,, - .,,.,, / / / , ..- L ,1 .v __...-- ✓-✓f, / _....::---\ / J1• -. - .;v...._,_~ .... -z,.- ~ v 111 i I , I, I,,/ ; :r ' I I - ., / / J..- 4._ I v- :.,:--.:> / / 

'1 1"'11 ,,, ,. , ,:.. . ," A .,,,, ::: / I / - - -- - - ------- ~ / / ' - :.J:-1· ~~- --=-~ "- I /A' I I ,,. - . "-.., '-..' /. / - --- / ., / ., _,,., / y ~p-- , _,., I - ,,., / 
I ./ 1/ / ,1' , , '-; , :.•'~ __ ,- 1_- ', / ' / __ _., ✓f••-''\ /, 1/ _,. I ,,' - / /'•~ I / • / /) 

I i i" // - .., / '-..../ / ' ., ,' / / -..... ,., ~-- "1 / - \... - V 

j ,I ,I / ,, _. ,-/ - - '-. ''-. / / .,(_ ~.:; • "> - ,_ ' ,j, f / /,, / 0- / . / / )I )I ,,- ,,- / : / / / / / ! / 
I I I /I" /I )( ...,._ / / ~ • •- • •v ,..,, • -;Sr ' ' -;. ~ ~ ...... I / - ' - - ,....4-___;::._...= ..... _,,_:--' 1/ / t/ I / / / / ,..... I I / / } / 

·I') ' t."- · / ~~~,..,,~ "-( -- _ _, , " '~ 0 / , 34 I , ,,-- "' ,.,,., / ✓ ..... •l / / ' 
1~!!/ ~ -:; .,,, , -r - -/_ ,/ ), ~~-.,; -""\ ,.I~=-~-- ----_ - - - , -!!f' ... ./; ,,...""': /// // ; ,, , -- /,,.,,,,. ✓- : ,,,,,. ,,/ r! 

11 

l\![1/ '--r- --/ ::_ ;✓ '\ \ , \ \; ~ll~: r ✓( _JI ,✓1 ,.,.r"' /1/ // II/ ~--/ "/ I/ ,., ✓- / ,,,,. ✓ I / : ,,. /: 
-«J

1
:1 _ - ---~ , / \ \ ; I I ____ __ _ J

1
- - - ~ J'!'.. ,.- - -:,,.-- _ --- ✓ / ,I./ / / / / ,,,,. -' 'r-- FUTURE PHASEBOUNDARY 

/ - ....._ ' i ~ ~ ,,.... , / / ' SERVED BY POND 1 
1' < ' / I , I I J. 1 1 J _,,. // 1 I 1 . / I /// // ,,,,., .,.,,.I APPROX82.95ACRES 

/ , J I I / ~ - STORM DRAIN / / .,- / ,. I i 

~

I I '>'..._ // ;( i /I I / ' , J .< : .j :Y-v- - I DETENTIONPONDl // / // :// / l 
l __ _v \ / , ✓ 1 I .1' I I I l 'f ,'" ,.,.. ' ,f. _,,.;:; ; 1/ I f SEEDETAILS IN / / / j I / I \1 
I I I / / / / ,:• / / I I ' '., llo.. - I V I I I I STORM DRAIN NOTES ' / / / : \.. : 

!li)I '1 ,/ ,' // ~/'/ // // // // f I ·,.,'./ t ✓VI/ 1 I / . ,' / ,( I I / / -- 1340, L-\~-j 
• I / / / i / / I , J ' ~ti I I \ I ' I / / I - -- ' ll!, v~ ,/ / t - ,,,,.//; ,/ ,.,,.,/ ,,., ,/ /I /--- .... ; i :L / ,_?50 , _- I Ji , L. , JJ, : ! t l r--\ ---1 ~ -- 1--
. !11 ✓-..;- / 7 .,..,., i // ,,," /,,. , 1 ~ _ _ 1__,t; ~ \ ----- \ I I I \ ~-- , - I - 1 __ , -l ~ 
Ir' . ,/ , / / / /, -- - - - I \ I / '\, '-......-' 

1
, , 

1 \1 1 - ✓- ("'4'/ ,...,, ., if ' ///.,, //,.,,,,,. ,,/,,,, .,,,,,,.,,,,.,, , r1, , --=--------~l-- -~- --1\ r -\--f-,\ " 1 ,: ~~,.,- - ~----, ~ --- -~----l -,--- ;::, 
11·1 -"~ / // // ✓-- / \ I ,.,J. l ' I I I I ,1 \\ 3440 ,/ ---- ' ___ : _ ~· - .... . ' µ \_ _..,.., / / / .,... .. I I J... I \ \ I \ . - I --.. '-. 
I I' - I / /' .# - " r / / / \ I .,, .J, I \ I 11 ', \ ' \ ' ·--· ., / r - - ,' , 1 1 

, _.,y.•~ 1 1 1 ,,, ..... ~ ,,,. \ 1 " ~ ~ ,,. - .,... , , - 1- _ . / .... - / / / I ~.. / .j I \ \ \ I ' \ '...,; , - _ ...... ,..... ✓ ... -- - : - '1 - ; --. '1 1!' .,/ ,,,,,.- ,, / .,, ~• I ~ ,,,. .J \ \ ' \ I ', '- -.. ___ -r 
• '' \ __ ,.,., /_.... ,,;,'o ,.,.. ✓ ,j I / '- / ,J \ \ I '-. ", __ ...,.. ------1 I : -..._ 

,,, / / 3-.:~o- "<" - - ' -
/ / \ \ ' .........___ .... 

/ .,, / .,____, \ ' -
/ 4' ~ ..... "o - - ~ - -- ' 

' ,,..,, ,,,, I'/ ..... --\. ~ I I ~ \ - ' ---~- .,.__----7 
\11111,,,,.,., ///I /,,,.," ,,,,.,.,;if' _,./,, ✓ t , --~ 7~--T-------\-, - ::-\,, '""' ' .... ,.,. ______ ----~~ ---- - 1 ....... : '\ 

j .,,. / // .,~// ~ ! .,,- ,/ / " '~ -)~,"---- - ....... , ,_i: ...._ : ", \ 
I I I I / / / / '"' I \ I // / ( ' 34<lo...- - - ~, - - - - - - - - - - I / ) 
I,( ,... ,., / I " "' I ' '- '- '- ' \ '-t i ~1r -- / / ✓- ✓- --- ---- ....... // ~ , ii' ', ,_ . ._ ,, ",, ,, • , , ' 

ili~ ' -- ----- _,..// /// I ✓)I! ,' ) \ ,., _.,,., -,. .. __ ,"-_:-'---<_:__--- -- '" -; I \ \ t'\ ! 
111i ., - ...... ✓ / 11 -- ., .jil ~ - -- - - -- - - - - -- ' ___ _ _ ':::,....--,--= ~'\ / ) ;: f ! ' ,,., 
i 11~ /,... I -- -- • ,j, i- -1- - p -------- ------:.. - ¾9o ' FUTURE POTENTIAL I '- / L / . ( I : c:, / I ,_ -- lfl.J, I / - - - POND LOCAT IONS I l I -- ~ .~ / I I .,, / tr ,, -, f _,.,.- , 1\ ' , ,qi I _ ..... -- ;, / 3380- ,?I .... , ..... ,_"'- I I ) I i I I ~ • - / ,-. - , , / / //' II / - I / / 
, ,1,1.,, I ~ ' · / --k"°' , _,.,.,,,- I , 1 /., ✓ : ,/l l r-;/ -- // : I I ~'11 / ' /,,, vk-"k-" - - ' 1 I 1 , I I 1 

:11~ I ____ ...... ___ ,..... ff - vi<' -----""' ,...,,.., 

1

/ , - ,....- .,, 
1 
~ \ '1 1 I ;.,, V, , :1 

1
1 ! f 

!11',I _ , _ /' .#~ v-"' ..- ,,.- \ I / I / ,,., 11/ I / I / i I i( ., ..... ,., v-""' ,, / I I / I ~ / _,, ./ ' / 

: 1111 ..... , V'// .._____ ,;,ST ING // \ ,,,,.,,., \ / )
1

' V; ,,. . ,.,I f : /I ! / 
!11·r"1 ,,. ,,.,,,,. , ""'// D RAINAGE ) ' i , ,.,,,,. I , / ::,- /- ,,, i ,,, I i ' i I I • - - -~ /: 1/, PATH '- \_ '-.. , / / / / ,/ _J, -' ' / 
'1 11'1!'1 11,.. ✓ / . ✓✓ / / / // //,., ~ ,,.... \ f, l // /, / /// /....- / I I ' )I 
•I •~ /I -....____j __ ,, ✓ __ .j!.... ....,.f. __ /_..,,_' __ ,(_ ___ ~ '".:- I \ "-- - I• ---=:a•-----... ............... ~ ..... ................ .,Ji l / // /., / ,,. // ,,,,,,. ✓ I I .___,,,.,.---.,. i ,,, J 
I I' ,,-- ~' ., ' / .,/ I / .# / / / , . / ' 
11 I / .. ., I / ' ,..,. , ; / / / /.,., ( '1 } ' 
1(t---:r--;ir"-;'-- -;-/,l_l~ ---,c-_::/ :;.-.,.._ _,,..,I \ _,... f , If I \ / ,,I' ~ / /I /I i 

/ 
/ :1 ' 1' // ,/ / // / / ' "----- / / ~ / / /r 0 / / / ./ // /1 

I , ,/ / / / \ ( I ( - , I I // I ,,f ,,. / ,,.. ' I I // 
: v""' I ,, \ I / ' I / // / ,./' / r , ' 1 

1 v 
! ll iil - ✓,,...v I //1/ ...L. -~------J.... I I -.. I 1 ' / 1 , / , // // ,,.,,,/ / , --" .,1 / I I "_,, 

I "' i ,,... ' r ,, i i l , / ~ , -., I r i . ,,,,. 
! I I<' / / ,, / // I \ j I / -------- // /, / 1 I /I I/ ,,/ / , !' ,/ I' / / VI 
jl ,/"' / / / / \ , \ / / / / / / 1 I ,' / I I // // / ✓-- / ~ / ,/ .JI II I, /.,, 
: I r/ / ,, / / 1 ', I I 1 / • / / / / /, / / / / / / / 1 1/ I I I // \ / u / / / I ' I ' I I I I I I I I / _/ ,, / / I / .,,, 
.J / i-' I _,.,. - , I I / • - ~ /--"- I I I I I I I I / ,- t ' ..;-..P ~ / ,1 / //• _,.,, 
I I , / ,, / / / '--- - - -- - - - - - - - _/__J / - \ ,' / I / : , I I I I ( I / ,, / / / ' / 
: I ~ / / .# / I I I ' I I I I ,,,r / ,i' I / V I i I , ,,. I' I I I ' I I I ,,., ., ," ,.,: 
:1 / /✓ / / \ ~-- ----- -'- --f--- !. _ ../_-V / / I / I / I I , ',~.,' //' // ,.., ,o/ I I 
1

1 I / . / / ' - / / / / ., - - - ~' / I / / / / / ,, ,, / .,,.., / • / 
1 • I " I I r / I I I ..,.. ...- l - / / I I / I / / / _,.. ,,. ,,.. / / / / ,,• ,I' / 
! I_,,,, / I / ; ,,. / / / / / / ,/ i : I I : : : / I : I ( ' ' / / ...- / / / // / / / ,✓,, / / ,,,_o> I 

____ ~-~! }L---~--~~---~-\----------~--, _____ t ___ :. __ l ___ / ____________ ,.. __ ___ , ___________ +· \ ~ ~;;~\~\ ': - ~ - ·--~:_ _____ ,/ _.,.:~ .. (_; ::,, • , 
1 ~~ 

2 
' \ '- , ___ 

7 Wheat <RJcf:Je 'Estates 
GREAT FALLS, MT 

OVERALL SITE PLAN - PHASE 1 
WOITH ENGINEERING INC. 
ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 

P.O. BOX 7326, GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 59406 

JC8 I 1404 

r.8., GPS 

fU: 57n-l • SITE 

CftAlN: RB 

OAT£; 2· 14-20 18 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 95 of 351                                     Attachment # 14

------------

I 
- - / - -___ .,..,, 

I I .,,.,,-" I I 
/ I / .,,.,,.,, .,, f,,,_ r_# 

I / I / / / / / - - / / - I l I, i , __ .,,.,, --- _.,,--r--
h 1 of MIN s 4oE YAR.D'-- ____ I 1 -· 

I I 1-" _.._.. ...._ I 
I I / I ,,_.- .__ 

I I 1 ;
1 

;
1 

/ / 1 r--1 ---
1 J II I I / I 

I I I I 
i I i ii 

i I i i 
I I I 

it I i i 1 I I I 
/ I I I 

~I I I 

11 I I 
I I I 

I I I 
I / I // // 

/ I ,1 I 
I '-f- -! - - / 

I 

I 

I I 1----I 
I I 

I -.._ 
I 

JUIL~'NG 
OOT RINT 

I 5ot 50• ___ 
/ 2 ,q 0 S F/,.. 

I I I 
I I 

I I 
I I 

I I I 
I , 

t--..J--

--
1 __ 

, ~---1 

' ' ' ' 
-------- -- - .___ .___ _ 1

1 
1

1 
/ 1

1 
1
1 

1
1 

--._ _ _ _ I I i / I 
1

1 

I 

' ' ' ' 

._ 

---- ._ 

----
~---- ------------ -------

30' MIN FRONTY ARD I " I / 1 1 30' M fN FR$3NT Y f RD / 
----- 1 /v I I 1 1 1,,. / = ',, s' ,____ ' 

-- -- \ ---- - --;;; =- --

-- I I I I I // ------------~I._ , I I I / 
- - . i:- --- s ===i!:=====:;==--=:;=...=:;t===f==.=-.,;===--====== 

' ., 
' 

FUT URE SIDEWALK ( BY OWNE:Ri--. _ .,...- - _ _,...... --- --------------------BOULEVARD 

/ FUT UfJE SIDEWALK/ BY OWNER ,,. / 

/ I I 

BOULEVARD I I I I 

---- FUTURE SIDEWALK ( BY OWNER) ---- --\ ~ 

'- .......... __________ ---✓ - --- -- -- ;o·MrN"FRo~~~;~c:---f_~··. ~~------
--- "' II, ...... ......, ----....... I I II,. I 

- ---------- \ --- II,. -------- - - . ' ----- -------l•_!....:::. _t 
....... - II,. II,. ---- - . . --- - ....... -.. 

....... -------- ............ I "' "' "' ',, ....... I ---- "" ....._ f,_ -- --- .............. _ ~ is. "' I ---- 1---- ---- ----- -Jf, , I I. • ,.. -;-----._ --- --------,________ 1 1 __ C::,f 'ILDING 1· . · ·-~ 
....... -- --- ~ - "' " --r----- FOOTPRIT•'ft. __ " • 

.......... . .. -- "' "' 
, _ - _..__ '-- 1 50' x 50' L -:- ....... -l_ ..,.,,-

" -t _ L - _ -- 2 ,500 SF I • 1 -- ~ "' "' 
--- ..__ - I '- - - - --._. 1·· .. ·1 ---...... ----, I ........ ---- -..... "' 

,- ' II,"' --' .. 
--- '----- "' II,. -._ -------1--1------ --- I I • i ...... ' ---- ....... .. "' ...... -- ....... . -

'' _.., -- '-i-. l ., ,,. ..... .!'.. I - -
,_ ' --....... I ......, , ....., --

',,,._ ,____ ----,,_-.L JQ~~ l~_~gE.YbEQ__ I l: ...... -
----- I ', I "' "' "' "' ............. ---, ---- .Jw--- _,,,,. ___ ..J. - "' • I -------._ _ _.._.._.. 1--t- -0.'.)'.:IIN REAR YA~ _j t •. • • 1 -

--- t . -~ -- - "' - - ----
----------- - --- - --~-- y "' ~ -----

,_ -------..--- ---•,- ---

t.07 fJEJ~94 N -
J~9N{Jt.E ~:4M9£1f ( J~~J 

THE PHASE 1 SF HOMES WILL BE ONE OF 

A KIND DESIGNS BUILT BY LOCAL CUSTOM 

HOME BUILDERS. LOCATED ON THE NORTH 

END OF THE DEVELOPMENT ON THE HIGHER 

ELEVATIONS, THESE EXCLUSIVE HOMES 

WILL CONSIST OF VARIOUS ARCHITECTURE 

FROM CRAFTSMAN TO MODERN DESIGNED 

TO TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE POTENTIAL 

VIEWS. THE PHASE 1 SF HOMES WILL BE 

THE LARGEST IN THE COMMUNITY. 

DEPTH 

FRONT YARD SETBACK 

SIDE YARD SETBACK 

SIDE STREET SETBACK 
(CORNER LOTS) 

REARY ARD SETBACK 

PORCHES 

GARAGE 

1 30 1 MIN, 1 50 1 MAX 

30 1 MIN 

101 MIN 

1 2 1 MIN 

101 MIN 

MAY EXTEND INTO THE 
FRONT YARD SETBACK 

ALL TYPES ALLOWED 
REAR (ALLEY), OR SIDE 
ENCOURAGED 

• 

(.) 
:z 

C, 
:z 
a: 
w 
w 
:z 
C, 
:z 
w 
:::c: 
l-
o 
3: 

en a: 
0 
> w 
> a: 
::::::, 
en 
olS 
en a: 
w 
w 
::z: -C, 
::z: 
w 

9 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 96 of 351                                     Attachment # 15

5' 1 0' 5' 12' 22' 
Walk Swale Bike Street Median 

2' Shoulder 

100' 
Parkway Right-of-Way 

10 

12' 5' 
Street Bike 

2' Shoulder 

10' 
Swale 

WOITH ENGINEERING INC. 
ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 

P.O. BOX7326, GREATFAU,S.lt:>NTANA~ 

5' 
Walk 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 97 of 351                                     Attachment # 16

WOITH ENGINEERING INC. 
{1 ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 

P.O. BOX 7326. GREAT FALLS, MOHTAtui ssa 



1 
 

BASIS OF DECISION – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on planned unit developments is listed in Official Code of the City of 
Great Falls § 17.16.29.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 
Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 
criteria: 
 
1.  The development project is consistent with the City's Growth Policy; 

The proposed PUD development has some elements of consistency with the City’s Growth 
Policy. Specifically, it provides a nice transition from the commercial development of the 
East Great Falls Retail Center with mixed use parcels decreasing in density to ¼ acre homes 
with excellent rural views. The proposal is also supported by some of the Plan’s Goals as 
noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

However, the PUD is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons outlined in 
the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

 
Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, 
where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing development in 
the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 
While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street containing 
water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location creates significant challenges for 
the provision of stormwater and public safety services. 
 
2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any; 
Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 
Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is located in Neighborhood 
Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5 on February 19, 2018, and the 
Council voted unanimously in favor of the project. 
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 98 of 351                                     Attachment # 17



2 
 

3.  The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 
Any development within the City limits requires a review of how the development will impact 
the public health, safety and welfare. For public safety, the location and design of the PUD 
create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very concerned about 
providing adequate and timely emergency service to the area (further stretching already limited 
emergency response), and the current layout is not in compliance with the provisions in 
Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns over downstream 
flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough concerns from the 
Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
4.  The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood; 
As noted in the staff report and other findings, the Engineering Department has concerns that 
the development project, with its stormwater detention proposal, could diminish and impair 
adjoining Gibson Flats property to the south, already the subject of litigation.  
 
5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
Staff cannot make a positive finding for this criterion. If the PUD proposal is approved, it will be 
despite challenges related to public service provision, drainage impacts, and compatibility with 
Malmstrom Air Force Base. These issues are even more magnified on the remaining 200 plus 
acres controlled by the applicant, which are not subject to the pending application, but have 
been identified for future development Additionally, parts of this property and portions of 
properties to the east and west overlap with the Accident Potential Zone  identified in the Joint 
Land Use Study  and also drain into the already sensitive area of Gibson Flats. A more orderly 
development pattern would build out areas along 10th Avenue South to the north and extend 
the City limits at the existing terminus of 13th Avenue South. 
 

6.  The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired 
character of the neighborhood; 
Because of the limited amount of developed property nearby, there is not any established 
neighborhood context to govern the design of buildings and structures. Although architectural 
designs have not been provided, the applicant has indicated that the proposed residential 
homes will have a price point of approximately $400,000 and be quite large in size.  All homes 
would be constructed to the customized needs of the homeowner. 
 

7.  Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided; 

As noted in the agenda report and other findings, staff cannot conclude that the PUD addresses 
this criterion.  Downstream drainage issues identified by the Engineering Department have not 
been addressed and both fire access needs and overall transportation connectivity have not 
been planned in the PUD proposal. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 99 of 351                                     Attachment # 17



3 
 

 

8.  Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; 
Because the area of the City south of 10th Avenue South and on either side of 57th Street South 
is so lightly developed at the current time, development of the proposed 21.10 acre PUD would 
not cause traffic congestion on public streets. The applicant’s proposal to extend 57th Street 
South coupled with the new traffic signal at the 57th/10th Avenue South intersection will 
address congestion. A positive aspect of the proposed PUD is that access to homes will not 
come from the 57th Street extension. 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 100 of 351                                     Attachment # 17



1 

BASIS OF DECISION – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on planned unit developments is listed in Official Code of the City of 
Great Falls § 17.16.29.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 
Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 
criteria: 

1. The development project is consistent with the City's Growth Policy;

The proposed PUD development has some elements of consistency with the City’s Growth
Policy. Specifically, it provides a nice transition from the commercial development of the
East Great Falls Retail Center with mixed use parcels decreasing in density to ¼ acre homes
with excellent rural views. The proposal is also supported by some of the Plan’s Goals as
noted below:

Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 

Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 

However, the PUD is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons outlined in 
the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 

Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, 
where needed, to support development. 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing development in 
the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street containing 
water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location creates significant challenges for 
the provision of stormwater and public safety services. 

2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any;
Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood
Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is located in Neighborhood
Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5 on February 19, 2018, and the
Council voted unanimously in favor of the project.

                        Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Advisory Board Recommended 4/24/18

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 101 of 351                                     Attachment # 18



2 
 

3.  The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 
Any development within the City limits requires a review of how the development will impact 
the public health, safety and welfare. These factors have been considered. For public safety, the 
location and design of the PUD create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire 
Department is very concerned about providing adequate and timely emergency service to the 
area (further stretching already limited emergency response), and the current layout is not in 
compliance with the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public 
Health, concerns over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner 
create enough concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be 
made.   
 
4.  The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood; 
There is no such injury.As noted in the staff report and other findings, the Engineering 
Department has concerns that the development project, with its stormwater detention 
proposal, could diminish and impair adjoining Gibson Flats property to the south, already the 
subject of litigation.  
 
5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
This finding has been met. Staff cannot make a positive finding for this criterion. If the PUD 
proposal is approved, it will be despite challenges related to public service provision, drainage 
impacts, and compatibility with Malmstrom Air Force Base. These issues are even more 
magnified on the remaining 200 plus acres controlled by the applicant, which are not subject to 
the pending application, but have been identified for future development Additionally, parts of 
this property and portions of properties to the east and west overlap with the Accident 
Potential Zone  identified in the Joint Land Use Study  and also drain into the already sensitive 
area of Gibson Flats. A more orderly development pattern would build out areas along 10th 
Avenue South to the north and extend the City limits at the existing terminus of 13th Avenue 
South. 
 

6.  The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired 
character of the neighborhood; 
Because of the limited amount of developed property nearby, there is not any established 
neighborhood context to govern the design of buildings and structures. Although architectural 
designs have not been provided, the applicant has indicated that the proposed residential 
homes will have a price point of approximately $400,000 and be quite large in size.  All homes 
would be constructed to the customized needs of the homeowner. 
 

7.  Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided; 

This finding has been met.As noted in the agenda report and other findings, staff cannot 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 102 of 351                                     Attachment # 18



3 
 

conclude that the PUD addresses this criterion.  Downstream drainage issues identified by the 
Engineering Department have not been addressed and both fire access needs and overall 
transportation connectivity have not been planned in the PUD proposal. 

 

8.  Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; 
Because the area of the City south of 10th Avenue South and on either side of 57th Street South 
is so lightly developed at the current time, development of the proposed 21.10 acre PUD would 
not cause traffic congestion on public streets. The applicant’s proposal to extend 57th Street 
South coupled with the new traffic signal at the 57th/10th Avenue South intersection will 
address congestion. A positive aspect of the proposed PUD is that access to homes will not 
come from the 57th Street extension. 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 103 of 351                                     Attachment # 18



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 104 of 351                                     Attachment # 19

, 
I 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 

I 
I 
J 

I 

/ 

, 
I 

I 
I 
I 

\ 

I 

' ... 

--

--:--

---

,. 
,, , 

/ ,, ,, 

--
---- ----

-- ~----

/ 

I 
I 
I 
I 

\ 

I 
I 

\ 

.-

, 

t 
\ 
\ 
I 

\ 

\ 
l 
\ 

I 

' 

\ 

\ 

' I 
...._ 

' I 
I 
I 

I .,J I 

,. 

\ 

' I 
' I 
I 

\ 
\ 

\ 

I 
I 
\ 
I 

\ 

' \ 

\ 
\ 

\ 3 1 \ 
,..i., "' 

\ 
LANDS€ APED 

1 l~LAND 

\ I I \ 

) ' I 
/ 

\ \ :/ ' I 
I 
I ,' )! 

I I 
/ • I s2/ ) 

/ ' I / ,~11,~ 1 
I 

I I I ,' I 
/ / ~ / / .,,.. 

I I I I / 
I I I ,, 

I 
/ / 

/ / / / / 
"°----:r--..;..r ·;._'"'1/ 

I I I /' 

, 

, 

, " 

I 

, 

I I I I I , I / 
/ / I 

I 

/ 
I 

I 
I 

I , 
I ,,.,, 

,. 

,, --

, 
,/ 

,./ 

/ 
/ 

/ 

/ 
/ 

/ 

,,,, 
I 

/ 

,--- -

,.-. 
.,.,.,,,.' 

0 
z 
:J 
0 

---

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I I , ' 
I I 

I I 
I I 

ENTRY_;_.me,.-:--7,~ ~, 
MONUMENT' 

\ 
I 

I 
I 

' I 

I , 
I 

I 

; 

, 

,-' 
I 

I 

I / I 
I 

/ I 
I 

I ,,, I 

GENERAL NOTES: 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I , 

/ 

I 

,, 
-- I 

I 

I , ... , 
; 

I , 

1. EXISTING UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS & PRIVATE UTILITIES SHOWN ARE INDICATED ACCORDING TO THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO THE ENGINEER. THE ENGINEER DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE 
ACCURACY OF SUCH INFORMATION. STATE LAW REQUIRES CONTRACTOR TO CALL ALL UTILITY COMPANIES BEFORE EXCAVATION FOR EXACT LOCATIONS. 

2. ALL ONSITE UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS SHALL CONFORM TO THE PLUMBING COPE (UPC) AND ALL ADMINISTRATIVE RULES OF MONTANA AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE UPC. 

3. ALL IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MONTANA PUBLIC WORKS STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 6TH EDITION, APRIL, 2010, INCLUDING ALL AODENDUMS, AND THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS STANDARDS. 

4. NO WORK SHALL BE CONDUCTED UNTIL THE PLANS HAVE BEEN APPROVED BY CITY OF GREAT FALLS AND THE CONTRACTOR HAS THE PERMITS IN HANO. 

5 . UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, ALL CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT AND STAKING SHALL BE PERFORMED UNDER THE RESPONSIBLE CHARGE OF A LAND SURVEYOR LICENSED IN THE STATE OF MONTANA AND BY 
A PARTY CHIEF OR ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN EXPERIENCED IN CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT AND STAKING TECHNIQUES AS ARE REQUIRED BY THE SPECIFIC TYPE OF WORK BEING PERFORMED. 

6. ALL EARTHWORK, TRENCHING, GRADING, FILLING, ETC., SHALL BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WI TH GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS PREPARED FOR THIS PROJECT. 

I 
; 

; , 

-, 
I 

I 

-I 
I 

I 

__ , 

... 

~ .... .... -------

PHASE 1 SITE PLAN OF 

,-
/ , 

........ _ .. - - ' 

Wheat 1<.i'Je r:E.sfaf es 

SITE INFORMATION: 

1. PARCEL ACREAGE 

2. ZONING 

EXISTING 
PROPOSED 

3. LAND USE 

EXISTING 

PROPOSED 

6. EASEMENTS 

20.97 AC 

SR-1 
R- 2 

(CASCADE COUNTY) 
(COGF) 

AGRICULTURAL 

MIXED USE 
RESIDENTI AL 
PUBLIC ROW 
PRIVATE ROAD 
GREENSPACE 

20.97 AC 

1.82 AC 
12.50 AC 
4.52 AC 
0.52 AC 
1.61 AC 

5' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT (PUE) 
- LOCATION FOR ALL DRY UTILITIES 
AND GAS MAINS 

A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT IN 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS 

SECTION 15. T20N, R4E. PMM. 

CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

C&W DEVELOPMENT / 

KYSO CORPORATION 

LIGHTING NOTES: 

1. LOCATION OF STREET LIGHTS ALONG BOTH SIDES OF 
PARKWAY AS SHOWN ON PLAN 

2. SPECIFICATIONS 

• TYPE 

• SPACING 

• HEIGHT 

CREE XSP SERIES 

73' OC, BOTH SIDES OF MEDIAN 

25' 

• CRI MIN 70 

• INITIAL LUMEN RATING 3,784 

• TOTAL WATTAGE 53 

/ 

... 

iii 
1.L. 

• 
(.) 
z -
C, 
z -cc 
w 
w z -C, 
z 
w 
:::c 
1--0 
3: 

z 
~ a: 
Cl 

z 
Cl 
iii 
llJ 
Cl 

6 

w 
(/) 
<1'. 
I 
Cl... 

z 
5 
Q. 
w 
I
(/) 

0) 

0 
(\J 

' " ' (\J 

(I) 

l;l 
~ 

' Ql 

it'. 
z 
0 
z 
§ 
z 
ii: 
1.L. 

iil 
z 

~ 
;.: 
m 
0 
llJ 

§ 
0.. 

l 
tJ 
t: 
(/) 

:r 

~ 
~ 
/ 

l 
~ 
:r 

i 
/ 
iL 



1 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT – MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT – Wheat Ridge Estates, 
Phase I 

 
 (PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO 76-3-608(3) MCA) 
  
PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
 
Effect on Agriculture and Agricultural Water User Facilities: Although the 21.10 acre 
subdivision being considered for three mixed use lots and 37 single family home lots is actually 
zoned Agricultural in the County’s jurisdiction, the property has long been considered for City 
annexation and development by the applicant. The County’s Agricultural zoning designation is 
driven by the property’s location near Malmstrom Air Force Base, as much as the current 
farming or ranching activity. 
 
Effect on Local Services: As noted in the annexation and PUD findings, the parcel’s location 
outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s corporate limits presents challenges for local 
services such as street maintenance, snow removal, and public safety response. Complicating 
these issues are the following: 1) the property is only contiguous to the City limits in one 
direction – to the north, 2) the developer’s subdivision layout doesn’t show or commit to a 
paved secondary access for either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the 
nearest public street to the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the proposed 
subdivision site. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding for the subdivision’s effect on 
local services. 
 
Effect on the Natural Environment: The subdivision is not expected to adversely affect soils. In 
fact, the applicant has indicated that the soils on the property are some of the best for 
construction within the community.  No specific environmental constraints have been found on 
the Phase I development site, although the presence of some steep slopes will require 
consideration in the design of the 57th Street extension. The only negative impact related to this 
criterion is the potential for water volume impact to the Gibson Flats area directly adjacent to 
the master plan area. The City’s Engineering Department has recommended that stormwater 
from the proposed subdivision be pumped northward beyond the basin draining to Gibson 
Flats. As an alternative, Engineering has suggested total stormwater retention in a lined pond 
where water could only leave the property through evaporation. As noted in the staff report, 
there is an ongoing litigation issue involving an adjacent property owner to the master plan 
area. As a result, staff cannot definitely make a positive finding for this criterion. 
 
Effect on Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat: This is not in an area of significant wildlife habitat 
beyond occasional migrating fowl, deer and ground animals. There are no wooded areas or 
other important habitats.  
 
Effect on Public Health and Safety: Based on available information, the subdivision is not 
subject to abnormal natural hazards nor potential man-made hazards. Staff has identified one 
potential negative impact of the subdivision to public safety and one related to public health. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 105 of 351                                     Attachment # 20



2 

 

For public safety, the location and design factors outlined in the Effect on Public Services 
criterion all create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very 
concerned about providing adequate service, and the current layout is not in compliance with 
the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns 
over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough 
concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
REQUIREMENTS OF MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT, UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR 
MONUMENTATION, AND LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
The subdivision meets the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the 
surveying requirements specified in the Uniform Standards for Monumentation, and conforms 
to the design standards specified in the local subdivision regulations. The local government has 
complied with the subdivision review and approval procedures set forth in the local subdivision 
regulations. 
 
EASEMENT FOR UTILITIES 
The developer shall provide necessary utility easements to accommodate water mains, sanitary 
sewer mains and private utilities to serve all lots of the subdivision. Although the project is in 
the preliminary stages of design, there is no reason to believe that all required easements 
cannot be provided.  
 
LEGAL AND PHYSICAL ACCESS 
Legal and physical access to the proposed development will be from the extension of 57th Street 
South. As a result, the proposed subdivision meets the minimum legal standard for access. As 
for access for both public service provision and overall transportation connectivity, the proposal 
is deficient because it does not adequately address code required fire apparatus access as well 
as any future needs for 13th Avenue South connectivity to the west.  
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 106 of 351                                     Attachment # 20



1 

FINDINGS OF FACT – MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT – Wheat Ridge Estates, 
Phase I 

 (PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO 76-3-608(3) MCA) 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 

Effect on Agriculture and Agricultural Water User Facilities: Although the 21.10 acre 
subdivision being considered for three mixed use lots and 37 single family home lots is actually 
zoned Agricultural in the County’s jurisdiction, the property has long been considered for City 
annexation and development by the applicant. The County’s Agricultural zoning designation is 
driven by the property’s location near Malmstrom Air Force Base, as much as the current 
farming or ranching activity. 

Effect on Local Services: There are no negative impacts. The developer is providing all required 
utilities and roadway access.As noted in the annexation and PUD findings, the parcel’s location 
outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s corporate limits presents challenges for local 
services such as street maintenance, snow removal, and public safety response. Complicating 
these issues are the following: 1) the property is only contiguous to the City limits in one 
direction – to the north, 2) the developer’s subdivision layout doesn’t show or commit to a 
paved secondary access for either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the 
nearest public street to the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the proposed 
subdivision site. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding for the subdivision’s effect on 
local services. 

Effect on the Natural Environment: The subdivision is not expected to adversely affect soils. In 
fact, the applicant has indicated that the soils on the property are some of the best for 
construction within the community.  No specific environmental constraints have been found on 
the Phase I development site, although the presence of some steep slopes will require 
consideration in the design of the 57th Street extension. The only negative impact related to this 
criterion is the potential for water volume impact to the Gibson Flats area directly adjacent to 
the master plan area. The City’s Engineering Department has recommended that stormwater 
from the proposed subdivision be pumped northward beyond the basin draining to Gibson 
Flats. As an alternative, Engineering has suggested total stormwater retention in a lined pond 
where water could only leave the property through evaporation. As noted in the staff report, 
there is an ongoing litigation issue involving an adjacent property owner to the master plan 
area. As a result, staff cannot definitely make a positive finding for this criterion. 

Effect on Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat: This is not in an area of significant wildlife habitat 
beyond occasional migrating fowl, deer and ground animals. There are no wooded areas or 
other important habitats.  

Effect on Public Health and Safety: Based on available information, the subdivision is not 
subject to abnormal natural hazards nor potential man-made hazards. Staff has identified one 

Alternative Findings of Fact - Planning Advisory Board Recommended 4/24/18

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 107 of 351                                     Attachment # 21



2 

 

potential negative impact of the subdivision to public safety and one related to public health. 
For public safety, the location and design factors outlined in the Effect on Public Services 
criterion all create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very 
concerned about providing adequate service, and the current layout is not in compliance with 
the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns 
over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough 
concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
REQUIREMENTS OF MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT, UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR 
MONUMENTATION, AND LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
The subdivision meets the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the 
surveying requirements specified in the Uniform Standards for Monumentation, and conforms 
to the design standards specified in the local subdivision regulations. The local government has 
complied with the subdivision review and approval procedures set forth in the local subdivision 
regulations. 
 
EASEMENT FOR UTILITIES 
The developer shall provide necessary utility easements to accommodate water mains, sanitary 
sewer mains and private utilities to serve all lots of the subdivision. Although the project is in 
the preliminary stages of design, there is no reason to believe that all required easements 
cannot be provided.  
 
LEGAL AND PHYSICAL ACCESS 
Legal and physical access to the proposed development will be from the extension of 57th Street 
South. As a result, the proposed subdivision meets the minimum legal standard for access. As 
for access for both public service provision and overall transportation connectivity, the proposal 
is deficient because it does not adequately address code required fire apparatus access as well 
as any future needs for 13th Avenue South connectivity to the west.  
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 108 of 351                                     Attachment # 21



W h e a t  R i d g e  E s t a t e s

 Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

City Limits
Malmstrom AFB
Wheat Ridge Phase 1
Wheat Ridge Estates

Air  Accident Zone Areas
Accident Potential Zone I
Accident Potential Zone II
Clear Zone
Parcels

This map is to be used for reference ONLY. For 
comment, please contact Jeff Hedstrom 455-8437.

Wheat Ridge Estates map version #2
February 9, 2018

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 109 of 351                                     Attachment # 22

Wheat Ridge Estat es. (mas.t er p lan) Acreage 

I 11Sid e th e Aoc id ent Pote n. Zones. 19,5 _4 7 

Outs.id e the Aoc id ent Pote n. Zan es. 23 ;9,3 

Tota l Area 219.45 

Wh eat Ridge Ph as.e 1 Acreage 

In sid e th e Aoc ident P,oten. Zones. fi. 2 

Outs.id e the Aoc id ent Pote n. Zones. 14.78 

Tota l Area 2 0 .98 

% 

89,.0 7% 

10:93% 

% 

29,.55% 

70A5% 

.- - -I 

I - - -

CJ 
CJ 
t?Z2I 

1111 
1111 
1111 
CJ 



Mr. Chris Murphy/341 CES/CEIE/cjm/20 Feb 18 

 

BULLET BACKGROUD PAPER 

 

ON 

 

ENCROACHMENT IMPACTS FROM DEVELOPMENT OF COMPATIBLE LANDS  

 

 

PURPOSE 

 

To provide information on the impacts to military operations from the development of 

compatible lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB  

 

BACKGROUND 

 

- Undeveloped lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB are currently compatible, however, the 

potential exists for residential and/or commercial development that could impact military 

operations    

    

- Assets impacted by potential development 

   -- 110-acre Helicopter Movement Area 

   -- 625-acre Drop Zone (DZ) 

   -- 4,800-ft long x 60-ft wide proposed Assault Landing Zone (ALZ) 

 

- Usage or throughput of capabilities impacted 

   -- UH-1N Helicopter operations 

     --- 1,232 flight orders per year (FY16) 

     --- 1,696 sorties per year (FY16 – sorties include main base and missile field) 

     --- 42 functional check flights per year (FY16) 

     --- Flight Hour Program increased by 25% in FY18 (3,200-hrs to 4,000-hrs)    

   -- C-130H operations 

     --- 500 training bundle/sandbag drops per year 

     --- 500 heavy drops per year 

     --- 500 projected sorties per year, if the ALZ is constructed  

 

DISCUSSION 

 

- Development could impact multiple arrival and departure flight tracks of the UH-1N 

   -- Anticipated light pollution from development will impair the ability to monitor aircraft in  

      formation during nighttime operations 

   -- UH-1Ns fly at 500-ft Above Ground Level (AGL) southwest of Malmstrom AFB 

   -- The area is not located within modeled noise contours ranging from 65 dB Day-Night                               

average sound Level (DNL) to 80 dB DNL, however, aircraft noise will pose a nuisance to 

this area with nighttime events considered more annoying to residential areas 

     --- Development could lead to increased noise complaints and drive avoidance  

          requirements and/or time of day restrictions 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 110 of 351                                     Attachment # 23



Mr. Chris Murphy/341 CES/CEIE/cjm/20 Feb 18 

 

 

- The approach and departure zones to both the active DZ and the proposed ALZ could be 

impacted by development 

   -- C-130Hs currently execute 500 heavy drops and 500 training bundle/sandbag drops per year 

with 500 sorties per year projected for the ALZ 

   -- Other C-130 units could utilize the ALZ for training, if constructed   

   -- Development could lead to noise complaints and drive avoidance requirements and/or time  

      of day restrictions 

 

- There is planned construction of a new Weapons Storage Facility, located on the south side of 

Malmstrom AFB 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

None, for information only. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 111 of 351                                     Attachment # 23



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 112 of 351                                     Attachment # 24

Support the Military Mission in Great Falls 

ECO 3.1 

Policies 

Eco3.1.1 

Eco3.1.2 

Eco3.1.3 

Eco3. l .4 

Eco3.1.5 

Eco3. l .6 

Eco3.1.7 

Eco3.1.8 

Support, cooperate, expand and adiust, if necessary, to the current 

and future military mission in Great Falls. 

Support, cooperate and maintain coordination with Malmstrom Air Force Base and the 

Montana National Guard (MANG). 

Support the Malmstrom Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study (2012), also referred to as 

the JLUS study, and participate in the joint coordinating committee so as to implement 

the report's recommendations. 

Should there be a change in the mission and role of the military at Great Falls, follow 

the recommendations of the Office of Economic Adjustment (OEA) in responding to this 

condition so that the City is well positioned and prepared to respond to any change of 

status, be it new missions, adjustments, downsizing or closure. 

Develop and maintain collaborative relationships with key stakeholders impacted by 

the military. 

Educate the public regarding issues related to the military, and their contribution to the 

local economy, needs, and current status. 

Continue to evaluate taking action to annex Malmstrom Air Force Base. 

Encourage enhanced use leases, and other suitable public-private partnerships, where 

appropriate. 

Increase the attractiveness of Great Falls as a destination location for retirees, 

including military veterans. 

••.. _I 
I tf1!11. Malnistron, AFB 

rLoJnt La_na Use Study 

. Cascade County ,......,_ 

1521 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 113 of 351                                     Attachment # 25

, 
' ' ' 
' 

' ., 

' • 

_, -. J 

1:Ag1 FIRE RESPONSE TIME 
'•" Average Response 

0..M•ffl201~10 lrtfNIWll5,.a-.io--=titieffl 
DlpnrM1fifO!IIW.O!Jlr lww ..-,.- i,pnw.NGCUW 
.tinno~tlatW15"10:l'liM.«,...-.s.b,.._ 

&M!QfNl(•'~Assist. )t,llt._..OU .i35.510Wl!ft 
"°"'>en.It tit~ 11PtifriiU ,ciomttmt 111'9fS, 0-

..... bJ 1htOltydllltllF*FftDl:plltMnl. 

' ' 

~:., .. 1,.."'.at:''"" -· ..... ····--
"·-~- .. 1-...... ,_., .. ,_ 

- . ...... ,.... • ...,_M+ 
Mll:lll:1!1••--••_,,-
•-•':r r-1i,-;W<t · __ ..... , ....... -

IN1>--1•••• ..... , ..... ...... ,.... __ .. 

' ---

.- _, 

- -·' 

:l 
... 
.. .,._ ... _ 
·-,_ •·· o .... 

u~ O u-u 
"~ o u.u ,.,,. 
.ON O u v, ,,. . • •~It! u~ • .. ''"' -~---..... ---



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 114 of 351                                     Attachment # 26



 

 

 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  
OF THE 

GREAT FALLS PLANNING ADVISORY BOARD/ZONING COMMISSION 
March 27, 2018 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

The regular meeting of the Great Falls Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission was called 
to order by Vice Chair Mike Wedekind at 3:00 p.m. in the Commission Chambers of the Civic 
Center.  

 
ROLL CALL & ATTENDANCE 

 

Planning Board Members present:   
   
 Michael Wedekind, Vice Chair 
 Dave Bertelsen  
 Scot Davis 
 Anthony Houtz 
 Tory Mills 
 Charles Pankratz 
 Patrick Sullivan 
 Amanda Thompson  
 
Planning Board Members absent: 
  
 Pete Fontana, Chair 
        
Planning Staff Members present: 
  
 Thomas Micuda, Deputy Director P&CD 
 Erin Borland, Planner II 
 Connie Tryon, Sr. Admin Asst 
    
Other Staff present: 
  
 Sara Sexe, City Attorney 
 Steve Hester, Fire Chief 
 Dave Dobbs, City Engineer 
 Jim Rearden, Director Public Works 
 Dirk Johnson, Fire Marshal 
  
Mr. Micuda affirmed a quorum of the Board was present.  
  

MINUTES 
 
Vice Chair Mike Wedekind asked if there were any comments or corrections to the minutes of the 
meeting held on February 27, 2018. Seeing none, Mr. Davis moved to approve the minutes. Mr. 
Houtz seconded, and all being in favor, the minutes were approved.  
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 115 of 351                                     Attachment # 27



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 2 

 

 

BOARD ACTIONS REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Annexation, Zoning, and Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge Estates Phase I 
 

Tom Micuda, Deputy Director of PCD, said the subject property is a 20.98 acre parcel directly 
south of the East Great Falls Retail Center. The applicant, KYSO Corporation, is requesting 
annexation and an assignment of Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning. Mr. Micuda explained 
the parcel is currently in County planning jurisdiction zoned Agricultural, and the proposed 
preliminary plat request is for a major subdivision to create three mixed use lots and 37 single 
family home lots, for a total of 40 lots. Mr. Micuda reviewed the Aerial Map and explained the 
20.98 acre phase proposed is part of a much larger parcel of land that is about 227 acres. The 
property is contiguous to City limits on the north side of the parcel, with the majority of the parcel 
surrounded by County jurisdiction.  
 
The applicant has an overall conceptual plan for the entire 227 acres, minus 10.21 acres, which 
is an Airfield Restrictive Easement that cannot be developed. The applicant proposes extending 
57th Street South, incorporating linear greenways and pocket parks, having a series of detention 
ponds, and creating a gravel emergency access drive to Highway 89. 
 
Mr. Micuda reviewed the transportation challenges associated with the project. Currently, the only 
proposed public access into the development is by 57th Street South, and a second public access 
is recommended by Public Works due to the size of the development. The emergency secondary 
gravel access proposed by the applicant for public safety is not consistent with Fire 
recommendations, and is not part of Phase I development. The nearest public street system is 
approximately ½ mile away. 
 
Dave Dobbs, City Engineer, discussed the drainage challenges associated with the proposed 
project. He noted an area of land southwest of the subject property currently pending litigation 
with the City of Great Falls due to drainage issues onto nearby property, causing flooding and 
crop loss. He explained the current proposal for a detention pond will have potential impacts on 
the sensitive downstream system. The City’s Engineering Department recommends retention or 
diversion, but the applicant is not in favor of either approach. In light of current pending litigation 
and the potential for further litigation no matter what stormwater management system is used, Mr. 
Dobbs said it is not in the City’s best interest to annex this property into the City. 
 
Stever Hester, Fire Chief, discussed the challenges associated with public safety and fire. He said 
the first major concern of this particular development is time and distance; fire station #3 is almost 
3 miles from the development and would take over 7 minutes to get to. The national standard for 
response time is 4 minutes. He discussed the concerns of potential fires given the location, as 
well as access in and out of the development. He explained the proposed gravel access raises 
concerns about being able to support a 75,000 pound fire truck, especially in the spring time. 
 
Mr. Micuda presented some major impacts of the development in relation to Malmstrom Air Force 
Base. Potentially residential and commercial development could impact current and proposed 
base operations. A memo provided from the base expressed concerns on light pollution, noise 
concerns, as well as the C130H missions. Finally Mr. Micuda explained the Accident Potential 
Zone, which is a zone that was identified by a significant study that occurred in association with 
the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS). The majority of the 227 acre property is directly in the Accident 
Potential Zone, which is a much bigger concern for residential and commercial development due 
to the potential for aircraft accidents. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 116 of 351                                     Attachment # 27



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 3 

 

 

 
Mr. Micuda explained staff is recommending denial of the proposed project due to the challenges 
of fire protection, stormwater impacts, access into the development, and conflicts with the 
Accident Potential Zone and Malmstrom Air Force Base.  
 

PETITIONER’S PRESENTATION 
 
Spencer Woith, 1725 41st St South, C&W Development, discussed stormdrain standards, and 
said they did go above and beyond City standards when creating the stormdrain plan; he also 
emphasized having to be careful of violating individual water rights. He reviewed the proposed 
lots and their view and size configuration. He also discussed the single entrance into the 
development, and the ability to create an entry feature for the development.   
 
Dana Heustis, 2901 4th Avenue North, said he represents KYSO Corporation. He voiced his 
disagreement with staff’s decision to recommend denial, and his disagreement with the Accidental 
Potential Zone prohibiting development. Mr. Heustis provided a written statement with exhibits 
detailing his concerns with staff’s recommendation and supporting his right to develop. He also 
emphasized there is no current flying mission at the base, thus development should not be 
prohibited. 
 
Abigail St. Lawrence, PO Box 2019, Helena, MT, attorney for C&W Development, outlined a 
memo she handed out to the Board in response to the staff report. She reviewed her disagreement 
with staff’s concerns on fire response time, the access road, stormwater management, and 
Malmstrom Air Force Base.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, asked if the Malmstrom or Black Eagle Fire 
Departments would respond to this subdivision in the event of a fire, whether or not the City has 
requested construction cease north of town due to the difficulty fighting the Vineyard Fire, and 
what the statistics were on noise complaints for residents in the flight path of commercial jets and 
C130s. 
 
Mr. Pankratz asked if the City has adopted the 2012 International Fire Code, and Ms. Sexe 
responded yes.  
 
Chief Hester responded to Ms. Thompson’s question regarding who specifically would respond 
to the proposed subdivision in the event of a fire. It would be the City’s responsibility to respond 
to a fire, but there are mutual aid agreements with other entities such as Malmstrom. However, 
the City still has to be on the scene first before requesting mutual aid help.  
 
Mr. Micuda said construction has not ceased in the developments north of town due to the 
Vineyard Fire. As far as standard commercial air traffic complaints, Mr. Micuda said it may be 
appropriate to contact the airport regarding those complaints.  
 
Mr. Pankratz confirmed that even with mutual aid agreements in the event of a fire, the response 
time remains the same because it is Great Falls’ jurisdiction, so they must respond first. Mutual 
aid agreements do not speed up response time.  
 
There was discussion on the capacity of fire services for a growing Great Falls.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 117 of 351                                     Attachment # 27



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 4 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz asked for clarification on when the access road would be constructed. Mr. Woith said 
it is proposed for Phase I. Mr. Wedekind asked what the proposed surface would be, and Mr. 
Woith said ground asphalt.  
 
Mr. Bertelsen asked for further clarification on the applicant’s proposed stormwater plan, and 
whether it was designed to current standards. Mr. Dobbs explained the applicant’s proposal and 
why the City cannot recommend their method due to the pending litigation with adjoining property, 
and the increased impacts on that property.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Eric Ray, 3401 1st Avenue South, expressed his support of the project and his disagreement in 
prohibiting development. 
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, expressed her support of the project and the owner’s 
right to develop this property.  
 
Jolene Schalper, 300 Central Avenue, expressed her support of the project and the need for 
housing in Great Falls.  
 
Rick Higgins, Ulm, expressed his support for the project, and said he does not believe the negative 
possibilities outweigh the benefits of the project. 
 
Kirk Timmer, 4104 15th Avenue South, expressed his support for the project, and the emphasized 
the importance of the City working to help make it happen. 
 
Lee Janetski, 83 Sun River Road, expressed his support for the project in order to start growing 
Great Falls again.  
 
David Weissman, 100 1st Avenue North, expressed his opposition to the development, and 
emphasized that this development would ensure that Malmstrom will never be considered for 
future missions.  
 
Joe Briggs, 5900 Western Drive, expressed his opposition to the project and emphasized the 
importance of the JLUS and the Accident Potential Zone.  
 
Spencer Woith, 1725 41st Street South, said it has been 13 years since they have been trying to 
develop this property, and expressed the importance of this development and diversifying the 
economy for our community. 
 
Laura Huestis, 2901 4th Avenue North, expressed her support for the project.  
 
Mr. Sullivan asked what the general price point for each home would be. Mr. Woith said the first 
phase would be higher end homes, but as they progress through the development they will try to 
hit different price points.  
 
Ms. Thompson asked if there were already interested parties in purchasing the lots in Phase I, 
and Mr. Woith said there are a number of people who have expressed interest.  
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 118 of 351                                     Attachment # 27



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 5 

 

 

Mr. Pankratz asked if retaining all of the stormwater was possible, and Mr. Woith said from an 
engineering standpoint, yes, but with a massive cost associated. From a legal standpoint, his 
concerns are with water rights. Mr. Wedekind asked if there was a way for the developer and City 
to compromise on the stormwater plan, and Mr. Woith said he believes there are some options. 
There was more discussion on stormwater ponds and the concerns with this development.  
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board table the vote until April 24, 2018. 
 
Made by: Mr. Houtz 
Second: Mr. Sullivan 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen voted in opposition, and the remaining 7 members voted in favor. 
The motion carried.  

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Next Meeting Agenda – Tuesday, April 10, 2018  

 None  

 

Petitions & Applications Received: 

 3125 8th Avenue North- CUP request for two-unit dwelling in single family zoning district 

 

Mr. Micuda said the Rockcress Commons project, the Buffalo Crossing subdivision preliminary 
plat, and the Terrascapes CUP have all been approved by the City Commission. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business, Vice Chair Mike Wedekind adjourned the meeting at 6:06 p.m.  
 
 
                                                                     
CHAIRMAN SECRETARY 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 119 of 351                                     Attachment # 27



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 120 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

FILE NAME: GFSTAFF REPORT 

MY NAME IS DANA HUESTIS, MY ADDRESS IS 2901 FOURTH AVENUE NORTH, GREAT FALLS. 

I REPRESENT MYSELF AND KYSO CORPORATION 

KYSO CORPORATION IS THE PROPERTY OWNER FOR THE PROPOSED WHEAT RIDGE ESTATES, A 20.98 ACRE DEVELOPMENT. 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS COMMUNITY PLANNING DEPARTMENT HAS DENIED OUR REQUEST FOR ANNEXATION AND ZONING. 

THE STAFF REPORT STATES THAT "POTENTIAL CONFLICTS WITH MALMSTROM AIR FORCE BASE ARE ALSO A CAUSE OF CONCERN 
TO CITY STAFF." 

PLEASE CONSIDER: 

MALMSTROM'S RUNWAY WAS DEACTIVATED IN 1997, BY AN ACT OF CONGRESS, TWENTY YEARS AGO, AND THE AIR FORCE HAS 
NO PLANS TO REACTIVATE THE RUNWAY. 

THE STAFF REPORT IS INACCURATE IN THAT IT STATES THAT THE AIR FORCE • IS WORKING TO DEVELOP AN ASSAULT LANDING 
ZONE ON BASE". THE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND "FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT (FONS!)' FOR THE ALZ HAVE 
FAILED AND THERE IS NO REPLACEMENT PROPOSED. 

THE STAFF REPORT GOES ON TO CONTEND THAT THERE IS AN ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE ON THIS 21 ACRE PARCEL. THE STAFF 
REPORT IS WRONG. MY PROPERTY HAS A CLEAR TITLE, THERE IS NO SUCH APZ THEREON. IF THERE WERE, IT WOULD BE 
A RECORDED EASEMENT OBTAINED IN A LEGAL PROCEEDING SUCH AS EMINENT DOMAIN. 

EMINENT DOMAIN IS APPROPRIATE WHEN THE GOVERNMENT WISHES TO ACQUIRE PRIVATE PROPERTY FOR A PUBLIC USE! 

THE STAFF WOULD TAKE THE WHEAT RIDGE PROPERTY FOR A FLYING MISSION "ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE" WHEN THERE 
IS NO FL YING MISSION AFTER TWO DECADES OF BASE CLOSURE AND REALIGNMENT. 

THE STAFF REPORT STATES THAT THE CITY COMMISSION IN 2012 ADOPTED THE JLUS STUDY. 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS DATED 5/01/2012 STATES THAT: 

THE JLUS COMMITTEE WAS ONLY ADVISORY 

THE RESOLUTION 9965 STATES THAT THE DOCUMENT IS TO BE USED AS REFERENCE MATERIAL. 

THE DOCUMENT HAS NO REGULATORY AUTHORITY. 

THE RESOLUTION IS NOT INCLUDED IN THE CITY'S GROWTH POLICY 

THE DOCUMENT DOES NOT CALL FOR RE-ZONING. 

MAYOR WINTERS SAID "THERE IS A FUTURE COURSE FOR MR. HUESTIS TO PROTECT HIS INTERESTS". 

I AM PROTECTING MY INTERESTS NOW. 

TO ILLUSTRATE THE WRONGFUL REACH OF THE JLUS, CONSIDER THAT IT INCLUDES 1033 ACRES OF ACCIDENT POTENTIAL 
ZONES AT EACH END OF THE CLOSED RUNWAY. 

THE AIRFIELD AT MAFB WAS CLOSED BY AN ACT OF CONGRESS IN 1995. 
IT CAN ONLY BE REOPENED BY AN ACTOF CONGRESS. 

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION BY ,rs DIRECTIVE HAS RULED: 

MALMSTROM IS A HEU PORT. 

MALMSTROM HAS TWO HELIPADS, EACH 100' BY 100' . 

MALMSTROM IS CLOSED TO ALL FIXED WING AIRCRAFT. 

APPROACH AND DEPARTURE FOR HELICOPTERS IS 026 DEGREES, WHICH IS NORTHEAST OF THE HELIPORT NOT 
SOUTHWEST TOWARD WHEAT RIDGE DEVELOPMENT. 

THERE IS NO MILITARY HELICOPTER TRAVEL OVER THE PROPOSED WHEAT RIDGE DEVELOPMENT. 

MERCY HELICOPTER OVER FLIGHTS ARE WELCOME! 

BOB CORWIN, C & W DEVELOPMENT AND I PRESENTED A LETTER OF CONTRACTURAL INTENT TO DEVELOP MY LAND 
INTO RESIDENTIAL LOTS ADDRESSED TO CITY PLANNING DEPARTMENT DATED NOVEMBER 10, 2005. 
HERE WE ARE, 12 YEARS LATER, CONTINUOUSLY PETITIONING THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS FOR ANNEXATION AND ZONING 
APPROVAL. 

WE RECEIVED A LETTER FROM THE PLANNING DIRECTOR DATED JANUARY 23, 2006 THAT MALMSTROM OFFICIALS HAVE 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 121 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

,. . 
INDICATED THE ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONES ARE NO LONGER IN EFFECT BECAUSE THE RUNWAY IS CLOSED. 

THE CITY STAFF REPORT CALLS FOR THE USE OF PRIVATE PROPERTY RIGHTS FOR A PUBLIC PURPOSE. 
YOU WOULD TAKE THE WHEAT RIDGE PROPERTY FOR A FLYING MISSION "ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE" WHEN THERE IS NO 
FL YING MISSION. 

THAT IS TAKING PRIVATE PROPERTY FOR A PUBLIC PURPOSE. TO DO SO YOU MUST GO TO A PROPER COURT OF JURISDICTION 
AND OBTAIN A CERTIFICATE OF NECESSITY. THERE IS NO NECESSITY FOR SOME "FUTURE USE". 
MY WHEAT RIDGE PROPERTY TITLE IS CLEAR OF ANY RECORDED RESTRICTIONS. THERE ARE NONE. 
ARMED WITH YOUR NECESSITY ORDER, YOU THEN APPRAISE THE PRIVATE PROPERTY VALUE, THEN YOU PAY TO 
ACQUIRE SAME. 

THERE IS NO PROVISION FOR YOU TO SIEZE THE PROPERTY. 

CASCADE COUNTY IN 2008 ORDERED AN APPRAISAL FOR PRIVATE PROPERTY TO BE ACQUIRED FOR REAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
INCOMPATIBLE WITH A "PROPOSED ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE" SOUTH OF THE RUNWAY AT MALMSTROM,AFB 
THE APPRAISAL ESTABLISHED A VALUE OF $3,265,000. 
THE PERMISSIVE BOND ISSUE ELECTION FAILED BY 20,000 VOTES TO 12,000 VOTES. 
THE VOTERS REJECTED THE IDEA OF AN "ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE." 

THE GREAT FALLS TRIBUNE ON SUNDAY.SEPTEMBER 2017 FEATURED A PICTURE AND THE QUESTION" 

"WILL MALMSTROM AIRSTRIP GROUND DEVELOPMENT?" 

I PROPOSE A DIFFERENT QUESTION , " WILL YOU HERE TODAY SUPPORT THE PEOPLE OF GREAT FALLS WHO WANT 
A VIBRANT, ENERGETIC FUTURE FOR EAST GREAT FAL,LSr 

FOR ALL THE RIGHT REASONS, I URGE YOU TO APPROVE WHEAT RIDGE ESTATES DEVELOPMENT. 

THANK YOU FOR YOUR CONSIDERATION. 

~ 
THIS TESTIMONY AT THIS PUBLIC HEARING INCLUDES SEVEN ATTACHMENTS WHICH DOCUMENT STATEMENTS HEREIN: 

1. CERTIFIED LETTER TO MALMSTROM AFB, 4 MAY 2017, RE: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT & FONSI FOR A C-130 ALZ AT MAFB. 

2. FIGURE 8-4A, JLUS PROPOSED MILITARY RUNWAY APZ AREA, 1033 ACRES AT EACH END. 

3. CITY OF GREAT FALLS JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS, MAY 1, 2012 

4. FAA DIRECTIVE, 26 MAY 2016 RE: KGFA, MALMSTRON AFB HELIPORT 

5. CORWIN/ KYSO HUESTIS LETTER TO G.F. PLANNING DEPARTMENT, 10 NOV 2005 

6. BEN RANGEL, PLANNING DIRECTOR, LETTER TO HUESTIS RE" "MAFB OFFICIALS HAVE INDICATED THE ZONES REFERENCED 
THEREIN ARE NO LONGER IN EFFECT BECAUSE THE RUNWAY IS CLOSED". 

7. COUNTY TO PUT BASE RUNWAY ON THE BALLOT, G.F. TRIBUNE AUGUST 12, 2008 

PLEASE INCLUDE THESE DOCUMENTS REFERENCED IN MY REMARKS IN THE MINUTES OF THIS PUBLIC HEARING 
IN THE SAME MANNER AS IF THEY WERE SPOKEN .. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 122 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

FILE NAME: C-130 A1..Z 

OEUVERED BY CERTIFIED MAIL. RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

MR. ROBERT BROWN 
341 CES / CEIE 
39 78TH STREET NORTH 
MALMSTROM AIR FORCE BASE, MONTANA 59402 

I 
2901 FOURTH AVENUE NORTH 
GREAT FAU.S, MT 59401 
4MAY2017 

RE: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT FOR THE PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF AC. 130 ASSAULT LANDING ZONE, MALMSTROM AFB, MONTANA 
& 
DRAFTFONSI 

NOTICE; THIS IS A WRITTEN PROTEST AGAINST YOUR EA & FONSI DRAFTS. 

MY NAME IS DANA HUESTIS, I REPRESENT MYSELF AHO KYSO CORPORATION WHICH I OWN SOL.ELY 

F. O. N. S. I. 

FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT. 

THE UNITED STATES AIR FORCE HAS DETERMINED THAT IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION WOULD HAVE NO SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE DIRECT, INDIRECT, 
OR CUMUI.ATIVE EFFECTS ON THE QUALITY OF THE HUMAN OR NATlJRAL ENVIRONMENT. 

IN FACT, THE "PROPOSED ACTION" IS UNKNOWING ANO UNCARING ANO UNRESPONSIVE TO IT'S OBLIGATION TO PRESENT THE REQUISITE NEGATIVE IMPACTS 
ON THE OUAUTY OF THE HUMAN AHO NATURAL ENVIRONMENT, AS FOLLOWS: 

THE MALMSTROM AFB AIRFIB..D HAS BEEN CLOSED FOR 20 YEARS THE CLOSURE WAS APPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES CONGRESS COUPL YING WITH THE 
FEDERAL COMMISION DETERMINATION TO DO SO .. 

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION HAS DECLARED THE MALMSTROM AFB AIRFIELD CLOSED TO AU. FIXED WING AIRCRAFT. 

THEPROPOSEDALZIS IN FACT ARIMWAY ACCORDING TO FIGURE 2.1 , P.20 OF THE EA. P.n , STATES THE RUNWAY WILL BE 4,800FEET .. 
THE PROPOSED ALZ SCALES NEARI.. Y 6,000 FEET IN LENGTH ON FIGURE 2.1 , P. 20 
THE PROPOSED RUNWAY LAYS CLAIM TO THE "EXISTING TAXIWAYS" WHICH WILL BE~
RE-OPENING THE TAXIWAYS FACILITATES REOPENING Tt£ CLOSED FLIGHT LINE. 

THE EA ON P. ES-1 STATES THAT THE CLEAR ZONES, TRANSmONAL AREA. APROACH ZONES AND OVERRUNS WILL BE RE-OPENED. 
P. 75 SAYS EQUIPMENT ANO MATERIAL STAGING WILL OCCUR ON THE BRACED RUNWAY. 

INFORMATION PUBUSHEO IN THE GREAT FAU.S TRIBUNE ON 18 JULY 2014, DOCUMENTS THAT MANG'$ C-130H MODELS NEED AVIONICS UPGRADES BY 2020 
TO COMPLY 
WITH FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION ANO INTERNATIONAL CML AVIATION ORGANIZATION COMMUNICATION, NAVIGATION & SURVEIUANCE/AIR TRAFFIC 
MANAGEMENT MANDATES". 
iF THE AVIONICS UPGRADES ARE NOT COMPLETcD BY 2020, THE C-130 WILL NOT BE ABLE TO OPERATE IN SIGNIFICANT PORTIONS OF DOMESTIC AND 
INTERNATIONAL AIRSPACE, ACCORDING TO A LETTER TO CONGRESS FROM THE ADJl/TANTS GENERAL ASSOCIATION OF THE UNITED STATES". 
THE MONTANA ADJUTANT GENERAL SIGNED THE LETTER 

THE u .a HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES PASSED A VERSION OF THE NA TlONAL DEFENSE AUTHORIZATION ACT THAT PROHIBITS FUNDING FOR ANY 
NATIONAL GUARD UNITS FOR UPGRADING C-130H MODELS. iNSTEAD, THEY WOULD PREFER TO PURCHASE THE NEWER C-130J MODEL". 

THEREFORE, FOR THE LAST THREE YEARS AT LEAST, ANO FOR THE NEXT 3 YEARS TO 2020 WITHOUT FUNOtNG THAT HAS BEEN REFUSED, THE C-130H 
AIRPLANES W1LLBE CONDUCTING LOW-l.EVELASSAULT LANDINGS ANO TAKE-OFFS, DAY AHO NIGHT. WITH CONDEMNED AVIONICS 

THE PROPOSED FONS! NOTICE INCLUOES AN INVITATION TO OTHER. OUTSIDE MONTANA. NATIONAL GUARD UNITS TO COME TO MALMSTROM AN.DUSE THE 
RUNWAY. LEFT UNSAID, WHAT AIRCRAFT MIGHT THE OTHER NATIONAL GUARO UNITS BE F1. YING? WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS OF INVTTlNG THESE OT11ER 
UNITS ON THE HUMAN AHO NAlURAL ENVIRONMENT HERE? 

THE PROPOSED EA NE FONSI CONVENlENTL Y IGNORES THE PRESENCE OF THE NUCLEAR WARHEAD ASSEMBLY ANO STORAGE AfEA ABSOLUTELY 
ADJACENT TO THE "ASSAULT LANDING ZONE". THE EA ANO FONSI ARE UN<NOWING, UNCARING ANO UNRESPONSIVf_ THE CONSEQUENCES OF THIS 
FATAL FLAW WOULD BE lJNTHINKA8LE. THE EA ANO FONSI ARE SILENT. SHAME, REPEAT SHAME, ON THE AUTHORS ANO PARTICIPANTS IN THIS SO-CALLED STUDY. 

WITNESS THE MAF8 DECISION TO AU.OW AN AERIAL ACROBATICS TEAM FROM CANADA TO F1.Y OVER THE CLOSED RUNWAY. ONE AIRCRAFT WENT Ol/T 
OF CONTROL ANO CRASHED A SHORT DISTANCE FROM THE NUCLEAR AREA. 

WITNESS THE NOVEMBER 4, 2008 BAU.OT ISSUE PROPOSING TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY RIGHTS IN ORDER TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT INCOMPATIBLE 
WITH THE ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE SOUTH OF THE (CLOSED) RUNWAY AT MALMSTROM AFB .. 
TI-E VOTERS RESPONDED NO BY A 20,000 TO 12.000 MARGIN. THE RUNWAY IS CLOSED ANO NO SUBSEQUENT AIRCRAFT W1U. OPERATE THERE THEY REASONED. 
MY "ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONE" WAS APPRAISED AT THAT TIME FOR $3.265,000. THE VOTE REINFORCES THE IIEGATIVE INVERSE CONDEMNATION 
STAl'CllNG THAT ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONES ARE TAIONGS. 

NOTICE THAT MY LANO HAS NO CLOUDS UPON THE llTLE. ANY ATTEMPT TO ACQUIRE MY PROPERTY RIGHTS FOR LESS THAN FULL HIGHEST ANO BEST USE 
WILL BE ADJUDICATED. ANY ATTEMPT TO DENY MY PEACEFUL. QUIET USE OF MY PRIVATE PROPERTY WILL BE ADJUDICATED. 

DURING THE 20 YEARS THAT THE MALMSTROM AIRF1ELO HAS BEEN CLOSED BY MULTIPLE AUTHORmES, THERE HAVE BEEN EFFORTS TO RESTRICT MY PRIVATE 
PROPERTY OWNERSHIP. MANY HAVE RISEN TO THE REQUISITE "RIPENESS-, Bl/T HAVE BEEN ACCORDED PATIENCE. 

THERE HAVE BEEN ACCUSATIONS OF ENCROACHMENT. 
THERE HAVE BEEN ACCUSATIONS OF INCOMPATIBILITY. 

THERE HAVE BEEN -Sl\JOIES" SUCH AS AICUZ 

THERE IS NOW THE STUDY KNOWN AS JI.US, JOINT LANO USE STUDY. THE WORD .K>INT IS AN OXYMORON IMPLYING THAT THE MILITARY CAN USE MY PROPERTY •.• 
BUT THERE IS NO USE OR PUBLIC OBLIGATION REQUIREMENT TO COMPENSATE THE l.ANOOYt'NER FOR THE TAKING? 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 123 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

... 

I BEUEVE THERE IS AN ASSAULT LANDING ZONE IN PLACE AT GREAT FALLS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT. I BalEVE THE FACILITY AT GflAP HAS SUFFICIENT 
ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ZONES ANO Cl.EAR ZONES ANO AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL IN PLACE TO F\A..L Y SUPPORT THEIR AlZ. THE ALZ AT GflAP IS CRITICISED AFTER 
EXPEN0tNG THE COSTS OF ESTA8USHING THE ALZ. AS HAVING TOO MUCH LIGHT AT NIGHT FOR THEIR PURPOSES. 

WOULD APPROPRIATE EYEWEAR OR VIRTUAL REALITY CORRECT THIS PROBLEM? HOW ABOUT THE "HOOD" USED TO TRAIN PILOTS FOR IFR CONDmONS? 
THERE IS AN AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER ADJACENT TO THE ALZ. COULD THE TOWER MOOIFY THE ALZ LIGHTING FOR THE TIME TO APPROACH OR TAKEOFF? 
THE EA ANO FONSI ARE SILENT EVEN ON THE EXISTENCE OF THE GFlAP AlZ. WHAT ABOUT THE WASTE OF TAXPAYER DOLLARS? 

THE EA ANO FONSI ARE SILENT ABOUT "THE HUMAN ENVIRONMENr OUTSIDE THE MALMSTROM FENCE, ANO THE EXISTENCE OF THE EAST GREAT FALLS RETAIL CEN 
WAL-MART CORPORATION OPENED A BRAND NEW SUPERSTORE AT EGFRC ON MARCH 15, 2017. THE STORE MERCHANDISES 200,000 S.F. THE STORE EMPLOYS 
OVER 350 EMPLOYEES At«:J PAYS TENS OF THOUSANDS OF DOUARS lN ANNUAL PROPERTY TAXES WHICH FUND PUBUC SERVICES lN GREAT FALLS. 

THE EA ANO FONSI ARE SILENT AS TO THE FOLLOW-ON RETAIL LAND ANNEXED ANO ZONED GENERAL COMMERCIAL TO COMPLEMENT WAL-MART. THIS PROPERTY 
HAS BEEN COMPROMISED FOR RETAIL WITH THE ALZ ABSOLUTEl. Y ADJACENT TO A RETAILERS INVESTMENT. NIGHT ANO DAY, LOW ALTITUDE.NOISE ABOVE 
ANY REASONABLE LIMIT, ETC. I OWN THIS RETAIL PROPERTY ADJACENT TO THE NEW WAL-MART SUPERCENTER. I HAVE BEEN IMPACTED NOW BY THS ALZ 
RUNWAY, I MUSTTOTALL Y DISCLOSE THIS TAKING OF Tl-tE PEACEFUL, QUIET POSSESION OF flN INVESTMENT PROPERTY. 

KYSO HAS PAID OVER $10,000 PER YEAR IN PROPERTY TAX ANO STREET ASSESSMENTS TOTALLING $90,000.00 TO DATE FOR BLOCK 2, EGFRC. 
THIS EA & FONSI NOW SAY THAT THIS LN«:J IS COMPROMISED BY THE AI.Zll l 

I SWEAR THAT THE FIRST INKLING THAT THIS ALZ IS PROPOSED WAS WHEN I READ THE LEGAL NOTICE IN THE GREAT FAU.S TRIBUNE ON 25 APRIL 2017. 
BE ADVISED THAT ON 13 APRll 2017, I HANOCARRIED A CHECK FOR THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS TO CITY OF GREAT FALLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, GMNG 
THE CHECK TO THE DIRECTOR. THERE WAS ABSOLUTB.Y NO DISCLOSURE OF THE AlZ. THE PAYMENT WAS FOR THE ANNEXATION ANO ZONING APPLICATION 
FROM KYSO CORPORATION ANO C & W DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION FOR WHEAT RIDGE ESTATES RESIDENTlAL SUB-OMSION. THERE HAS BEEN NO 
DISCLOSURE OF THE ALZ SCHEME. THIS IS BEYOND UNETHICAL! 

OUR MARKETING OPPORTUNITY WINDOW BEGINS WITH THE GRANO OPENING OF WAL-MART. AGAJN TOTAL DISCLOSURE OF THE RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
RENDERS THE RESIOENTIAL PROPERTY COMPROMISED. THIS IS AN INVERSE PRE-MEDITATED TAKING OF OUR RESIOENTIAL BUSINESS. 

WHEN WAL-MART MADE THEIR INVESTMENT DECISION TO LOCATE IN EGFRC. THEY HAO A REASONABLE EXPECTATION THAT FOLLOW-ON RETAIL ANO 
SURROUNOtNG RESIDENTIAL HOMES WOULD ENHANCE THEIR BUSINESS. 

YOUR EA ANO FONSI ARE SILENT AS TO THIS "IMPACr UPON THE HUMAN (KYSO/HUESTIS, ANO C & W/CORWIN ANO WOITH) ENVIRONMENT ANO ALL THE 
MANY OTHER SIMILARLY SIT\JATED PROPERTY OWNERS. 

YOUR EA ANO FONSI ARE PAINFW. Y, NARROW!. Y FOCUSED UPON THE SO-CALLEO MERITS OF THIS WR~. REDUNDANT SCHEME. 
THE EA At«:J FONSI ARE PERHAPS DIRECTED TO A DESIRED FINDING INSPITE OF THE REQUISITE "STUDY" DIRECTIVE. THERE ARE FEW IF ANY RELEVANT 
CITATIONS FOR OFF.aASE "HUMAN" HOPES ANO DREAMS FOR THEIR LIFE'S WORK INVESTMENTS. 

KYSO AND DANA HUESTIS, TOGETl-tER WITH C & W DEVELOPMENT CORP. ANO R06ERT CORWIN ANO SPENCER WOITH DEMAND HEREWITH THAT 
THIS EA AND FONSI CONDEMNATION MUST BE COMPENSATED ACCORDING TO EMINENT DOMAIN TAKING RULES ANO REQUIREMENTS. 

DISCLOSURE HAS PLACED KYSO CORPORATON INVESTMENT IN EGFRC, BLOCK 2, $6,158,295.00 AT RISK. 
DISCLOSURE HAS PLACED KYSO CORPORATION PUBLIC IW'ROVEMENTS OBLIGATION, $862,190.40 REPAYMENT AT RISK. 
DISCLOSURE ANO CITY OF GREAT FALLS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT TAKING OF KYSO CORPORATION RESIDENTlAL PROPERTY VALUE. $7,896,850.00 AT RISK. 

REFER TO "EAST GREAT FALLS RETAIL CENTER DEVELOPMENT LN«:J, 21.54 ACRES, FOR SALE" DOCUMENT HEREWITH. 

FOR DOCUMENTATION THAT THE AMOUNTS SHOWN ARE REASONABLE. REFER TO WAL-MART OUTPARCELS FOR SALE DOCUMENT HEREWITH, 
SHOWING 4.35 ACRES FOR $2,375,000 OR $12.54 / S.F. 

FOR THE RECORD C & W DEVELOPMENT ANO KYSO CORPORATION HAVE BEEN IN RESIDENTIAL DEVEI.OPMENT CONTRACT SINCE NOVEMBER 10, 2005. 
SEE NOTARIZED LETTER TO CITY PLANNING DEPARTMENT DOCUMENTATION. 

FOR THE RECORD SEE CITY OF GREAT FALLS PLANNING DEPARTMENT LETTER DATED JANUARY 23, 2006, LAST SENTENCE "HOWEVER. MAFB OFFICIALS HAVE 
INDICATED THE ZONES REFERENCED THEREIN ARE NO LONGER IN EFFECT, BECAUSE THE RUNWAY IS CLOSECr. 

THIS DOCUMENTATION IS PROVIDED TO ESTABLISH OUR EXPECTATION THAT OUR PRIVATE PROPERTY WOULD BE ACCORDED PROPER DUE PROCESS. 
THIS EXPECTATION IS NOW DESTROYED. 

SEE KYSO CORPORATION LETTER DATED 4 JANUARY 2013 DOCUMENTING DAY BY DAY THE ABUSE OF OF DUE PROCESS BY THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS ANO OTHERS. THIS CALLS FOR CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS. 

THIS EA ANO FONSI WERE PREPARED ON BEHALF OF MAI.MSTROM AFB, MONTANA. PREPARED FOR U.S. ARV< CORPS OF ENGINEERS, M08ILE ALABAMA 
DISTRICT. MONTANA IS NOT EVEN IN THE JURISDICTION OF CORPS OF ENGINERS, MOBILE DISTRICT. THE CONSUL TANT IS BASED IN MOBILE. AIABAMA. 
A MONTANA BASED CONSUL TANT PERHAPS WOULD HAVE A MORE APPROPRIATE Ol1TY OF HUMAN ANO NATURAL ENVIRONMENTl 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, BY THE WRONGFUL ACTIONS OF ITS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT ANO BY ITS JLUS STUOY GROUP PARTICIPATION, 
ADOPTION AND lw>LEMENTATION CREATING ACCIDENT POTENTIAL ANO CLEAR ZONES UPON flN PRIVATE PROPERTY WITHOUT COMPENSATION, ARE JOINED IN THlf 
DEMAND LETTER FOR DUE PROCESS ANO CONDEMNATION 

HEREWITH IS A '1EMORANOUM" FROM THE CITY OF GREAT FAU.S COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT, DATED 27 APRIL 2017. 
THE DOCUMENT IS TTTLED "'WHEAT RIDGE ESTA~SE 1, "COMPLETENESS- REVIEW OF SUBMITTED APPLICATION. 
IN THIS CONTEXT, -COMPLETENESS" MEANS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE JLUS. PARA. 5c SAYS • ... THE CITY ANTICIPATES NO JUSTIFICATION TO SUPPORT 
ANNEXATION OF THE PHASE 1 DEVELOPMENT AS WELL AS THE LARGER MASTER PLANNED AREA". 
THESE WORDS PlAINL Y CONSTTTVTE DENIAL OF OUR APPLICATION. 

WE HAVE EXHAUSTED OUR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES. OUR ACTION IS • RIPEI 

THE ENTIRE DOCUMENT IS INAPPROPRIATE, WITNESS THAT flN CHECK FOR THE ANNEXATION AND ZONING APPLICATION WAS DELIVERED ON 13 APRIL 2017 
ANO REJECTED 27 APRIL. KYSO CORPORATION PROPERLY SHOULD BE AN ADDRESSEE INASMUCH AS IT PAID FOR THE APPLICATION ANO OWNS THE LAND. 

PARAGRAPH 5, IM'ACTS OF DEVELOPMENT TO MALMSTROM AFB 
MY APPLICATION IS ADDRESSED TO THE COloWUNITY OF GREAT FALLS PETITIONING FOR ANNEXATION AND ZONING. SUCH A SUS-OIVISION CREATES 
RESIDENT1AL HOMESflcS, JOBS AND TAX BASE., SAY -450 HOMESITES AT $4,000 PROPERTY TAXATION IS $1 ,800,000 PER YEAR. 

THE MEMORANDUM BEGS THAT IN PARA. 4.2) THE CITY'S FIRE ANO EMERGENCY RESPONSE IS Al.READY STRETCHED BEYOND RECOMMENDED LEVELS. 
THE DISAPPROVAL IS COUNTER INTUmVE BECAUSE OUR INVESlMENT WOULD HELP, NOT HINDER, RESPONSE. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 124 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

4 ~ , _. _ 

THE MEMORANDUM REQUIRES THE APPLICANTS TO PREPARE A NOISE SnJOY FOR A NOISE SOURCE THAT IT DID NOT CREATE ANO IS OPPOSED FOR 
SAFETY ANO AU. REASONS HEREIN. 

THE MEMORANDUM AT PARA. 5a, CITES THE JLUS STUDY AS ENCOURAGING COMPATIBLE LANO USE AROUND THE BASE ANO HELP SUSTAIN GROWTH. 
PARA 5b APPARENTLY NOT AWARE THE THE MALMSTROM AF8 AIRAaD IS CLOSED BY BRAC. THE C STANDS FOR CLOSURE! THE F .AA HAS CLOSED 
AIRFIELD TO FIXED WING AIRCRAFT. 

IF THE AUTHOR OF THE MEMORANDUM HAO EVEN A SHRED OF PRIVATE PROPER'TY'S PLACE IN OUR COMMUNITY, THIS MEMORANDUM WOULD 
NEVER HAVE BEEN WRITTEN. 

THE TWO WEEK TIME LAPSE BETWEEN MY PAYMENT AND THIS CONDEMNATION IS ARROGANT, UNKNOWING, UNCARING.AND UNREPONSIVE. 

THE EA ATP 24, SOCIOECONOMICS STATES NO APPRECIABLE EFFECTS! THE PARAGRAPH CONTINUES" THE TERM SOCIOECONOMICS DESCRIBES 
DEMOGRAPHICS ASSOCIATED WITH THE HUMAN ENVIRONMENT, SUCH AS EMPLOYMENT, INDUSTRY, INCOME, POPULATION, HOUSING ANO SCHOOLS." 
THE UNACCEPTABLE IMPACTS DESCRIBED ABOVE CONDEMN THE EA ASSESSMENT. SHAME ON THE AUTHORS OF SUCH AN OUTRAGEOUS 
ASSERTION. 

THE EA AT PAGE 38 DESCRIBES THE SAO STATE OF AFFAIRS AT WHITMORE RAVINE, REFERRING TO SOLUTIONS AGREED BY STAKEHOLDERS. 
THE SOLUTIONS ,IN PART, REFER TO CORRECTIONS THAT NEVER, REPEAT NEVER HAPPENED, SUCH AS PIPEl.lNES AROUND THE EROOEO PORTIONS 
OF THE WEST ANO MIOOLE FORKS OF WHITMORE RAVINE. UNCONTROLLED RUNOFF FROM MAFB HAVE LEFT A SCAR UPON THE EARTH. 
HUNDREDS OF THOUSANOS OF TONS OF SEDIMENT HAVE BEEN DISCHARGED INTO THE MISSOURI RIVER OVER DECADES. SHAMEi 
THE SEDIMENT STILL FLOWS INTO THE MISSOURI RIVER TO THIS OAYI 

THE AUTHORS OF THIS EA AND FONSI HAVE NEVER CONTACTED THE ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS, THE NEIGHBORS, TO ASCERTAIN THE 
REALITY. APPARENTLY FROM ALABAMA ALL THAT IS SURVEYED IS BENIGN. NOTl !I 

THIS NEEDS JUDICIAL REVIEW. 

I RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REVISE ANO EXTEND MY ANALYSIS, ESPEC lAU. Y AS THE 30 DAY ARBITRARY DEADLINE FOR COMMENT IS NOT SUFFICIENT 
FOR RESPONDING TO IS UNFORESEEN THREAT TO MY PRIVATE PROPERTY. THE LACK OF DISCLOSURE AS TO YOUR SECRET PREPARATION OF THIS 
STUDY DONE IN ALABAMA IS BEYOND UNETHICAL 

LEST YOU MISUNOERSANO MY DEVOTION TO THE MILITARY OF OUR NATION, I SERVED THREE YEARS AND FIVE MONTHS ACTIVE DUTY AS AN 
AIR FORCE CIVIL ENGINEER OFFICER HOW ABOUT YOU, THE READER HEREOF? 

SUBMITTED BY: 

DANA HUESTIS, PRESIDENT 
P. E. 12934 



C
ity

 C
om

m
is

si
on

 M
ee

tin
g 

- S
ep

te
m

be
r 1

8,
 2

01
8 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  P

ag
e 

12
5 

of
 3

51
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

A
tta

ch
m

en
t #

 2
8

t 
~ 

r,; ,_ 

Ir"'-

Legend 1 ) ~ ~. J · :. '- · 
I ~ ,! 1 ol 

c:::J Clear Zone ' 1 • · 

l~. Accident Potential Zone I 

I.-;: I Accident Potential Zone II 

rm 'J ~ ,.,) r ,:-: 

I~ I r-

•. 

Malmstrom AFB 

City of Great Falls 

Airfield Surface Area 

/ '-v/ Road 

;A,./ Railroad 

5 
I~~ 
CJ) 

~ 

3,o 00 
1 
t... \ ), & C> 0 l -=- '-\ f. (Hl 17) 0(7 D s~r 

{o ~2 Au~i 

Figure 8-4A 
Military Runway Accident Potential Zones Conditional Development Area 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 126 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

-
MAY 1,2012 JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 2012.62 

6. 

7. 

Mayor Winters asked if there were any inquiries from the public. Hearing none, Mayor Winters 
called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0. 

NEW BUSINESS 

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 

ORDINANCE 3088, ADOPTING THE GREAT FALLS DOWNTOWN URBAN RENEWAL 
PLAN, INCLUDING A TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PROVISION PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 7-15-42 AND 43, MCA. 

Planning and Community Development Director Mike Haynes reported Ordinance 3088 is a request 
to set a public hearing for May 15, 2012, to consider Ordinance 3088 that would adopt a Downtown 
Urban Renewal District, including a provision to establish a Downtown Tax Increment Financing 
(TIF) District. The Downtown Master Plan called for establishing a TIF District as the primary 
funding mechanism for targeted public improvements Downtown. 

At their meeting of April 10, 2012, the Planning Advisory Board unanimously found the Downtown 
Urban Renewal Plan to be in conformance with the Growth Policy. On March 6, 2012, the City 
Commission approved Resolution 9961 that acknowledged the existence of conditions that 
discourage economic development Downtown and established boundaries of an Urban Renewal 
District. 

Commissioner Jolley moved, seconded by Commissioner Jones, that the City Commission 
accept Ordinance 3088 on first reading and set a public hearing for May 15, 2012. 

Mayor Winters asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners. 

Mayor Winters questioned the signature on Resolution 9961 . Commissioner Jones signed 
Resolution 9961 as Mayor Pro Tempore on March 6, 2012. 

Mayor Winters asked if there were any inquiries from the public. 

Mike Witsoe, 5 IO 11th Street South, asked if I st A venue South will be turned into a two-way street. 

Commissioner Bronson responded Ordinance 3088 has nothing to do with determination of the one
way. 

There being no one else to address the Commission, Mayor Winters called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0. 

~J.,UTION~ ACCEPT M1UMSYROM &IR FmtCE1JMJ:JOINT LAND USE 
S'NlY FJNAL DOCUMENT. 

S/01/2012 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 127 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

It 

MAY 1, 2012 JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 2012.63 

Planning and Community Development Director Mike Haynes reported the general purpose of 
JLUS studies are to promote cooperation between milit4ry in$tallations and surrounding iocalmes in 
order to strengthen military missions and provide for more compatible land uses and development 
near installations. ' The City Commission supported Cascade County seeking a grant through the 
U.S. Department of Defense, Office of Economic Adjustment (OEA) for the JLUS, and the City's 
participation in the JLUS process with Resolution 9799, adopted in late 2008. Cascade County did 
secure the OEA grant to fund the Malmstrom JLUS prpcess, 11Dd in February 2010, Matrix Design 
Group was selected as project consultants and the JLUS process was initiated. A Policy Committee 
and a Technical Committee were established to guide and support the process, with members 
representing Cascade County and the other six counties in the Missile Complex area, the City of 
Great Falls, MAFB, landowners, and other interested parties. The JLUS process took two years to 
complete and resulted in the JLUS Final Report On March 28, 2012, Cascade County 
Commissioners accepted the Final Report by adopting Resolution 12-23. Atceptuice of the Final 
Report does not equate to regulation and does not impact private property rights of any landowners. 
lt is expected that, if &esolutioo 9965 is adopted, ni:xt sleJ>$ would be for Cascade County to 
establish a Cooulinating Cnmmiflr:e, including a ~reseo•e from the City of Great Falls, to 
formalize cooperation between MAFB and local govomments. At that time, discussions may be 
held to consider the range of possible implementation strategies. Should those strategies include 
any land use regulations\ t;be-,respective jurisdictions would hold public hearin~ to consider those 

specific proposals. ~ ~ ~ --14.M ~ /uu._ ~I. :J 

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Jolley, that the City Commission 
adopt Resolution. 996$ accepting t1ae M.alpistrom Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study 
(JLUS) final document. 

Mayor Winters asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners. 

Commissioners Burow and Jones reserved comment after public discussion. 

Mayor Winters asked if there were any inquiries from the public. 

Steve Malicott, President/CEO of the Great Falls Area Chamber of Commerce, noted he was 
appointed to the Policy Committee on the issue. He noted the JLUS is designed to avoid 
encroachment issues. The Policy Committee requested a statement be included to approve the 
concept to protect MAFB and private property owners. He recommended acceptance of the JLU~. 

Joe Briggs, Cascade County Commissioner, expressed support of Resolution 9965 to accept JLUS 
as a completed document for use as reference material. He noted the document has no regulatory 
authority. He believes acceptance of JLUS will send a strong message to the military that the Great 
Falls community desires to keep its military mission. 

Dan Huestis, 29014th Avenue North, noted the JLUS will be incorporated into the City of Great 
Falls Growth Policy. He discussed three policy determinations recommended by JLUS. He 
requested JLUS not be adopted nor included in the City of Great Falls Growth Policy. He provided 
copies of maps of the Military Airport Overlay District; a map ofMAFB and overlay zones 
showing accident potential zones; and a map of incompatible zoning around MAFB. The maps are 
included in the JLUS. 

5/01/2012 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 128 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

MAY 1,2012 JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 2012.64 

Mayor Winters asked Commissioner Briggs for comment. 

Commissioner Briggs responded Resolution 9965 does not mention the Growth Policy. The 
overlay district is described by FAA and begins at 50 feet above the runway at angles. JLUS 
describes incompatible lands because of proximity to housing, but does not call for re-zoning. 

Mayor Winters questioned the next step of the JLUS. 

Commissioner Brig~ responded the City Planning and Community Development Department will 
present recommendations to the Commission. 

Mayor Winters questioned if Mr. Huestis can build houses on the property he referenced. 

Commissioner Briggs responded the area is within the County and zoned agricultural which allows 
one house per 20 acres. 

Commissioner Bronson commented that the agreement to enter into the JLUS process was because 
of concern for MAFB, MANG, and all military missions surrounding Cascade County. He believes 
it is prudent to develop information to determine potential impacts on those operations. 

Mayor Winters asked what process Mr. Huestis can put in place to protect his property. 

Commissioner Briggs responded the City Commission would have to hold a public hearing to 
change his zoning. 

Commissioner Jones questioned if only one landowner was on the Policy Committee. 

Commissioner Briggs responded all committee members were landowners, however, one position 
was included for a landowner in proximity to MAFB. 

Commissioner Jones questioned the membership of the committee going forward. 

Commissioner Briggs the committee will likely include one member each from the County and the 
City; a representative of the other six rural counties; and a representative of MAFB. 

Commissioner Burow noted that Mr. Huestis indicated his request in 2008 to have his property 
annexed into the City has not happened pending the JLUS study. He expressed concern that 
accepting JLUS sends a message the City plans to use and follow the study. 

Commissioner Briggs does not believe acceptance of the study as a reference document infers use. 
JLUS was designed so each entity can take what is valuable and present it through the public 
processes.· 

Mr. Haynes commented he was not aware of the annexation request in 2008 by Mr. Huestis. 

Commissioner Jolley reported the annexation request was in 2005, and that Mr. Huestis provided 
her a copy of a letter inquiring about annexation along with other documents. 

5/01/2012 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 129 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

.. 

MAYl,2012 JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 2012.65 

Commissioner Bronson noted documents referenced by two Commissioners that he had not 
received. He stated he did not know what was being referenced. 

Mr. Huestis stated Commissioner Bronson did not return a phone call and that was why he did not 
receive the information. 

Commissioner Bronson stated issues should be presented at pul;>lic meetings so everyone can hear 
the response. 

Mr. Huestis further discussed the JLUS study, implementation process, and zoning issues. 

Ron Gessaman, 1006 36th Avenue NE, questioned ifthere will be public access to meetings of the 
proposed JLUS committee. 

Commissioner Briggs responded the meetings would be advertised. 

Mr. Gessaman asked for clarification that the committee is only an advisory committee to make 
recommendations. 

Mayor Winters.and Commissioner Bronson stated that is correct 

John Hubbard, 615 7th A venue South, discussed the possibility of a land grab. 

Mayor Winters commented he would have preferred language to show the JLUS is only a resource 
document. 

Commissioner Bronson noted paragraph 1.5 on page 1-11, regarding the JLUS implementation, 
addresses that concern. 

Commissioner Burow stated Resolution 9965 could be tabled for further study. 

Commissioner Jones noted that he believed the document had been discussed well enough and that 
a vote could be taken. 

Mayor Winters agreed because there is a future course for Mr. Huestis to follow to protect his 
interests. 

There being no one else to address the Commission, Mayor Winters called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

8. Minutes, April 17, 2012, Commission meeting. 

9. Total expenditures of $2,273,852 for the period of April 7-25, 2012, to include claims over $5,000, 
in the amount of $2,023,906. 

5/01/2012 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 130 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

1/- .· AirNav: KOFA- Mabnstrom Air Force Base Heliport 
~ ,, ~- - ....... 

Page 1 of3 

ADD MORE BLUE SKY 
TO YOUR ENGINE 

- . . . . . . . . . . -· - . 

:·" : ,

4 ~orts l\!Gvaicis _ · ~~J?ac~ F~:;;~ _-~,~~a~_!on r ~~! AI RBOSS My AkNav 

1532 users onlinc 

I GOING TO GIOlAT FALLS? 
1-, Aeseiva !l 

· ' Hotel Room 

FAA INl'ORMATION DFECTlVE 26 MAY 2016 

Location 

FAA Identifier: GF A 
Lat/Long: 47-30-16.8000N / 1 l l-11-14.4000W 

47-30.280000N / 1 l l-11.240000W 
47.5046667 /-ll 1.1873333 
( estimated) 

Elevation: 3472 ft./ 1058 m (estimated) 
Variation: 17E (1985) 
From city: 3 miles E of GREAT FALLS, MT 

Time zone: UTC -6 (UfC -7 during Standard Tune) 
Zip code; 59402 

Heliport use: Private use. Permission required prior to landing 
Activation date: 03/1943 
Sectional chart ~.,__:_ _ . 
Control tower: no 

ARTCC: SALT LAKE CITY CENTER 
FSS: GREAT FALLS FLIGHT SERVICE STATION 

NOTAMs mcility: GTF {NOT AM-D service available) 
Attendance: 

Segmented circle: no 
International operations: customs landing rights airport 

Heliport Communications 

CTAF: 271.9 
GREAT FALLS APPROACH: 128.6 

GREAT FALLS DEPARTIJRE: 128.6 
BLADE OPS: 271.9 

COMO POST: 311.0 321.0 
PMSV METRO: 239.8 

WX ASOS at GTF (8 nm W): PHONE 406-452-9844 

• WX OSN 632-2710. FULL SVC A VBL l200-2200Z+t MON-FRI. OT CTC DA VIS
MON1HAN AFB, 25TH OWS DSN 22&-6588/6598/6599. 

httn·//www.~1mav.com/aimort/kirr.a 

.... I. s l.. ._ . .1 ..:.... 1. :.· ·I · ·: 
' .•. l. ...c.. 1 - . 1.:. , _ 

~~ UVairFBO 
~~ N ETWQR·l(. 

•,-~.-. . - iii -- - ·,: . --
, Upgrade Your Experience. 

r,eat Falls !ra&trml AFB 
, ... -· ' - __ ..J(GfA 

I 
111 _-n • 111 .?"Id 

I 
111 .1"'M 

Road maps at: . _-_ __. ,, . , 

Aerial photo 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 131 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

\., 

• •-· . ... ~" ... CJ,. - .1.v~uum ..tUr rorce HaSe Heliport 

----
Nearby radio navigation aids 

VOR radial/distance VOR aame Freq Var 
~--: ~r05419.7 GREAT FALLS VORTAC 115.10 16E 

NDB uaae Hdg/Dist Freq Var ID 
____ ·_ . 029/1 1.2 371 13E ITU .. 

Heliport Services 

Airframe service: NONE 
Powerplaot service: NONE 

Bottled oxygen: NONE 

p lpdBl, 

Dimeosions: IOOx 100 ft./ JO x30 Jb 
Surface: asphalt 

Traffic pattern: left left 

Re9ipedH2 

Dimemioos: 100 x.100 ft./ 30.x 30 m 
s~ coocaete- . 

Traffic pattern· left left . 

Heliport Ownenlaip and Management from official FAA 
records 

Ownership: U.S. Air Foree 
Owner.USAF 

MALMS1R.OM AFB 
OREA T FALLS. Mf 59402 

Manager. BASE OPERATIONS 
MALMSTR.OM AFB 
GREAT FALLS, MT 59402 

.Additional Remarks . . 

- LGT - l!ERIMElBl,.1.DG AND APCIILGIAVBL.LDG-m£T ANDAIIQ[LGT
~IJl!G. 

• FUEL-JS 
- RSID'-R/W ACFT ON OffL BOS ONL.Y, C1SD TO.ALLFJW AaT. l'l'REUOlll 

E1E1..KX>V1ER FLTDSN 632-3250. 
- CAUTION· 57Fr TWR LC1D .S NM NE. 
- TRAN ALERT - NOSVCAVBL WO PRIOR.COORD wrm COPJERMAINTmN 632· 

6356. 

- CTC401ltHEUCOPTERSQUADRON FOR.OPR.HR.SEEFLIP APfl SUPPLEMENTARY 
ARPT REMARK. 

- OltAIICJE.lWtBIMAU: BO\JNDARIESOFllELll'Oltr. -Hl!IJISl'r== = ·= MIDSUJJE.ABHABea\lmllwlf.lF.al~l&Ul:½ANDQ, 8lllFll 
~ 11<ca ~mwi• W.tw.:'11"1&:A• : tut-. ian.tm. . 

http://www.aimav.com/a:irport/kgfa 

Page2of3 

·• i•JU ha'lt- Jr ao:-:2: p1::to :;f :his a:•.J::rt :l:~t 
yc,u w::~ld r;;i; to s11.:ir~ ~\"it!: -:::I'-~· ·J!!.ors '>I 
A..~J~.e,:,~: Cf.~~ ~E:"C:: !.~·- ·. :.. ·:-:•i .!~~·: ~·· 

Sectioaaldaart 

Airport distance calcalator 
Flying to Malmslrom Air Fon::e Base 
Heliport? F"md the distmc:e to fly. 

Fromj ._ _ __,!to KOFA 

Sumise and SDDSet 
11mes for 14-Jul-2016 
. 1-1 Zulu 

(Utt• ) (UTC) 
05:05 11:05 
05:44 11:44 
21:17 03:17 
21:56 03:56 

Carraat date and time 
ZUiu (UTC) 
Local {Vle-4S) 

METAR 

14-Jul-2016 21:29:39 
14-.Ju~2016 15:29:39 

K&FA 142058Z N.llO 35009GUICT UlSM 
fEW075 8ICN095 23'05 A3018 RMC 
A02. Sl.P2.16 T02250046 56003 TSNO 
$ 

,:,:;;__:;:.:_: 1420532 360071CT t OSM SCTUBS 
8nm W 24/04 A"3018 RMK NJ2 Sl.P203 

1"02390039 56003 $ 

TAF 
ICa'A 1419022 1419/1601 32012KT 9999 

Fe#OS5 SCT070 QNH30UIINS BECMG 
142lf1424 02008ICT 9999 SCT070 
QNH3010INS BE01G 1502/1503 
06008KT9999 FEW250 QNH2998INS 
8ECMG 1519/1520 12010Gl.5KT 9999 
vcrs SCT06SC8 scnoo B1<N200 

7/1411016 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 132 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

c.~wn , ,,. .... ., 
1725 41st. Slraat South . 
Great Falls, Ml 59405 

~Dlp&iaaat l 

. 

-
UD•ftITI 

p. ... 

I am Mlfng fhfs_letteron behalf of c & WOe11t9kllllment. lnc. This laUar" ls a 
folow-up ID our pr9Vloua co.a.aaatluna, and la pgpoae is to . . Womf YQ11 that 
I ls cu lall8idien.lD 8lllllC a por1lon fl Iha properfy on the East of the City of Great 
Falla. It 18 our~ to master plan and dawlDpa the land high end nNldentlal 
Iota.&& 

lheUJject .. q>arlf ............ dll8~'J,12-d88CIIIGll 1S..a .... any 
par1lan lyq"Nar1h rlU.8 ._KAlf 87 /89. a_,..,. tll'lf that 818 
a.mll1lly daamed ~ dew5 :;-mnt..Ihe u,Jecl 18 appmDl1llaly 
242 ans. A mar& 8CCU1lle legal di I c•• and M11t11 Plan falc,-ahalUy. 
bellbl-thlaleUar. 

St1'Ud you have m,queallorlS ore01ams on tis maaa ••feel free 1D <Xldad · 
me at (408) - 781-1951: 

Slncarely, . .. 

.-



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 133 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

P. 0. Box S021, 59403-S021 

. , 

Jan~ 23, 2006 

Mr. Dan Huestis 
1001 River Drive North 
Great Falls, MT 59405 

Dear Mr. Huestis: 

Planning Department 

' . . . 

4 ;, 
~ . t. ._. 
:; ~ 

The purpose of this letter is to clarify~ for the record,~ 1w !' ia,ity of tilt proposed Wal-Mart 
site and.ajjoining commercial sites w.ith the resb::idi qe,. cwerneo:ts mr Ma)r::stnrr Air Fecce 
Base. · : 

; 

Ba:,i:;d on my understanding of the locati~m of the restrictive easements, neither the proposed 
Wal-Mart site nor the two adjoining -commercial ~ites are located within the restrictive 
easements acquired by the United -~ government in 1958. 

The re.felenced easements encompass an area that is smaller in size than the boundaries of an 
area that bas been referred to as~ ""Clear 7'.oee .. This Jatterclear mne-was dcsczHed ina m4 
Air Installation Compati'ble Use Zone (AICUZ) study, which was·.rererenced and used at the 
time as a guide iri making land use decisions in the '1icinity of MA.FB. Howev~ MAFB 
officials have indicated the zones~~ therein are.no longer in efl.ect becausethenmway 
iscfused. · 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
P~.nning Director 

B:MR/bmr 



C
ity

 C
om

m
is

si
on

 M
ee

tin
g 

- S
ep

te
m

be
r 1

8,
 2

01
8 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  P

ag
e 

13
4 

of
 3

51
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

A
tta

ch
m

en
t #

 2
8

1 .:-

. ,· 

off .. competition GREAT FALLS I ,...., •. , •~'-" 

r J . , 1rr..!1.,"'1 I ' \\ 0 
t,-P:•l\ '(\1' 

{ -·_) ;· l~\ J 
..... !iii .. ·=-::..-- . . -~~. -~~~: ~ ~ RIBUNE 

,··. ,.., '"41'1'' 
•' ,., ~ \ ·. 

~, .. ,l'.J -.. •... i./ 

-
.-✓ •• .,, .,.,r:,•i,."1-' 

~ 

. .: ;..:s.~ ... 11 f 
I . ' ·.;. ·, 

.,.·· ..... ~ ·"'--~j ,. ' - }-
·· -~ .. 

·, Three 
, / . .,...; ;:, ..... : for three .-iV 

·f~ 
•· 

-:xpoPark cutting event 
equine know-how /1 M 

ugust 12, 200 

:\i (l \: T .\ \ .\.:...; \ I< \V ~ P .\ f> E / ' 

Bush looks to exempt major facilities 
fro~ ~ndangeted Sp~ies Act /2A 

• :., . ,',.'/JI~ 'It,..;.; \ ··;' ,,·,,r:;~\- _ . 
. 'i :-,~ - -/ . -''f'' -~•.;; . ., . ,.,1 

-~-~ ~r... ' ''·11 f,_._ .• ,.,, \ ~ ·-~ ,. 

r~. \ •.• ............ \ 
), -

' . 
Great Falls. Montan - / 

www.greatfallstribune.co 

Phelps earns 
another gold: 

Olyi~ction 

75 cents 

;~ ,:.ii :\!;-e· ·- -,.,~ ------m ---.... t· · · 1· b ballii......:..........,t 
:-· .. ,.:.:'·/i:r-. . .- : . : ~--'_ ',, : ~ as~' . --.r .. ·: . ' ' -;o: ~ ~ ,~~.:i:::~::. ·..-1 

- 811~ - , -:]{i ~D-·....-........~p · u . -re .----, -· a,-0·1-::: I ! ~)\: .' . _·. ·· .. ' : ;· ... ·.) .. ~--·· .... :. _: -~ -. . .. .~ ·.. ' ' .. ~. ~ =· _: . . · .. · . : -~ ..... ; -- : . ~ .. 

1/f!, . • Commissioneriito ask vo~ for ~<:,:.=,. be ,topped u STOW CHAT Q;J 
' lo/{:.( ~uthority to issue. bonds. for land buy ~ i;~<>J.~/.= this rt1cle at 
.-~ f ;•,,'i'.!:· th t uld +· ..... -t fut . . county officials have been dis- Comment on a ~-~lf~ij· a . co pr~litX ·. ~~ nnss~~Il:S 1 • cussl~g the idea ~th afft!(:ted www.g19atfaRstr1bune.com 
ll!~J._Mi: . · ! , "' _,__ · ·· developers and landowners. . . . . 
~ '~ftir, BJ .kARL PUCKETT bonds to tlnance the ~ of The purpoae of securing the ·said the il?t'estment by the coun-
'.~~•if( Trliune Stan Writer val~ land near.a ~m land would be to keep it free of ty, if approved by voters, might 

country is a probleJ1l, and It llmlts 
the use of facilities,• she said. 

The idea of buying the land 
split residents who testlfled on 
the ldea in April Some said the 
JUnWlf was~ tax.gaw
adng ~ in themea. 

Commlsaioner Joe Brlgp said 
he's expecting the bond lssue to 
be •somewhere over S6 million• 
but' an exact number was not ~. ; ,>,:· . Air Force Base run,vay that's ho°:~ development, thereby not pay off in the short term but 

~~:.;~:: · ~ ~n'-~?'tssion- bq eyed for bouaiqg d,~op- imp ovtng the chances of the "in the_ long term it would be a 
~:~i,~f:·•.)j ers ~ pli!ltnnlng to give residents ment .. ! bae wfnning a future 11.Ybwmls- sb'On2 in,iwitm,i,nt n --=====--·-··--~---------= 
•?,l:'.;';r tht!'chance to _Yote ~<!~· 4 on "At thm nnlnt ..... ..i~ ___ _. • • • • • · , .... •· · ... _.,r, wllatl-.~ - ..__ _ - · · .. 

----i t""\..1,- •• ..... -..a ..... .,..ea..---- - --

, 

I 

I 
I 

I 
• I 
I 

I 

\ 

I 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 135 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

COUNTY OFFICES CONTINUED 
FOR GREAT FALLS TRANSIT DISTRICT 

SUPERVISOR 
VOTE FOR TWO (2) 

CONSTITl,JTIONAL AMEND
MENTS, f¢FERENDUMS & 
INITIATIVES CONTINUED 

F 
,.i 

BALLOT ISSUES 

C) MARION S. SMITH 

CASCAm: COUnY GENERAL CBBTION 

BECAUSE. 1l£ 8CH>S waA.D BE PAY 
FROM PRCJIERI T TAXES lEVED Ct.I AU t 

LEGISlATIVE REFERBOM NO. 118 Alllf PR<ftR1 y N CASCADE COONTY, BY VOT 
ING "801«$YES" YOO ARE YC7IH3 ~ 

ANACTREFERREDBY1HELEGISLA1\JRE PROPERTY TAX INCREASE TO PAY PRINCP 

C::, CARL J. DONOVAN 
OF ANO INTEREST Ct.I 1l£ 8(Jl)S SO LONG 

AN ACT SUIMTTWG A 6-MU. LEVY FOR StJJ. Tl£Y ARE OOTSTANDING. Tt£ COONTY 
PORT OF THE MC»fTANA -uNIVERSITY SYSTEM IMTES lHAT THE ANNUAl 1tCREASE N PROP 

C::, SALLY L MACMIU.AN TO THE B.ECTOOATE; AND PRCMJl«3 EfFEC- ERTY TAXES lHAT WOOU> RESULT FROM 
TIVE DATES AND A TERMIIATION MTE. IS8lWICe DURN3 THE ~YEAR TERM 0: 

80l>S, WU BE APPROXIIMTB.Y $382,220 
THE m, l.EGISLA~ SUIUTTED 1HIS PRO- TI£ NNJAL TAX INCREASE ON A HOUSE VAL 
POSA1. FOR A VOTE. THIS PROPOSAL ASKS lS) AT $flJDIAJO WOOlD BE $9.11, AND 
MONTANA VOTER_S TO CONffiUE THE 6-MU. A1M1AL TAX INCREASE Ct.I A HOOSE VAUS> A 
LEVY TO SUPPOOT TIE lNVERSITY SYSTEM. $2llOJIIIII WOW> BE $18.23. TIIS IS Nf 
WITHOUT VOTER. APPROVAL, lHE CURRENT 6- IMTE CXY AND WAS BASED ON IMAICET 
YU. LEVY TO Slff.a{f'THE utlYERSfTY SYS- DITl(H; AT 1lE TltE THIS El.ECTICW WAS 

CONSTITUTIONAL AMEND- mt WUEXPIRE N JAHJNff 2009. F PASSED, n«:RZED. THE INTEREST RA.lES BCIN: 

MENTS, REFERENDUMS & ~~:~.:,.~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ar,.n:i1stnt 

INITIATIVES 2019. -.: j! RATES IMY IE HIGHER OR LOWER 1IWf 
ESTIMlED INTEREST RATE AND 1U:8Ull 

·1NSTRUCTIONSTOVOTERS ACCORDING ro:C.m REVEN.IE ESTIMTES, ESTIMTEDAtftlALDEBTSERVICECOST. 
BLACKEN THE OVAL ~ 0 PP OS IT E THE PROJECTBJ .NNJAL REVEtlJE FROM THE 
THE WORD "FOR" IF YOU WISH TO VOTE 6-MllL LEVY IS "$12,505.000 FOR 2IJ11 00 IS SHAU. 11£ BOARD OF COl.MY C(ljltlSl:~ 

IN FAVOR OF THE FOLLOWING AMEND- ~~~~~=e:.~= ==:== MENTOR ISSUE OR Bl.ACKEN THE unvn ,n .. 

OVAL_. OPPOSITE THE WORD TAXYEAR21>18• . GATION 8(Jl)S OF 1t£ COUNTY N 

"AGAINSr IF YOU WISH TO VOTE C> ~ 'woslNGA LEVY OF 6 ::::rr ~ .r:.,--= .:::'oo :::: 
AGAINSTTHEAMENDMENTORISSUE. MIU$FOR1lESUPParrOFTHE ($3,2115.m>) BEAR1«3 MEREST AT A RATE T 

MONTANA lNVERSITY SYSTEM. BE DETERMNEO BY 1lE BOAAO OF 
C~AMENDtJENTN0.44 _;. -~= <XMtSS1C1ERS, PAYAll.E SBWIIJALLY 

, DlMIN8 A PERIOD OF NOT IDE lHAN 
AN AMENOt.ENT TO THE CONSTITUTION PRO- c::> A~ST M>OSING A LEVY OF$ ~ . AND REIHMA8tE CW NIY 

POSED BY Tl£ LEGISLATURE • ., , .,_ FOR THE SUPPaU 0: THE PAYMENT DATE AFTER OtE-MALF TI£ 
~ FOR TI£ PlJUl06E 0: MXURlt8 REAL PROP 

AN ACT SIJMTTN3 TO THE 0UALFED B.EC- ltDir~ lNVERSITY SYSTEM. am RDfTS IN ORDER TO l.llT DEVla,OP 
TORS OF MONTANA AN AMENDMENT TO ARJ1. ====:;=========I MENT NCOIFATB.E WITH THE ACCIJl;t(T 
CLE VDI, ~ 13. OF THE MONTANA CON- TENTW. ZONE SOOTH OF Tl£ RUNWAY A 
ST1TUT10N TO AU.CNt UP TO 25 PERCENT OF . ~TIVE NO. 155 t.W.MSlR(II AR F<RCE BASE, AND PA 
CERTAIN PU8UC FUNDS TO BE INVESTED IN COSTS ASSOCIATB> WITH THE SALE AND 
PRIVATE CORPORATE CAPITAL STOCK; AND ALAWPR<POSEDBYINITIATIVEPEllTION ANCEOFTHEBONDS? 
PROVIDING AN IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVE DATE. • ,. ·- ·• -

1-155 EST~, THE t£ALTHY MONTANA 
TI£ 2007 LEGISlA'TmE SUBt,llTEO THIS KIDS Pt.AN TO EXPAND ANO COCR>INATE 
PROPOSAi.. FOR A YOTE. THIS t.EASlJRE HEALTH CXM:RA(>E FOR tMINSlR:D CHL-
WOlA.D AMEND THE MONTANA CONSTIM10N OREN lNJER llE'AADffEN'S t£ALTH INSm-
TO AUCNt UP TO 25 PERCENT OF ALL STATE ANCE ~ (CHI'), THE M0NTANA MEDl-
lRUST FUND MSETS TO· BE INVESTED IN CA.ID PROGRAM; ~ EJ.fll.OYER.SPOSORED 
PRI\IATE CORPORATE CAPITAL STOCK. ell\· HEALTH ~ THE 'ST~TE HEALTH DE-
RENTl Y, THE COOS11TUTION ALLOWS CH.Y PARTMENT "'v:·-RAJSE 1NCCME B..IGIBIUTY 
RETIREt.1:NT FUN>S ANO WORKERS' COM-- LEVaS FOR CHll.DREN lNER ail' AND MEDI-
PENSAOON IN$JW«:E FUNDS TO BE ~ CA1D; SMU'ClRANSfTlCWS BETWEEN CHP 
VESTED IN PRIVATE CORPORATE CAPITAL AN) MEDICAi) - COYERAGE; PROVllE ASSIS-
STOCK TANCE FOR ~:.qiR.DREN II EMPLOYER-

SPONSORED· ~ AND WORK WITH 
IN THE SHORT TERM. IT IS EXPECTED THAT HEALTH CARE PROVIJERS. SCffOCl.S. QRGANI. 

INC(),E Wl.l BE REDOCEO WHlE TRUST 1.ATKWS. ANJ AGENCIES TO ENCOURAGE 
MONES ARE TRANSFERRED FRCM 80N)S TO ~WJENT ·1>f?., UNINSURED CHllDREN. 
STOCKS. IN Tl£ LOOG TERM. IF HISTORICAi.. FUNDING FOR ~15$ WU eot.E FRO! A SHARE 
INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE CONTINUES, Of THE ~ -PREMIUM TAX ANO FED-
TRUST FUNO INCOtiE tMY INCREASE BE· ERAL tMTCHING_, A,N)S-__ 
CAUSE AGGREGATE STOCK VAUJES ARE 

~D TO .APPRECIATE. WHl£ BONO 1-155 COSTS~ ~TED $22 a.tL1.lCt4 OF 
VALUES 00 NOT. STATE FUNlS;- F'AID ~ Tl£ ~ 

c::> FOR ALLOWING UP TOM OF 
All PUBLIC FUNDS PRESENTLY 
RESTRICTED TO FIXED INCot.E 
INVESTMENTS TO BE INVESTED 
IN PftlVATE OOU'ORATE CAPITAL 
STOCK. 

.-.! 

wmt A SHARf<F.cmRENT R8'EMJES FROM 
THE INSURANCE P.REMIUM TAX. ACTUAL EX
PENDITURES Wl:l DEPEND Ct.I OTHER FAC. 
TORS, INCUJO~'.Tt£ .AMCXJNT OF FFpERAL 
"'TCHING ~AND ~<lilENT. --

C> ~ ,' EXPANDlfG CHIP Nm 
MEEICAll EUGl3UlY FM,..,_ 

... 
ENO OF BALLOT • 

+ 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

i.S -• • • • 
ii 

• • • • -• 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 136 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

" 
Abigail J. St. Lawrence 

Attorney at Law 

To: City of Great Falls, Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission 
From: KYSO Corporation and C&W Development 
Date: March 27, 2018 
Re: Wheat Ridge Estates-Phase 1 

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide a response to the Planning Advisory 
Board/Zoning Commission (hereinafter referred to as "Board/Commission") Agenda Report 
prepared by Deputy Planning and Community Development Director Tom Micuda and to also 
provide additional information to the Board/Commission for use in making the determination 
on KYSO Corporation's and C&W Development (hereinafter referred to as "KYSO" and "C&W," 
respectively and "developer") request for annexation of a 20.98-acre parcel located directly 
south of the East Great Falls Retail Center and legally described in draft Certificate of Survey, 
assignment of Planned Unit Development zoning upon annexation, and Preliminary Plat for a 
Major Subdivision for a project known as Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I (hereinafter referred to 
as "Wheat Ridge" or "Subject Property"). The developer respectfully presents the following 
information for the Board/Commission's consideration and requests that the 
Board/Commission reject staff recommendations. Further, the developer respectfully requests 
that the Board recommend that the City Commission adopt a resolution to annex the Subject 
Property based on revised Findings of Fact, that the Commission recommend the City 
Commission adopt the assignment of a zoning designation of Planned Unit Development upon 
the Subject Property based on revised Findings of Fact, and that the Board recommend the City 
Commission adopt the Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge based on revised Findings of Fact. 

Response to Staff Report 
The staff report presented to the Board/Commission focuses on three primary areas of 

identified concern as the basis for the staff recommendation to deny annexation, the PUD 
zoning request, and Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge: public safety service, stormwater 
management, and impacts associated with Malmstrom Air Force Base (hereinafter referred to 
as "MAFB"). Staff also identifies other issues and review comments that need to be addressed 
should the Board/Commission recommend in favor of the developer's proposal. All three 
primary areas of concern as well as the additional issues and review comments are addressed 
below. 

Public Safety Service 
The public safety services analysis provided by staff is flawed in four fundamental ways. First, 
while staff emphasizes the industry standard of a four-minute response time, the fact is that 
according to the map of average response time within current Great Falls city limit based on 
data from 2014-2016, no ground adjacent to Wheat Ridge that is presently within city limits has 
a response time even close to four minutes. The staff report claims that response time to the 
adjoining Walmart property is six to seven minutes, but the accompanying map demonstrates 

P.O. Box 2019 
Helena, MT 59624 

abigail.stlawrence@gmail.com 
406-431-9032 (cell) 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 137 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

' 

\ 
J 

that this is not accurate. The fact is that Wheat Ridge is being held to a response time 
expectation that even adjacent land currently within city limits does not meet. 
Second, the staff report is inaccurate in its description both of what the developer was and 
remains willing to provide for fire access roads. The staff report states that the developer has 
not formally incorporated emergency access into the proposed Phase I plan and committed to 
construction. The developer is in the process of obtaining a permit from the Montana 
Department of Transportation ("MDT") for emergency access from Highway 89, which staff 
acknowledges and has been aware of since June 2017. Communication within the last month 
from Jon Burnett with MDT Planning has required that the emergency access be gated to 
ensure the public will not use the approach. An email from Mr. Burnett as of the morning of 
March 27th requires the access to also be seeded to prevent use by non-emergency vehicles. It 
is solely because the permit has not been finalized that such access is not yet formally 
incorporated into the proposed Phase I plan. However, the access is reflected on the northeast 
corner of the Phase I plan and is merely awaiting final approval from MDT. Upon approval, 
access will be constructed with crash gates so that such access is for emergency purposes only. 
The developer proposes that this access road be completed with asphalt millings or crushed 
asphalt surface, which is in compliance with D102.1 of the 2012 International Fire Code, as that 
code does not expressly require paving. However, MDT requirements may dictate further 
adjustments to the finished road surface. The access will be constructed as part of Phase I to 
MDT specifications. 

Third, the staff report states that if Wheat Ridge is approved and additional future phases of 

the master plan are considered for annexation, "due consideration should be paid to 
constructing 13th Avenue South within [the GO-foot] dedicated right of way to facilitate not only 
emergency services, but general City service delivery and overall transportation connectivity for 
the entire master plan." Staff report, p. 12 (Mar. 27, 2018). When Wal mart was constructed in 
the East Great Falls Retail Center, funds were paid into escrow for construction of 13th Avenue 
South within the dedicated right-of-way. Additionally, the developer understands and is willing 
to contribute their proportionate share of the constructions costs for the frontage of 13th 

Avenue South within Wheat Ridge. "Due consideration" has already been paid, and the City 
simply needs to utilize the funds already available and those funds the developer will pay for 
the construction of 13th Avenue South. Further, if and when additional future phases of the 
master plan are considered for annexation, should the need arise for further development of 
13th Avenue South, that factor can be addressed at that time. The entire point of phased 
development is to allow for infrastructure and development to take place over time rather than 
all being required up-front. The staff report raising the issue of 13th Avenue South construction 
that may be necessary with future phases is unwarranted at this time. 

Finally, the entire premise of the staff report analysis on the impact of Wheat Ridge on public 
safety services fails to take into consideration both what the developer has already offered in 
terms of additional public safety considerations as well as additional resources that will be 
available to the City. In its June 2017 communication with planning staff, the developer 

2 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 138 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

~ 
I 
' 

,\ 

indicated that under Mont. Code Ann. Title 7, Chp. 6, Part 16, the City is authorized to levy 
impact fees to fund additional services capacity required as a result of development, including 
public safety services, provided that the City follow statutorily proscribed procedure. The 
developer pointed out the fact that even if current public safety services capacity is insufficient, 
the City has the ability to levy fees to remedy that insufficiency. Indeed, the entire point of 
impact fees is to provide for additional service capacity as required by new development. In 
the summer of 2017, the developer even went so far as to offer up land for an additional fire 
station within Wheat Ridge to address public safety service capacity. Further, staff analysis 
wholly fails to take into account resources that will be made available to the City because of the 
added tax base, resulting in a severely skewed view of the post-development capacity to 
address public safety services. In the simplest terms, staff analysis only takes into consideration 
additional demands on public safety services as a result of Wheat Ridge, but does not account 
for added resources that will be at the City's disposal as a result of the development. 

Stormwater Management 
The preliminary stormwater drainage submission and preliminary SSA model verify release 
rates from the proposed pond design, which is designed to handle the first nine phases of 
Wheat Ridge, are well within allowable limits. In fact, the developer has taken on the financial 
burden of exceeding City standards in an effort to mitigate offsite issues for the City. The 
proposed design exceeds development requirements for rate of flow. The model detains the 
100-year storm while releasing pre-development five-year flow rates, which exceeds current 
City design standards and ensures that downstream impacts are eliminated. Consequently, the 
staff report concerns regarding impacts on the "sensitive downstream system" are 
unwarranted. 

Even if the staff report analysis regarding impacts on the downstream system were accurate, 
the approaches the staff report recommends-retention of Phase I stormwater in a lined pond 
or pumping it into the next drainage to the north-both present additional considerations for 
the City in terms of water rights. Retaining stormwater on site or essentially facilitating an inter
basin transfer could require water rights permitting. As the beneficial use of water is actually 
for the City, it is arguable that the City, not the developer, would need to obtain this permit. 

Impacts Associated with MAFB 
The staff report extensively cites to the Joint Land Use Study (hereinafter referred to as "JLUS" ), 
particularly relying on that portion of the JLUS which identifies medium to high density 
residential development as incompatible with a future flying mission for MAFB. Although the 
staff report acknowledges that the JLUS has not resulted in revisions to the City's Land 
Development Code or zoning maps, the report still presents the JLUS as a document that should 
be considered in the Board/Commission making its determination on Wheat Ridge. This is 
absolutely inappropriate given the terms on which the City accepted the JLUS. 

3 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 139 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

I 
r 
I 

I 

I 

In the discussion of the resolution to accept the JLUS, the May 1, 2012 journal of commission 
proceedings reported as follows: 

Acceptance of the Final Report does not equate to regulation and does not impact private 
property rights of any landowners. It is expected that, if Resolution 9965 is adopted, next 
steps would be for Cascade County to establish a Coordinating Committee, including a 

representative from the City of Great Falls, to formalize cooperation between MAFB and local 
governments. At that time, discussions may be held to consider the range of possible 

implementation strategies. Should those strategies include any land use regulations, the 
respective jurisdictions would hold public hearings to consider those specific proposals. 

Journal of Commission Proceedings, 2012.63. Further, the JLUS itself notes that "the final document 
is not an adopted plan." JLUS. 1.5, page 1-11; see also, Journal of Commission Proceedings, 2012.65. 
To date, no public hearings have been held to adopt specific land use regulations resulting from the 
JLUS. Despite that fact, the staff report utilizes the JLUS as if it does set out specific regulations with 

which Wheat Ridge must comply in order to accommodate unknown future missions at MAFB. 
Given that any future missions are an unknown factor, it is impossible for Wheat Ridge to 

accommodate an unidentified potential future use. Absent specific land use regulations resulting 
from the JLUS, which are not in place, there is no basis on which to use the JLUS as a rationale for 
denying annexation, PUD approval, or preliminary plat. 

Further, as cited above, in approving Resolution 9965 adopting the JLUS, the City Commission 
expressly stated that acceptance of the JLUS "does not impact private property rights of any 

landowners." Staff report reliance on the JLUS to recommend denial to the Board/Commission is in 

direct contravention to that statement. Specifically, the staff report recommends that the JLUS 
"should be considered in evaluation of [KYSO's] annexation request." Staff report at 30. The 

Board/Commission should reject staffs use of the JLUS in contravention of the express limiting terms 
of the City's acceptance of the JLUS. 

The staff report also cites to a recent proposal to establish an assault landing strip for operation 
of C-130 aircraft and the impacts associated with such operation as incompatible with Wheat 
Ridge. This statement is in direct contravention to the April 2017 draft EA prepared for the 

assault landing strip. That document includes a finding of no significant impact (" FONSI" ), 
which states in regard to land use that the proposed construction and operation of an assault 

landing zone for C-130 aircraft will have no impact on zoning in the surrounding area. See, 
FONSl-2. Further, the draft EA concluded that as to temporary construction noise, 

Although the proposed construction would generate short-term noise, the residences 
nearest the Proposed Action area are approximately 2,800 feet to the northwest . Given 
the type of construction activities (sporadic during daytime hours, short-term, etc.) and 
the distance from the proposed construction to the closest residence (2,800 feet), no 
significant impacts to residences would occur. 

Draft EA p. 72. In analyzing operational noise, the draft EA concluded that impacts above the 
current 65 day-night sound level ("DNL" ) would not extend beyond Malmstrom's boundaries. 

Specifically, " approximately 43 acres would be impacted above the 65 DNL as a result ofthe 

4 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 140 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

I . 
,l 

I 

! 

ALZ [assault landing zone] operations with the exposure confined to the approach end of the 
airfield in a 180-degree, 600-foot radial contour line that does not extend beyond the 
boundaries of the airfield or Malmstrom AFB (Montana ANG, 2013)." Draft EA at 72. Finally, 
the draft EA concluded "the 65 dB contour is not expected to extend outside the Malmstrom 
AFB fenceline; noise is not expected to exceed ambient levels in the surrounding area." Id. 

The staff report makes much of the fact that the developer has not identified noise mitigation 
techniques and recommends that the Board consider such mitigation as a condition of 
approval. Based on the above statements from the draft EA, it is quite clear that off-base noise 
impacts were not addressed because of the conclusion that the noise impacts did not extend 
beyond the MAFB fenceline. Given that conclusion, it would logically follow that there are no 
noise impacts to Wheat Ridge and, consequently no noise mitigation measures needed. The 
developer has repeatedly requested guidance on exactly what it should be mitigating for, given 
the conclusions of the draft EA that there are no off-base noise impacts. No such guidance has 
been forthcoming. Assuming the FONSI is correct, for the City to now use the proposed assault 
landing zone operation as rationale for essentially rejecting the PUD is not only contrary to the 
FONSI, but also contrary to prior City declarations and resolutions regarding the JLUS. 

Other Issues and Review Comments 
1. Annexation improvement agreement 

The developer concurs with staff comments regarding an annexation improvement agreement, 
which the developer has previously requested. 

2. Street naming 
The developer consents to identifying the proposed street extension as "57th Street South" 
rather than "Wheat Ridge Parkway." 

3. Median for proposed 57th Street extension 
That City Parks and Recreation does not have staff capacity to maintain medians has already 
been accounted for in that the developer plans already require the Wheat Ridge homeowners' 
association to provide for median maintenance. The staff report also comments that the 
proposed drainage swales "are not desirable for street subgrade and road section integrity." 
However, biomembrane filtration swales are required for MS4 stormwater quality. Road 
section integrity will be designed and constructed to geotechnical requirements to maximize 
serviceability and durability. 

4. Transportation connectivity 
The staff report notes that if and when the entire master plan is developed, additional streets 
should be stubbed to perimeter property lines. As with staff report comments on construction 
of 13th Avenue South in future phases, this is a consideration that can be addressed during 
additional phase development. The staff report comment regarding making the emergency 
access drive a full access drive for increased resident connectivity is in excess of requirements. 

5 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 141 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

., • 1'I .. 

.! 

Additionally, MDT has recently installed a control device for safety purposes. Finally, the staff 
report comment that the local street for the 19 lots east of 57th Street South should be 
connected to the alley running north of the proposed residential units is already accounted for 

in the master plan. Specifically, it is reflected in Phase 2, but the developer will construct it in 
Phase I. 

5. Utilities 

The staff report notes the need for continuing conversation between the developer and Public 

Works on the details of the proposed lift station and sewer force main construction. The 
developer remains willing to participate in said discussions. Additionally, the developer has 
relocated the proposed water line extension on 57th Street South outside of the proposed 
median as requested in the staff report. (see exhibit presented to Planning Board). 

Fiscal Impact 

The staff report statement on fiscal impact takes completely out of context the developer's 
statements on property tax benefits. The statements made by the developer's representative 
at the February 19 Neighborhood Council meeting were expressly couched in the disclaimer 
that they were a casual estimate only and that the $1 million fiscal impact over time was a bare 
minimum only. For the staff report to insinuate that property tax benefits will be insufficient 
to meet added public service demands based on this preliminary and casual statement is 
inaccurate and unwarranted. 

6 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 142 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

CASCADE COUNTY 

Board of Cowtty Commissioners 
32S 2nd Avenue North 
GreatFalls, Mf S9401 

Tel. 406.4S4.6810 
Fax 406.454.6945 

commission@cascadecowitymt.gov 
www.cascadecountymt.gov 

Testimony before the City of Great Falls Planning Advisory Board, Zoning Commission 

03/27/2017 in the matter of the Annexation of a 20.98 acre parcel - Wheat Ridge Estates 

Presented by Joe Briggs, Cascade County Commission and Chairman of the Malmstrom AFB JLUS 

Members of the Board, let me begin by thanking you for your service on this body. I know from 

firsthand experience that service on a board dealing with land use and zoning can be particularly 

challenging. I am here today in my role as Chairman of the Malmstrom JLUS and as one of your three 

Cascade County Commissioners. 

The issue before you today has much broader implications than the size of the parcel would indicate 

because it represents the first of several proposed actions within the Clear Zone and Accident potential 

zones of Malmstrom AFB. 

The staff report that you have received is well researched and well written and contains much of the 

pertinent information from the JLUS regarding this proposed development. Accordingly, I will only 

highlight a couple of those points and provide a bit of background on the JLUS process. 

The Joint Land Use Study is a cooperative venture between the City of Great Falls, Cascade County, 

Chouteau County, Fergus County, Judith Basin County, Lewis and Clark County, Teton County, 

Wheatland County, Malmstrom AFB and the Department of Defense. Although the formal portion of 

the study has been completed, the document and its findings are used routinely throughout the 

Malmstrom AFB complex to help guide compatible use and development of civilian facilities. In short, 

the JLUS was crafted to allow the participating jurisdictions to make informed decisions regarding 

how their land use decisions might affect the long-term viability of the base and its mission. 

The staff report you have received correctly points out that the proposed development violates several 

of the JLUS recommendations as well creating encroachment within the Accident Potential Zones. The 

staff report also contains an excerpt from the Policies of the City of Great Falls {Eco 3.1.2) which calls for 

support and implementation of the recommendations contained in the JLUS. 

It is likely that the developer will point out that there is no current flying mission using the runway and 

for that reason the restrictions currently in place should be ignored. However, the issues with this 

proposed site's proximity to Malmstrom are far deeper than just the presence or absence of a fixed wing 

mission landing on the currently unused runway. 

There are currently C-130 missions being flown over Malmstrom by the Montana Air National Guard 

and these flights utilize the existing Accident Potential Zones to maximize public safety on their 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 143 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

approach to their designated drop zone on Malmstrom. There is a very active helicopter squadron 

routinely utilizing the unencumbered Accident Potential Zones for access to their facilities on 

Malmstrom. 

Several years ago, Cascade County began to require all new subdivisions near Malmstrom to contain 

disclosure statements regarding the noise of both existing and potential military missions. Since that 

time, light pollution has become an increasing issue for the military so in addition to the other issues 

raised by the staff report, the construction of a high-density housing development near the base also 

presents a challenge to the existing as well as future missions. 

I would also note that in addition to a desire for city services, the applicant comes to you seeking 

annexation in order to circumvent the existing County Zoning. The existing county zoning allows only 

Agricultural uses and was established in order to avoid encroachment and possible disruption of the 

mission of Malmstrom AFB. 

In conclusion let me reiterate that I believe the City's planning staff has provided you with a very good 

report outlining the logistical concerns of the city annexing these parcels. I would urge you to accept the 

findings of fact contained in the report and deny the proposed annexation. 

Thank you again for your volunteer service and for your consideration of my concerns, 

4~-J rigi{?J" 

Cascade County Commission 

Chairman of the Malmstrom JLUS 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 144 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

_.~ 

F---;,;,•~~:::~;;=··,.s..~-·-:::C,,··7: c·~~~:,_,--:--, _----\ -... -.. --------:-:----:--;'~.::::~.;::!,,f:--:c::··:c:~!!<'~, ·0,.-;';;, •=?:~·c";;°;_,~-e .... ;;!:'~. "i"F_·• • ....,_:i.l:.:YJ,y-----::-------c:.7., .--::---::-·f••;;~::-:. :-:. -::". 7?:~c~1;:}:'y':'~'~;--:· -.c..:::-. ------:-:----:~=-----------::7:~---s:.;;.~•.,,,~~-ci;'f¥.;:.:..~-~--~_-i_. i_i,.~-~--~--~~~ii-~~~-;:;;:J':· '?'RJ:,cp'~·p;:a~J-. ·,];;;jl ~~~;;_.L~~/-!!1_ t·,·.,~ 

~ 

-~-

3490 

348!'3 

3480 

Z470 

.:3460 

3445 

.1 1'=-150' 

f'V1 st"A 12• 1!1!> ... tl 
PV1 ELEV ~"78.!W 

1K~ _ 

· KYso., 
PROPERTY_ 

• 0 60 
~ 

l"i.60' 

34:,;;-1----.,---..... ;----..... --.----,---, .... -..,. ......... "-r ......... ..,.. ........ ..,.. ........ ..,.. ......... ;-......... .,... ................ --..... ;-,-------,,---------;,--...,. ..... -..,.. .... --;-: .... --;-: ........................ ----;------'-,--....... ..:...;---"-'----;--'-'--"--r""'-''---r ...... - ............. -----;-----;,----t-:;435 
t+OO 1+50 2+00 2+50 3+00 3+50 4+00 4-+50 5-+00 6-+50 6+-00 6+50 7+-00 ?+SO S+OO 8+50 9+CO 9+-Sa 10+00 10+-SC 1 (+00 11+60 12+-00 12+50 13+00 1~+5o 14+00 14+50 15+00 15+5-J 16+00 16+50 17+-00 17-+50 l8+008+.3S 

C1 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 145 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 

·--------,,•------

.' _,,. ✓ , 

/ , 

,.,:/ 
_-0. 

3!1!C~:!Jtfiiiti-E;;;=:;==':::,'!;E-:"""=!=!!!""""""'=-'==- .:61$1,ERA~N.QTEfi,,~fi"'''"':r~Me.·~~it;!,,=~;, 

,, 
_/ 

::r::---· .: :··;·· 
1-;1·· 
-11:·_;~~--: 

'(!) 

,,.---1-·7 ~
H-~ -

/ ----'; __ i.I········ 
--1 j , 

··L:-~ -~-~1-·.[· __ ... 

,, 
.,<:••'I 

,' 
.-·T 

' 

!_cbMMiRCIAL',PR'0PERr{ . . . : . . : . . . 

. ·• 
'\' .. 

-/.-" .. _.,.._ 

,•·.r 

-·>··<;·. 
.. _;;,·· ' -~ ,• 

/,,•· ! 

1, EXISTING UNOERGROUNO INSTAU.A110NS & PRIVATE UTILITIES ~OWN ARE INDICATED MJCOAOING TO T>!E 8EST INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO THE ENCINUR. !>iE ENGINEER DOES NOT llUARANTE( THE 
I\CCURACY OF SUC>1-INF'ORWATION, STATE U\W REQUIRES CONTRACTOR', TO CALL ALI. UTILITY .CCMPANlES BrnlRE EXCAVATION f'CIR EXACT LOCATIONS,, ·, ' 

2, ;u ONSJTE Ul\UTY l"P=ENTS S~ALL CONF'ORU TO T>!E PLUUBINQ ca>E (UPC) ANO ALL AOMIN•=TI\/E RULES OF' MONTANA AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE UPC. 

~ ""~~:-~ :~~~ ~~;~:~r.-~:~~~~~~~~,~~~!l~~r~~-~~~#~~!t.~~~1~1I-~1~t~.-SPEC,l~~~r~s;.~-~-[~1,!0.N;·~·A_PR1L _ _.~~1D,-l~~-~Ql_~91~1~*~~.;~~~---~-~~~~~-,~F·~r.R~J-}.~··. 
4, NO WORII SHALL BE CONDUCTED UNTIL THE PU\NS HAVE BEEN APPRO'l[l) BY al'\' OF GR£AT F"ALlS ANO THE CONTRACTOR HAS THE PERMITS IN HANO. 

5, UNLESS OTHE:R\\ISE SF'£OF11".D, ALL CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT ANO STAKING SHAU. BE PE'1f'OR•ED UNDER ™E RESPONS1BLE Ct1ARC( OF A LANO SUR,tvOR UCENS£0 IN '!ME $TATE OF" MONTANA ANO BY 
.A .PART'f CHIEF OR ENG!NEERING TECHNICIAN"EXPERIENCED IN CONS'JR.UCTION, LAYO,U.T AND ,STA~ING TECHNIQUES AS ARE REQUIRW BY THE SPECIFlC lYl'E.OF· WOl<K SE•NC'"PEJal"ORMEO, · 

/ 
✓, 

,··-1· 
.•' . 

, (, 

_, 
,I' .. 

.>.:' ~<~, 
. ··--... ;', 

., 

' GREENSPACE 
I a~_PFE:-RZON'E 

• -, . .!'S!l;;.fti(::. 

J, 

-~:. 
~ --

o---··go-
1::.~eo•. 

P!iASE 1 SITE PLAN OF 

\ 

Wheat 1<.i'Je Lfaf eJ 
A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT IN 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS 

SECTION 15, T20N, R-4E, PMM, 

CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

CliWDEVELOPMENT / 

KYSO CORPORATION 

\ 

SITE INFORMATION: LIGHTING NOTES: 

1, PAACf:L ACREAGE 20,97 AC 1. LOCATION OF' STREET UGHTS ALONG BOTli SlOES OF" 
PARKWAY AS st!Ol'IN ON PLAN 

:Z, .. Z~INC 

EXISTING 
PROPOSE• 

3. U\ND USE 

E'.lOSTING 

-~osrn: 

6. EASEMENTS 

SR-1 
R-2 

· ·'"• ·:~~ -~-.~"'"2:~-sPEc1F1'CAi'lct-i~•..:.
(CASCADE COUNTY) 
(COG!') • TYF'E 

• si>Acofo 

AGRICULTURAL 20.96 AC • HElGHT 

CREE XS~ SERIES 

7J' OC, BOT>< SIDES ~ MEDIAN 

25' 

,:··MIXED 'usE : : : ,·. 
RESIOCNllAL 
PUBLIC ~ow 
PRIVATE ROAD 
GREENSPACE 

-·.~~Jbi~.#t~:~t~; .. ~:·· •;;..:;~~ :;~ ... ~~·;, 7".: ..... ( :-·:~ -·~MIN. ·10: 

+.5:Z AC • INITIAL WMEN RA TING 3_. ?64-
0.5Z AC 
1-82 AC • TOTAL WA TT ~G€ 5J 

~· PUBUC UTILITY EA~ENT (PUE} 
- LOCATION FOR AU. ORY unullE'-s 
ANO GAS MAIN_$ 

u en I 
~ 

cc ; 0 
>-c.:, LU' 

z: >" 
a: CC ll :::) s w en~ w 

oi:I ! z: a en ;'l 
z: a: I w w w 
i= z: ~ 
0 a a'! 

z: i 3:: w 

~ 
~ 

I 
~ g 
• , 
! 
s 

. 
o 
[ 
i , 
~ 

~ 
! 
~ 
~ 
8 

~ 
'f';:"'~~,,;,.,:_..:.,__---,:::.;::: :-~?' 

t 
i 

; . :-~ ~-.'- t~}~~~~~·.f~t~·'./i_i'· l::· 
1----L---1 ~ 

6 ~ 
~ 
~-



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 146 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

Wheat 1<.i'Je r:Esfaf es 
Phase f 

FEBRUARY 20 1 8 

C&W DEVELOPMENT, lNC. 
1725 41 ST ST S 

GREAT FALLS, MT 59405 
406-761-1 955 

FAX 406-761 -1 546 

KYSO CORPORATION 
2901 4TH AVE N 

GREAT FALLS, MT 59401 
406-453-2 1 37 

• (J) 
0 a: 
~o 

> 
(!) w 
z> 
- a: a: ::> w (J) w .--~ 
(!) (J) 
z a: 
wW 
::c w ..,_~ 
c5 (!) 

== ffi 

1 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 147 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

V9C9N971f I ~{J90N;4t. 71<;4.NSP01<_7;4790N M11.P 

PROJECT 
S ITE 

• 
(.) en 
~ 

a: 
0 
> 

C, w 
z > 
a: a: 

:::> UJ en UJ z ~ 
c5 en 
z: a: 
UJ UJ 

UJ ::c ~ ..,_ 
0 C, 

z ;:: UJ 

3 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 148 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

1Vheat 1<ic/je 'Estates 
/ C. 

• 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 149 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

ti en a: 
35 e 
C, 
:z a: 
w w 
35 
C, 
:z 
w 
::c 
t-

~ 

w 
> a: 
:::::, 
en 
olJ 
en 
a: w 
w :z 
C, 
:z 
w 

4 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 150 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

/ 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 

------
0 
z 
:::, 
0 
a: 
~ 
a. 
::;; 
<( 
u 
~ 
,: 

GENERAL NOTES: 

COMM ERCIAL PROPERTY 

/"7 
/ ' ! 

/ i,, 

1. CXISTINC: UNOCRGROONO INSlAU.ATIONS & PRIVATE U'I\JTCS SHOWN AAC INDICATED ACCOROl/fG TO T'rlC DCST INFOA:t.lATION AV...._.l.lllE TO THC ENGINCCR. ntC CNQNECR OOCS NOT OOAAANTCE THC 
,\COJRACY OF SUCH l'ffORMATION. STATE LAW REQUIRES CONTRACTCR TO CALL AU UTILITY COMP.v«S BUORC EXCAVATlON FOR D.ACT LOCATIONS. 

2. ,\LL ONSITE UTUTY lt.FROYEMENTS SHAU COHf"ClRW TO THE Pl.UM31NC CoP£ (UPC) AHO AU AOMIMSTRATlYE RUl..[S etc MONTANA ANO MOOlnCATIONS TO THE UPC. 

.l. AU. tlitlPR0"1:MENT'S SHAU 9£ PERfORMCD IN ACCOROANCC WITN MONTANA PUBUC WORKS STA!«)ARD SPEClnCATIONS llrn £Oll!Q,I, APRIL. 2010, INCLW:,;G ALL AOOENOUMS. NfD THC QTY or ORtAT 
FALLS STAHOAROS. 

• · NO WORK SHALJ._ B£: CONOUCTEO UNfl_ TH£. F'LANS HAVE BffN APPROVO) BY CITY O" CRtAT FAUS AHO THF. CONTRACTOR HAS THE PCRMITS !H HANO 

~- ONUSS Oll-lER'MS£ SPCarco, Al.i. CO.STRUCTION LAYOJT N«J STAKING SHALL BE PERrORt.!£0 UNDER THE R£SPONSIBt.L CHAAGC OF" " 1.»10 SUR-.cYOR UCENSCO IN THE STAlE OF" IIIONTANA ANO BY 
A PARTY (::1-jl[f OR ENGINEtR.NC TECH~.t.N E)(P(RICNCED IN CONSTRUCTION LAYOVT AHO STAKINC TECHNIQJCS AS ARC REQIJIREO 8V THE sPECfFlC TW[ ~ ~+< BONG PERfCfU,IED. 

6. AU. EAA:TWNORI(, TRENCHING, CRAOINC, FlWNC, ETC., SHAU. F;E. PERrORMED IN ACCORD-'Ntt "MTH CEOTCCHN!CAL.. INVESTICATION REPORT R£COMMENClATKlNS PREPARED rc:A THIS PROJECT. 

I 
I 

I 

------

~ 
1" - 60' 

/ 

PHASE 1 SITE PLAN OF 

Wheat <R.i'Je r.J-tates 

SITE INFORMATION: 

1. PARct:L ACM'.ACC 20.i1 AC 

2.. ZONING 

O<.STING 
PROPOSED 

J . LA."ID USE 

F;X:SllHG 

""'"""" 

6. EASOIENTS 

SR- I (CASCAOC COUHN) 
R-2 {COCF') 

AGR!CuL 1\JRAI... 20.98 AC 

WIXEO USE 1.82 AC 
RE9JCNT1Al 12.50 AC 
PUBLIC ROW 4.52 AC 
PRIVA T£ ROAD 0.52 AC 
GREtNSPACC U2 AC 

5' PUBUC UTl.JTY EASU,IDH (PUE) 

~..i,oc~o:,.1~~ AU. ORY UTlJTIES 

A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT IN 

THE CITY OF GREAT F AU.5 

SECTION 15. T20N. R4E. PMM. 

CASCADE COUNTY. MONTANA 

C&.W DEVELOPMENT / 

KYSO CORPORATION 

LIGHTING NOTES: 

I. LOCATION ~ STRttl LIGHTS A.LONG DO"IH SIOCS 17 
P~WAY AS SHO'M,1 00 PLAN 

2. SPECflCATIONS 

, 1'!'( 

• SPACING 

, HOGHT 

• CA1 

~ XSP SCRl[S 

7J' OC, 80TH S.OCS Of' M[OIAN ,,. 
M"N 70 

• INITIAL LUME:t-1 RATING J.784 

• TOTAi.. WATT.A.CE 53 

• 

~ 
~ < w z 

~ 
~ z 

S> 0 ~· .. 
·- j :i: 
~ ~ ~ ...... 

~ I:! 
~ er "' 

~ " 

6 

WRE-2.pptx
WRE-2.pptx


City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 151 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

Q_ETENTION PON D 1 NOTES: 

\ "°"°' Slit.O t0 tit, .... . flOIIIS 111:c.i ,,.,.'j( 1 M(l ru!IA'. 
ltlotUCS t-'f Ot' TW: C€\ICU,llllWO.f • 11e (MJtM.L 
M'(feWOIJ$ JI Ot N..I. ~ t;Al,C,.Vt(l) 1'Q « .,...~ 
(~ OU~'IIO!il PooO CA1CUAOO!I$ tCII tlEfNI.$) 

~ S 11 ColJ.CVI.J,Ttl) 11:SIINC TH.: fCC.:..0111"~ 

PA.S1,w.1.l"'"""' , w.- 11,1POWll.G 
~ AOAO ~ ~11~~~$ 
LOl »lf.,11 .l,.)00 $f" /LO'f IMl>(ll\!(IJJ 

S A£U'..tj(R . .d£ 

w --:-OA CAMPGROUND 
11 EXPAN SION ,, 

7 ~ 

EAST I'.; R EAT FALLS 
RETAI L CENTER 

ADDITIO N 

OVERALL SITE PLAN· PHASE 1 

Wheat <R.ic(Je F.sfafes 
A. Pl.ANNE'O VNIT OltV.:-1..0PM~tfT IN 

r~errvor<,,Aill'>,Tt'~ I 19,,"-'0NYAI\IA 

~CTI0!'-1 ts. T20N."4£.PMM. 

eltSCAM.COUNTV. MONTANA 
~ wnr:vr:-•()M..41"Nr 1 

~ corJ"OAATION 

)( 

/ 
/ / 

/ / 

10.:: WOITH EHGttEERING, INC. ,. 
,,.- ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 

t...0..IOIU11ltatitl..u&ilean1r,M,"-i 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 152 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

LEGEND 

Mixed Use 

Single Family Res. 

Cluster Res. 

-

Storm 
Water 
Area 

I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

11 

CLUSTER 
RESIDENTIAL 

PHASE l 

(!) 
north 

ESTATE 
RESIDENTIAL 

• worffi ENGINEERING, IIC. 
ENG11£ERS & ~IIVEYORS 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 153 of 351                                     Attachment # 28

5' 
Walk 

{O 

10 ' 
Swale 

5' 12' 
Bike Street 
2' Shoulder 

1V/2eat 'Rjlc, e 'EstafeJ' 
r.MAT F. .WT 

22· 
Median 

100' 
Parkway Right-of-Way 

12· 5' 
Street Bike 

2' Shoulder 

'Park)u~y 'Plan ,l\: .Secfion 

10' 
Swale 

• Womt EHGIEERING, !IC. 
ENGINWIS l siJRVEYOAS 
•i'.icirii,l• lfOOi,WA 

5' 
Walk 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 154 of 351                                     Attachment # 28
{{ 'Enlry 'Monumen/ Concepl 9ma_Je'!} 



 

 

 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  
OF THE 

GREAT FALLS PLANNING ADVISORY BOARD/ZONING COMMISSION 
April 24, 2018 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

The regular meeting of the Great Falls Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission was called 
to order by Chair Pete Fontana at 3:00 p.m. in the Commission Chambers of the Civic Center.  

 
ROLL CALL & ATTENDANCE 

 

Planning Board Members present:   
   
  
 Pete Fontana, Chair 
 Michael Wedekind, Vice Chair 
 Dave Bertelsen  
 Scot Davis 
 Anthony Houtz 
 Tory Mills 
 Charles Pankratz 
 Patrick Sullivan 
 Amanda Thompson  
 
Planning Board Members absent: 
  
 None 
        
Planning Staff Members present: 
  
 Craig Raymond, Director P&CD 
 Thomas Micuda, Deputy Director P&CD 
 Erin Borland, Planner II 
 Brad Eatherly, Planner I 
 Connie Tryon, Sr. Admin Asst 
    
Other Staff present: 
  
 Sara Sexe, City Attorney 
 Steve Hester, Fire Chief 
 Dave Dobbs, City Engineer 
 Dirk Johnson, Fire Marshal 
  
Mr. Raymond affirmed a quorum of the Board was present.  
  

 
 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 155 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 2 

 

 

MINUTES 
 
Chair Pete Fontana asked if there were any comments or corrections to the minutes of the 
meeting held on March 27, 2018. Seeing none, Mr. Sullivan moved to approve the minutes. Mr. 
Davis seconded, and all being in favor, the minutes were approved.  
 

BOARD ACTIONS REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 
 

CUP Request 3125 8th Avenue North 
 

Brad Eatherly, Planner I, said the request is for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a Residence, 
Two-Family land use in what is currently zoned R-3 Single-family high density. He reviewed the 
zoning map, site photos, and proposed site plan. The existing sidewalk will be required to be 
repaired during development.  
 
Mr. Eatherly said the proposal is consistent with the City’s Growth Policy, adequate utilities will 
be provided, and the conditional use will not impede upon normal and orderly development. City 
staff does recommend approval of the CUP, and Mr. Eatherly offered to answer any questions. 
 

PETITIONER’S PRESENTATION 
 
Tom Skovron, 112 Riverview Dr. East, said the house that was on the lot was razed and they are 
ready to move forward with something new.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
There were no questions from the Board or the public. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Harold Hamon, 3115 8th Ave North, spoke in favor of the proposed project. 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Zoning Commission recommends the City Commission approve the 
Conditional Use Permit subject to the applicant fulfilling the listed Conditions of Approval. 
 
Made by: Mr. Sullivan 
Second: Mr. Davis 
 
VOTE:  All in favor, the motion carried. 

 

BOARD ACTIONS NOT REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Wheat Ridge Estates 
 

Tom Micuda, Deputy Director of P&CD, gave a brief background on the project and said the public 
hearing portion was completed at the March 27 meeting. He reviewed the order of procedure for 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 156 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 3 

 

 

removing this item from tabled status, and said staff and the applicant will both give brief remarks, 
and then answer any questions from the Board. 
 
Ms. Thompson disclosed that her mother-in-law did make public comment regarding the proposed 
project during the public hearing, but she had not discussed the project with her. She also 
disclosed that her employer owns land directly across from the proposed project. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board remove the agenda item from the table for 
discussion purposes and further action. 
 
Made by: Mr. Wedekind 
Second: Mr. Houtz 
 
VOTE:  All in favor, the motion carried. 
 
Mr. Micuda said new information was provided to the Board at the meeting on the 27th, and they 
were made available as part of this meeting’s packet. After evaluation of all the additional 
information, the staff recommendation remains the same due to the unique location challenges of 
the proposed project. Mr. Micuda reiterated specific public safety issues including emergency 
response time, the emergency access road and durability concerns of the proposed surface, as 
well as the nearest public street access being over ½ mile away.  
 
Pending litigation in the amount of $2 million for alleged flooding damage to properties directly 
southwest of the proposed project is also a concern for City staff. The applicant is proposing 
stormwater detention at a rate above and beyond what is required; however, this controls rate, 
not volume of water being released.  
 
The third major concern for staff is the location of the project being adjacent to Malmstrom Air 
Force Base. The Accident Potential Zone that was identified by the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS), 
the impact on current and future flying missions, as well as light and noise impacts from any 
residential or commercial development are additional reasons why staff feels the project should 
not move forward at this time due to potential impacts to the Air Base. 
 

PETITIONER COMMENTS 
 
Abigail St. Lawrence, representing KYSO Corporation, said in regards to emergency response 
time, staff is holding the proposed development to a standard that current development is not 
being held to. She also reviewed a geotechnical report evaluating the capacity of the proposed 
emergency access road surface that stated it is capable of holding 75,000 pounds. Ms. St. 
Lawrence discussed impact fees and the ability of the City to levy those fees to address public 
safety issues. 

 

Ms. St. Lawrence stated that while she can appreciate the City’s concern for litigation, the bottom 
line with the stormwater management issue is that the City is holding the developer liable for a 
liability that has not yet occurred. She discussed water rights in regards to staff’s insistence on 
retention versus detention, and explained the developer cannot apply for a water right for a 
retention pond. 

 

Ms. St. Lawrence discussed the issues with Malmstrom Air Force Base, and disputed staff’s 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 157 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 4 

 

 

position on the effect of development on current and future missions. She also touched on the 
edge development concern noted in the staff report and stated that in the approval of the east 
Walmart, the City anticipated growth in the direction of Wheat Ridge. 

 

BOARD QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 

Mr. Sullivan asked for clarification on whether this is truly the only direction the City can, and will, 
grow. Mr. Micuda said no. 
 
Mr. Fontana inquired about funding for the 13th Ave South connector and said Ms. St. Lawrence 
testified that there was money in escrow but the City refuted that. He asked if Walmart had paid 
upfront and was anticipating reimbursement by subsequent developers. Ms. St. Lawrence said 
they were mistaken about money being in escrow, but they are willing to pay their proportionate 
share. Mr. Fontana asked staff if Walmart paid up front. Mr. Micuda said the Improvement 
Agreement pertains to reimbursement of water lines, and there is no mention of street 
reimbursement. There was discussion on the dedicated right-of-way and the City’s ability to fully 
connect the street.  
 
Mr. Pankratz asked for clarification from Ms. St. Lawrence on what a particular handout that was 
just provided to Board members was supposed to show. She stated the southeast Great Falls 
Wastewater Master Plan before them was part of the approval of east Walmart, which proves the 
City’s anticipation of further development in the direction of Wheat Ridge Estates. Mr. Pankratz 
asked staff if that was accurate. Mr. Dobbs, City Engineer, said a water main was upsized with 
the knowledge that there could be further potential development. He also stated this was before 
the litigation began in that area. 
 
Mr. Pankratz inquired about anticipated groundwater flows in a residential development. Ms. St. 
Lawrence explained the effects of a change in agricultural use to a residential use. Spencer Woith, 
Woith Engineering, explained further about time of concentration and delays in stormwater. 
 
Mr. Dobbs elaborated on the groundwater issues and said the applicant has not satisfactorily 
addressed the stormwater problems. 
 
Mr. Fontana pointed out that the JLUS does not discuss low density residential development, and 
asked if the opinion was that residential development was okay, as long as it was not medium or 
high density. Mr. Micuda explained the concern is creating resident populations, but there is no 
definition in the JLUS on what density is acceptable. 
 
Mr. Mills asked if there was an air tower control currently on Malmstrom, and whether flying 
missions could be done without one, and the answer was No to both.  
 
Mr. Pankratz inquired further about existing water rights, and said he felt as though it would benefit 
the litigating property to retain the stormwater from Wheat Ridge. Ms. St. Lawrence said the 
concern with the retention proposal of City staff is that the water never reaches them because it 
evaporates, thus infringing upon water rights. 
 
Mr. Fontana referred to comments submitted at the public hearing on March 27 by County 
Commissioner Briggs, that said the applicant is attempting to circumvent County zoning 
regulations, and asked Ms. St. Lawrence if this application had ever been in front of or denied by 
the County. She said No.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 158 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 5 

 

 

 
Mr. Sullivan asked there were crops on this parcel currently being agriculturally watered. Mr. 
Woith said there are no water rights associated with the property for specific irrigation of crops, 
other than natural rainfall. Mr. Sullivan also asked Mr. Woith to confirm this will not be a gated 
community, and Mr. Woith said no. 
 
Mr. Fontana asked if citizens would be able to exit on the emergency access road if need be. 
Chief Hester said Yes, but because it exits onto a highway, MDT and the Highway Patrol would 
also be involved in that determination. 
 
Mr. Houtz asked that Mr. Micuda review staff Findings of Fact regarding the annexation. Mr. 
Micuda reviewed the Findings of Fact as listed in the staff report, and expanded upon the 
reasoning for the recommendation for denial on each one.  
 
Mr. Houtz asked Mr. Dobbs if the applicant was able to deal with the rate and the flow of the 
stormwater plan, would the City be more on board with the proposal. Mr. Dobbs said the proposed 
plan has the rate reduced, however, more gallons of water will flow downhill into the area of 
current litigation. Mr. Micuda said a City staff recommendation was provided for a stormwater plan 
of total retention, but the applicant had concerns with water rights.  
 
There was discussion on staff’s reasoning behind a negative recommendation, and Mr. Fontana 
said he felt the majority of the arguments were weak. 
 
There was more discussion on stormwater challenges and the feasibility to detain the water and 
pump it elsewhere. 
 
Mr. Wedekind asked Mr. Woith why they did not want to adhere to the City’s recommendations 
on the stormwater plan. Mr. Woith said expense, as well it being a water rights issue. Mr. 
Wedekind asked if once the property is annexed, does the City then take on the responsibility of 
any legal issue that may arise, and Mr. Woith said potentially Yes. 
 
Mr. Mills asked if there would be an analysis done after each phase of development on water 
rights affecting downstream. Mr. Woith said before every phase the same storm drain analysis is 
done.  
 
Mr. Wedekind asked staff if the property is annexed, who owns any liability moving forward. Ms. 
Sexe said the City could be sued in the future by the downstream water users. 
 
Mr. Sullivan asked Chief Hester if annexing this property would affect the City’s ISO rating, and 
Chief Hester said No, mileage  5 miles away or greater affects the rating. 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission deny a 
resolution to annex the Subject Property, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact. 
 
Made by: Mr. Bertelsen 
Second: Mr. Sullivan 
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 159 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 6 

 

 

Loren Smith, 1500 51st Street South, noted that he has owned the KOA Campground adjacent to 
the project for many years.  He expressed his support of the project and encouraged the Board 
to allow development of the proposed project. 
 
Katie Hanning, 327 2nd Street South, said not every vacant piece of land can be built on. She 
expressed her support of the project, and her disappointment of fear of litigation being what she 
felt was the driving force behind the City’s negative recommendation. 
 
Lauren Smith, 51st Street South, explained the east Walmart development was developed with 
anticipation of future development in the surrounding areas.  
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, expressed her support of the project and disagreement 
with the staff recommendation that the project cannot develop due to Malmstrom Air Force Base. 
She stated her view that the development process in Great Falls is viewed negatively, and asked 
that the Board help shift that view and approve the project. 
 
Mr. Bertelsen said the Planning Advisory Board has recommended approval of many projects 
involving surrounding developments, and does not believe that is viewed as negative by the 
community. Mr. Bertelsen likes the proposed project, but does not like the location and believes 
the proximity to the base and the Accident Potential Zone is a huge concern. This will send the 
wrong message to the Department of Defense. 
 
Mr. Sullivan noted that the 2018 Department of Defense budget includes over 400 billion dollars 
in base infrastructure in the United States, and at this time it is unknown how much of those funds 
will be dedicated to Malmstrom Air Force Base. 
 
Mr. Wedekind said he does feel the community expresses difficulty in developing within the City, 
but he agrees with Mr. Bertelsen in that the Board approves the majority of the projects presented 
to them. He also expressed his desire to protect the future of the base.  
 
Mr. Davis said this is a very contentious issue, and said it should be considered that if there is no 
current mission on the base, there is no Accident Potential Zone. He also expressed his opinion 
that this is an opportunity that needs to be seriously considered.  
 
Mr. Houtz added that he likes the development, but his concerns are the unknowns surrounding 
the way forward.  
 
Ms. Thompson expressed her support of the project and views it as a way of positive growth. 
 
Mr. Pankratz said there is a lot of room to find solutions to stormwater issues in regards to the 
entire 227 acre project. He said he does not believe development should be stopped in that area 
simply for the hope of a future possibility of a flying mission on the base, but expressed his 
appreciation for the military.  
 
Mr. Mills said he agreed with Mr. Davis and Mr. Pankratz, and felt the first Phase is small enough 
to start and see where things develop from there.  
 
Mr. Fontana stated he felt the staff reasons for recommendation for denial are a bit weak, and the 
developer should not be held hostage due to pending City litigation. He also said the JLUS is an 
advisory, aged document, and should not be used as guidance. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 160 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 7 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz asked if the motion were to be changed to approve the annexation, would it include 
approval of the stormwater plan or secondary access point. Mr. Raymond said that would be more 
appropriate to address in the motion for Plat recommendation.  
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in favor of the motion. The 
remaining Board members voted in opposition. The motion failed 3-6. 
 
There was procedural discussion, and Ms. Sexe suggested a recess in order to amend the 
Findings of Fact to reflect the Board’s anticipated new motion to approve the project.  
 
The Board took a 25 minute recess for staff and Mr. Davis to develop amended Findings of Fact. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission adopt a 
resolution to annex the Subject Property, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact as 
determined by the Board (see attached amended Findings of Fact- Annexation). Mr. Davis read 
these findings into the record. 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Ms. Thompson 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings of Fact. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of the motion. 
The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 6-3. 
 
MOTION: That the Zoning Commission recommend the City Commission adopt the 
assignment of a zoning designation of Planned Unit Development upon the Subject Property, 
based on the accompanying Findings of Fact (see attached amended Basis of Decision-PUD). 
Mr. Davis read these findings into the record. 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Ms. Thompson 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of the motion. 
The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 6-3. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission adopt the 
Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact 
(see attached amended Finding of Fact- Montana Subdivision and Platting Act). Mr. Davis read 
these findings into the record 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Mr. Mills 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings. 
 
Mr. Sullivan explained his reasons for siding with City staff in voting against the motions. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 161 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 8 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz stated he would like to see more work done with stormwater and emergency access. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Houtz, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of 
the motion. The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 5-4. 

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Next Meeting Agenda – Tuesday, May 8, 2018  

 PUD Amendment for Jewel Addition 
 

Petitions & Applications Received: 

 None 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Dan Huestis, 2901 4th Avenue North, thanked the Board for their deliberate and thoughtful 
considerations.  

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business, Chair Pete Fontana adjourned the meeting at 6:03 p.m.  
 
 
                                                                     
CHAIRMAN SECRETARY 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 162 of 351                                     Attachment # 29



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 163 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

0 Abigail J. St. Lawrence 
Attorney at Law 

To: 
From: 

Date: 

Re: 

City of Great Falls, Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission 
KYSO Corporation and C&W Development 

April 24, 2018 
Wheat Ridge Estates-Phase 1 

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide additional response to the Planning Advisory 
Board/Zoning Commission (hereinafter referred to as "Board/Commission'') supplemental 
Agenda Report prepared by Deputy Planning and Community Development Director Tom 
Micuda and to also provide additional information to the Board/Commission for use in making 
the determination on KYSO Corporation's and C&W Development (hereinafter referred to as 
"KYSO" and "C&W," respectively and "Developer") request for annexation of a 2O.98-acre 
parcel located directly south of the East Great Falls Retail Center and legally described in draft 
Certificate of Survey, assignment of Planned Unit Development zoning upon annexation, and 
Preliminary Plat for a Major Subdivision for a project known as Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I 
(hereinafter referred to as "Wheat Ridge" or "Subject Property"). The Developer respectfully 
presents the following information for the Board/Commission's consideration and requests that 
the Board/Commission reject staff recommendations. Further, the developer respectfully 
requests that the Board recommend that the City Commission adopt a resolution to annex the 
Subject Property based on revised Findings of Fact, that the Commission recommend the City 
Commission adopt the assignment of a zoning designation of Planned Unit Development upon 
the Subject Property based on revised Findings of Fact, and that the Board recommend the City 
Commission adopt the Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge based on revised Findings of Fact. 

Response to Staff Report 
The Developer refers to its previous responses to the earlier Agenda Report, as much of that is 
still relevant. However, because the decision was tabled at the March 24, 2018 meeting, 
planning staff took the interim time period to prepare additional response to the Developer's 
submittal to the Board/Commission in March. Unfortunately, planning staff has taken on an 
adversarial and advocacy role rather than merely advisory, so the Developer is compelled to 
respond. The additional Agenda Report continues to focus on three primary areas of identified 
concern as the basis for the staff recommendation to deny annexation, the PUD zoning request, 
and Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge: public safety service, stormwater management, and 
impacts associated with Malmstrom Air Force Base (hereinafter referred to as "MAFB"). All 
three primary areas of concern as well as the additional issues and review comments are 
addressed below. 

Public Safety Service 
The additional Agenda Report identifies that 2018 calls to the East Walmart store averaged a 
response time of six and a half to seven minutes, yet also continues to insist that response time 
to Wheat Ridge needs to be four minutes or less. The bottom line is that the Developer is being 

- -------

P.O. Box 2019 
Helena, MI' 59624 

abigail.stlawrence@gmail.com 
406-431-9032 ( cell) 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 164 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

held to a standard that current development cannot, does not, and is not required to meet 
without further explanation. This insistence is nothing short of arbitrary. 

The additional Agenda Report also complains of the proposed asphalt-milled surface and 
seeding for the emergency access road, citing concerns that the road surface cannot support 
the 75,000 pounds required for the fire engine access. First, Cascade County subdivision 
standards allow for gravel roadways to provide all access, including emergency access. While 
the Developer acknowledges these are county, not city, standards, it is indicative of the 
capacity of the roadway. (See exhibit) Second, geotechnical review has verified that the 
proposed asphalt-milled surface is capable of supporting 75,000 pounds. (see exhibit). 
Specifically, Big Sky Subsurface determined, "Based on current information and presumptive 
subsurface conditions, the proposed emergency access road can likely be constructed with a 
crushed base course gravel surface of nine inches." (See April 24, 2018 memo, p. 4). Finally, 
the Montana Department of Transportation conditions for the approach permit obtained by the 
Developer require seeding of the disturbed areas within the right-of-way for the emergency 
approach. (see exhibit) 

While the Developer appreciates the clarification on the City's arrangement with Walmart, the 
fact that the agreement was to pay for development subject to later reimbursement by 
subsequent developers rather than paid into escrow is irrelevant. As was stated in the 
Developer's March 27th submittal to the Board/Commission, the Developer understands and is 
willing to contribute their proportionate share of the constructions costs for the frontage of 
13th Avenue South within Wheat Ridge, which is exactly what was anticipated by the City's 
arrangement with Wal mart. Further, as was stated previously, if and when additional future 
phases of the master plan are considered for annexation, should the need arise for further 
development of 13th Avenue South, that factor can be addressed at that time. The entire point 
of phased development is to allow for infrastructure and development to take place over time 
rather than all being required up-front. The staff report raising the issue of 13th Avenue South 
construction that may be necessary with future phases is unwarranted at this time. 

Finally, as to impact fees, the Developer understands and appreciates that the City is generally 
averse to impact fees. However, the fact is that it is within the City's purview to levy such fees 
to the extent allowed by law. And while it is also correct that impact fees are not permitted for 
ongoing operational and maintenance expenses, Mont. Code Ann. §7-6-1603(7)(b)(i) does allow 
for capital improvements, which is the primary complaint. 

Stormwater Management 
The supplemental Agenda Report essentially attempts to make the Developer responsible for 
the City's liability in existing litigation, liability which has yet to be determined and for which 
the City presumably has a legal defense. The fact is that the Developer is meeting and 
exceeding city design standards for release rates. That the city design standards have raised 

2 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 165 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

liability concerns for the City does not negate the fact that the Developer is meeting and 
exceeding city standards. 

Additionally, as was stated in the Developer's comments to the Board/Commission during the 
March 27th hearing, Planning staff insistence on retention would require the City to obtain a 
beneficial water use permit to retain and evaporate water. The beneficial use is not for the 
Developer's purposes, but for the City's purposes, so the Developer cannot apply for a water 
right for a retention pond. Additionally, by retaining water that would otherwise be conveyed 
downstream, the retention system has the potential to adversely impact other existing water 
rights, which the Montana Water Use Act does not permit. 

All that said, the bottom line is the City is looking for solutions to a City-created issue on the 
Gibson Flats area. Currently, the Developer is charged $250 per acre storm sewer fee as per 
existing city standard. The Developer would be willing to pay $500 per acre with the additional 
$250 designated specifically for funding a solution. 

Impacts Associated with MAFB 
The supplemental Agenda Report insists that the Joint Land Use Study (hereinafter referred to 
as "JLUS") is not being used as a regulatory document, but merely "as guidance to consider in 
evaluating this annexation request in the area evaluated by the JLUS." This is semantics; the 
ultimate effect of Planning staff's reliance on the JLUS is regulatory in nature, which is expressly 
prohibited in the terms on which the City accepted the JLUS. The Developer refers the 
Board/Commission back to the detailed comments provided previously at the March 27th 

hearing. 

Additionally, while the supplemental Agenda Report cites to a Bullet Background Paper as 
rationale for finding impacts to MAFB operation as a result of Wheat Ridge development, the 
supplemental Agenda Report wholly ignores the fact that the April 2017 draft EA prepared for 
the assault landing strip included a finding of no significant impact ("FONSI"). In that draft EA, 
the FONSI stated in regard to land use that the proposed construction and operation of an 
assault landing zone for C-130 aircraft will have no impact on zoning in the surrounding area. 
See, FONSl-2. Assuming the FONS! is correct, for the City to now use the proposed assault 
landing zone operation and other unknown and non-existent potential future uses of MAFB 
(which would require congressional action in recommissioning the runway) as rationale for 
essentially rejecting the PUD is not only contrary to the FONSI, but also contrary to prior City 
declarations and resolutions regarding the JLUS. 

Finally, the supplemental Agenda Report cites to assertions by County Commissioner Joe Briggs 
that the Developer is attempting to "circumvent the existing County Zoning." Setting aside the 

unwarranted casting of dispersions on the Developer's intent, county zoning has nothing to do 
with the decision before the Board/Commission. The question is whether the application is 
merited under City regulation. 

3 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 166 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

Other Issues and Review Comments 
In the March Agenda Report, planning staff identified five other issues, all of which the 
Developer addressed at the March 27th hearing, and none of which are mentioned again in the 
supplemental agenda report. The only remaining issue is fiscal impact. The supplemental 
Agenda Report states that future costs are "unknown" and "complex to analyze." Based on this 
rationale, the Developer has no way of responding to fiscal impacts, as there is no known 
impact to respond to. To suggest denial of the application based on unknown impacts or 
analysis yet to be done is arbitrary at best. 

Finally, the supplemental Agenda Report comments on the costs of "edge development." 
However, when the City issued the findings of fact for the East Walmart conditional use permit, 
it specifically anticipated development moving the direction of Wheat Ridge. 

As a result of the proposed large format retail store undertaking its proportional share 
of the infrastructure extensions necessary to serve the subject property, it is reasonable 
to believe that a new surge of development and improvement of the surrounding 
properties could occur shortly thereafter. 
There are four properties along the south side of 10th Avenue South which are 
immediately to the west of the subject property that are still located in the County. 
Extending infrastructure immediately in front of the properties may incentivize the 
owners to annex and develop. In addition, inquiries about development have been 
made for the property located immediately east across the 57th Street South right-of
way. 

The extension of infrastructure in approval of the East Wal mart including both transportation 
infrastructure and up-sizing of the southeast Great Falls wastewater master plan specifically in 
anticipation of the Wheat Ridge development. (see exhibit). In approving the East Wal mart 
development, the City anticipated and perhaps even hoped for development to extend the 
direction of Wheat Ridge. To infer that "edge development" is now no longer desirable without 
further explanation is contrary to the City's indicated direction in approval of the East Walmart. 

4 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 167 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

I . 

EMERGENCY APPROACH 

r 
26. o· 
i 7. 8' 

; 1• 1 · I 

t 0.6' CRUSHED AGr REGATE COURSE 

1s. o· 

CROSS SLOPE = -2¾ CROSS SLOPE = -2% 

2 INCH MINIMUM TOP$01L 

SEED ALL DISTURBED AREAS 

GATE WILL BE LOCATED AT RIGHT OF WAY LINE 

PLAN 

I 
i 
i 

.,J 

- - - - --.......,,,-.-- - ----- - - - - - --- - - - --- - --- ------ --- - --::-=--- r .SHOUlDER Of HIGHWAY 

.--------- - ----.• 

R/W 
~s. o· GATE 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 168 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

BIG SKY 
SUBSURFACE 
Geotedmical and Materials Engineering Coru;ulting 

April 24, 2018 

Woith Engineering 
1725 41st St S 
Great Falls, MT 59405 

Attention: Spencer Woith 

Subject: 

Mr. Woith: 

Geotechnical Memorandum 
Wheat Ridge Estates Emergency Access Road 
Great Falls, Montana 

671 Armington Road, Belt MT 59412 

www.biqskysubsurface.com · 406. 788.5463 

Per your request, I have prepared the following geotechnical memorandum for conceptual 
planning of an emergency access road to your proposed subdivision development on the east end 
of Great Falls, Montana. It is my understanding that you are in the initial planning stages of the 
development and as such, no specific geotechnical investigation or testing has been conducted 
for this portion of the project. Discussion and data presented herein is intended to provide 
limited geotechnical infonnation based on presumptive subsurface material conditions for your 
use in conceptual design. 

Introduction 
On April 23, 2018, you contacted my office to request geotechnical consulting services for 
conceptual surfacing design of an emergency access road to your proposed subdivision on the 
southeast end of Great Falls. The Wheat Ridge Estates subdivision has been proposed south of 
USH 89 and the East Side W almart location. I have assumed access to the development would 
likely be established from 51st Street South or from the east Wahnart Entrance along 57th Street 
South. It is my understanding that an emergency access road will be required for the 
development, primarily for fire truck access. This emergency road access has been proposed 
along USH 89, and based on information provided, public access will be restricted with "knock 
down gates" at the USH 89 approach and the connection to the subdivision. Furthennore, you 
have related that the Montana Department of Transportation may require that the approach be 
seeded to provide a vegetative cover, further deterring public access. This letter briefly 
summarizes my preliminary analysis, geotechnical considerations, and conceptual 
recommendations for the surfacing design of the roadway. 

Presumptive Subsurface Conditions 
The site lies on the east end of Great Falls, south of the new Wahnart location and US Highway 
89. Topography of the general area is gently rolling to slightly hummocky with occasional 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 169 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

Big Sky Subsurface - Project Number 18-09 
Geotechnical Assessment - Wheat Ridge Subdivision Emergency Access Road, Great Falls, Mont.ana 

April 24, 2018 
Page2 

southwester]y trending drainages. The project area is currently stubble and past land use has 
been agricultural. 

Based on prior work in the general area, surficial project geology is expected to consist of a thin 
veneer of organic/tilled/disturbed material and overburden soils including lean/fat clay overlying 
weathered tluvial till and less weathered, desiccated lodgment glacial till deposited during 
Pleistocene continental glaciation. Below the high plasticity glacial soils, interbedded 
Cretaceous age sandstone and shale of the Kootenai Fonnation are anticipated. Near surface 
clay and sand soils are expected to be relatively weak, normally to slightly overconsolidated, and 
weathered; exhibiting both expansive and compressible behavior. High plasticity (fat) clay soils 
underlying surficial materials are expected to be typically firm to stiff, moist to slightly moist, 
overconsolidated (by past glacial ice and/or post glacial drying), highly moisture sensitive/swell 
prone, and relatively weak/poor bearing materiaJs under surfacing design conditions. Except for 
possible seasonal/perched water (particularly in or near drainages), groundwater is not 
anticipated within the upper 1 O+/- feet. 

Preliminary Pavement Surfacing .Analysis and Conceptual Recommendations 
The following analysis has been conducted based on presumptive subsurface conditions and wi11 
require geotechnical testing, analysis, and confirmation of loading requirements for final design 
and recommendations. As such, the following discussion is intended to be used for preliminary 
planning purposes only. Based on the requested concept for an emergency access road, gravel 
surfacing has been assumed to provide support for occasional emergency vehicle traffic. 
Preliminary analysis has been conducted for aggregate surfacing using procedures outlined in the 
1993 AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures along with local Montana Department 
of Transportation (MDT) standards and our experience for selection of modulus values for 
possible for pavement components. 

You have indicated that the roadway must be designed to support a 75,000 pound fire truck with 
unknovm, but limited repetitions. This type of traffic loading is not specifically covered in 
typical design methodology where vehicle traffic would typically be converted to Equivalent 
Single Axle Wheel (ESALs) and the total ESALS would be calculated over a defined service life 
along with acceptable surface degradation (rutting, potholing, uneven surface profile, etc.) to 
arrive at design section thicknesses. It is my opinion that driveability dming the worst seasonal 
conditions (i.e. spring and fall when the surface is likely to be the wettest/lowest strength) is the 
controlling design parameter over TESAL predictions. As such, we have utilized the AASHTO 
Low Volume Road design cata1og as a basis for surfacing thickness design. This approach is 
recommended where detailed information is unavailable. The design vehicle is presumed to 
consist of a 12 to 18 kip single drive axle with tandem dual rear axle configuration and an 
intermediate set of single drop axles. The assumed design vehicle, under an average frequency 
of 1 repetition per month for a design life of 20 years would fall below the Low traffic level as 
defined by AASHTO (using parameters for adjusting axle combination ESALs as would be 
applicable for flexible pavement design.) The controlling subgrade material is expected to be a 
fat clay soil with a soaked California Bearing ratio of 1 to 2 percent which is indicative of a very 
poor roadbed material. Using a Low traffic level (10,000 to 30,000 TESALS), a Very Poor 
roadbed support quality, and a Climactic Region of VI, the AASHTO guide indicates a minimum 
aggregate surfacing thickness of 9 inches. The material for which this analysis has been based is 
limited to a high quality aggregate base course with a minimum effective resilient modulus of 
30,000 psi. It should be noted that for traffic volumes in excess of 30,000 TESALS, the 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 170 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

Big Sky Subsurface - Project Number 18--09 
Geotechnical Assessment - Wheat Ridge Subdivision Emergency Access Road, Great Falls, Montana 

April 24, 2018 
Page3 

AASHTO Low Volume Road design tables indicates that a "Higher type pavement design is 
required11 and more rigorous analysis methods are to be used. 

A high quality, crushed, 1-1/2 inch minus base course (meeting MDT base course requirements 
or Montana Public Works gradations with the addition of a minimum 50 percent fractured face 
requirement) is preferred for gravel; however, other materials may be used if they can be shown 
to meet the minimum resilient modulus. The top 6-inches of the surfacing section can be 
constructed with 3/4 inch crushed road base material for ease of grading and increased surface 
elevation control/rideability. Screened/processed asphalt millings ( or blended millings and 
aggregate) may be suitable for portions of the pavement section; however, the modulus of the 
millings would need to be determined from test data to determine an appropriate reduction in 
section strength (therefore addition in thickness) relative to the minimum 9 inch gravel section. 
For prelimin~ estimating purposes, it may be practical to assume an increase in thickness of 
approximately 50 percent for portions of the section constructed with millings. I recommend a 
minimum 6-inch base course gravel section; therefore, 5 additional inches of asphalt millings 
(screened to a maximum size of 1.5 inches) could be considered. It should be noted that straight 
asphalt millings may "set" over time which can lead to difficulty in blading and non-uniform 
performance including potholing and rutting and the density of compacted millings will be lower 
than a typical base course aggregate thereby increasing permeability. The roadbed must be 
prepared by stripping disturbed/previously tilled material, scarifying the presumed fat clay 
subgrade, and constructing an embankment/roadbed subgrade in minimum 1 2 inch loose lifts to a 
minimum compacted density of 95 percent of the ASTM D698 maximum dry density (at or 
slightly above optimum moisture content), followed by pavement section placement (also to a 
minimum 95 percent of the maximum ASTM D698 dry density.) 

Aggregate surfacing design assumes that routine maintenance including periodic/seasonal 
blading and scarification/compaction of the aggregate surface will be performed; however, if the 
road remains essentially "wmsed" for long periods of time blading will likely not be required. 
Pavement surface drainage is also an integral part of pavement performance. Infiltrated moisture 
is a primary source for periodic or long-term saturation of pavement subgrade and will often lead 
to material segregation, subgrade softening, and increased frost heave potential ultimately 
leading to poor pavement performance, rutting, and subgrade strength reduction. Positive 
surface and storm drainage systems along with a regular pavement evaluation and maintenance 
program including grading, recompaction, and addition of aggregate (as needed) is 
recommended. The most critical condition for the roadway is likely to occur during wet months 
where the subgrade is saturated and is weakest. To reduce seasonal occurrences of subgrade 
saturation, it would be prudent to elevate the roadway embankment and provide drainage away 
from the roadway prism. Elevating the roadway on the order of 1 to 2 feet above prevailing 
grade, providing adequate shoulders, and constructing ditches (with under road culverts as 
necessary) to move water away from the roadway are recommended for the roadway design. 
Another alternative/improvement would be to increase the gravel section and/or to install a 
geotextile separation fabric (possibly in conjunction with a geogrid) to mitigate material mixing 
and strengthen the roadbed/pavement section interface. Application of a high strength geotextile 
separation fabric has been shown to reduce wheel rutting, reduce material intermixing and gravel 
Joss at the base/subgrade interface, and to provide some strength/reinforcement at the base of the 
pavement section. Based on recent MDT research projects, I recommend consideration be given 
to the use ofMirafi RS580i or Geotex 801 geotextile fabrics if desired. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 171 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

Big Sky Subsurface - Project Number J 8-09 
Geotechnical Assessment - Wheat Ridge Subdivision Emergency Access Road, Great Falls, Montana 

Conclusion 

April 24, 2018 
Page4 

In summary, based on current information and presumptive subsurface conditions, the proposed 
emergency access road can likely be constructed with a crushed base course gravel surfacing 
section of 9 inches (to be verified by an appropriate geotechnical investigation.) Alternative 
materials, such as asphalt millings or uncrushed (pit run) gravel may be used as a portion of this 
section; however, some additional thickness (based on the resilient modulus of the proposed 
materials) will be required. It is recommended that the roadway be elevated from adjacent grade 
and that grading be conducted to minimize the potential for standing water on or along the 
roadway. The roadbed should be crowned and adequate shoulders should be provided. At your 
request, I can develop preliminary recommendations for subgrade preparation, material density 
recommendations, and preliminary assessment of alternative surfacing materials. 

This memorandum has been prepared based on presumptive subsurface conditions and limited 
data for roadway requirements and is not a complete Geotechnical Assessment or Geotechnical 
Report. Preliminary analysis and concepts provided herein are intended to be used for 
preliminary planning and cost estimation purposes only. Further geotechnical investigation, 
analysis, and reporting will be required prior to design completion and construction. I 
appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this project. Please contact my office with any 
questions or concerns, or with notice to proceed with further engineering work. 

'' ... ., ... ~ ....... ,-~-... -'oN T~ i';•-. 
Sine ,,.. · ~•i.•'..·-----~·:1:v. .. .., I:.' ' ) ~!··· .:'> . ·. _: ...... 

. ·. ·. ·.·· .· '·.J.. ·~ \ 
·;. f H FNE · ~ ¼ 
i l .. _. .... · · i '} 
I \ • 12508 (Iii_ · : 
\'t\. I I \Q'. t ... ·; 
'-::·· ,..,. 'CEr,ffi~,~-~ .. ? 

JonJ. ·.· •• -~~~.-" 
Senior Ge~ ·e-ai Engineer 

Email distribution only 
Enclosures: General Site Plan 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 172 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

,:, 

WHEAT RIDGE-US HWY 89 

APPROACH LOCATION 

PROPOSED APPROACH 
ROUTE US·89 / N .. 60N 

MP 90.0 

WORK DESCRIPTION: 
PROPOSED GRAVEL EMERGENCY 

ACCESS APPROACH 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 173 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

Great people. 
Great camping."" 

April 13, 2018 

Great Falls KOA 

1 500 51 st. Street South • Gr~t falls, MT S9405 
Phone: (406) 727-.1191 

Reservations: (8UU) 562-6584 
Email: managcr@greatfalhkoa. rom 

www.koa.com 

Great Falls Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission 

Subject: Annexation of Wheat Ridge Estates - Phase 1, Planned Unit Development. 

For use in Public Hearing April 13, 2018 - KYSO Corporation 

My name is Lo re n Smith, and I am the owner of the Great Fa I ls KOA Campground and Prairie Kraft 

Specialties. I am a direct neighbor to the West of this proposed development, sharing a land boundar-y 

with KYSO Corporation. 

I am completely in support of this Development proposal, and strongly recommend its approval. I would 

like to make known my support for this project. 

It seems a major concern is: Malmstrom and its closed runway. I am a current pilot and aircraft owner 

and do a LOT of business flying throughout the United States. Our business requires we visit KOA 

Campgrounds, and we have for 40+ years. As such, I offer the following very realistic comments: 

1. There will never be a flying mission coming to Malmstrom. It's ludicrous to think there ever will 

be. "Flying Missions" are on the decline in the Air Force, and have been for many years. 

2. One of the military's largest issues is taking care of their personnel, and they do a great job. In 

reality, "personnel" generally means a husband and wife (often with a family), typically with 

only one of the pair enlisted in the military. In the case of Great Falls, military means the Air 

Force. Both the husband and wife are generally professional people (in the case of a flying 

mission, think pilots/navigators) and both wish to have meaningful employment. As such, major 

metropolitan areas offer a significant advantage fur the non-military partner. This ability to have 

gainful and meaningful employment in their area of interest or expertise supersedes the idea of 

sunny days and "flying space." Airplanes of today are all weather airplanes and travel at ,.peeds 

of 500+ mph. 

3. I have had the privilege of flying into practically every state in the Union on multiple occai;ions, 

and almost every state has a major military base that has been closed over the past 20-30 years. 

In short, there are a LOT of big unused runways and facilities - think Glasgow, MT, in nearly .ill 

states. 

4. Local communities see this high dollar abandoned military base and think, "There must be a use 

for this." The reality is, there isn't. Sad, but true. A Military Air Force Base is a Military Air Force 

Base, not a residential home site. 

5. There absolutely, positively should be no impediment to this project in order to "Protect the 

Base." 

Re1tiettiber. ifs "~ C.$tJrin 3. 

lf's ka"lpin9 ~· 
~.lom 

.4 ------~~-----------------



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 174 of 351                                     Attachment # 30

l 

Ji 
KOA' 
Great people. 

Great camping.'" 

Great Falls KOA 

1500 51 st. Street .South • Great Falls, MT 59405 
Phone: (406) 727-.H9l 

Reservations: (800) 562-6584 
Email: manager@greatfallskoa.com 

wMv.koa.com 

The taxpayers in Great Fa I1s will benefit from this proposed development. When implemented, it will 

bring significcint increase in property taxes to the State of Montana, Cascade County and the City of 

Great Falls. A "Runway Protection Zone," or a closed ru,nway (20+ yet1rs) brings NO increase in taxes 
paid. Every property owner in Cascade County should be in favor of this project. 

Thank you for your consideration. Please feel free to call if I may be of any help. 

Sincerely, 

Loren Smith 

Owner, Great Falls KOA Campground 

Owner, Prairie Kraft Specialties 

1500 Sl't St S 

Great Falls, MT 59405 

(406) 727-3192 

Re1t1ettiber. Ifs ,.ot Gawif'i~~-

lf' s kattipin~ :-

1 
I 
I 

I 

1 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 175 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

Taxable Revenue amount using FY 2018 mill levies and values (if considered newly taxable property) 

Amount of 
City Revenue Total 
using General Number of Amount of 

Market Value Fund Mills Parcels Revenue 
200,000.00 446.61 37 $16,524.57 
250,000.00 558.26 37 $20,655.62 
300,000.00 669.91 37 $24,786.67 
350,000.00 781.56 37 $28,917.72 
400,000.00 893.21 37 $33,048.77 
450,000.00 1,004.87 37 $37,180.19 
500,000.00 1,116.52 37 $41,311.24 
550,000.00 1,228.17 37 $45,442.29 
600,000.00 1,339.82 37 $49,573.34 
650,000.00 1,451.47 37 $53,704.39 
700,000.00 1,563.12 37 $57,835.44 
750,000.00 1,674.78 37 $61,966.86 
800,000.00 1,786.43 37 $66,097.91 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 176 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

et:: c::c 
LU 
>- tel ..... 

c::I 
C'--1 

Since 1862. the 341st Missile Wing has served as the strategic backst•p for aur nation. 
Our mission: 

"Defend America with safe, secure, effective nuclear forces and cambat-ready Airmen" 

We provide combat capability: 
• ICBMs are always ready 
• ICBMs provide strategic freedom ta operate 
• ICBMs keep enemies at bay 
• ICBMs deter others from acquiring nuclear weapons 

4 

~ 
c

cr.J 
Cl 
c:::) 

co 
CVJ. 

~~ El -z 
Cl 
c.. ...... 
V-1 

E 
m 

::::E 

I 

c:; 
Cl:l 
c... 
IC.. 
re 

:s:: 



C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 177 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 31

MISSILE DATA 

Number of MINUTEMAN Ills 
Farthest LF/MAF (Miles) 
Closest LF/MAF (Miles) 

AIRCRAn (UH-IN lroq11ols) 

Number Assigned 
--.,.1 Flying Hours 

MEDEVAC 8. Search and ResOJe Hours 
Ac1ual Rescues 
Rescue A«i<ls 

VEHICUDATA 

General P.xpose 
Bose Maintenance 
Special Purpose 
Non Registered 
GSA (Leased) 

TOTAL 

MILES OF ROAD 

Paved Road.I 
Unpaved Roads 
TE Rated Grovel Roods 
TE Rated Paved Roads 
Missile Complex in Sq. Miles 
MIies Driven 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

Public Domain 
Owned 
Easement 

Lease/License/Permits 

TOTAL 

341MW 
198 
N/A 
276 
71 
159 

704 

Buildings {Not otherwise Included) 
On Base Facilities 
Off Base Facilities 

Total 

150 
152/139 

16/2 

8 
3,330 

24 
4 
1 

819 RHS 
51 
81 
18 
83 
16 

249 

2010 
4182 
816 
568 

13,800 
6,266,010 

491 
3,902 

19.696 
4)63 

28,852 

233 
268 

501 

ECONOMIC IMPACT 
Annual Payroll 
Military 
Federal Civilian 
Other Civilian 

TOTAL 

Annual Expenditures 
Construction 
Services 
Moterials/Equi pment/Health/other 
TOTAL 

Indirect Jobs 
Average Annual Pay Multiplier"' 
Est Ann Dollar Value of Jobs 

TOTAL EST ANN IMPACT 

Compiled by 

$1 73,375,085 
$40,062,203 
$12,682,673 

$226,119,961 

$12,764,087 
$9,033,644 

$52,729,463 

$74,527.184 

1,571 
$42,491 

$66,752,837 

$367, 399,992 

341 st Comptroller S quadr•n 
731-4188 

PeRSONNEL 

AF Personnel MIL 
Assigned 3,424 
Active Du1Y Dependanh 
Non Appropriated 
Contrcct/Prlvate Business 

EDUCATION 

CIV TOTAL 
636 4.060 

3.276 
111 111 
643 64.'I 

K-2 Mmtary Dependent! Enrolled in GF Schools 991 
Federal Impact Aid $590,568 

Off-Duty Education 
Associate Degree/CCAG 
Bachelor 
Masters 
Total Degrees Eamed 
Total Enrollments 
T uilion AssislancP. 

CONTRl8U110 NS 

Combined Federal Campaign 

AFAF 

Communily Contributions•• 
Meals Delivered lo Elderly/Injured 
Red Kettle Volunte= for Salvation Army 
Units of Blood Donaled to Red Cross 

UTILlnES CONSUMED 

Water 
Heating Fuel 
Sewoge 
Electricity 
Fuels [Diesel) 
Conlracling 

TOTAL 

CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE CONTRACTS 

Military Conslrucll on Program 
Non-Appropriated Fund 
O&M 
A&E 
Environmento I Construction 
Misc/Repaii'/Rental 
TOTAL 

183 
49 

0 
232 

2,183 
$1,633.759 

$93,000 
$42,000 

2253 
325 
411 

$692,573 
$1,526,765 

$359,212 
$6,427,930 

$122,150 
$965,831 

$10,094,461 

$0 
$0 

$11.970,930 
$179,41() 

$0 
$8,214,872 

$20,978,959 

•Avg of 2012 Montone Per Capito Income tor Cascade, Chouteau and Teton Coun11es. Bureou of Economic Analysis {BEA), and US. Ce ruus Bureau 2012 

.. Soutcs, - Grr,ct fells Meal, on Wheels, SalVollon A,my and Great Fells American Red Cross 



C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 178 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 31

VEHICLE DATA 

Otnu"I l'urpf,k 
Bek Mainte•aa:ce 
Specinl P11rp•He 
Nu1L..--,11ur-td 
GSA 11,c.,<41 
TOTAL 

6t2nalh.,.OK 
IIAt~ MM'lttnncc 
$pecl1l Purpi,,e 
Non Re._i,ter~d 
GSA ll..t.11,cd.) 
TOT,'l, 

MilffDriven 

3JIMW 

!12.!W. 

111<1 
l~ff 
12~ 
40 ·~· 4'S 

29 
7l 
51 
7l ,. 

241 

5.17,.412 

VEHICLE DATA 
lli..lliY 

Genenl fnp,nse 
... , M eilCtHlltt 

Sped.II PDrpo!IC 

NRD~•
<'-U .!l.slKJ!l. 
TOTAL 

Gicrm,11 P11rpMc 
Bi.1e:M1lft1ttU111w 

Spuiil htpN<C 
N• Rcpnc.-ir:11 
GSA cLuKdl 
TOTAi, 

M;JaDrivu 

819 RDS 

,., 
llll 
I~ 

•• 
1~9 

6'8 

l9 
12 
~l 
'73 
t< 
~ 

M79.4U 

~ 

Commander's 
Data Card 

FISCAL 
YEAR2017 

Complied by 
341st Comptroller Squadron 

Ext 4H,8 

~~, 
' ,.., 
';, ; \\ 

'-t..1, ~~' 
'·'i'.~ \ ~.t.. '/. 

~ 
341st 

Commander's 
Data Card 

FISCAL 
YEAR 2017 

Compil~d by 
Comptroller Squad ron 

Ext 4168 

MISSILE DATA 
NuMbw of MINllflMAN llli 
~,rth<,11.l'IMAF{Milcs) 
Clm,I LP/JIU¥ (Mil") 

Mil-.':'. uF R1u1J1 

I~ 
15:IIJ) 

WlJI 

Pll'l"d ftH41 l.010 
U11pnr:1I R1mlK ,l.ll2 
Tl!, Ri11,c,d Gr1m::I R.fla,h SHi 
TE Ba11:d P•1·cd .Rto1b :5/il!I 

Mi~ik Cr.mpb in Sf) Mi'k- 1UM 

AIRCRAFT DA1 A 
Uft-JN Jnt0oei1 

NumtieTANii,:t1d 
l11yln:g Hu.n z,•u 
MEDl:V~-\C ti. Scitd11 3 .. r1 Ro~• H••111~ 36 
A<t1at llnncs s 
Rc.u:1111: Aniclf 1 

MlSSILE DATA 
Numh('.f llf l.i,lun,i:ta F,d1ilia (Lt,) l~O 
f,ttht<ILFIMAF(l,J;Jc,) 1s 211n 
0""'1tll/Mo\l'tMilnl 16121 

Milr,gfQt,llf 

PM·cd It-."' UIO 
Ucpnc;d R•adi 4.112. 
1·1:; Rn1td Gr11¥tl Rt:1mltri a ifi 
1'!. Rmtd ,.,.,d Jt.ind~ ~M 

Miic.,ilc Ctmrib in Sq M ~li..' 1J·.IOlt 

AIRCRAFT DATA 
1JK~IN 1,•qofl1 

H•ll'lbuAl$.lptd A 
f't.\'iil,: H11u1 1,11 
1\1£D!VAC 46':urrll nrwtllo<•f'tffilu~ 36 
Actn11J R.r:,~au:s $ 
ltunaic Aui,tt 1 

ECONOMIC IMPACT 
........ 1, .... o11 

MUIIAT)' 
~ed.Cl\-ili• ll 

OtMT Qn_lian 
Tat:il 

Sl~,l&S.349 
S.tt;J~,OfCO 
~ 

5%11.'t 8,,s., 

AnNna1 IJptndituftJ 
Cn11strualAa. U'-~156.J:?.6 
Scn·iu~ S2J,1Sl.,S~ 
MA1ab!f{Eunie£Hcnltlv0thcr Sl:f.Jl~Jll-1 
Total S71 .63).695 

Dih.dlmpRd $2P&.G44,327 

IIKlirld.Jnl'MI 113'.t 

" 'f[ICC AftftHl Pex l\JJIJiplicr '5-'l.97! 
Est Ann PoD1t Villuc 4r Jinh!i S~J,914-'11S>7 

·A1-1; 1Pfl111MO'llln::1 Pt.rr..pftli l11mtH lnr C:ii:e-ilc:, 
CW.1Uu•11, nl Trtnn C1t1el1u. 1111~• t1orl.<,ifl'llfflit' 
Aruit,·sb (HA,, aai!3 U.S. Ccruut Bun:..,, 21U 

Tollll Est Ann lmnarl SJ5'.5:S8,090 

ECONOMIC IMP'\CT 
Anna1d Pa:rn1II 

Mltil:!ry 
'Fe4 Q\'iltH 
Ott.a.£:iri.!ill 
Talllll 

$168,l-.S,>-I, 
s.i,'"4,0lll 
Stt,n'9J l!) 

Sll?.918.358 

Ann•1I [.sp.:d;it.,-c, 
C11111nuetl11111 $ 1-l,1S'-,J25 
!1h!nlttt ,$2.l, l$4,S.$ 
Muts:ri11hJEoniPlRsoJJh/Qtkr Pt.312,U,. 

Tot,I 671.633,6?~ 

Dlrt<'I I mp•« $199,644,317 

lffllin:,t J 11b1. 1.J6.4! 

A!UHtA•111• a1 PnMehfnlK.- ·5.u.9JS 

E1t AH D•U~, '\'' 1lut: nf Jmhs: St.MM5$37 

·A~ •fJll't >l11• tuu1 ~r (',apfh; latQle lltrCuod-. 
Cbakall, •ell TGMII D11~ki,,. •11~nc c,f letM~it 
A1111tnt~ <JStA). 11111d l.l.&. C~IUUA: 'B1uu11 2,.ll 

Te1al E,t Arm Impact S3S4,538,090 

CAPITAL ASSETS 
\.ANIJ CA<rs,) 

P"hlk-Dnm:i1oit1 
(hf1u:fl 
£.:.,rm,:M; 
'l.e::.ll(Jl.ktuc/Ptt!Hlt tc 

TOTAL 

~ 
et -s•!t!'PS Jrdl1'dl 

01:1 B•:u Fadlltlu 
Off HflH ~•riVUt' 

TOTAL 

491 
3,,Ul 
,u,1 
~1'4.1 

}~.ts.? 

Z!7 
~ 

~ 

CAPITAL ASSETS 
LAND(c\tRU 

hl>licD-CiDtllilt 

°"""' E:Mtmicnl 
Lfltp't.il:1:ns:trfrmib 

TOTAL 

@l1TLDING5 
1111 t$lw:m'IN' l•s'ldd) 

On&a,e:J'adUliu 
OK B•te Fu,miic•-

TOTAL 

491 
:¼,902 

•Mll6 
~ 

ZU.<1 

2J1 

lf.c' 

~(I~ 



C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 179 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 31

PERSONNEL 

AF PJ:RS!;?NN~-!, Mil, !;!Y TOTAL 
As.li(:11td )J?O 590 3,960 
Atffl·ie nn,y Dtptndl!n\J 2,6l6 

QTRF.R 
Non A.pptoprinted ll7 127 
Cem.trntt/Prk~t, Bniincn 110 210 

Nole: Ait oacs 0,1 th• ufd is.:r:sct.lO~q, t6 
a.t r -a,! Ye><21H6 (01 Oct 15 b )0Sq,1 16) 

~~ otb!tWhe D1Jl.ci. 

PERSONNEL 

A[ PE!!l!O!!!!~I, .MI!,. m nm.i. 
A••ii,aOO JJ70 ,,o 3,960 
Adin Dui., »t,endents 2,626 

O'tH~R 
::-ton Appl'OJ1ritta1 1?7 111 
("'-A!!llradJPri¥11lc 8 •-sinb:I llG 210 

Note.: All Dall on.tliis c:,rd i, as of JO Sq') IL, 
fbr Fo.,.1 nor2Dl6 (01 Oct ll "'JO Sq,r 16) 

1anla!i othclwise noted. 

I I GOVERNMENT 
HOlMl\G 

A•lbori""' Oont>/llotl Spoc,es 731 

~ 
Viliti11.2Quarttts ~ 

TLF (1 •-•) 15 
11.Y (~ ~room) 15 

PlU\'A1'17.tDUooJ~ 1.116 

GOVERNMENT 
HOUSING 

Autl)ocll!.:00 DormtBC!d Spl)ttS 731 

!l!J&1!!'!!i 
V\sltini; Qpnl"CC'rt 5.\ 
TLF (I Redroom) IS 
Tl..fi' (2 Bcdrvam) u 

rRl'VATr7.i&D Hou&:c5 1,116 

CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACTS 

Mil F':imilr rtoulni (BBC) $~ 
J\flllU1 r:,· C,mnructinf'l 'Prni,ram so 
No1t-Ap11 mpr\;ittd flu nd ~o 
OAM Sl1.leM91 
A&t: S-1,732,1~3 
11:nvlronmenhl J\&:E ~19!.047 
Ell\·lronmrnhl s;o11struietl2D SJ !JlO ~5 

'l'OT AL '!l:14.l~&.316 

CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACTS 

:Vll1 f:-imU:r Uoml11g (D8C) SD 
MiU1ar:,· Cunstn.i(cl0A Prncr:1.m so 
Nott-A_pf'rop-rh1ttd floed ~ 

O &M Sll,105,A~l 
A&£ : Sl,7Jl,19J 
l:P\'lro11m~~1a, A&!. ~1Ut04? 
E11lironmr•nf t ~ lfrvttion ~ an2~9S 

TOTAL Sl4,1S6,Jl6 

UTILITIES 
CO~St;MEO 

W1rtr' S6Sl,114 
F(~nll11.:2;lint!I Sl,611,996 
S~2t 5•SM55 
l<kdtlcify ~ 1D1.l4' 
{~ .. ~ZHJH 

TOTAL $9,.l)~,167 

UTfLITIES 
CO~SU'.\-IED 

Wn11.1r 
HCltlng Fiu~I 
S<w>t:> 
l:l~rltiQ' 

Conl 

TOTAi_ 

165.2,114 
St,fi11,~li 

S<36.4S!i 
sG ... ~01.,0, 
~ 

S9..l.19,1•7 

EDUCATION 
For K• 1 l Mllltart D(ptadmts 

E11"6flOO iw Gtea.t Fans Sc:hoaH : 360 
f'1::dc~l lrttpm::t A.Id: SS:2o.J76 

Ol'f--Dut,,. tdqcnlion 
AbOCii\lC Dta.-ttfCCAJ in 
9nr!!£12[ " Tohll Dc:gr<!CI Earilrrl 148 

Tobi E 1roll-nll'nlJ l."3 
l"•lllot1 A,,1;si&1:J11nr.r ~L.6.2.16& 

COJliTR IBUTlONS 
Combined f'tdernl r..-.mpniit:o 
AFAF 

51?,119' 
S211.IM5 

COMMl:~ITY CONTP.IBUTIO~S 
-IJeli,crcd 1,023 Mc>b IO Eldofly/lnju,cd 
(So"n,-u- Gren f.1ILI M"-19)~ C'ln Wh,'NI~) 

-2~0 l\ed K~lle v n111,.t{'ffl;: tor lhe Salv1i11!ion Ar-:r..v 
tso,n-<- <,1,-~ . 

. rJonato:I 272 Unia u( Rlood to R('('l Cros~ 
{Snun.:..,_ \rtM Fall~ An1tric,, ri RIJd. C'.rim) 

EDUCATION 
'Jel' K-11 Ml11tary ~ .dt11D 

£11ro1lc-d in Crcat P11J1~ S-chOO!IJ : 160 
Jl'eden1I Tmp:ittt" AICI: $5l(l,:J76 

Q(T .. th.11:;y 1:dunl'don. 
~f»te D.cgreclCr".A1' l ll 
Bathr.lor .\5 
Total '00(:tcl:!1 E:trned %48 

T et.ti F..tttt!IDN:.WlJ 
Tn,llon A1"11tinct 

1,,, 1 
Sl,642,161 

CONTRIBUTIONS 
Cnmblucd Fcdu-t1I Cam!l:1ign. 
A'FA .. 

177,l'll 
SH.04~ 

COMMl.:-!l TY CONTRIBUTION~ 
-Delivered 1.02~ Mc:,ls to Elrl~rl)ilnjured 
( :!:c>urtl.l--(;n:111 r:inw M1,11b C):l'Wh.!cli) 

-2'JO Rtd Xdtlc \'ollv«<r,; ix" Ul< ,-,....,,, ,._., 
~t'lll-"Ol:- ~llt:,Mr. ,\11f1)1 

-Donat<'d 272 Units o!8loocl fn Red Cros~ 
,&'lllrl:,c,.On::v: fills AMl:rgi, H.at f:h1• ) 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 180 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

A REALTORS® Guide to Military Base Closure, Realignment and Encroachment 

~r. · 

NATfONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS ' 

. . ,,,, 
I 

'I' .. . . . 

Real Strength. 
Real Advantages. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 181 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

A REALTORS® Guide to Military Base Closure, Realignment and Encroachment 

[B 
l'lEAllOR 

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS· 

Th, VDiu For &al &tat,' 

Real Strength. 
Real Advantages. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 182 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

Prepared under the direction of the NAR State and Local Issues Committee 

Mike Flynn, 2006 Chairman 

Ken Jackson, 2006 Vice-Chair 

Principal Author: Barbara McCann, McCann Consulting 

NAR Project Manager: Bob McNamara 

©National Association of REALTORS®, 2006 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 183 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

"REALTORS@ who understand 

these relationships are in 

a better position to assist 

when a local base is slated 

for closure or expansion 

- or when the community is 

beginning to encroach on the 

military's needs.,, 

• 

/' ' - . 
• 
• 

j 

I 

.... 

-'I 11· 
I II 
I II 

I ,. .. 
• 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 184 of 351                                     Attachment # 31

Base Encroachment 

While communities grapple with changing military 

needs, the military must also cope with growth in 

the communities that surround them - growth that has 

begun to encroach on bases and their military mission. 

High-performance jets, tanks, and live ammunition simply 

don't mix well with housing and other civilian uses. But 

the problem is far more than an annoyance, according to 

Jan Larkin, Outreach Coordinator for the Department of 
Defense. "If we cannot get a handle on this problem, it 

could be the end of the military as we know it." 

Why such a dire prediction? The modern US military 

is based on the premise that frequent, rigorous training 

under live fire conditions is the only way to save lives 

in warfare. Research from the Vietnam War found that 

most errors come when a solider, pilot, or other fighter is 
new to the chaos of battle - and that those who survive 

five engagements are likely to make it through the entire 

war. By conducting realistic training exercises using live 

ammunition, the Army, Air Force and Navy all seek to 

condition their personnel for the real thing. The practice 
has resulted in fewer deaths and a dramatic decrease in the 

loss of planes. 

But such live fire training exercises require a lot of space 

- and more and more bases are being squeezed by sprawling 

development that comes almost up to their fences. 

Neighbors who are too dose to military bases 

or training and testing ranges face the noise of high

performance fighter jets, the rumble of tanks, and the 

boom and crackle of guns, cannons and bombs. These 
residents also face risks - from the crash of a jet, or 

from a bullet or missile going astray. The military has 

adapted with what are known as "work arounds" - such as 

Beyond the Fence 

changing flight patterns and restricting training exercises 

at night. But such solutions reduce their ability to train 
effectively. 

What Encroachment means 
for real estate professionals 
This all may sound like bad news for real estate 

professionals. But understanding encroachment issues 

is essential if a military base is nearby. REALTORS" can 

help mitigate the impact of encroachment by helping 

homebuyers understand the military's needs and working 

with the base to help preserve good relations. "Training 

and readiness are extraordinarily important to national 

defense, and bru;es are essential for training," says Mike 
Davis, who manages the Encroachment Prevention 

program at the Office of Economic Assistance. "We need 

to protect those bases because encroachment can doom a 
base to closure." 

What is a Joint Land 
Use (JLUS) Study? 
The Office of Economic Adjustment funds these 

studies, which bring together leaders from the base 

and the surrounding communities to determine the 

extent of encroachment problems and come up 
with a plan for mitigating them. 

7 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 185 of 351                                     Attachment # 31
a 

Common methods for 
mitigating encroachment 

Rezone property to prevent incompatible uses. 
Local governments can alter zoning codes and 
comprehensive plans, or can create special overlay 

districts. Some states have designated regions 

surrounding military bases as'areas of critical 

concern' to allow state jurisdiction. 

Set aside affected areas. Local or state governments 
or conservation groups often purchase property for 

parks or purchase development rights.The military has 

recently begun partnering on these purchases.This 

sometimes involves demolition of existing buildings. 

Require disclosure of encroachment issues. 
Arizona and Virginia are examples of states that are 
now requiring disclosure of noise zones and accident 

potential zones to buyers prior to sale and in contracts. 

Obtain "Avigation" Easements. This is the aviation 

equivalent of a navigation easement. It gives the 
airfield (civilian or military) the legal right to fly 
through the airspace above the property (including 

the right to make noise). 

Require sound attenuation. Local governments 

can require double-paned windows, insulation, and 
other measures that reduce outdoor noise by 25 

to 35 decibels.This can be a requirement for new 

homes; state or loca I governments may also find 

funding for retrofits. 

Plan growth to conserve land. Smart growth 

developments that mix uses and bring homes closer 

together can help avoid the need to build in areas 

affected by base operations. 

Real estate professionals who sell near bases should 

start by arming themselves with information. The 

Department of Defense conducts publicly-available studies 

on how their activities may affect the local community. 

REALTORS" can find out about the designated noise and 

safety zones surrounding bases by checking with their local 

planning department for AICUZ and RAICUZ dornments 

-Air or Range Installation Compatible Use Zones. Air 

bases also designate Accident Potential Zones (APZs). Some 

REALTOR" associations have reprinted these maps for their 

members and for homebuyers, 

A few jurisdictions have begun to require that noise 

and other base intrusions be disclosed to potential 

homebuyers well before reaching the dosing table. 

"Enhanced real estate disclosure for prospective purchasers 

is an extraordinarily effective toolt says Davis. "Generally 

this has been resisted by the reaJ estate industry and 

by sellers because it is seen as diminishing the value of 

property. We've found just the opposite. It doesn't affect the 

value, it just helps buyers make a better and more informed 

decision." Escambia County near the Pensacola Naval Air 

Station now requires disclosure in all listing agreements, 

and in marketing materials before execution of a contract. 

Some communities are working with the military on 

Joint Land Use Studies (JLUS), in which military and civilian 

planners systematically plan responses to the encroachment 

issues particular to their community. Real estate 

professionals can participate in these planning meetings. 

In addition, the military has identified sprawling 

subdivisions that eat up land as a culprit in encroachment 

- because they more quickly push development right up 

to the base fence. Real estate professionals can support and 

promote innovative land use plans that use mixed-use and 

compact development to conserve land. 

Beyond the Fence 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 186 of 351                                     Attachment # 32

OMA Youth Pro rams 

C 
MTNG Youth ChalleNGe 

. M t f1 Academy 
A 

0 
A 

0 
& "" " is focused on at-fisk youth, 16-18 years of 

R 18 E u p age who are no longer enrolled in high 
--9'r~~~ school. During an intense 5 momh in-
. W it ' residence program and 12 month mentoring 

program, Youth ChalleNGe provides the tools 
& experiences to graduate productive, employable, law 
abiding and ta)(paying citizens. 
• 36 classes & 2696 graduates since inception in 19991 
• The Academy's 73% Overall HiSet/GED success rate 
e)(ceeds the national average. 
• Maintains an over 80% long-term placement rate of stu
dents four years after graduation. 
• Academy staff are personally involved in assisting cadets 
develop their Post-Residential Action Plans (PRAP) to rein
force commitment to long-term success. 
• 41 graduates returned to high school after completing 
ChalleNGe last year. 
• 9 cadets achieved their CNA certification in the last year. 
• 33 cadets received professional certifications in other 

. vocational areas in the last year, 
• 144,025 hours of community service have been per
formed by Academy cadets, equating to a value of 

- - - STARBASE Montana has 
two locations, one in 
Helena at Fort Harrison 
& one at the 12011, AW in 

Great Falls. STARBASE offers a premier educational program 
that provides a challenging "hands-on, minds-on• learning 
e;,;perience for elementary school children to raise their inter
est & improve knowledge & skills with emphasis in Science, 
Technology, Engineering & Math (STEM). STARBASE Is one of 
the few programs in the United State5 that teache$ CAD/3D 
Engineering Design to elementary aged students. STARBASE 
exposes students & teachers to real world applications of math 
& science through inquiry based learning, simulations & e;,;peri
ments while complimented with the positive role models found 
on military bases. 
• 8636 students have attended Ft Harrison since 2007 from 
Helena, East Helena, Lincoln, Townsend & Montana City along 
with several private schools. 
• 5526 students have attended the 120th AW since its incep
tion in 2012 from Great Falls, Augusta, Cascade, Highwood, 
Centerville along with several private schools.. 
+FY17 the STARBASE team hosted STEM Summer camps for 
children of military families at both sites. In addition, the team ' 
took their STEM camp on the road to Ronan and Browning. 
• The program is staffed by 3 State employees and 5 contract 
employees from the Helena & Great Falls School Districts. 
• STARBASE is 1.009G funded by the Department of Deft!nse 
through the National Defense Authorization Act, 
• FY1.7 brought $766,000 education dollars to Mont.anal 

ECONOMIC IMPACT 
NATIONAL GUARD BUREAU FUNDING 

Full-time Payroll 
Traditional Guard Pay 

Total ARNG Payroll 

Subsistence & Lodging 
Total Personnel Dollars 

$55,629,750.17 
$22.571.685.38 
$78,20:1.435,65 

$1.595.505.82 
$79,796,941.37 

Operations & Maintenance $29.305.024.46 
Total ARNG Impact $109,101,965.83 

Air National Guard 
Full-time Payroll 
Traditional Guard Pay 

Total Payroll 

Subsistence & Lodging 
Total Personnel Dollars 

Operations & Maintenance 
Total ANG Im ct 

$29,046,002.04 
$13.835.490,02 
$42,881.492.06 

$252.718.12 
$43,134,210.18 

', : - . . . 
-:v. •• ~ ' o a ona uar, , . 

Department of Military Affairs (DMA) 

ral 

Anny NG* 17,811,328 
16,086,127 

(Included In ARN G O&M) 90% 

AlrNG* 4,928,520 
4,506,310 

{Included in ANG O&M) 91% 
Disaster& 10,190,857 
Emergency Services 11,674,340 87% 

2,569,698 Veterans Affairs 2,569,698 
100% 

0 

ChalleNGe 1,039,883 3,491,688 
4,531,571 

Academy 23% 77% 

DirectolS Office 1,256,191 
862,745 393,446 

69% 31% 
MT MIiitary Famlly 

42,000 42,000 0 Relief Fund 
NG SoholaRlhip 240,417 240,417 0 
STARBASE 634,826 0 634,826 
NG Construction 15,350,445 0 15,350,445 

Dlsasterfund 11,232,946 
1,778,287 9,454,659 

16% 84% 

DMA Operations: $70,272,282 
10
·~ 

60,108,358 
86% 

* -DMA Executes $26,140,117 of NG's O&M for State Employee 
raries, Facility &stalnment, Cooperative Agreements & Utilities 

Total Federal Impact of $207,931,981 DMA & NG to Montana 

LOCAL IMPACT: NATIONAL GUARD 
FY17 Personnel Payroll by COMMUNITY 

Area Total Income 
Anaconda $965,054 
BeVBoz $6,158,595 
Billings $10,132,987 
Butte $3,622,473 
Culbertson $506,169 
Dillon $1,349,355 
Glasgow $679,232 
Great Falls $27,700,407 
Havre $1,702,250 
Outside MT $2,724,457 

Area 
Helena 
Kalispell 
Lewistown 
Libby 
Livingston 
Malta 
Miles City 
Missoula 

Sidney 

Rest of MT 

Total Income 
$45,925,988 

$6,344,696 
$773,948 
$590,053 

$2,437,399 
$901,626 

$1,112,765 
$7,046,537 

$229,324 
$179,614 

Total $121082 927 
A Stron Workforce Builds Stron Communities 

MOlff:A.Wk Employer Support of the Guard & Reserve is a 

I~~ DoD agency that develops & maintains em
~~ ployer support through Education, Mediation & · 

~G~'?i~Wil'/~U/k Recognition. MT ESGR has 2 fulltlme employ
~ & 27 volunteers to help find & retain quality jobs for the 
skilled Guardsmen in our communities. Paramount to their mis-

: sion is encouraging employment of Citizen-Warriors who bring 
integrity, gtobal perspective & proven leadership to the civilian 
workforce. Together, We Alf Servel Learn more at 
www.MontanaESGR.org or www.ESGR.ml1 

Montana OMA Personnel by Location 

t :); t I • 

261 43 2 
1 

68 13 1 
1 

25 3 
55 ~~ 
34 
85 1 
41 
fil!I 
172 

19 
5 

62 
52 1 2 

1 5.5 

20 

67 

-==-M- o-· N_ T__,,_AN-- A_.,, ==-11s 

NATIONAL GUARD 
& DEPARTMENT OF 
I\1ILIT ARY AFFAIRS 

2018 Economic Impact 
Statement 

Missions 
Always Ready - Always There 

Federal 
Serve as the pr1mary federal rese,ve foroe 

In support of national secu~ '::/cectlves, when 
called upon by the res 'dent 

State 
Protect fife and prope~ervatlon of 

peaoe, order, and public for Montana's 
citizens, when called upon by the Governor 

Community 

Participate In local, state, and national programs 
that add value to America 

Prepared for 2018 thfs bnx:hurs Is current as of Dec 31, 2017 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 187 of 351                                     Attachment # 32

Montana Army & Air 
National Guard 

Americans Protectini:1 America 

(8 
The Montana National Guard (MTNG) is a 
unique, community-based organization that 
consists of over 3,800 Citizen-Soldiers & 
Airmen assigned to units in over 20 commu
nities. The Guard is financially supported in 
large part through federal funding in the 

form of military pay and allowances, purchase of goods & 
services, and through capital investments in equipment & 
infrastructure. Federal funding for Guard activities bol
sters the state economy as the revenue is turned over 
several times in countless busine5S segments of local 
communities. 

(D 
Montana Army National Guard (MTARNG) 
Soldiers continue to be strong contributors 
in overseas contingency operations armed 
with state of the a rt equipment. Since 9/ 11, 
3,597 Montana Soldiers have mobilized in 
support of an major contingency operations 

inc!uding NOBLE EAGLE, ENDURING FREEDOM, IRAQI 
FREEDOM, FREEDOM SENTINEL, RESOLUTE SUPPORT, 
OPERATION SPARTAN SHIELD & EUROPEAN REASSURACE 
INITATIVEW. In 2017 over 43 Soldiers deployed in sup
port of overseas operations. Over the last 17 yea rs of 
combat & combat support operations, the MTNG contin
ues its commitment to enhancing unit readiness leve!s in 
order to improve the skills to better serve Montanan's 
when called upon to support civil authorities. 

Montana Air National Guard {MTANG) de
ployed 223 MTANG members to Qatar, Ku
wait, Afghanistan, Puerto Rico, Germany, 
Hungary, Israel and Korea in support of 
Operations Freedom Sentinel and Exercises 

Swift Response, Coronet Oak, and Silver Arrow, The 120th 
Airlfft Wing performed airlift operations around the world 
flying 3,868 hours, 2,426 sorties, transporting 17,111 
passengers and moving 9,658 tons of cargo. !n addition, 
34 Airmen supported operations at Malmstrom AFB on 
MPA tours and deployed to all seven continents to include 
Antarctica. Airmen are assigned across 21 states and 80 
communities within Montana. 

The 219t11 REDHORSE deployed 23 Airmen to Israel. 

Emergency Response & 
Civil Support 

Montanans Servin Montana 

Toe Montana National Guard deployed a total of 857 guards
men on State Active Duty in support state and local resources in 
wildland firefighting efforts between August 6th and September 
29th 2017. Army Aviation flew over 490 hours and dropped 
more than 3.7 million gallons of water during the 2017 wildland 
fire season. 

The 83rd Civil Support Team provides support to HAZMAT 
teams and agencies throughout Montana to identify and handle 
unknown chemical agents, white powder incidents and any 
other potential chemical, biological or radiological scenarios, 
Since 2011 they have responded to 5 incidents & 23 requests 
for assistance with threat reduction at large events. In 2017 
they assisted with security at the Boston Marathon and Men's 
NCAA final four tournament. 

The 12oth AW Fire Department provides fire & emergency 
services at the Great Falls International Airport. They are an 
integral part of the Great Falls Incident Response Force through 
mutual aid agreements with city & county responders. In 
FY2017 they responded to 44 mutual aid calls & over 125 other 
airport, medical or aviation related calls. 

The MTANG Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) unit respond
ed to 10 calls for assistance in removing un-Bxploded, military 
grade, ordnance from private & government lands during 2017. 
The EOD team supported two Presidential Secret Service Sup
port missions. 

Construction & Sustainment 

Positive Impact on Businesses & Communities 

Facilities & Military Construction (MILCON): New missions, 
technology & equipment require construction & renovations 
These federally funded projects bolster local economies 
through material purchases & job creation within the state. 
Some offtre past, ongoing and planned pn,Jects Tnclucie: 

FY14 $2.8M 120 AW 5 projects, fire station, SA range, 
parking ramps, hangar door & corn ms facility 

$26M Helena Airport Aviation Readiness Center 
FY15 $5M 120 AW terminal, engine shop, hangar, CP 

$2.5M Ft Harrison Dining Facili~, 

FY16 $22. 7M 120th AW Fuel cell corrosion facility & 
Med/ Jag/Cha plain facility 

FY 17 
$2.8M 120th AW Logistics Readiness Supply Fa-
cility 

FY18 $2.4M 120th AW Medical Readiness Facility 

FY19 
$15 M Malta Readiness Center 
$9M 120th AW Aircraft Apron Expansion 

Sustainment of facilities also fuels community businesses & 
utilities. On average MTNG spends approximately $4.8M annu-
ally with local contractors on operations & maintenance. 

Dept of Military Affairs Divisions & Programs 
-- - - -- -~- ----- - -

Director's Office 
Directs state resources to enhance the preparedness level of 
the Montana National Guard (Army and Air), Disaster and Erner• 
gency Services, ChalleNGe Program, STARBASE, & Veterans 
Affairs to perform their respective missions at the state & feder
al level. 
+ Coordinates efforts between MTNG and state government 
agencies during statewide disasters 
+ Maintains a $110 million annual department-wide budget on 
behalf of the Adjutant General 
+ Provides accounting assistance to 9 divisions & programs 
• Awards an average of 65 contracts/yr with an average value 
of $3.5M and renews 100-130 contracts/yr 
• The Information Support Section supports 285 employees 
using 415 computers, 24 servers, 19 networks at 21 sites 
• Manages a comprehensive Human Resource management 
service for over 200 state employees, ,a .. • DisasW & Emergency Services §i ~ Coordinates with other state agencies to 
~ S · help prepare Montana for future d isasters 
i ~ and emergencies. Partnerships with local, 

"'~.y ~f;)~,., tribal, federal, volunteer agencies, & private 
s AOtl industry demonstrate diversity and commit-

ment by providing them with funding, training. and re-
sources. 

In Montana. diverse topography, high risk for multiple 
hazards. and a mobile population present numerous chal
lenges. As DES continues to seek out those areas that are 
susceptible to hazards, the risks continue to evolve and 
emergency management careers become more complex. 

What you should know: 
• Since MTDES was formed in 197 4, it has facilitated the 
response to 67 federal declarations. providing $216.9M in 
fed era I funding, and $38. 7M in state funding 
• Additionally, MTDES has facilitated response to over 149 
State declarations, provid·ing $11.9M fn federal funding to 
State, Local, & Trlba I jurisdictions since 197 4 
• MTDES handles approximately 320 calls per year 
• MTDES develops & maintains many programs that edu
cate, train, prepare & empower our partners & citizens for 
the ne>.t disaster 
• MTDES is the State Administrative Agency responsible for 
administering Homeland Security funding 
• MTDES is currently implementing the national standard 
for National Incident Management System (NIMS) compli
ance 
• MTDES isan active participant in the Emergency Manage
ment Assistance Compact i EMAC), a mutual aid agreement 
between states to share resources during disasters & emer· 
gencies. EMAC facilitates the maximum use of all available 
resources within the member states' inventories. 
• Since 2006 MTDES has improved Montana's Homeland 
Security posture with $64.5M of grant funding. 

Dept of Military Affairs Divisions & Programs 

Veterans Affairs 
Provides statewide support to approximately 100,000 
vet erans and 160,000 family memt>ers who access 
earned veterans federal & state entitlements & benefits. 
• Ten statewide Veterans Service Offices located in Bel
grade, Billings, Butte, Great Falls, Havre, Helena, Ka
lispell, Lewistown, Miles City, and Missoula. 

YASetvlce Veteran Income • Manages the State's 
three Veterans' ceme-

Qffl!l.Q Generatlon; terles located at Fort 
Belgr-ade $1B,95o.s43 Harrison (Helena), 
Billings 32,648,560 Miles City and Missou-
Butte 10,779,284 la. 
Great Falls 33,792,773 • $168 of Federal VA 
Havre 11,137,592 money goes to MT Vets 
Helena 14,850,526 for every $1 of State 
Kalispell 27,773,845 General Fund & Special 
Lewistown 3,933,077 Revenue Investment. 
Miles City 7,156,801 • Partnership with Mo-
Missoula 27,839,438 tor Vehicle Division 

Federal $ to MT 
Vets: $187,862,739 

managing uveteran• 
state drivers license 
program. 

Montana Military Family Relief Fund 
The Montana Military Relief Fund (MMRF), signed into law in 
2007 by Governor Brian Schweitzer, provides monetary 
grants to families of Montana Guard & Reserve component 
members who, on or after April 28, 2007, are on active duty 
for federal service in a contingency operation. 
MMFRF grants are intended to help Montana families defray 
the costs of food, housing, utilities, medical services, and 
other expenses that become difficult to afford when a wage 
earner has temporarily left civilian employment and placed on 
active duty. 
During FY17 t he department paid grants t o milit ary families 
totaling $42,000. 

State Partnership Pro
gram 
The Montana-Kyrgyz Republic State 
Partnership Program (SPP) is a feder
ally-f unded joint initiative between 

Kyrgyz Repub!ic. the Department of State, DoD and Montana. 
SPP directly supports the interests of the United States t>y 
engaging partner nations through military and civilian con
tacts at all levels. The effectiveness of the program Iles in its 
ablfity to leverage the unique abilities and connections of 
Montana's Citizen Sotaiers. All activities are coordinated 
through the U.S. Ambassador and DoO. 

The current lack of a Defense Cooperation Agreement with 
the Ky~,z Republic has limited SPP activity, with or:e event 
conducted in FY17 ($35,000). We expect activity to increase 
in FY18 and further improve in FY19 and FY20. 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 188 of 351                                     Attachment # 33

Krista Artis 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Henderson, John W HON USAF SAF-IE (US) <john.w.henderson48.civ@mail.mil> 
Saturday, July 14, 2018 12:41 PM 
Greg Doyon 
RE: [Non-DoD Source] Community Visit Fol low-Up 

No problem with you sharing; have a great weekend. 

v/r 
John 

-----Original Message-----

From: Greg Doyon [mailto:gdoyon@greatfallsmt.net] 
Sent: Friday, July 13, 2018 3:40 PM 
To: Henderson, John W HON USAF SAF-IE (US) <john.w.henderson48.civ@mail.mil> 

Subject: RE: {Non-DoD Source] Community Visit Follow-Up 

All active links contained in this email were disabled. Please verify the 
identity of the sender, and confirm the authenticity of all links contained 
within the message prior to copying and pasting the address to a Web 
browser. 

Thank you Secretary Henderson for the response. May I share with the City 
Commissioners as well? 

Have a terrific weekend! 

Gtd 

Gregory T. Doyon 

City Manager 

City of Great Falls, Montana 

Office (406)455-8450 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 189 of 351                                     Attachment # 33

f 

Caution-www.greatfallsmt.net < Caution-http://www.greatfallsmt.net/ > 

From: Henderson, John W HON USAF SAF-IE (US) 
<john.w.henderson48.civ@mail.mil> 
Sent: Friday, July 13, 2018 11:53 AM 
To: Greg Doyon <gdoyon@greatfallsmt.net> 
Cc: Novotny, Ryan J Lt Col USAF SAF-IE (US} <ryan.j.novotny2.mil@mail.mil> 
Subject: RE: (Non-DoD Source] Community Visit Follow-Up 

Mr. Doyon, 

Thanks for the note and feedback; really appreciate your effort here. 

It was an honor to meet you, and we look forward to serving with you in the 
future. Thanks for all that you do for our Airmen, their families, and our 

Nation. 

I think you read my encroachment concerns well; this is a real safety 
concern for the Air Force at our bases across the country. Once 
incompatible development gets started, it is very difficult to stop it which 
negatively impacts our ability to operate effectively and certainly 
influences future basing and infrastructure decisions. 

I'll look forward to our paths crossing again soon. 

Thanks again, 

v/r 

John 

2 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 190 of 351                                     Attachment # 33

From: Greg Doyon <gdoyon@greatfallsmt.net < 
Caution-mailto:gdoyon@greatfallsmt.net > > 
Sent: Thursday, June 21, 2018 10:37 AM 
To: USAF Pentagon SAF-IE Mailbox Workflow 
<usaf.pentagon.saf-ie.mbx.workflow@mail.mil < 
Caution-mailto:usaf.pentagon.saf-ie.mbx.workflow@mail.mil > > 
Cc: Moriarty, Robert E SES USAF AFCEC (US) <robert.moriarty.3@us.af.mi1 < 
Caution-mailto:robert.moriarty.3@us.af.mil > > 
Subject: [Non-DoD Source] Community Visit Follow-Up 
Importance: High 

All active links contained in this email were disabled. Please verify the 
identity of the sender, and confirm the authenticity of all links contained 
within the message prior to copying and pasting the address to a Web 
browser. 

Dear Assistant Secretary Henderson: 

Thank you for taking the time to visit with me on Wednesday, June 20, 2018 
at the Association of Defense Communities Annual Summit. 

We had an opportunity to visit about housing, Joint Land Use, GBSD, and 
encroachment. When we visited about Malmstrom Air Force encroachment, there 
appeared to be concern about the impact on the installation and a concern 
that maybe the community did not understand the full impact of allowing the 
proposed development. The concern appeared to extend to both current 
missions (whether it be helicopter operations, GBSD, MT ANG training 
partnership) and/or possible future mission needs. 

I've attached the Bullet Background Paper provided by the installation. 
The paper was used by the local Planning Board and will be considered by the 
City Commission when it receives the application for formal consideration. 

As. I've stressed to both MTANG and MAFB, any concerns the Air Force has 
about the proposed development needs to provide as soon as possible so that 
the elected officials may make an objective and well informed decision. If 
I misread your concern, please let me know. Should you need additional 

3 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 191 of 351                                     Attachment # 33

information, please contact me directly at the number below. 

Thank you. 

< !--[if lsupportlists]-->-

Gregory T. Doyon 

City Manager 

City of Great Falls, Montana 

Office (406)455-8450 

< !--[endif]-->Gtd 

Caution-Caution-www.greatfallsmt.net < 
Caution-Caution-http://www.greatfa llsmt. net/ > 

City of Great Falls e-mails may be subject to Montana's Right To Know law 
{Article II Sec 9, Montana Constitution) and may be a Public Record 
{2-6-1002, M.C.A.) and available for public inspection. 

City of Great Falls e-mails may be subject to Montana's Right To Know law 
{Article II Sec 9, Montana Constitution) and may be a Public Record 
{2-6-1002, M.C.A.) and available for public inspection. 

4 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 192 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

CASCADE COUNTY 

9/13/2018 

The Honorable Mayor and Commissioners 
City of Great Falls 
P.O. Box 5021 
Great Falls, MT 59403 

Dear Mayor Kelly and Commissioners, 

Board of County Commissioners 
325 2nd Avenue North 
Great Falls, MT 59401 

Tel. 406.454.6810 
Fax 406.454.6945 

commission@cascadecountymt.gov 
www.cascadecountymt.gov 

Cascade County and the City of Great Falls have a long tradition of cooperation in a variety of arenas 

spanning the gambit from law enforcement, street maintenance, Fire suppression and land use policy. It 

has become increasingly common for developments planned for annexation into the city to utilize the 

County subdivision process to expedite the overall project. Some notable examples of this cooperative 

path would include subdivisions such as AgriTech Park, Castle Pines, Rock Crest and Thaniel Addition. It 

is therefore odd that we now need to come before you to formally ask that you not grant the requested 

annexation of the proposed Wheat Ridge Estates. 

Unlike the afore mentioned joint processes being used successfully to create new housing and 

industrial development within the City of Great Falls, this process has not been collaborative in nature. 

On the contrary, a prime reason that the developer seeks city annexation is to circumvent the existing 

county land development regulation and zoning on this parcel. Simply put, the building of high density 

housing on this parcel is not allowed under Cascade County Zoning and would violate Goal 4 of the 

Cascade County Growth Policy. More importantly it would violate the long-standing Accident Potential 

Zone and Clear Zone associated with the runway at Malmstrom AFB. 

The construction of the proposed subdivision would effectively negate the APZ on the South end of the 

runway and destroy the existing flight safety corridor that currently exists. Cascade County has 

diligently worked to manage the encroachment surrounding Malmstrom AFB and keeping the APZs clear 

is an important part of that effort. The City of Great Falls has always been a partner with us in making 

certain that both the current mission as well as future potential of Malmstrom AFB is not impeded by 

unnecessary urban development around the base. We certainly hope that you will continue that 

partnership by denying this annexation request. 

We recognize that denying an annexation request such as this may not be an easy action to take and 

that your decision is discretionary on whether or not you believe the action is in the best interest of the 

City of Great Falls. 

As you review the City Staff report, you will find a number of issues of concern to your staff regarding 

the granting of the request for annexation. You will find memos of concern regarding potential impacts 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 193 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

on the existing mission at Malmstrom from the Helicopter squadron and you will read testimony from 

two retired Major Generals who were both previously Commanders of Wing 1 expressing their concern 

over the impacts of allowing this encroachment to occur. You will find letters of concern from the 

members of our congressional delegation as well as the Board of Directors of the Great Falls Area 

Chamber of Commerce. 

We are hopeful that when you weigh the multiple negatives of this particular annexation and the 

potential risk to Malmstrom's future that it represents against the positive of a few high dollar view 

homes that you will conclude that it is not in the city's best long-term interest to grant this annexation 

request. 

Under the current situation, this parcel and indeed this dispute over the land use regulations in place 

on this parcel lies outside of your jurisdiction. The County has not requested that you take on this issue 

through the annexation process, instead, the developer has asked you to circumvent county authority 

by annexation. The County requests that you honor our authority in this matter and continue to let the 

county protect the APZ flight safety corridor from encroachment as we have for many years. 

No one can accurately predict the future needs of the base nor what mission profiles may be under 

consideration for our base. However, there is no compelling public need at this point to foreclose the 

potential use of the runway by encroaching on the APZ Safety corridor. The military needs community 

partners who remain flexible and able to support future missions not partners who needlessly preclude 

future options. 

The Cascade County Commission 

2 

av~ 
/ 

Jim Larson 
Commissioner 



 
JLUS Background Briefing before the City of Great Falls Commission 

09/18/2018 in the matter of the Annexation of a 20.98 acre parcel – Wheat Ridge Estates 

 

Presented by Joe Briggs, Cascade County Commission and Chairman of the Malmstrom AFB JLUS  

  What is the JLUS? 

  Several of you were not members of the Commission were not members of the commission when the 

JLUS (Joint Land Use Study) was initiated so allow me to give you a very brief overview of the study and 

the process. 

  The Joint Land Use Study is a cooperative venture between the City of Great Falls, Cascade County, 

Chouteau County, Fergus County, Judith Basin County, Lewis and Clark County, Teton County, 

Wheatland County, Malmstrom AFB and the Department of Defense.  Although the formal portion of 

the study has been completed, the document and its findings are used routinely throughout the 

Malmstrom AFB complex to help guide compatible use and development of civilian facilities.  In short, 

the JLUS was crafted to aid the participating jurisdictions in making informed decisions regarding land 

use and how those decisions might affect the long-term viability of MAFB, its current mission and 

potential future missions.   

  The roles and responsibilities of the partnering agencies are delineated throughout the JLUS document 

but basically, the Department of Defense provides the 90% of the funding for the effort through the 

OEA, Malmstrom agrees to share as much information as they can in regard to the mission impacts  of 

land use decisions in the study area and the jurisdictions agree to utilize the JLUS as a guide in making 

decisions and agree as appropriate to incorporate the recommendations of the study into their land use 

regulations. 

Who were the stakeholders in the Malmstrom AFB JLUS? 

  Stakeholders include individuals, groups, organizations, and governmental entities interested in, 

affected by, or affecting the outcome of the Malmstrom AFB JLUS. Involving stakeholders early on is 

instrumental in the identification of important issues to be addressed and resolved through the JLUS 

process. Stakeholders for the Malmstrom AFB JLUS included, but were not limited to:  

• Cascade County, Chouteau County, Fergus County, Lewis and Clark County, Judith Basin County, 
Teton County, Wheatland County 

• City of Great Falls  

• DoD officials (including OEA representatives) and military installation personnel 

• Local, regional, and state planning, regulatory, and land management agencies 

• The public (including residents and landowners) 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 194 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

CASCADE COUNTY 

Board of County Commissioners 
325 2nd Avenue North 
Great Falls, MT 59401 

Tel. 406.454.6810 
Fax 406.454.6945 

commission@cascadecountymt.gov 
www.cascadecountymt.gov 



 

2 
 

• Environmental advocacy organizations 

• Nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) such as the Great Falls Area Chamber and GF Realtors 

• Other special interest groups (including local educational institutions and school districts) 

 

 What Actions have been taken as a result of the JLUS? 

  Since Malmstrom AFB and the one hundred sixty-five (165) individual missile related facilities are all 

outside of the City of Great Falls, thus far the work of implementation of the JLUS recommendations has 

been done Cascade County and the other six missile counties.  These efforts have included the 

successful passage of the Military Area Compatibility Act MCA 10-1-1501 -  which provides limited 

zoning authority specifically to protect military assets from encroachment which impacts not only 

existing missions but also future missions. 

  Following the completion of the JLUS document, Cascade County, DOD and MAFB and the other 

missiles counties undertook a successful effort to map areas of potential concern for Malmstrom AFB 

throughout the missile filed that were not already identified within the JLUS documents themselves.  

This effort resulted in a compatible use map that allows developers throughout the region to know in 

advance whether or not a parcel of land might be on concern to Malmstrom’s missions.  

   Additionally, as a result of the JLUS, Cascade County has added a Military height overlay, a noise 

overlay as well as including a definition for and delineation of the boundaries of the Clear Zone, Accident 

Potential Zone I and II within our zoning regulations and zoning maps.  The Cascade County Growth plan 

has also been modified to reference many of the recommendations contained within the JLUS.  These 

include but are not limited to the following stated goal of the Cascade County Growth Policy: 

   

 Montana law requires the governing body within the area covered by a growth policy to be guided by 

and give consideration to the general policy and pattern of development set out in the growth policy 

when acting on public infrastructure, zoning regulations and special use permits.    

GOAL 4  Retain the presence of the US Military in Cascade County 

Objectives 

A. Encourage the federal congressional delegation to actively support maintaining the current 

mission status at a minimum. 

B. Promote the location of additional military missions in Cascade County. 

C. Encourage the reactivation of the runway at Malmstrom Air Force Base for fixed wing 

operations. 

D. Refer to the Joint Land Use Study for resolving conflicts and promoting mission compatible 

development. 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 195 of 351                                     Attachment # 34



 

3 
 

What Are the Clear Zone and Accident Potential Zones? 

  Simply put, the Clear Zone and APZ I & II are the areas where an aircraft is most likely to crash on 

departure or landing.  They are established at all US Military Bases that have a runway and are designed 

to be safety path for incoming and outgoing aircraft to minimize the danger to civilian population.  The 

construction of any buildings within the Clear Zone is prohibited and development within APZ I and II 

needs to be of a low population density nature.  Cascade County has protected the APZs from 

encroachment by zoning this area to “Agricultural” which closely mimics the population density allowed 

within the Accident Potential Zones. 

 

The figure above shows the configuration of the Air Force Clear Zone and APZs currently in use at 

Malmstrom and around the nation since 1973. 

 The military considers these safety paths to be a critical part of mission basing decisions and has 

previously required communities which have allowed encroachment to buy back and raise homes within 

the APZs.  While there are several examples of communities that have been given such an ultimatum, 

the most well-known examples are both in Virginia. The City of Virginia Beach (Oceana Naval Air Station) 

and Hampton VA (Langley AFB) have both received notice of mission termination and both have 

responded aggressively to stop the loss of their missions due to encroachment.  

 The Department of Defense has limited direct land use authority and as such relies on its partner 

communities to use their local land use authority to protect missions from encroachment.  Communities 

that fail to take required actions are not viewed in a favorable light in decisions about where missions 

are located and may as in the two cases above invite base closure.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 196 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

Accident Potential Zones 

Navy/Marines 

Runway 

.:-........ ". 
.. 411•·· .. ;. .... : 

........ • ••• • ..----.------,_ ....... , .. 
APZ ll······ 3,000' 

............... I 
....... ,---1.., 

APZI 

13,000' I 5,.000' 7,000' l 
Air Force 

:•-·· ... ······•4. "'. . ...... •· .. : , ...... . I ... .. 
APZ ll•····· 3,000' 

•••• I 
-----------···-···-···-···_· --- ____J_ 

APZI 

1
3,ooo· I 5,000' 7,000' I 



 

4 
 

 

  The figure above shows the statistics used by the DOD to determine the size of the APZ requirements, 

you will note the 68% of mishaps happen with the APZs. 

  The City of Virginia Beach is one many examples of communities that endangered their missions by 

failing to control the encroachment around their bases. In 2005 Virginia Beach was notified that Naval 

Air Station Oceana would be closed due to the encroachment of the Clear Zone and APZs at the end of 

the runways.  Recognizing the catastrophic impact this would have on their regional economy the city 

council drastically altered their land use regulations in the APZs to reduce the population density and 

created ordinances that allowed the city to buy back properties within the APZs.  The buybacks began in 

2007 and by 2010 the city had accomplished its goal to reduce encroachment adequately to save their 

mission. Likewise, The City of Hampton VA was also placed notice that the encroachment around their 

base was of concern to DOD.  They also have initiated a buy back process on properties within their APZs 

to reduce the encroachment and preserve the mission. 

The total acreage acquired by Virginia Beach in the APZ-1 and Clear Zone 

through FY’10 was 63.48 acres (2,765,408 sq. ft.). The city has spent 

$47,306,922 to acquire this property. 

http://www.yesoceana.com/new-2014/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/NAS_Oceana_Encroachment_3rd_Progress_Report.pdf 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 197 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

...... ,,.,.. -- Mishap Analysis 

Cl) 15,000 +,I 

C 

ft Q) 
"C 
'cj 
CJ 

<C 
II-
0 
~ 0 

Q) 

> :;:; 
~ 
::::I 
E 
::::I 

(.) 

Distance from Threshold 

http://www.yesoceana.com/new-2014/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/NAS_Oceana_Encroachment_3rd_Progress_Report.pdf


 

5 
 

 How does this information relate to Wheat Ridge Estates? 

 The proposed development for Wheat Ridge Estates is directly in violation of the Cascade County 

Zoning for the area, violates Goal 4 of the Cascade County Growth Policy and is specifically noted in the 

JLUS as an incompatible use that could endanger both the existing and future missions at Malmstrom 

AFB.  Unfortunately, the site chosen for this proposed subdivision is almost all within either the Clear 

Zone or APZ I. 

 The black rectangle 

with diagonal stripes 

shown below 

displays the location 

of the proposed 

Wheat Ridge Estates 

and its location 

relative to the light 

green of APZ I.  It 

also covers a portion 

of the Clear Zone 

which the USAF 

holds an easement 

on to prevent 

development.  Only 

the most SE and NW 

tips of the proposed 

development lie 

outside of the APZ 

and Clear Zone. 

 In short, it is most 

unlikely that the 

County would 

permit development 

of high density 

housing such as this 

on this site so the 

developer has 

approached the city 

for annexation in 

order to remove the 

County land use regulations which prohibit this sort of development within the Clear Zone and APZ.  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 198 of 351                                     Attachment # 34

Legend 

Cascade County Zoning D Clear Zone' fZa Proposed Development /\/ Rur,way 

Accident Potential Zone I Malmslrom AFB /'../ Road 

MH - Mob,te Home D,stricl O Accident Potential Zone n City of Great Falls J".l' Railroad 

City ol Great Falls Zon,ng ~ USAF Reslricti¥e Use Eawment 

C-2 - General Commercial • l\lo S1ructun!s sl1ould be developed In Iha a.,,., Zone$ 
Source· Cascade C:0..,1y GIS 2010· c ,1y af GC'1!3I Fal s, 2010 

Matrix, .. 1· · °""" ••••• l - Figure 3.1-3 

0 0 02s os , Incompatible Zoning Within MAFB Safety Zones 
~ M110s 



 

6 
 

Do the APZs still matter? 

  Proponents of the annexation and construction of Wheat Ridge Estates will correctly point out that it 

has been many years since the runway has been used for fixed wing operations at Malmstrom.  This 

does not however that the existing APZs no longer have value.  There are ongoing daily flight operations 

at Malmstrom AFB utilizing helicopters.  In addition, the Montana Air National Guard utilizes Malmstrom 

AFB for training purposes by practicing precision drops of supplies from the C130s into target areas on 

the SE quadrant of the base.  In addition to these existing flight operations, plans exist for the creation 

of an assault runway parallel to the existing runway for MTANG to utilize for training.  Currently this 

proposal is on hold awaiting funding, but it remains a possible existing use of Malmstrom Airspace. 

 The goal of the APZs are to create and preserve safety corridors for the military to utilize to approach 

and depart from their airspace.  They are important not only to the existing military operations but also 

as a safety enhancement for our citizens by providing a designated route for military aircraft that does 

not overfly densely populated areas.  So long as there are any flight operations at Malmstrom it is 

appropriate to provide such a safety corridor. 

  If you look at the previous figure (3.1.3) you will note that the base is fully blocked to the West by 

developed areas of the City of Great Falls.  You will note that the Agritech park blocks the NW section of 

the base and the section East of the proposed site of Wheat Ridge Estates is blocked by the Foothills 

Ranch subdivision.  All of these existing subdivisions have been built so as to not destroy the flight 

operation safety corridor that has existed since the “East Base” was originally built.  As the city expands 

it is important that a safety corridor be maintained and as it currently stands we have one that also 

provides that opportunity for the reactivation of the runway.  A logical question would be if the city 

closes the existing safety corridor through the annexation and subdivision process, where will a new one 

be created?   

What does the future of Malmstrom look like? 

  This is the fundmental question that none of us can answer with absolute confidence.  Right now we 

are scheduled to receive an as of yet undesigned missile system (GBSD) to replace the existing 

Minuteman system.  The timeframe for the installation of this new system is not yet known nor are the 

specific requirements to build and implement the system.  

 If the program is fully funded each of the three existing missile wings will be upgraded to the new 

system.  If funding is reduced or a new treaty limiting the number of ballistic missles is signed, we may 

or may not receive the upgrade.  Not receiving the upgrade would end the existing mission at 

Malmstrom.  What if any new missions we would be eligible to recieve would depend on whether or not 

we had a viable runway with APZs and Clear zones intact.  The protection of the APZs and Clear zone are 

critical to maintaining the flexibility to receive a flying mission either as an additional mission or as a 

replacement to the ICBMs.   It has also been noted that having the ability to reopen the Malmstrom 

runway during the construction phase of the GBSD may be a factor in deciding which base gets 

upgraded first. Given the posibility that not all three bases will ultimately be upgraded, being first is 

important to our economic future. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 199 of 351                                     Attachment # 34



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 200 of 351                                     Attachment # 35

Ji 
KOA. 
Great people. 

Great camping.'M 

September 14, 2018 

Great Falls City Commission 

Great Falls KOA 

1500 5 I SL Stred South • Greal Falb, MT 59405 
Phom\ (106) 727-.H91 

Reservations: (800) 56l-(,584 
Email: manager@gre,L!fallsko,1.com 

www.k<l,tcom 

Subject: Annexation of Wheat Ridge Estates- Phase 1, Planned Unit Development. 

For use in Public Hearing September 18, 2018- KYSO Corporation 

My name is Loren Smith, and I am the owner of the Great Falls KOA Campground and Prairie Kraft 

Specialties. I am a direct neighbor to the West of this proposed development, sharing a land boundary 

with KYSO Corporation. 

I am in support of this Development proposal, and strongly recommend its approval. 

It seems a major concern is: Malmstrom and its closed runway. I am a current pilot and aircraft owner 

and do a LOT of business flying throughout the United States. Our business requires we visit KOA 

Campgrounds, and we have for 40+ years. As such, I offer the fol lowing very realistic comments: 

1. There will never be a flying mission coming to Malmstrom. It's ludicrous to think there ever will 

be. "Flying Missions" are on the decline in the Air Force and have been for many years. 

2. One of the military's largest issues is taking care of their person net, and they do a great job. In 

reality, "personnel" generally means a husband and wife (often with a family), typically with 

only one of the pair enlisted in the military. In the case of Great Falls, military means the Air 

Force. Both the husband and wife are generally professional people (in the case of a flying 

mission, think pilots/navigators) and both wish to have meaningful employment. As such, major 

metropolitan areas offer a significant advantage for the non-military partner. This ability to have 

gainful and meaningful employment in their area of interest or expertise supersedes the idea of 

of 500+ mph. 
3. I have had the privilege of flying into practically every state in the Union on multiple occasions, 

and almost every state has a major military base that has been closed over the past 20-30 years. 

In short, there are a LOT of big unused runways and facilities-think Glasgow, MT, in nearly all 

states. 
4. Local communities sec this "High Dolkir J\bandoned Military Base" and think, "There must be a 

use for this." The reality is, there isn't. Sad, but true. A Military Air Force Base is a Military Air 

Force Base, not a residential home site. 
5. There absolutely, positively should be no impediment to this project_in order to "Protect the 

Base." 
6. Today's Aircraft are extremely reliable including Military Aircraft. In addition to being reliable 

they are very well maintained and taken care of. As such, you very seldom hear of an Aircraft 

crashing, which is good new for all. Todays Military Aircraft are extremely expensive, and the 

Re1t1e111be1. Ifs n•t caw,f>i"~-

lf s ka~pin~ ~• 



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 201 of 351                                     Attachment # 35

,--

Ji 
Great Falls KOA 

1500 51 st. St reel South • ( ;reat htlb, MT 59405 
Phone: (406) 7!7-WH 

Reservations: (800) 56Z-6',8't 
KOA 
Great people. 

Great camping.'M 
Email: manager@lgrcatfallskoa.corn 

1¥ww. k<1a.corn 

loss of one is a huge financial cost hence the Military goes to great lengths to avoid it. Knowing 

this, they also know the potential of an accident off the end of a Runway is extremely low. 

7. By way of example: The Colorado Springs Airport is a joint use Airport, shared by both the 

Airforce and the Civilian. Hence, there is an "Airforce Side" and a "Civilian Side" to this Airport. 

There is a fair amount of "Airforce Flying" at this Airport including Student Flying as this is the 

home of the Airforce Academy. Off the end of one of the Runways, (Military side) the Airforce 

has built a Daycare Center for the Military folks! The Military knows the probability of an 

accident is so low that it is not a major consideration what lies off the end of a Runway. 

The taxpayers in Great Falls will benefit from this proposed development. When implemented, it will 

bring significant increase in property taxes to the State of Montana, Cascade County and the City of 

Great Falls. A "Runway Protection Zone," for a closed runway (20+ years) brings NO increase in taxes 

paid. Every property owner in Cascade County should be in favor of this project. 

Thank you for your consideration. Please feel free to call if t may be of any help. 

Sincerely, 

Loren Smith 

Owner, Great Falls KOA Campground 

Owner, Prairie Kraft Specialties 

1500 s rt st s 

Great Falls, MT 59405 

(406) 727-3192 

R~1t1~1t1b~t. &rs n~· ca111pin~. 

tf s kampinj ~" 



Agenda # 13.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Ordinance 3188, "An Ordinance Repealing and Replacing Title 10, of The Official Code of The
City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining To Vehicles and Traffic".

From: Legal Department

Initiated By: Legal Department

Presented By: Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney

Action Requested: Conduct a public hearing and adopt Ordinance 3188

Public Hearing:
1.     Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2.     Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.     

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
     "I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3188."
 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion,  Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission conduct a public hearing and adopt Ordinance 3188. 

Background:
In an effort to update the OCCGF, City staff has assembled input from the different departments to
continue a comprehensive revision of the Code. The Ordinance under consideration would repeal and
replace OCCGF Title 10, pertaining to vehicles and traffic.  The vast majority of the amendments are
non-substantive.  Non-substantive changes include chapter re-designation to put chapters in correct
numerical order, typographical errors, and reformatting of subsections.
 
The first proposed substantive change is relocating all definitions applicable to the Title to Chapter 1. 
Staff is proposing this change to improve readability and organization.
 
The next substantive proposed change is adopting specific penalty provisions throughout the Title.  This

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 202 of 351                                     



will eliminate confusion about potential vehicle-related OCCGF violations.  The change will also
improve efficiency in the ongoing OCCGF Code Enforcement process.
 
Other proposed substantive changes include updating payment options for parking meters and amending
parking violations to include violation of parking facility lease rules.  Recently, there have been
complications regarding enforcement of parking facility violations.  This change will help enforcement
officials, including prosecutors, to more effectively enforce OCCGF parking restrictions.
 
Additionally, Ord. 3188 proposes to require Montana Department of Transportation (MDT) approval
for traffic control devices placed on MDT rights-of-way.  This change is proposed to be consistent with
current practice and applicable State law and regulations.
 
Another proposed substantive change is to allow the City Parking Administrator, in consultation with the
Parking Advisory Commission, to add meters in City Commission established parking districts.  As the
Title currently reads, the Parking Administrator has the authority to remove meters in established
districts, but the Administrator does not have the authority to add meters.  This change is requested to
allow the Administrator the authority to add meters in established districts without presenting a formal
resolution to the City Commission.
 
The Ordinance under consideration would also allow the Parking Administrator to remove commercial
loading zones when loading zones are creating traffic hazards.  These changes are necessary to
efficiently eliminate ongoing traffic safety hazards.
 
Finally, the Ordinance under consideration would allow the Public Works Department, in conjunction
with the Great Falls Police Department, to remove vehicles that are parked in construction zones.  The
Ordinance establishes a procedure that must be followed in moving vehicles to another location.  This
amendment is proposed to bring the Title consistent with current practice.
 
The Ordinance under consideration was accepted unanimously on first reading.  Additional amendments
were added to after first reading.  These amendments include moving the definition of snowmobile to the
proposed definitions section in Chapter 1.  Also, the definition of “OCCGF”, the Official Code of the
City of Great Falls, was added to the definition section.  Additionally, Commissioners Robinson and
Moe suggested additional grammatical and format corrections which were incorporated into the current
version, and Eighth Avenue North was designated as a through street.
 
The ultimate goal of the Ordinance under consideration is to create consistency within the OCCGF, and
where applicable, the Montana Code Annotated and the ARM.  If Ord. 3188 is adopted, it will improve
application of the vehicle and traffic provisions of the OCCGF.
 
Ord. 3188 Exhibit “A” is a document illustrating the provisions that will replace the current OCCGF
Title 10.   Exhibit “B”, attached to this agenda report, illustrates the proposed Code in compared format,
if accepted.
 

ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 3188
Ord. 3188 Exhibit "A" (Updated from First Reading)
Ord. 3188 Exhibit "B" (Updated from First Reading)

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 203 of 351                                     

[) 

[) 

[) 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3188 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING TITLE 10 OF 

THE OFFICIAL CODE OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS 

(OCCGF), PERTAINING TO VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC. 

 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

WHEREAS, the City Commission established Title 10 of the OCCGF outlining 

provisions pertaining to Vehicles and Traffic; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission has recognized deficiencies throughout 

OCCGF Title 10, including but not limited to, typographical, grammatical, formatting, and 

referencing deficiencies; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to cure the deficiencies contained in 

OCCGF Title 10; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to make substantive amendments to 

OCCGF Title 10; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the amendments include substantive changes to regulations 

including, but not limited to, parking violations, parking district administration, abandoned 

or junked vehicles on public property, and vehicles parked in construction zones; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to establish clear penalty provisions for 

vehicle and traffic violations; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to establish consistency within the 

OCCGF, and where applicable the Montana Code Annotated. 

  
   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

Section 1.  OCCGF Title 10 is hereby repealed and replaced as depicted by Exhibit 

“A” attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein; and 

 

Section 2.   This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after 

public hearing and final adoption by the City Commission. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 204 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first 

reading September 4, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second 

reading September 18, 2018. 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Joseph P. Cik, Assistant City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

 

 I, Lisa Kunz, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did 

post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3188 

on the Great Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

 

 

 

 _________________________________ 

 Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

  

(CITY SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 205 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

Title 10   VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 
Chapter 
_____  

Chapter 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Chapter 2 - APPLICABILITY  

Chapter 3 - TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES AND PARKING METERS  

Chapter 4 - STOP INTERSECTIONS  

Chapter 5 - ONE-WAY STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Chapter 6 - FOUR-LANE STREETS AND ROADWAYS  

Chapter 7 - SPEED RESTRICTIONS  

Chapter 8 - MISCELLANEOUS DRIVING RULES  

Chapter 9 - STOPPING, STANDING, AND PARKING  

Chapter 10 - VEHICLE IMMOBILIZATION  

Chapter 11 - COMMERCIAL VEHICLES  

Chapter 12 - ABANDONED AND JUNKED VEHICLES, MACHINERY, TRAILERS, AND PARTS  

Chapter 13 - ABANDONED, WRECKED, JUNKED, OR DISMANTLED VEHICLES ON PRIVATE PROPERTY  

Chapter 14 - SNOWMOBILES  

Chapter 15 - MOTORCYCLES  

Chapter 16 - HANDICAPPED ZONE  

Chapter 17 - TRAILERS  

Chapter 18 - TOLL LOCATIONS  

Chapter 19 - LIABILITY FOR STREET DAMAGE  

Chapter 20 - EXCESS SIZE AND WEIGHT PERMITS  

Chapter 21 – PARKING VIOLATIONS  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 206 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 2 

Chapter 1   DEFINITIONS 
Section:  

10.1.010 Definitions. 

 

 

10.1.010   Definitions. 

Unless otherwise specified in this Title, the following definitions apply:  

A. "Abandoned vehicle" means any of the following: 

1. A vehicle that has been left unattended on public property for more than forty-eight 
(48) hours and is rendered inoperable;  

2. A vehicle that has remained illegally parked on public property for more than forty-
eight (48) hours;  

3. A vehicle that has been unlawfully parked on private real property or has been 
placed on private property without the consent of the real property owner or person 
in control of the property for more than forty-eight (48) hours;  

4. A vehicle that has been legally impounded by order of a law enforcement authority 
and has not been reclaimed for a period of five (5) days; or 

5. Any vehicle parked on a street determined by a law enforcement authority to create 
a hazard to other vehicle traffic. 

B. "Bicycle" means a non-motorized vehicle consisting of a metal frame on two (2) or more 
wheels and having handlebars and a seat.  

C. "Central Business District" means the C-4 Central Business Core Zoning District.  

D. “Commercial motor vehicle” any vehicle meeting the definition provided by Mont. Code 
Ann. § 61-1-101. 

E. "Freight Loading Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is designated for short-
term use by vehicles loading and unloading goods. Freight loading zones are established 
following the procedures adopted in this Title. This term also includes delivery zones in the 
metered parking district.  

F. "Handicapped Parking Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is designated 
for use only by vehicles that have a handicapped parking permit or plate. Handicapped 
parking zones are established following the procedures adopted in this Title.  

G. "Junk vehicle" means any vehicle, machinery, trailer, or parts thereof, located on public 
property or illegally parked on private property within the incorporated City limits, which, as 
to a vehicle or trailer, does not properly display license plates or stickers indicating current 
registration and/or which has any one (1) or more of the following characteristics:  

1. Lacks an engine, wheel, tire, properly installed battery or other structural part which 
renders the vehicle inoperable for use as designed by the manufacturer;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 207 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 3 

2. Has a broken or missing fender, door, bumper, hood, steering wheel, trunk top, 
trunk handle, tail pipe, muffler, driver's seat, fuel tank, driveshaft, differential, 
generator, or alternator;  

3. Has become or has the potential to become the breeding ground or habitat of rats, 
mice, snakes, mosquitoes or other vermin, rodents or insects, or is otherwise used 
for the storage, harbor, caging or dwelling for an animal of any kind;  

4. Has heavy growth of weeds or other noxious vegetation over eight (8) inches in 
height under or immediately next to it;  

5. Has become a point of collection for stagnant water;  

6. Contains junk, garbage, refuse, gasoline or fuel other than in its fuel tank, paper, 
cardboard, wood or other combustible materials, solid waste, or other hazardous 
material in it or is primarily used for storage of any materials;  

7. Has become a source of danger for children through possible entrapment in areas 
of confinement that cannot be opened from inside, through a danger of the vehicle 
falling or turning over, or through possible injury from exposed surfaces of metal, 
glass, or other rigid materials;  

8. Has become a potential source of contamination of the soil from petroleum 
products or other toxic liquids being discharged or leaking from the vehicle;  

9. Has become illegal to operate on the public streets because it is missing one (1) 
or more parts required by law; or  

10. Because of its defective, deteriorated, or obsolete condition, in any other way 
constitutes a nuisance or a threat to the public's health or safety.  

H. "Law enforcement authority" means a peace officer or any City, State, or Federal 
department or agency member operating in his or her professional capacity within the 
incorporated City limits. 

I. "Local service" means limiting the authorized use of City streets or avenues to those trucks 
which have either point of origin or destination for immediate business purposes within the 
incorporated City limits.  

J. "Machinery" is synonymous with and means the same as "machine" as defined by the 
current edition of the Merriam-Webster Dictionary. 

K. “OCCGF” means the Official Code of the City of Great Falls. 

L. "Operator" means any person who operates or is in actual physical control of the operation 
of vehicle. 

M. "Parking Administrator" means the City employee or contractor tasked by the City Manager 
with the management of the City's parking facilities.  Within this Title this person may also 
be referred to as “The Administrator”. 

N. "Parking Official" means peace officers and other persons designated by the City Manager 
to enforce the provisions of this Title. 

O. "Parking Meter" means any device installed for the regulation of the time allowed for 
parking as provided by this Title.  

P. "Part" means any mechanical, structural, body, or decorative component of any vehicle, 
machinery, or trailer. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 208 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 4 

Q. "Passenger Loading Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is designated for 
short-term use by vehicles loading and unloading people. This specifically includes school 
bus loading zones. Passenger loading zones are established following the procedures 
adopted in this Title. 

R. "Person" means any individual, partnership, association or corporation, or other legal 
entity. 

S. "Snowmobile" means any self-propelled vehicle designed primarily for travel on the snow 
or ice, which may be steered by wheels, skis or runners, and which is not otherwise 
registered or licensed under Montana State law.  

T. "Trailer" means any vehicle without motor power designed for carrying persons or property 
and for being drawn by a motor vehicle.  The term includes devices intended for 
recreational camping purposes carried in the bed of a pick-up truck. 

U. "Vehicle" means any device by which any person or property may be propelled, moved, or 
drawn upon a street. The term includes, but is not limited to:  

1. An automobile;  

2. Truck;  

3. Van;  

4. Sport utility vehicle;  

5. Recreational vehicle;  

6. Watercraft;  

7. Boat;  

8. Jet ski;  

9. Snowmobile;  

10. ATV;  

11. Aircraft, or  

12. Parts thereof.  

 

 

Chapter 2   APPLICABILITY 
Sections:  

10.2.010 Pushcarts and animals. 

10.2.020 Toy vehicles and devices—restrictions—exception. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 209 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 5 

10.2.010   Pushcarts and animals. 

Any person propelling any pushcart, riding an animal, or driving any animal-drawn vehicle shall be subject 
to the provisions of this Title.  

10.2.020   Toy vehicles and devices—restrictions—exception. 

A. It is unlawful for any person upon roller skates, toy vehicle, or similar device to be upon 
any roadway except while crossing a street on a crosswalk.  Such person shall be granted 
all rights and shall be subject to all the duties applicable to pedestrians.  

B. A violation of this section is punishable by a fine of fifty dollars ($50.00). 

 

 

Chapter 3   TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES AND PARKING METERS 
Sections:  

10.3.010 Installation of traffic control devices and parking meters. 

10.3.020 Obedience required. 

10.3.030 Interference with signals. 

10.3.040 Crosswalks, traffic lanes, and parking spaces. 

10.3.050 Standards and specifications. 

10.3.060 No-passing zones—establishment authority. 

10.3.070 Lane designation signs—erection. 

 

 

10.3.010   Installation of traffic control devices and parking meters. 

A. The Public Works Department, with the approval of the City Commission and The Montana 
Department of Transportation when applicable, shall place and maintain traffic and parking 
control signs, signals, and devices when and as required under the OCCGF, pursuant to 
the recommendations of the Manual on Traffic Control Devices, and may place and 
maintain such additional traffic-control devices as necessary to regulate traffic under the 
OCCGF or under State law, or to guide or warn traffic.  

B. In parking meter zones established pursuant to this Title, the Planning and Community 
Development Director, or designee, shall cause parking meters to be installed upon the 
curb or sidewalk immediately adjacent to the parking spaces.  The Planning and 
Community Development Director shall be responsible for the regulation, control, 
operation, maintenance, and use of such parking meters.  

C. Upon the expiration of the lawful time limit, the right of the occupying vehicle to occupy 
such space ceases and the operator, owner, possessor, or manager thereof, shall be 
subject to the penalties provided in this Title.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 210 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 6 

10.3.020   Obedience required. 

The driver of any vehicle shall obey the instruction of any official traffic-control device applicable thereto 
placed in accordance with the traffic laws of the City, unless otherwise directed by a law enforcement officer, 
subject to the exceptions granted the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle.  

10.3.030   Interference with signals. 

A. It is unlawful for any person without legal authorization to attempt to or alter, deface, injure, 
knock down, or remove any official traffic-control device, railroad sign, or any other part 
thereof.  

B. It is unlawful for any person to damage, disable, or destroy any parking meter. 

C. A violation of this section is punishable by a term not to exceed six (6) months in jail, a fine 
of not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or both.   

10.3.040   Crosswalks, traffic lanes, and parking spaces. 

The Public Works Department is authorized to:  

A. Install and maintain by appropriate devices, marks, or lines upon the surface of the 
roadway crosswalks at intersections where there is particular danger to pedestrians 
crossing the roadway, and at such other places as deemed necessary; and  

B. Mark lanes for traffic on street pavements at such places as he or she may deem advisable, 
consistent with the OCCGF.  

10.3.050   Standards and specifications. 

All traffic control signs, signals, and devices shall conform to the standards and guidelines set forth by the 
Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  

10.3.060   No-passing zones—establishment authority. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to determine those portions of any roadway where overtaking and passing or driving to the left 
of the roadway would be especially hazardous and provide appropriate signage.  

10.3.070   Lane designation signs—erection. 

Official signs may be erected directing traffic to use a designated lane or designating those lanes to be 
used by traffic moving in a particular direction regardless of the center of the roadway.  

 

Chapter 4   STOP INTERSECTIONS 
Sections:  

10.4.010 Designated. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 211 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 7 

10.4.020 Stop sign erection—authority. 

 

 

10.4.010   Designated. 

The following streets and parts of streets are through streets at stop intersections for the purpose of this 
Chapter:  

A. Second Avenue North from Park Drive to east City limits;  

B. Park Drive from Second Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North;  

C. First Avenue North from Thirty-Seventh Street to west end of First Avenue North Bridge;  

D. Central Avenue West from west end of First Avenue North Bridge to west City limits;  

E. Sixth Street Southwest from Central Avenue West to south City limits;  

F. Third Street Northwest and Smelter Avenue from Central Avenue West to northeast City 
limits;  

G. Tenth Avenue South from west City limits to east City limits;  

H. Ninth Street from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive North;  

I. Fourteenth and Fifteenth Streets couplet from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive North;  

J. Central Avenue from Ninth Street to Forth-sixth Street;  

K. Second Street from Tenth Avenue South to First Avenue South;  

L. River Drive inside City limits;  

M. Twenty-fifth and Twenty-sixth Streets couplet from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive 
North;  

N. Twenty-sixth Street South from Tenth Avenue South to the south City limits;  

O. Fifth and Sixth Street couplets from Central Avenue to Tenth Avenue South;  

P. Second Avenue South from Second Street to Fifteenth Street;  

Q. First Avenue South from Park Drive to Fifteenth Street;  

R. Thirteenth Avenue South from Fourth Street to Twentieth Street;  

S. Thirty-second Street South from Central Avenue to Tenth Avenue South;  

T. Thirteenth Street South from Tenth Avenue South to south City limits;  

U. Fox Farm Road from Tenth Avenue South to south City limits;  

V. Upper River Road from River Road loop to south City limits; and 

W. Eighth Avenue North from Park Drive North to Thirty-Eighth Street North. 

10.4.020   Stop sign erection—authority. 

Whenever the OCCGF designates and describes a through street, it shall be the duty of the Public Works 
Department to place and maintain a stop sign on each and every street intersecting such through street or 
intersection that portion thereof described and designated as such by the OCCGF.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 212 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 8 

 

Chapter 5   ONE-WAY STREETS AND ALLEYS 
Sections:  

10.5.010 Sign placement and maintenance. 

10.5.020 Direction designated. 

 

 

10.5.010   Sign placement and maintenance. 

Whenever the OCCGF designates a one-way street or alley, the Public Works Department shall place and 
maintain signs giving notice thereof. Signs indicating the direction of lawful traffic movement shall be placed 
at every intersection where movement of traffic in the opposite direction is prohibited.  

10.5.020   Direction designated. 

A. Upon those streets, parts of streets, and alleys described in subsection B of this section, 
vehicular traffic shall move only in the indicated direction.  Movement in the opposite 
direction is prohibited.  

B. In accordance with Section 10.5.010 and when proper signs are posted, traffic shall move 
only in the direction indicated upon the following streets or avenues.  

 

Street, Avenue or Alley  Permitted direction  

First Avenue North  

Park Drive to Thirty-seventh Street  
Eastbound 

First Avenue South  

Park Drive to Fifteenth Street  
Westbound 

Second Avenue South  

Second Street to Fifteenth Street  
Eastbound 

Second Avenue North  

Park Drive to Thirty-seventh Street  
Westbound 

Fifth Street  

Eighth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Southbound 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 213 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 9 

Sixth Street  

Eighth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Northbound 

Fourteenth Street  

Twelfth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Southbound 

Fifteenth Street  

Twelfth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Northbound 

Twenty-fifth Street  

Tenth Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North  
Southbound 

Twenty-fifth Alley Northeast  

Sixth Street Northeast to Ninth Street Northeast  
Westbound 

Twenty-sixth Street  

Tenth Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North  
Northbound 

Park Drive  

First Avenue South to Second Street  
Southbound  

  

 

Chapter 6   FOUR-LANE STREETS AND ROADWAYS 
Sections:  

10.6.010 Designated marking regulations. 

 

 

10.6.010   Designated marking regulations. 

A. The following streets and avenues or portions thereof, located within the incorporated City 
limits, are designated as four-lane streets and roadways:  

1. Central Avenue:  
From the east line of Ninth Street to the west line of Fifteenth Street;  

2. Tenth Avenue South:  
From the west City limits to the east City limits;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 214 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 10 

3. Central Avenue West:  
From the west abutment of the First Avenue North Bridge to west line of 
Interstate 15;  

4. Fourteenth and Fifteenth Streets North:  
From the south line of Twelfth Avenue North to the south abutment of the 
Fifteenth Street North Bridge;  

5. First Avenue North: 
From west abutment of First Avenue North Bridge to west line of Park Drive;  

6. Park Drive:  
From south line of First Avenue North to north line of First Avenue South;  

7. Sixth Street SW:  
From Central Avenue West, south to City limit;  

8. Northwest Bypass:  
From Third Street Northwest, west to City limits;  

9. Third Street Northwest and Smelter Avenue:  
From Central Avenue West, northeast to City limits;  

10. Ninth Street North:  
From 8th Avenue North to south abutment of Tenth Street North Bridge;  

11. Tenth Street North:  
From north abutment of Tenth Street North Bridge, north to City limits;  

12. Fox Farm Road:  
From Tenth Avenue South to Alder Drive; and  

13. River Drive:  
From Tenth Street North to Fifteenth Street North.  

B. The Public Works Department is directed to mark appropriately all such four-lane streets 
or roadways and to keep the same properly marked and designated for four-lane traffic.  

C. All vehicles proceeding on any four-lane street or roadway must be driven wholly within a 
single lane and the driving of any vehicle so as to straddle two (2) lanes of traffic, except 
in passing from one (1) lane to the other, is prohibited.  

 

Chapter 7   SPEED RESTRICTIONS 
Sections:  

10.7.010 Established—specific streets. 

10.7.020 Established - alleys. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 215 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 11 

10.7.010   Established—specific streets. 

In accordance with Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-306, no person shall drive a motor vehicle at a speed greater 
than the speed as set forth in the following schedule:   

Street and Avenue  
Maximum 

M.P.H.  

Central Avenue  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
25  

Central Avenue  

Fifteenth Street to Thirty-eighth Street  
30  

First Avenue South  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
30  

Second Avenue South  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
30  

Second Street South  

Tenth Avenue South to south line of First Avenue South  
30  

Park Drive  

First Avenue North to Eighth Avenue North  
30  

Parkdale Housing  

All streets within the following boundaries:  

Bounded on the north by the north line of Fifth Avenue South; on the east by the west line 

of Eighteenth Street and Chowen Park; on the south by the north line of Eighth Avenue 

South and Chowen Park; and on the west by the east line of Fifteenth Street  

15 

Eighth Avenue North  

Park Drive to Twenty-fifth Street  

All trucks only  

20  

  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 216 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 12 

10.7.020   Established - alleys. 

The limit for all alleys within the incorporated City limits is fifteen (15) miles per hour.  

 

Chapter 8   MISCELLANEOUS DRIVING RULES 
Sections:  

10.8.010 Driving on sidewalk prohibited—exception. 

10.8.020 Boarding or exiting from moving vehicles prohibited. 

10.8.030 Passenger regulations. 

10.8.040 Violation—misdemeanor—penalty. 

10.8.050 Use of electronic communication devices while operating a motorized vehicle or a bicycle. 

 

 

10.8.010   Driving on sidewalk prohibited—exception. 

A. The driver of a vehicle shall not drive upon any sidewalk area except at a permanent 
driveway. 

B. This section does not apply to City authorized vehicles performing sidewalk maintenance 
or snow removal.  

10.8.020   Boarding or exiting from moving vehicles prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to board or exit any vehicle while the vehicle is in motion.  

10.8.030   Passenger regulations. 

It is unlawful for any person to ride on any vehicle or portion thereof not designed or intended for the use 
of passengers. This provision shall not apply to an employee engaged in the necessary discharge of a duty.  

10.8.040   Violation—misdemeanor—penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00), a term not to exceed six (6) months in jail, or both.  

10.8.050   Use of electronic communication devices while operating a motorized vehicle 

or a bicycle. 

A. No person operating a motorized vehicle or a bicycle on a public highway within the 
incorporated City limits shall use a mobile telephone to engage a call and/or use any other 
hand-held electronic communication device to compose, send, view or retrieve email, a 
text message, or other electronic data.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 217 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 13 

B. "Hand-held electronic communication device" includes wireless or cellular phones, laptop 
and notebook computers, GPS and navigational systems, pagers, electronic games, and 
any other device that would permit wireless communications to and from the user of the 
device.  

C. This section does not apply to the following:  

1. Any person reporting a health, fire, safety, or police emergency;  

2. Governmental fire agencies, ambulance services, law enforcement agencies, 
emergency responders, or any other person operating an "authorized emergency 
vehicle" as defined in Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-102(2)(a);  

3. Operators or passengers of a motorized vehicle using a hand-held electronic 
communication device while in a parking lane or space out of moving traffic lanes;  

4. Persons using a "hands-free device", defined as, an external device that connects 
to a wireless telephone, wireless or electronic communication device that allows 
use of the hands-free device; and   

5. Drivers using two-way radios while in the performance and scope of their work-
related duties, or drivers holding a valid amateur radio operator license issued by 
the Federal Communications Commission while using a two-way radio.  

D. The penalties for a violation of this section are as follows:  

1. A first conviction for a violation of this section, shall be punishable by a fine not 
less than two hundred dollars ($200.00) and not more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00);  

2. A second conviction, within 24 months after the first conviction, for a violation of 
this section, shall be punishable by a fine not less than three hundred dollars 
($300.00) and not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00). The Defendant shall 
further participate in twenty (20) hours of Court-approved community service to be 
completed within ninety (90) days of the date of the second conviction. The 
Defendant shall provide completion of community service to the Great Falls 
Municipal Court; and  

3. A third or subsequent conviction, within 24 months after the first conviction, for a 
violation of this section, shall be punishable by a fine not less than four hundred 
dollars ($400.00) or more than five hundred dollars ($500.00). The Defendant shall 
further participate in forty (40) hours of community service to be completed within 
ninety (90) days of the date of conviction. Additional penalties may include 
forfeiture of license plates of the vehicle, driven at the time of the offense, or 
forfeiture of the Defendant's driver's license for a period not to exceed 180 days, 
or both.  

 

Chapter 9   STOPPING, STANDING, AND PARKING 
Sections:  

10.9.010 Stopping, standing or parking close to curb. 

10.9.020 Lights on parked vehicles. 

10.9.030 Parking at meters. 

10.9.040 Paying for parking. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 218 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 14 

10.9.050 Stopping or parking on public streets and alleys. 

10.9.060 Parking in alleys. 

10.9.070 Parking for certain purposes prohibited. 

10.9.080 Parking of commercial vehicles. 

10.9.090 Compliance with signs required. 

10.9.100 Curb or pavement markings. 

10.9.110 Parking controlled adjacent to schools. 

10.9.120 Parking controlled on narrow traffic ways. 

10.9.130 Parking controlled during certain hours of the day and/or days of the week. 

10.9.140 Stopping, standing or parking controlled in hazardous or congested places. 

10.9.150 Stopping, standing or parking controlled along arterial and collector traffic ways. 

10.9.160 On-street loading and parking zones. 

10.9.170 Parking management districts. 

10.9.180 Review of applications for loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.9.190 Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones. 

10.9.200 Use of loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.9.210 Passenger loading zones serving schools. 

10.9.220 Delivery permits. 

10.9.230 Meter bags. 

10.9.240 Residential parking in parking management districts. 

10.9.250 Administration of parking management districts. 

10.9.260 Parking meter enforcement periods and time limits. 

10.9.270 Courtesy parking. 

10.9.280 Unauthorized parking in off-street parking facilities prohibited. 

10.9.290 Rates charged on City owned or operated off-street parking lots, garages, and parking meters. 

10.9.300 Parking in construction zones. 

 

 

10.9.010   Stopping, standing or parking close to curb. 

Unless otherwise provided in this Chapter, it is unlawful for any person to stop, stand, or park a vehicle, 
other than a motorcycle, in a traffic way other than parallel with the edge of the traffic way headed in the 
direction of the lawful traffic movement for the lane in which it is stopped, standing, or parked and with the 
wheels of the vehicle within eighteen (18) inches of the curb or edge of the traffic way.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 219 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 15 

10.9.020   Lights on parked vehicles. 

Any lighted headlamps upon a parked vehicle shall be depressed or dimmed.  

10.9.030   Parking at meters. 

A. Except as directed by an officer or representative of Great Falls Fire Rescue (GFFR) 
Department, Great Falls Police Department (GFPD) officer or representative, or a City 
parking official, vehicles using metered parking spaces shall park within the area and at 
the angle delineated by the pavement markings.  

B. When pavement markings are obscured by snow, wear, or other conditions and there is 
angle parking, vehicles shall be parked to the left side or right side of the appropriate meter.  

C. Where there is parallel parking, vehicles shall be parked front end to or rear end to, within 
eighteen (18) inches of the appropriate meter, and within eighteen (18) inches of the curb. 
Failure to comply with this section is a violation of this Title, subject to the penalties and 
fees authorized by Chapter 21 of this Title.  

10.9.040   Paying for parking. 

A. Upon parking in a metered parking space, the occupants of the vehicle shall immediately 
pay for parking using coins of the United States or any other means provided for payment 
by the City, including a mobile electronic device application.  

B. The available means of payment shall be indicated on the meter and/or signs posted on 
the adjoining sidewalk. The occupants may display a free parking pass issued by the City. 
Failure to pay for parking or to display a pass is a violation of this Title subject to the 
penalties and fees authorized by Chapter 21 of this Title.  

C. A valid free parking pass bears the signature of the Parking Administrator, the City 
Manager, or the City's authorized agent, and an expiration date. Attempted use of a pass 
that does not bear an authorized signature and an expiration date is a violation of this Title, 
subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Chapter 21 of this Title.  

D. Vehicle occupants may use unexpired time on a parking meter, but the unexpired time 
counts toward the applicable time limit.  

10.9.050   Stopping or parking on public streets and alleys. 

Except when temporarily necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic, when so directed by a GFFR or GFPD 
officer or representative, City parking official, or where a parking space is clearly delineated by pavement 
markings, it is a violation of this Title, punishable by Chapter 21 of this Title, to park a vehicle in any of the 
following places:  

A. In front of, across from, or within five (5) feet of a public or private driveway, an alley, or as 
otherwise indicated by pavement markings and/or official signs, which may prohibit parking 
in a larger area adjacent to the driveway or alley;  

B. Within a signed and/or marked fire hydrant zone, or if the fire hydrant zone is not signed 
and/or marked, within ten (10) feet of a fire hydrant;  

C. Within thirty (30) feet in front of any crosswalk (marked or unmarked) at an intersection;  

D. Within twenty (20) feet beyond any crosswalk (marked or unmarked) at an intersection;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 220 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 16 

E. Within thirty (30) feet in front of or twenty (20) feet beyond any mid-block crosswalk;  

F. Upon the paved or main traveled part of a street or alley when it is practical to stop or park 
in a delineated parking space, on the shoulder, or otherwise safely out of the flow of traffic;  

G. In a traffic lane for the purpose of discharging or receiving passengers, in which case both 
the driver of the vehicle and the passenger may be cited for a violation;  

H. In a marked or signed fire lane;  

I. In violation of parking City parking facility rules or lease agreement; or 

J. Any other place where official signs, pavement, or curb markings prohibit parking.  

10.9.060   Parking in alleys. 

A. It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley unless parallel to and 
within eighteen (18) inches of the alley line and leaving at least ten (10) feet of roadway for 
movement of through traffic.  

B. It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley so as to block entry to 
any private driveway, entrance to a building, or at any location which will prevent or hinder 
garbage collection.  

C. It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley at any time in the area 
which may be designated Central Business District; except commercial vehicles which are 
attended or in the process of loading or unloading. Such alleys shall be properly signed 
and marked by the Public Works Department.  

D. It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any one-way alley, except upon 
the right-hand side of the alley and heading in the proper direction of designated traffic 
flow.  

10.9.070   Parking for certain purposes prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to do any of the following while a vehicle is parked upon any traffic way of the 
City:  

A. Display more than one (1) vehicle for sale or advertising of such vehicle on the vehicle 
itself; or  

B. Grease, paint, or repair any vehicle for non-emergency purposes.  

10.9.080   Parking of commercial vehicles. 

It is unlawful for any motor vehicle used for commercial purposes to park on any traffic way for any 
continuous period in excess of twenty-four (24) hours, unless otherwise provided in this Title.  

10.9.090   Compliance with signs required. 

When official signs controlling parking are erected upon such traffic ways as authorized by this Title, no 
person shall stop, stand, or park a vehicle upon any traffic way in violation of any sign.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 221 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 17 

10.9.100   Curb or pavement markings. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to approve curb or pavement markings. No markings shall be applied without prior approval from 
the Public Works Department.  

10.9.110   Parking controlled adjacent to schools. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon either side of any traffic way adjacent to 
any school property when stopping, standing, or parking would, in the Department's opinion, interfere with 
traffic or create a hazard to health or safety.  

10.9.120   Parking controlled on narrow traffic ways. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon any traffic way when the width of the traffic 
way does not permit safe passage of traffic flow under existing conditions.  

10.9.130   Parking controlled during certain hours of the day and/or days of the week. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking during certain hours of the day and/or days of 
the week upon any traffic way whenever it is deemed necessary.  

10.9.140   Stopping, standing, or parking controlled in hazardous or congested places. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control the stopping, standing, or parking of vehicles that would 
create a hazard to health or safety or that would cause unusual delay to traffic along certain traffic ways.  

10.9.150   Stopping, standing, or parking controlled along arterial and collector traffic 

ways. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon either side of any arterial or collector traffic 
way that may be hereafter designated as such by proper authority.  

10.9.160   On-street loading and parking zones. 

A. On-street loading and parking zones may be established following the procedure adopted 
in the Chapter.  

B. The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation 
approval, is authorized to install and maintain parking control signs and/or curb or 
pavement markings on public streets for on-street loading and parking zones serving 
properties within the incorporated City limits, including freight or passenger loading zones, 
handicapped parking zones, and bus parking zones serving schools.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 222 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 18 

10.9.170   Parking management districts. 

A. The City may establish parking management districts in which time limits, parking meters, 
or both, are used to encourage turnover in the use of parking spaces and/or to ensure that 
adequate parking is available to businesses and residents. Delivery permits, meter bags, 
and monthly meter passes may be used to facilitate the administration of these districts.  

B. The Public Works Department is authorized to install and maintain parking control signs 
and/or curb or pavement markings designating parking management districts.  

10.9.180   Review of applications for loading and parking zones on public streets. 

A. The Administrator shall provide forms upon which applications for the establishment of 
loading or parking zones, including handicapped parking zones, may be filed. Upon receipt 
of an application accompanied by the application fee established pursuant to Commission 
resolution, the Administrator shall refer the application to the Public Works and Planning 
and Community Development Departments for review and comment and then, based on 
those comments:  

1. Approve;  

2. Conditionally approve; or  

3. Deny the application, with any conditions imposed or reasons for denial stated in 
writing.  

B. In addition to the application fee, applicants will be responsible for the actual costs the City 
incurs in making and erecting signs or installing curb or pavement markings to delineate 
the loading or parking zone.  

C. The extent and location of loading and parking zones may be limited by the Administrator 
to ensure traffic and pedestrian circulation and safety. The Administrator is not required to 
approve an application for a loading or parking zone that interferes with safe circulation.  

D. Loading and parking zones will not be permitted on a public street where the Administrator 
determines that there is adequate space for loading and parking on the applicant's 
property.  

E. The Administrator's decision may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment following the 
procedures established in OCCGF Title 17.  

10.9.190   Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones. 

Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones shall be set by Commission resolution 
with the objective of recovering administrative costs.  

10.9.200   Use of loading and parking zones on public streets. 

A. It is unlawful for any vehicle to stop or park in any loading or parking zone established 
pursuant to this Chapter for any purpose except that for which the zone was established.  

B. It is unlawful for vehicles or materials to be parked or stored in a loading zone except where 
the Administrator permits the temporary use of a loading zone for the parking of equipment 
or storage of materials during construction.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 223 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 19 

C. The Administrator may, after seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory Commission, 
remove any loading or parking zone that:  

1. Is subject to repeated violations by the applicant requesting its establishment;  

2. Is creating a traffic hazard or congestion;  

3. Is no longer in use; or  

4. Is otherwise failing to function for its intended purpose.  

10.9.210   Passenger loading zones serving schools. 

Section 10.9.200 shall be enforced in passenger loading zones serving schools only between 7:00 a.m. 
and 5:00 p.m. on school days or when weekend, summer, or evening sessions served by busses are held.  

10.9.220   Delivery permits. 

A. Delivery permits allow parking in freight loading zones or in any lawful parking space in a 
parking management district without additional payment only while a vehicle is making 
deliveries.  

B. All vehicles that regularly make deliveries within a parking management district shall 
display a delivery permit issued by the City in a way that is clearly visible to parking 
enforcement personnel. The Administrator may issue more specific instructions for the 
display of these permits.  

C. Delivery permits must be renewed on or before January 1 each year. The cost of a delivery 
permit will be set by Commission resolution.  

D. Use of a delivery permit to attempt to avoid paying for parking when not making a delivery 
is a violation of this Title.  

10.9.230   Meter bags. 

A. Meter bags may be issued temporarily to reserve metered parking spaces for maintenance 
or construction activities, while moving, or for other activities being conducted by or for the 
adjoining property owner that require reserved parking at a particular location within a 
parking management district.  

B. The daily cost of meter bags will be set by Commission resolution.   

C. Using a meter bag to attempt to avoid paying for parking when not engaged in the activities 
for which the meter bag was issued is a violation of this Title.  

10.9.240   Residential parking in parking management districts. 

A. Residential parking areas are shown on the Official Parking Management District Map of 
the City of Great Falls that is filed with the Planning and Community Development 
Department. After seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory Commission, the City 
Commission may, by resolution, dissolve, amend, or add residential parking areas in any 
parking management district.  

B. It is unlawful to stop or park a vehicle for longer than the time limit established by the signs 
posted in a residential parking area.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 224 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 20 

C. Residents of the district may, upon submitting proof of their residence in a residential 
parking area, obtain a residential parking permit that exempts them from the posted time 
limit. Fees for such permits shall be set by Commission resolution.  

D Residential parking permits are specific to the vehicle plate number shown on the 
application for the permit and must be used within one block of the place of residence given 
on that application. Residential parking permits may not be used at metered parking 
spaces. Penalties for violations of this section are as set by Commission resolution.  

10.9.250   Administration of parking management districts. 

A. Parking management districts are shown on the Official Parking Management District Map 
of the City of Great Falls that is filed with the Planning and Community Development 
Department. After seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory Commission, the City 
Commission may, by resolution, dissolve, amend, or add parking management districts.  

B. Parking meters may be installed within parking management districts. Meters need not, 
however, be used throughout these districts. The Administrator, in consultation with the 
Parking Advisory Commission, may remove parking meters that are not needed to maintain 
parking turnover or where the cost of servicing a meter exceeds the revenue it generates.  
The Administrator, in consultation with the Parking Advisory Commission, may add meters 
in an established management district.  Where meters are not used within the metered 
parking districts, time limits may be posted and enforced using signs.  

C. The Administrator may also issue monthly parking passes that can be used at meters in 
areas where meters are underutilized. The fee for monthly parking passes shall be set by 
Commission resolution.  

10.9.260   Parking meter enforcement periods and time limits. 

A. The rates and time limits for parking in parking management districts shall be set by 
Commission resolution.  

B. Any type of meter may be used within a parking management district at the discretion of 
the Administrator, with recommendations from the Parking Advisory Commission.  

C. Enforcement of the parking rates and time limits established by the Commission shall be 
in effect from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on all days except Saturdays, Sundays, and City 
holidays or as otherwise provided by Commission resolution. The Administrator may 
temporarily suspend parking meter enforcement for downtown events, holidays, or 
construction projects.  

D. It is unlawful to park a vehicle in a parking management district for a period of time longer 
than the limit that is adopted by the Commission and posted on the meter and/or signs 
placed by the City. Spaces may be used without regard to the posted time limit on 
Saturdays, Sundays, and City holidays, except where otherwise posted.  

E. The time limits authorized herein are enforced, among other ways, by chalking tires. 
Consistent with the purpose of time limits, as stated in A., above, a vehicle that has not 
been moved far enough to erase the chalk mark is still in violation of the time limits.  

F. An exception to the posted time limits is hereby granted to individuals with disabilities as 
provided in Mont. Code Ann. Title 49, Chapter 4, to use any metered space without regard 
to the sign-posted time limit.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 225 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 21 

10.9.270   Courtesy parking. 

Upon request by the adjoining property owner or tenant and approval of the Administrator, metered spaces 
may be designated as courtesy parking, allowing the removal of the meters and their replacement with a 
sign stating that parking is being provided by the adjoining business. The number and location of spaces 
that may be thus designated will be determined by the Administrator. The fee for designating spaces as 
courtesy parking shall be set by Commission resolution and payable each year prior to January 1.  

10.9.280   Unauthorized parking in off-street parking facilities prohibited. 

A. It is unlawful for any person to stop or park a vehicle in any parking space in an off-street 
parking facility that is owned or leased by the City unless the occupants of that vehicle 
have paid the required fee.  

B. Parking spaces controlled by parking meters in off-street parking facilities owned or leased 
by the City shall be subject to the same rates, time limits, and periods of enforcement as 
other parking meters, unless otherwise provided by Commission resolution.  

10.9.290   Rates charged on City owned or operated off-street parking lots, garages, and 

parking meters. 

Rates for City-owned or City-operated off-street parking lots, garages, and parking meters shall be set by 
Commission resolution.  

10.9.300   Parking in construction zones. 

The Public Works Department is authorized to relocate vehicles parked in active construction zones.  Prior 
to relocation the Department shall: 

A. Place a no parking notice in the construction zone twenty-four (24) hours prior to 
construction beginning; 

B. Provide notice to the GFPD that a vehicle is located in the construction zone and must be 
removed; and 

C. GFPD shall attempt to locate the registered owner of the vehicle. 

D. If the registered owner is not located, or the vehicle is not removed from the construction 
zone within twenty-four (24) hours, the Public Works Department shall remove the vehicle 
from the construction zone, and the costs of said removal shall be charged to the registered 
owner. 

 

Chapter 10   VEHICLE IMMOBILIZATION 
Sections:  

10.10.010 Authorization to use vehicle immobilizer. 

10.10.020 Procedure for vehicle immobilization. 

10.10.030 Removal of violation vehicle. 

10.10.040 Release to the owner. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 226 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 22 

10.10.050 Hearing on immobilization. 

 

 

10.10.010   Authorization to use vehicle immobilizer. 

A. Members of the GFPD, or other Parking Administrator authorized persons, are authorized 
to use a vehicle immobilizer ("boot") to immobilize any vehicle that is parked in a City 
parking space located in the downtown residential district, the parking meter district, or any 
City owned off-street pay-to-park facility that has five (5) or more parking tickets unpaid or 
delinquent thirty (30) days or more.  

B. Prior to any vehicle immobilization, the Planning and Community Development 
Department's Parking Division is required to either:  

1. Mail the registered owner of the vehicle a final notice for five (5) or more of the 
unpaid or delinquent parking tickets; or  

2. File a complaint in Great Falls Municipal Court charging the registered owner with 
unpaid parking tickets on the vehicle, and no individual has appeared for 
arraignment on the complaint.  

10.10.020   Procedure for vehicle immobilization. 

A. If parking officials, as defined this Chapter, choose to immobilize a vehicle with a boot as 
allowed by Chapter, then the on-site officers immobilizing the vehicle shall ensure that a 
written notice is conspicuously affixed to the vehicle.  

B. The written notice will inform the owner, driver, or person in charge of such vehicle that: 

1. The vehicle has been immobilized by the City pursuant to this Chapter;  

2. Release from such immobilization may be obtained at a designated place;  

3. Unless arrangements are made for the release of such vehicle within forty-eight 
(48) hours, the vehicle will be towed and impounded pursuant to this Chapter; and  

4. Removing or attempting to remove the immobilization device before a release is 
obtained is unlawful.  

C. An immobilized vehicle shall not be released by the City until the immobilization fee is paid, 
together with payment of all outstanding parking fines, or posting of a bond as allowed by 
this Chapter.  

D. If the vehicle has remained immobilized for a period of forty-eight (48) hours and a release 
has not been obtained, then the GFPD shall have the vehicle towed and impounded.  

10.10.030   Removal of violation vehicle. 

A. The City is authorized to remove a vehicle or tow a vehicle from parking spaces located in 
the areas listed in section 10.10.010 to the designated tow site when a vehicle with an 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 227 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 23 

immobilization device attached remains immobilized for a period of forty-eight (48) hours 
and a release has not been obtained.  

B. Whenever an officer removes a vehicle from a street or City parking space as authorized 
in this section, and the officer knows or is able to ascertain from the registration records on 
the vehicle the name and address of the vehicle owner, the officer shall give notice in 
writing to the owner of the removal, the violations, and the place where the vehicle has 
been relocated.  

C. If a vehicle is stored at a designated tow site, a copy of the notice shall be given to the 
proprietor of the tow site. The party towing the vehicle shall immediately notify the GFPD 
dispatcher that a vehicle has been towed from a specific location and give the dispatcher 
a detailed description of the vehicle and the location to which it is being towed.  

D. Whenever an officer removes a vehicle from a street under this section and does not know 
and is not able to ascertain the name of the owner, or for any other reason is unable to 
give the notice to the owner, and if the vehicle is not returned to the owner within a period 
of three (3) days, then the officer shall send a report of the removal to the Montana 
Department of Transportation Motor Vehicle Division and shall file a copy of the notice with 
the proprietor of the designated tow site. The notice shall include a complete description of 
the vehicle, the date, time, and place from which removed, the violations, and name of the 
tow site.  

E. The cost of towing or removing the vehicle and costs of storing the vehicle shall be 
chargeable against the vehicle and shall be paid by the owner of the vehicle before it is 
released.  

F. The taking of possession of a vehicle for violation of any parking ordinance or regulation 
shall not prohibit the filing of a complaint in Municipal Court for the violation(s).  

10.10.040   Release to the owner. 

A. A vehicle immobilized for unpaid parking tickets shall be released to the registered owner 
or any other person legally entitled to claim possession of the vehicle, and the vehicle 
immobilization equipment shall be removed upon payment of all overdue and unpaid 
parking tickets and the immobilization fee. The fee may be paid in the form of a refundable 
bond, pending the outcome of any hearing requested pursuant to section 10.10.050(D).  

B. A vehicle towed and impounded for unpaid parking citations, and in accordance with 
section 10.10.030, can only be released pursuant to a written order from the Municipal 
Court that all penalties, fines, or forfeitures owed by the registered owner have been 
satisfied by full payment or the posting of a bond pending a hearing.  

10.10.050   Hearing on immobilization. 

A. After a vehicle has been immobilized pursuant to this Chapter, the registered owner, and 
any other person(s) who reasonably appear to have an interest in the vehicle, is entitled to 
have speedy hearing with the Parking Administrator or a designee to determine if the 
vehicle was immobilized in accordance with this Chapter.  

B. If the Parking Administrator or designee finds that the immobilization was invalid or 
unjustified, he or she will order the vehicle to be immediately released, and the owner or 
any other person(s) who have an interest in the vehicle shall not be held liable for the 
immobilization fee.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 228 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 24 

C. If the Parking Administrator finds that the immobilization was valid and justified, he or she 
may order that the immobilization device remains on the vehicle until payment is received 
for the immobilization fee and all overdue and unpaid parking tickets.  

D. The decision of the Parking Administrator may be appealed to the City Manager’s Office 
within fifteen (15) calendar days.  The City Manager or designee shall affirm, modify, or 
reverse the decision of the Parking Administrator by written finding.  An adverse finding by 
the City Manager may be appealed, in writing, within (15) calendar days to the City 
Commission.  The City Commission, after hearing testimony on the matter, shall issue a 
written finding affirming, modifying, or reversing the decision of the City Manager. 

 

Chapter 11   COMMERCIAL VEHICLES 
Sections:  

10.11.010 Commercial vehicles—prohibited where. 

10.11.020 Commercial vehicles—parking prohibited where—exception. 

10.11.030 Restriction of vehicles—determined by City Commission—signs to be erected. 

 

 

10.11.010   Commercial vehicles—prohibited where. 

A. It is unlawful for any person to drive or operate, or for the owner to cause or knowingly 
permit to be driven or operated any commercial vehicle not involved in local service as 
defined in subsection B., of this section, upon any City public way except upon the truck 
routes designated as follows:  

1. Tenth Avenue South from the west City limits to the east City limits;  

2. The Northeast Bypass from the intersection at Fifty-seventh Street and Tenth 
Avenue South, north and then westerly to the Ninth Street Bridge;  

3. River Drive from its connection with Tenth Avenue South at or near the Warden 
Bridge to the First Avenue North Bridge;  

i. First Avenue North from Park Drive westerly through the First Avenue North 
Bridge; and  

ii. Central Avenue West from the west end of the First Avenue North Bridge to the 
west City limits on the Vaughn Highway;  

4. Third Street Northwest and Smelter Avenue from Central Avenue West to the 
northeasterly City limits;  

5. Second Street from the Tenth Avenue South approaches north to First Avenue 
South;  

6. First Avenue South from Second Street, west to Park Drive; and  

i. Park Drive from First Avenue South to First Avenue North;  

7. Sixth Street Southwest from Central Avenue West to Tenth Avenue South; and 

8. River Drive from First Avenue North to the Ninth Street Bridge.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 229 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 25 

10.11.020   Commercial vehicles—parking prohibited where—exception. 

It is unlawful for any person to park a commercial vehicle on any City public way, or outside of that area 
which may be designated as the Central Business District, except for an emergency or for loading and 
unloading purposes.  

10.11.030   Restriction of vehicles—determined by City Commission—signs to be 

erected. 

A. The City Commission may by ordinance, prohibit the operation of vehicles upon any such 
streets, avenues, or highways, or impose restrictions as to the weight of vehicles to be 
operated upon any street, whenever any street by reason of deterioration, rain, snow, or 
other climate conditions will be seriously damaged or destroyed.  

B. The Public Works Department shall erect signs pursuant to the ordinance at each end of 
that portion of any street affected thereby, and the ordinance shall not be effective unless 
and until signs are erected and maintained.  

 

Chapter 12   ABANDONED AND JUNKED VEHICLES, MACHINERY, 

TRAILERS, AND PARTS 
Sections:  

10.12.010 Purpose. 

10.12.020 Exemptions. 

10.12.030 Junk vehicle deemed nuisance. 

10.12.040 Administration and enforcement. 

10.12.050 Notices of intention to abate and remove; mailing; form of notices. 

10.12.060 Appeal. 

10.12.070 Abatement and removal. 

10.12.080 Illegal off-street parking. 

10.12.090 Continuing notice. 

10.12.100 Penalty. 

 

 

10.12.010   Purpose. 

The City Commission hereby finds and declares that the accumulation and storage of abandoned, wrecked, 
dismantled, or inoperative vehicles, machinery, trailers, or parts thereof, on public property is hereby found 
to:  

A. Create a condition tending to reduce the value of private property;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 230 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 26 

B. Promote blight and deterioration;  

C. Invite criminal activity;  

D. Create fire hazards;  

E. Constitute an attractive nuisance creating a hazard to the health and safety of minors; and 

F. Create a harbor for rodents and insects potentially injurious to the health, safety, and 
general welfare.  

G. Therefore, the presence of an abandoned, wrecked, or dismantled or inoperative vehicle, 
or part thereof on public property, except as expressly hereinafter permitted, is hereby 
declared to constitute a Nuisance, which may be abated in accordance with the provisions 
of OCCGF Title 8, Chapter 49.  

10.12.020   Exemptions. 

This Chapter shall not apply to the following:  

A. When such storage or parking is necessary to the operation of a lawfully conducted 
business or commercial enterprise on land which such business or enterprise is authorized 
by the City's zoning regulations; or 

B. A vehicle which was recently involved in a collision, duly documented by a timely report 
filed with the appropriate law enforcement agency or the Montana Department of 
Transportation, or its equivalent in a sister state, shall not be deemed a junk vehicle unless 
the owner or operator of said vehicle fails to repair or properly cover the same.  

10.12.030   Junk vehicle deemed nuisance. 

The keeping, maintaining, or allowing a junk vehicle to be on public property, except as provided by Section 
10.12.020, shall constitute a Nuisance as defined by OCCGF Title 8, Chapter 49.  

10.12.040   Administration and enforcement. 

A. Except as otherwise provided, the provisions of this Chapter shall be administered and 
enforced by the Planning and Community Development Director and/or the Police Chief, 
or their respective designees, hereinafter collectively referred to as "enforcement officer."  

B. The enforcement officer and any person designated by the enforcement officer to abate 
the nuisance, pursuant to the OCCGF or court order, are hereby authorized access to any 
property upon which a junk vehicle is located for the purpose of carrying out any and all 
actions necessary to enforce this Chapter.  

10.12.050   Notices of intention to abate and remove; mailing; form of notices. 

A. A ten-day notice (exclusive of weekends or federally mandated holidays) of intention to 
abate and remove the vehicle or parts thereof as a Nuisance shall be given to the owner 
of the vehicle, if known. The notice shall be in a form promulgated by the issuing 
enforcement officer, and shall provide the following information at a minimum:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 231 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 27 

1. A description of the vehicle or parts which constitute(s) a Nuisance under the 
provisions of the OCCGF;  

2. That the Nuisance must be abated within ten (10) days, (exclusive of weekends 
and federally mandated holidays) the junk vehicle must be either:  

i. Brought into a condition that it no longer is defined as a junk vehicle;  

ii. Placed in a proper enclosure; or  

iii. Removed from the property and properly disposed of or removed from the City; 
and  

3. Failure to properly abate said Nuisance as prescribed shall be sufficient cause for 
the removal of the junk vehicle by the enforcement officer or his/her designee as 
set forth by the OCCGF.  

B. The notice required by this section shall be served in any one (1) of the following manners:  

1. By regular mail to the last registered-owner of said vehicle, if ascertainable, at the 
address listed in the State's records concerning ownership of the vehicle, and 
service shall be deemed to have been perfected the day after the notice is mailed; 
or  

2. If the last registered owner's name is not ascertainable, by posting notice on or 
near the junk vehicle, and service shall be deemed to have been perfected the day 
the notice is posted on or near the junk vehicle.  

10.12.060   Appeal. 

Any interested party may appeal the decision of the enforcement officer by filing a written notice of appeal 
with the City Manager ten (10) calendar days after service of notice as required by this Chapter. The City 
Manager or designee shall within fifteen (15) calendar days make a written finding affirming, reversing or 
modifying the enforcement officer’s decision.  

10.12.070   Abatement and removal. 

A. The responsible party, after service of notice is perfected, shall abate the Nuisance within 
ten (10) calendar days. Abatement shall consist of:  

1. Providing for the current registration of the vehicle including the affixing the 
registration plate or current sticker to the vehicle;  

2. Repairing any and all conditions which cause the vehicle to be a Nuisance under 
the provisions of the OCCGF; and  

3. Having all of the required equipment and parts for the vehicle which was described 
in the notice; or  

4. Removing the vehicle or causing the vehicle to a legally authorized location.  

B. If the responsible parties fail to abate the Nuisance as prescribed, or after such abatement 
has been affirmed by the City Manager, the City, through the enforcement officer may 
abate such Nuisance by causing the junk vehicle(s) to be removed, impounded and sold, 
or disposed of as provided for abandoned vehicles under the laws of the State of Montana. 
All costs of abatement and the administrative fee provided by this Chapter shall be charged 
to the responsible parties, jointly and severally.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 232 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 28 

10.12.080   Illegal off-street parking. 

A. No person shall park a vehicle upon privately owned real property or area developed as an 
off-street parking facility without the consent of the owner, lessee, or person in charge of 
said property or facility.  

B. No person shall park a vehicle upon publicly owned real property in violation of any legally 
authorized signage.  

C. Any vehicle parked in violation of this section shall be deemed an abandoned vehicle.  

10.12.090   Continuing notice. 

A notice issued pursuant to this Chapter shall be deemed a continuing notice regarding the vehicle(s) 
described in the notice for a period of one (1) year from the date of service and is valid for all locations 
within the incorporated City limits. No further notice by an enforcement officer or ten-day period to abate is 
necessary to abate a Nuisance created by said vehicle(s) within the one-year period.  

10.12.100   Penalty. 

Parking any vehicle in violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-
hundred dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both.  

 

Chapter 13   ABANDONED, WRECKED, JUNKED OR DISMANTLED 

VEHICLES ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 
Sections:  

10.13.010 A condition prohibited. 

10.13.020 Repair. 

 

 

10.13.010   A condition prohibited. 

An abandoned or junked vehicle on a private, non-permitted, premises is hereby declared a condition 
prohibited pursuant to OCCGF Title 8, Chapter 51. 

10.13.020   Repair. 

Vehicles may be repaired by non-commercial property owners or occupants in public view.  Said repairs 
must be pursued to completion.  Dismantled vehicles must be covered when not being repaired.  Vehicles 
not fully repaired within twenty (20) calendar days are presumed to be abandoned.  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 233 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 29 

Chapter 14   SNOWMOBILES   
Sections:  

10.14.010 Prohibited where. 

10.14.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.14.010   Prohibited where. 

It is unlawful for any person or operator to drive any snowmobile upon any public rights-of-way within the 
incorporated City limits, or upon any public parks or public grounds within the City.  

10.14.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars 
($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 15   MOTORCYCLES 
Sections:  

10.15.010 Driving on sidewalks and in public parks or grounds prohibited. 

10.15.020 Penalty. 

 

10.15.010   Driving on sidewalks and in public parks or grounds prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person or operator to drive any motorcycle or other power driven two-wheel vehicle 
upon sidewalks within the City or upon that portion of any public park or public grounds where no roadway 
is provided.  

10.15.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars 
($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 16   HANDICAPPED ZONE 
Sections:  

10.16.010 Handicapped zone. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 234 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 30 

10.16.010   Handicapped zone. 

A. No person shall park a motor vehicle in a parking space designated and reserved for the 
physically handicapped, unless:  

1. Such person is physically handicapped in a manner rendering it difficult and 
burdensome for such person to walk, or such person was operating the vehicle 
under the direction of a physically handicapped person; and  

2. The vehicle visibly bears or contains the certificate or insignia issued to physically 
handicapped persons by the City or visibly bears or contains a special 
handicapped license plate or permit issued to physically handicapped persons by 
any State or City.  

B. Notice of such designation of handicapped parking spaces shall be given by posting 
appropriate signs.  

C. In any prosecution charging a violation of the above provisions, the owner or person or 
corporation in whose name said vehicle is registered shall be held absolutely responsible 
for said violation and subject to the penalty therefore.  

D. A violation of this section is punishable by a fine set by Commission resolution.  

 

Chapter 17   TRAILERS 
Sections:  

10.17.010 Occupancy regulations. 

10.17.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.17.010   Occupancy regulations. 

No trailer, as defined by this Title, shall be occupied either permanently or temporarily as a dwelling place 
or living abode while parked on any street, avenue, alley or highway, or other public place unless otherwise 
authorized by OCCGF Title 17 or other applicable Federal or State law.  

10.17.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars 
($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 18   TOLL LOCATIONS 
Sections:  

10.18.010 Tolls prohibited. 

10.18.020 Penalty. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 235 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 31 

 

 

10.18.010   Tolls prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person, firm, corporation or organization, charitable or otherwise, to occupy, stand in, 
and/or use any portion of any public right-of-way for the purpose of establishing a toll location through which 
vehicular traffic must pass in order to collect funds or make any other contact or solicitation from the driver 
or occupant of any vehicle using the public street, highway or bridge within the City without prior written 
authorization from the City Manager.   

10.18.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars 
($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 19   LIABILITY FOR STREET DAMAGE 
Sections:  

10.19.010 Applicability. 

10.19.020 Owner and driver of vehicle jointly liable. 

10.19.030 Civil action. 

 

 

10.19.010   Applicability. 

Any person driving any vehicle, object, or device upon any street or street structure shall be liable for all 
damage which the street or structure may sustain as a result of any illegal operation, driving, or moving of 
the vehicle, object, or device, or as a result of operating, driving or moving any vehicle, object, or device 
weighing in excess of the maximum weight in this Title except as otherwise provided or permitted.  

10.19.020   Owner and driver of vehicle jointly liable. 

A. Whenever such driver is not the owner of such vehicle, object, or device, but is operating, 
driving, or moving the same with the express or implied permission of the owner, then the 
owner and driver shall be jointly and severally liable for any damage.  

B. The Public Works Director may, in his or her discretion, authorize an individual liable for 
damage pursuant to this Chapter to repair any damage caused to the same or better 
condition before the damage was caused or to any other legally mandated condition. 

10.19.030   Civil action. 

Such damage may be recovered in a civil action brought by the City in a Court of competent jurisdiction.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 236 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 32 

 

Chapter 20   EXCESS SIZE AND WEIGHT PERMITS 
Sections:  

10.20.010 Issuance conditions. 

10.20.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.20.010   Issuance—conditions. 

The City Engineer is authorized to issue, revoke, or deny permits for the operation of vehicles of excess 
size and weight pursuant to adopted written policy on file at the Great Falls Public Works Department.  A 
permit issued pursuant to this Chapter shall describe any applicable conditions for the operation of the 
vehicle subject to the permit. 

10.20.020  Penalty. 

A. Any person who knowingly or willfully misrepresents the size or weight of any load in 
obtaining a permit pursuant to this Chapter, does not follow the conditions of the permit, or 
operates any vehicle requiring a permit pursuant to this Chapter without a permit, is guilty 
of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars ($500.00), six 
months in jail, or both.  

B. Every permit issued pursuant to this Chapter shall be carried in the vehicle or combination 
of vehicles to which it refers and shall be open to inspection by law enforcement.  

  

 

Chapter 21   PARKING VIOLATIONS 
Sections:  

10.21.010 Illegally parked vehicle notice. 

10.21.020 Illegally parked vehicle notice of failure to comply. 

10.21.030 Illegally parked vehicle presumption. 

10.21.040 Illegally parked vehicle warrant issued when. 

10.21.050 Disposition of fines and parking meter revenue. 

10.21.060 Fines and forfeitures official misuse. 

10.21.070 Penalties and administrative fees. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 237 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 33 

10.21.010   Illegally parked vehicle notice. 

Whenever any motor vehicle without a driver is found parked or stopped in violation of any State or local 
restrictions, the Parking Official finding such vehicle shall take its registration number and may take any 
other information displayed on the vehicle which may identify its owner and post written notice of the 
violation on the vehicle indicating any applicable penalties and the place where any applicable fines may 
be paid or contested.  

10.21.020   Illegally parked vehicle notice of failure to comply. 

If an alleged violator of the restrictions on stopping, standing, or parking under legally authorized restriction 
does not appear in response to a notice affixed to such motor vehicle within the time set forth in the notice, 
the City shall implement the following process:  

A. The penalty for a violation of this section occurring in a parking management district must 
be paid within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of the citation. If payment is not received 
within that time, an administrative fee will be added to the violation. The penalties and fees 
will be set by Commission resolution.  

B. After thirty (30) days without payment, a statement of the amount due for the violation and 
the administrative fee will be sent to the address associated with the license plate in the 
records of vehicle registrations maintained by the appropriate licensing agency or authority.  

C. After sixty (60) days without payment, a second statement of the amount due for the 
violation and the administrative fee will be sent to the address associated with the license 
plate in the records of vehicle registrations maintained by the appropriate licensing agency 
or authority.  

D. After ninety (90) days without payment, a third statement that is clearly marked as a pre-
collection notice of the amount due for the violation and the administrative fee will be sent 
to the address associated with the license plate in the records of vehicle registrations 
maintained by the appropriate licensing agency or authority.  

E. After one hundred twenty (120) days without payment, the amount due for the violation and 
the administrative fee will be referred to a collection agency. If the payment through 
collection efforts is not received within ten (10) months of the date of the citation, the City 
may request an arrest warrant and proceed with an action through the Municipal Court as 
provided by this Chapter.  

F. Proceedings through the Municipal Court for enforcement of this Title must be filed within 
one (1) year of the date of the citation.  

10.21.030   Illegally parked vehicle presumption. 

If any vehicle is found stopped or parked in any manner violative of legally authorized restrictions, the 
owner, person, or corporation in whose name said vehicle is registered shall be held absolutely responsible 
for said violation and subject to applicable penalties.  

10.21.040   Illegally parked vehicle warrant issued when. 

In the event any person fails to comply with a notice served on the person or attached to a vehicle or fails 
to make appearance pursuant to a summons directing an appearance in the Municipal Court, or if any 
person fails or refuses to deposit bail as required and within the time permitted by law, Municipal Court 
may, at its discretion, issue a warrant of arrest.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 238 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls, Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 34 

10.21.050   Disposition of fines and parking meter revenue. 

A. All fines or forfeitures collected upon conviction or upon the forfeiture of bail of any person 
charged with a violation of any of the provisions of this Title shall be paid to the Planning 
and Community Development Department and deposited in the parking fund, to be 
expended to defray the expenses of:  

1. Proper regulation of traffic;  

2. Parking upon City public streets;  

3. Supervision, regulation, and control of parking vehicles; and 

4. The purchase, supervision, operation, maintenance, control and use of parking 
meters.  

B. All revenue obtained from and through the use of parking meters shall be appropriated by 
the City to pay for the operation and maintenance of on-street and off-street parking 
facilities.  

10.21.060   Fines and forfeitures official misuse. 

Failure, refusal, or neglect on the part of any judicial or other officer or employee receiving or having custody 
of any such fine or forfeiture, either before or after a deposit in the fund, to comply with the foregoing 
provisions of this Chapter, shall constitute misconduct in office and shall be grounds for removal therefrom.  

10.21.070   Penalties and administrative fees. 

Penalties and administrative fees for violations of this Title shall be set by Commission resolution.  

 

(Ord. 3188, 2018; Ord. 3146, 2016; Ord. 3122, 2014; Ord. 3090, 2012; Ord. 3057, 2010; Ord. 3042, 2009; 
Ord. 2951, 2006; Ord. 2867, 2004; Ord. 2819, 2002; Ord. 2815, 2002; Ord. 2802, 2001; Ord. 2790, 2000; 
Ord. 2757, 1999; Ord. 2708, 1996; Ord. 2707, 1996; Ord. 2676, 1995; Ord. 2646, 1994; Ord. 2640, 1994; 
Ord. 2633, 1992; Ord. 2521, 1989; Ord. 2520, 1989; Ord. 2469, 1987; Ord. 2457, 1987; Ord. 2456, 1987; 
Ord. 2446, 1987; Ord. 2443, 1986; Ord. 2442, 1986; Ord. 2383, 1985; Ord. 2353, 1984; Ord. 2321, 1983; 
Ord. 2305, 1982; Ord. 2283, 1981;  Ord. 2245, 1981; Ord. 2219 1980; Ord. 2189, 1980; Ord. 2188, 1980; 
Ord. 2186, 1980; Ord. 2052, 1979; Ord. 2021, 1977; Ord. 1987, 1976; Ord. 1974, 1976; Ord. 1627, 1969; 
Ord. 1471, 1964; Ord. 1454, 1963; Ord. 1217, 1956; Prior codes §§ 10-1-19; 10-2-1(M); 10-2-2(D), 10-2-
2(E); 10-2-3(C), 10-2-3(I); 10-2-5(A), 10-2-5(B); 10-2-7(A), 10-2-7(B), 10-2-7(C); 10-2-8(A), 10-2-8(B); 10-
2-9(F), 10-2-9(G), 10-2-9(L), 10-2-9(M), 10-2-9(Z); 10-2-10(2); 10-2-11; 10-2-12(A), 10-2-12(D), 10-2-
12(E); 10-2-13(A), 10-2-13(B), 10-2-13(C), 10-2-13(D); 10-2-14, 10-2-14(A), 10-2-14(B), 10-2-14(C), 10-2-
14(E), 10-2-14(F), 10-2-14(G)(1), 10-2-14(G)(2), 10-2-14(G)(3), 10-2-14(G)(4), 10-2-14(G)(5), 10-2-
14(G)(6); 10-2-16(F), 10-2-16(H), 10-2-16(I), 10-2-16(J); 10-2-20(A), 10-2-20(B); 10-2-26(A); 10-2-27(A), 
10-2-27(B), 10-2-27(D); 10-2-28; 10-2-29(A), 10-2-29(B), 10-2-29(C); 10-2-30(A), 10-2-30(B); 10-2-33) 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 239 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

Title 10   VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 
Chapter 
_____  

Chapter 31 - DEFINITIONS  

Chapter 92 - APPLICABILITY  

Chapter 213 - TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES AND PARKING METERS  

Chapter 274 - STOP INTERSECTIONS  

Chapter 305 - ONE-WAY STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Chapter 336 - FOUR-LANE STREETS AND ROADWAYS  

Chapter 367 - SPEED RESTRICTIONS  

Chapter 398 - MISCELLANEOUS DRIVING RULES  

Chapter 489 - STOPPING, STANDING, AND PARKING  

Chapter 5010 - VEHICLE IMMOBILIZATION  

Chapter 5711 - COMMERCIAL VEHICLES  

Chapter 6012 - ABANDONED AND JUNKED VEHICLES, MACHINERY, TRAILERS, AND PARTS  

Chapter 6113 - ABANDONED, WRECKED, JUNKED, OR DISMANTLED VEHICLES ON PRIVATE PROPERTY  

Chapter 6614 - SNOWMOBILES  

Chapter 6915 - MOTORCYCLES  

Chapter 71 - HANDICAP16 - HANDICAPPED ZONE  

Chapter 72 - BICYCLES  

Chapter 7317 - TRAILERS  

Chapter 7518 - TOLL LOCATIONS  

Chapter 7819 - LIABILITY FOR STREET DAMAGE  

Chapter 8420 - EXCESS SIZE AND WEIGHT PERMITS  

Chapter 21 – PARKING VIOLATIONS  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 240 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 2 

 

Chapter 87 - VIOLATION PENALTY  

 

Chapter 31   DEFINITIONS 
Section:  

10.3.010 Definitions. 

10.1.010 Definitions. 

 

 

10.31.010   Definitions. 

Unless otherwise specified or a different meaning is plainly intendedin this Title, the following definitions 
apply throughout this title:  

"AdministratorA. "Abandoned vehicle" means any of the City employeefollowing: 

1. A vehicle that has been left unattended on public property for more than 
forty-eight (48) hours and is rendered inoperable;  

2. A vehicle that has remained illegally parked on public property for more than 
forty-eight (48) hours;  

3. A vehicle that has been unlawfully parked on private real property or 

contractor tasked byhas been placed on private property without the City 
Manager withconsent of the managementreal property owner or person in 

control of the City's parking facilities.property for more than forty-eight (48) 

hours;  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014)  

4. A vehicle that has been legally impounded by order of a law enforcement 
authority and has not been reclaimed for a period of five (5) days; or 

5. Any vehicle parked on a street determined by a law enforcement authority to 
create a hazard to other vehicle traffic. 

B. "Bicycle" means a non-motorized vehicle consisting of a metal frame on two (2) or more 
wheels and having handlebars and a seat.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 (part), 1994)  

C. "Central Business District" means the C-4 Central Business Core Zoning District.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014; Prior code § 10-2-1(M)(part))  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 241 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 3 

D. “Commercial motor vehicle” any vehicle meeting the definition provided by Mont. 
Code Ann. § 61-1-101. 

E. "Freight Loading Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is designated for short-
term use by vehicles loading and unloading goods. Freight loading zones are established 
following the procedures adopted in this chapterTitle. This term also includes delivery 
zones in the metered parking district.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014)  

"HandicapF. "Handicapped Parking Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is 
designated for use only by vehicles that have a handicaphandicapped parking permit or 
plate. HandicapHandicapped parking zones are established following the procedures 
adopted in this titleTitle.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014)  

G. "Junk vehicle" means any vehicle, machinery, trailer, or parts thereof, located on 
public property or illegally parked on private property within the incorporated City 
limits, which, as to a vehicle or trailer, does not properly display license plates or 
stickers indicating current registration and/or which has any one (1) or more of the 
following characteristics:  

1. Lacks an engine, wheel, tire, properly installed battery or other structural 
part which renders the vehicle inoperable for use as designed by the 
manufacturer;  

2. Has a broken or missing fender, door, bumper, hood, steering wheel, trunk 
top, trunk handle, tail pipe, muffler, driver's seat, fuel tank, driveshaft, 
differential, generator, or alternator;  

3. Has become or has the potential to become the breeding ground or habitat 
of rats, mice, snakes, mosquitoes or other vermin, rodents or insects, or is 
otherwise used for the storage, harbor, caging or dwelling for an animal of 
any kind;  

4. Has heavy growth of weeds or other noxious vegetation over eight (8) inches 
in height under or immediately next to it;  

5. Has become a point of collection for stagnant water;  

6. Contains junk, garbage, refuse, gasoline or fuel other than in its fuel tank, 
paper, cardboard, wood or other combustible materials, solid waste, or other 
hazardous material in it or is primarily used for storage of any materials;  

7. Has become a source of danger for children through possible entrapment in 
areas of confinement that cannot be opened from inside, through a danger 
of the vehicle falling or turning over, or through possible injury from exposed 
surfaces of metal, glass, or other rigid materials;  

8. Has become a potential source of contamination of the soil from petroleum 
products or other toxic liquids being discharged or leaking from the vehicle;  

9. Has become illegal to operate on the public streets because it is missing one 
(1) or more parts required by law; or  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 242 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 4 

10. Because of its defective, deteriorated, or obsolete condition, in any other 
way constitutes a nuisance or a threat to the public's health or safety.  

H. "Law enforcement authority" means a peace officer or any City, State, or Federal 
department or agency member operating in his or her professional capacity within 
the incorporated City limits. 

I. "Local service" means limiting the authorized use of City streets or avenues to those 
trucks which have either point of origin or destination for immediate business 
purposes within the incorporated City limits.  

J. "Machinery" is synonymous with and means the same as "machine" as defined by 
the current edition of the Merriam-Webster Dictionary. 

K. “OCCGF” means the Official Code of the City of Great Falls. 

L. "Operator" means any person who operates or is in actual physical control of the 
operation of vehicle. 

M. "Parking Administrator" means the City employee or contractor tasked by the City 
Manager with the management of the City's parking facilities.  Within this Title this 
person may also be referred to as “The Administrator”. 

N. "Parking Official" means peace officers and other persons designated by the City 
Manager to enforce the provisions of this Title. 

O. "Parking Meter" means any device installed for the regulation of the time allowed for 
parking as provided by 10.48.270 of this titleTitle.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 1, 12-2-2014; Prior code § 10-2-1(M)(part))  

P. "Part" means any mechanical, structural, body, or decorative component of any 
vehicle, machinery, or trailer. 

Q. "Passenger Loading Zone" means a portion of a public right-of-way that is designated for 
short-term use by vehicles loading and unloading people. This specifically includes school 
bus loading zones. Passenger loading zones are established following the procedures 
adopted in this title. Title. 

(Ord. No. 3122, § R. "Person" means any individual, partnership, association or 

corporation, or other legal entity. 

S. "Snowmobile" means any self-propelled vehicle designed primarily for travel on the 
snow or ice, which may be steered by wheels, skis or runners, and which is not 
otherwise registered or licensed under Montana State law.  

T. "Trailer" means any vehicle without motor power designed for carrying persons or 
property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle.  The term includes devices 
intended for recreational camping purposes carried in the bed of a pick-up truck. 

U. "Vehicle" means any device by which any person or property may be propelled, 
moved, or drawn upon a street. The term includes, but is not limited to:  

1, . An automobile;  

2. Truck;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 243 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 5 

3. Van;  

4. Sport utility vehicle;  

5. Recreational vehicle;  

6. Watercraft;  

7. Boat;  

8. Jet ski;  

9. Snowmobile;  

10. ATV;  

11. Aircraft, or  

12-2-2014). Parts thereof.  

 

 

Chapter 92   APPLICABILITY 
Sections:  

10.9.010 Pushcarts and animals. 

10.9.020 Toy vehicles and devices—restrictions—exception. 

10.2.010 Pushcarts and animals. 

10.2.020 Toy vehicles and devices—restrictions—exception. 

 

 

10.92.010   Pushcarts and animals. 

EveryAny person propelling any pushcart or, riding an animal upon a roadway and every person, or driving 
any animal-drawn vehicle shall be subject to the provisions of this titleTitle.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-.2-2(D)).  

10.9.020   Toy vehicles and devices—restrictions—exception. 

A. It is unlawful for any person upon roller skates or riding in or by means of any coaster, toy 
vehicle, or similar device to be upon any roadway except while crossing a street on a 
crosswalk, and when so crossing such.  Such person shall be granted all of the rights and 
shall be subject to all the duties applicable to pedestrians.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-2(E)).  

B. A violation of this section is punishable by a fine of fifty dollars ($50.00). 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 244 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 6 

 

Chapter 213   TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES AND PARKING METERS 
Sections:  

10.21.010 Installation—traffic control devices—parking meters. 

10.21.020 Obedience required. 

10.21.030 Interference with signals. 

10.21.040 Crosswalks, traffic lanes and parking spaces—designation authority. 

10.21.050 Standards and specifications. 

10.21.060 No-passing zones—establishment authority. 

10.21.070 Lane designation signs—erection. 

10.3.010 Installation of traffic control devices and parking meters. 

10.3.020 Obedience required. 

10.3.030 Interference with signals. 

10.3.040 Crosswalks, traffic lanes, and parking spaces. 

10.3.050 Standards and specifications. 

10.3.060 No-passing zones—establishment authority. 

10.3.070 Lane designation signs—erection. 

 

 

10.213.010   Installation— of traffic control devices— and parking meters. 

A.   The Public Works Department, with the approval of the City Commission and The 
Montana Department of Transportation when applicable, shall place and maintain 
traffic and parking control signs, signals, and devices when and as required under the traffic 
laws of this City, and perOCCGF, pursuant to the recommendations of the Manual on 
Traffic Control Devices, to make effective the provisions of the laws, and may place and 
maintain such additional traffic-control devices as necessary to regulate traffic under the 
traffic laws of this CityOCCGF or under State law, or to guide or warn traffic.  

B.  Parking Meters.  In parking meter zones to be established as provided in Chapter 
10.48pursuant to this Title, the Planning and Community Development Director, or 
designee, shall cause parking meters to be installed upon the curb or sidewalk immediately 
adjacent to the parking spaces.  The Planning and Community Development Director shall 
be responsible for the regulation, control, operation, maintenance and use of such parking 
meters. Upon the expiration of the lawful time limit, the right of such vehicle to occupy such 
space ceases and the operator, owner, possessor or manager thereof, shall be subject to 
the penalties provided in Chapter 10.87, and use of such parking meters.  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)C. Upon the expiration of the lawful time limit, the right 

of the occupying vehicle to occupy such space ceases and the operator, owner, 
possessor, or manager thereof, shall be subject to the penalties provided in this 
Title.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 245 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 7 

10.213.020   Obedience required. 

The driver of any vehicle shall obey the instruction of any official traffic-control device applicable thereto 
placed in accordance with the traffic laws of thisthe City, unless otherwise directed by a Police Officerlaw 
enforcement officer, subject to the exceptions granted the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-.3(C)).  

10.21.030   Interference with signals. 

A. It is unlawful for any person without lawful authoritylegal authorization to attempt to or in 
fact alter, deface, injure, knock down, or remove any official traffic-control device or any, 
railroad sign or signal or any inscription, shield, or insignia thereon, or any other part 
thereof, nor shall such .  

B. It is unlawful for any person deposit or cause to be deposited indamage, disable, or 
destroy any parking meter any slugs, device or metal substance or other substitute for 
lawful coins or approved tokens. . 

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-3(I)).  

10.21C. A violation of this section is punishable by a term not to exceed six (6) 

months in jail, a fine of not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or both.   

10.3.040   Crosswalks, traffic lanes, and parking spaces—designation authority. 

The Public Works Department is authorized, with the approval of the City Commission, to:  

A.   Install and maintain by appropriate devices, marks, or lines upon the surface of the 
roadway, crosswalks at intersections where there is particular danger to pedestrians 
crossing the roadway, and at such other places as deemed necessary; and  

B.   Mark lanes for traffic on street pavements at such places as he or she may deem 
advisable, consistent with the traffic laws of this CityOCCGF.  

10.213.050   Standards and specifications. 

All traffic control signs, signals, and devices shall conform to the standards and guidelines set forth by the 
manualManual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994)  

10.213.060   No-passing zones—establishment authority. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to determine those portions of any roadway where overtaking and passing or driving to the left 
of the roadway would be especially hazardous and may, by appropriate signs and markings on the roadway, 
indicate the beginning and end of such zones and when such signs or markings are in place and clearly 
visible to an ordinarily observant person, every driver of a vehicle shall obey the directions thereofprovide 
appropriate signage.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 246 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

-------



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 8 

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-20(A)).  

10.2110.3.070   Lane designation signs—erection. 

Official signs may be erected directing traffic to use a designated lane or designating those lanes to be 
used by traffic moving in a particular direction regardless of the center of the roadway, and drivers of 
vehicles shall obey the directions of every such sign.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §0-2-20(B)).  

 

Chapter 274   STOP INTERSECTIONS 
Sections:  

10.27.010 Designated. 

10.27.020 Stop sign erection—authority. 

10.4.010 Designated. 

10.4.020 Stop sign erection—authority. 

 

 

10.274.010   Designated. 

The following streets and parts of streets so described are through and preferential streets at stop 
intersections for the purpose of this chapterChapter:  

A.   Second Avenue North from Park Drive to east City limits;  

B.   Park Drive from Second Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North;  

C.   First Avenue North from Thirty-Seventh Street to west end of First Avenue North Bridge;  

D.   Central Avenue West from west end of First Avenue North Bridge to west City limits;  

E.   Sixth Street Southwest from Central Avenue West to south City limits;  

F.   Third Street Northwest and Smelter Avenue from Central Avenue West to northeast City 
limits;  

G.   Tenth Avenue South from west City limits to east City limits;  

H.   Ninth Street from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive North;  

I.   Fourteenth and Fifteenth Streets couplet from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive North;  

J.   Central Avenue from Ninth StreetsStreet to Forth-sixth Street;  

K.   Second Street from Tenth Avenue South to First Avenue South;  

L.   River Drive all inside of City limits;  

M.   Twenty-fifth and Twenty-sixth Streets couplet from Tenth Avenue South to River Drive 
North;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 247 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 9 

N.   Twenty-sixth Street South from Tenth Avenue South to the south City limits;  

O.   Fifth and Sixth Street couplets from Central Avenue to Tenth Avenue South;  

P.   Second Avenue South from Second Street to Fifteenth Street;  

Q.   First Avenue South from Park Drive to Fifteenth Street.;  

R.   Thirteenth Avenue South from Fourth Street to Twentieth Street;  

S.   Thirty-second Street South from Central Avenue to Tenth Avenue South;  

T.   Thirteenth Street South from Tenth Avenue South to south City limits;  

U.   Fox Farm Road from Tenth Avenue South to south City limits;  

V.   Upper River Road from River Road loop to south City limits. ; and 

(Prior code §W. Eighth Avenue North from Park Drive North to Thirty-Eighth Street 

North. 

10-2-8(A)).  

10.27.4.020   Stop sign erection—authority. 

Whenever any law of this Citythe OCCGF designates and describes a through or preferential street, it shall 
be the duty of the Public Works Department to place and maintain a stop sign on each and every street 
intersecting such through or preferential street or intersection that portion thereof described and designated 
as such by any law of this Citythe OCCGF.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-8(B)).  

 

Chapter 305   ONE-WAY STREETS AND ALLEYS 
Sections:  

10.30.010 Sign placement and maintenance. 

10.30.020 Direction designated. 

10.5.010 Sign placement and maintenance. 

10.5.020 Direction designated. 

 

 

10.305.010   Sign placement and maintenance. 

Whenever any laws of this City designate anythe OCCGF designates a one-way street or alley, the Public 
Works Department shall place and maintain signs giving notice thereof, and no such regulation shall be 
effective unless such signs are in place.. Signs indicating the direction of lawful traffic movement shall be 
placed at every intersection where movement of traffic in the opposite direction is prohibited.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-7(A)).  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 248 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 10 

10.30.5.020   Direction designated. 

A.   Upon those streets and, parts of streets, and in those alleys described in subsection B of 
this section, vehicular traffic shall move only in the indicated direction when signs indicating 
the direction of traffic are erected and maintained at every intersection where movement.  
Movement in the opposite direction is prohibited.  

B.   In accordance with Section 10.305.010 and when proper signs are posted, traffic shall 
move only in the direction indicated upon the following streets or avenues.  

(Ord. 2867, 2004)  

Street, Avenue or Alley  Permitted direction  

First Avenue North  

Park Drive to Thirty-seventh Street  
Eastbound 

(Ord. 1217, 1956)  Eastbound  

First Avenue South  

Park Drive to Fifteenth Street  
Westbound 

(Ord. 1217, 1956)  Westbound  

Second Avenue South  

Second Street to Fifteenth Street  
Eastbound 

(Ord. 1217, 1956)  Eastbound  

Second Avenue North  

Park Drive to Thirty-seventh Street  
Westbound 

(Ord. 1217, 1956)  Westbound  

Fifth Street  

Eighth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Southbound 

(Ord. 1471, 1964)  Southbound  

Sixth Street  

Eighth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Northbound 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 249 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 11 

(Ord. 1471, 1964)  Northbound  

Fourteenth Street  

Twelfth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Southbound 

(Ord. 1454,1963)  Southbound  

Fifteenth Street  

Twelfth Avenue North to Tenth Avenue South  
Northbound 

(Ord. 1454, 1963)  Northbound  

Twenty-fifth Street  

Tenth Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North  
Southbound 

(Ord. 1627, 1969)  Southbound  

Twenty-fifth Alley Northeast  

Sixth Street Northeast to Ninth Street Northeast  
Westbound 

(Ord. 3042, 2009)  Westbound  

Twenty-sixth Street  

Tenth Avenue South to Eighth Avenue North  
Northbound 

(Ord. 1627, 1969)  Northbound  

Park Drive  

First Avenue South to Second Street  
Southbound  

  

(Ord. 2867, 2004; Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-7(B)).  

(Ord. No. 3042, § 1, 8-4-2009)  

 

Chapter 336   FOUR-LANE STREETS AND ROADWAYS 
Sections:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 250 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 12 

10.33.010 Designated—marking—regulations. 

10.6.010 Designated marking regulations. 

 

 

10.336.010   Designated— marking— regulations. 

A.   The following streets and avenues or portions thereof, located within the incorporated City 
limits, are designated as four-lane streets and roadways:  

1. Central Avenue:  
From the east line of Ninth Street to the west line of Fifteenth Street;  

2. Tenth Avenue South:  
From the west City limits to the east City limits;  

3. Central Avenue West:  
From the west abutment of the First Avenue North Bridge to west line of 
Interstate 15;  

4. Fourteenth and Fifteenth Streets North:  
From the south line of Twelfth Avenue North to the south abutment of the 
Fifteenth Street North Bridge;  

5. First Avenue North : 
From west abutment of First Avenue North Bridge to west line of Park Drive;  

6. Park Drive:  
From south line of First Avenue North to north line of First Avenue South;  

7. Sixth Street SW:  
From Central Avenue West, south to City limit;  

8. Northwest Bypass:  
From Third Street Northwest, west to City limits;  

9. Third Street Northwest/ and Smelter Avenue:  
From Central Avenue West, northeast to City limits;  

10. Ninth Street North:  
From 8th Avenue North to south abutment of Tenth Street North Bridge;  

11. Tenth Street North:  
From north abutment of Tenth Street North Bridge, north to City limits;  

12. Fox Farm Road:  
From Tenth Avenue South to Alder Drive; and  

13. River Drive:  
From Tenth Street North to Fifteenth Street North.  

B.   The Public Works Department is directed to mark appropriately all such four-lane streets 
or roadways and to keep the same properly marked and laneddesignated for four-lane 
traffic.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 251 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 13 

C.   All vehicles proceeding on any four-lane street or roadway must be driven wholly within a 
single lane and the driving of any vehicle so as to straddle two (2) lanes of traffic, except 
in passing from one (1) lane to the other, is prohibited.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-7(C)(2—4)).  

 

Chapter 367   SPEED RESTRICTIONS 
Sections:  

10.36.010 Established—specific streets. 

10.36.020 Established - alleys. 

10.7.010 Established—specific streets. 

10.7.020 Established - alleys. 

 

 

10.367.010   Established—specific streets. 

In accordance with SectionMont. Code Ann. § 61-8-306, MCA, and when signs are erected giving notice 
thereof, no person shall drive a motor vehicle at a speed greater than or less than the speed as set forth in 
the following schedule on the street or parts of streets as follows::   

Street and Avenue  

Minimum 

Maximum  

M.P.H. 

M.P.H.  

Central Avenue  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
25  

Central Avenue  

Fifteenth Street to Thirty-eighth Street  
30  

First Avenue South  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
30  

Second Avenue South  

Ninth Street to Fifteenth Street  
30  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 252 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 14 

Second Street South  

Tenth Avenue South to south line of First Avenue South  
30  

Park Drive  

First Avenue North to Eighth Avenue North  
30  

Parkdale Housing  

All streets within the following boundaries:  

Bounded on the north by the north line of Fifth Avenue South; on the east by the west 

line of Eighteenth Street and Chowen Park; on the south by the north line of Eighth 

Avenue South and Chowen Park; and on the west by the east line of Fifteenth Street  

15 

(Ord. 2633, 1992)  15  

Eighth Avenue North  

Park Drive to Twenty-fifth Street  

All trucks only  

20  

All other vehicles  25  

  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 2446 §2, 1987; Prior code §  

 

10-2-5(B)).  

10.36.7.020   Established - alleys. 

The limit for all alleys within the incorporated City limits shall beis fifteen (15) miles per hour.  

(Ord. 2802, 2001; Ord 2446, 1987; prior code §10 2 5(A)).  

 

Chapter 398   MISCELLANEOUS DRIVING RULES 
Sections:  

10.39.055 Loud noises—prohibited. 

10.39.060 Processions—parades—permits required when. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 253 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 15 

10.39.070 Driving on sidewalk prohibited—exception. 

10.39.080 Boarding or alighting from moving vehicles prohibited. 

10.39.090 Passenger regulations. 

10.39.100 Violation—misdemeanor—penalty. 

10.39.110 Use of electronic communication devices while operating a motorized vehicle or a bicycle. 

 

 

10.39.055   Loud noises—prohibited. 

Refer to OCCGF 8.5610.8.010 Driving on sidewalk prohibited—exception. 

10.8.020 Boarding or exiting from moving vehicles prohibited. 

10.8.030(C).  Passenger regulations. 

(Ord. 10.8.040 Violation—misdemeanor—penalty. 

10.8.050 Use of electronic communication devices while operating a motorized vehicle or a 
bicycle. 

 

 

2790, 2000; Ord. 2640 § (part), 1994).  

10.39.060   Processions—parades—permits required when. 

No funeral procession or parade containing two hundred (200) or more persons or fifty (50) or more vehicles 
or any marching band and drum and bugle corps, except the forces of the United States Army or Navy, the 
military forces of this State, or the forces of the Police and Fire Departments shall occupy, march or proceed 
along any street unless application is made and approved by the City administration and a permit issued 
by the Park & Recreation Department. Such application must meet the requirements of the City Parade 
policy and such other regulations as are set forth in this chapter which may apply.  

(Ord. 2245, 1981; Prior code §10-2-9(F)).  

10.39.0708.010   Driving on sidewalk prohibited—exception. 

A. The driver of a vehicle shall not drive upon any sidewalk area except at a permanent 
driveway.  

(Prior code §10-2-9(G)).  

10.39.080B. This section does not apply to City authorized vehicles performing sidewalk 

maintenance or snow removal.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 254 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 16 

10.8.020   Boarding or alightingexiting from moving vehicles prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to board or alight fromexit any vehicle while suchthe vehicle is in motion.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-9(L)).  

10.39.09010.8.030   Passenger regulations. 

It is unlawful for any person to ride on any vehicle or portion thereof not designed or intended for the use 
of passengers. This provision shall not apply to an employee engaged in the necessary discharge of a duty 
or to persons riding within truck bodies in the space intended for merchandise.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-9(M)).  

10.39.100.8.040   Violation—misdemeanor—penalty. 

Every person convicted of a misdemeanor for theA violation of any provisions of this chapter shall be 
punishedChapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) 
or by imprisonment for), a term not more thanto exceed six (6) months in jail, or by both such fine and 
imprisonment.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-9(Z)).  

10.39.11010.8.050   Use of electronic communication devices while operating a 

motorized vehicle or a bicycle. 

1.  Electronic communication device usage while driving prohibited.  

(a)  A. No person operating a motorized vehicle or a bicycle on a public highway within the 
cityincorporated City limits of Great Falls shall use a mobile telephone to engage a call 
and/or use any other hand -held electronic communication device to compose, send, view 
or retrieve email, a text message, or other electronic data.  

(b)  "B. "Hand -held electronic communication device" includes wireless or cellular 
phones, laptop and notebook computers, GPS and navigational systems, pagers, 
electronic games, and any other device that would permit wireless communications to and 
from the user of the device.  

(c)  Exceptions.  

(1)  C. This provision shallsection does not apply to anythe following:  

1. Any person reporting a health, fire, safety, or police emergency.;  

(2)  This provision shall not apply to governmental2. Governmental fire agencies, 
ambulance services, law enforcement agencies, emergency responders, or any 
other person operating an "authorized emergency vehicle" as defined in 
MontanaMont. Code Annotated Sec.Ann. § 61-8-102(2)(a).);  

(3)  This provision shall not apply to operators. Operators or passengers of a motorized 
vehicle using a hand -held electronic communication device while in a parking lane 
or space out of moving traffic lanes.;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 255 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 17 

(4)  This provision shall not apply to persons. Persons using a "hands -free device." A 
"hands free device" is", defined as, an external device that connects to a wireless 
telephone, wireless or electronic communication device that allows use of the 
hands -free device.; and   

(5)  This provision shall not apply to drivers. Drivers using two-way radios while in the 
performance and scope of their work-related duties, or to drivers holding a valid 
amateur radio operator license issued by the Federal Communications 
Commission while using a two-way radio.  

2.  Penalty: D. The penalty(ies)penalties for a person who is found to have committed a 
violation of Section 10.39.110 shall bethis section are as follows:  

(a)  1. A first conviction for a violation of Section 10.39.110this section, shall be 
punishable by a fine not less than two hundred dollars ($200.00) and not more 
than five hundred dollars ($500.00).);  

(b)  2. A second conviction, within 24 months after the first conviction, for a violation of 
Section 10.39.110this section, shall be punishable by a fine not less than three 
hundred dollars ($300.00) and not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00). The 
Defendant shall further participate in twenty (20) hours of Court -approved 
community service to be completed within ninety (90) days of the date of the 
second conviction. The Defendant shall provide completion of community service 
to the Great Falls Municipal Court.; and  

(c)  3. A third or subsequent conviction, within 24 months after the first conviction, for a 
violation of Section 10.39.110this section, shall be punishable by a fine not less 
than four hundred dollars ($400.00) andor more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00). The Defendant shall further participate in forty (40) hours of community 
service to be completed within ninety (90) days of the date of conviction. Additional 
penalties may include forfeiture of license plates of the vehicle, driven at the time 
of the offense, or forfeiture of the Defendant's driver's license for a period not to 
exceed 180 days, or both.  

(Ord. 3146, 2016; Ord. 3090, § 1(Exh. A), 7-3-2012, eff. 8-2-2012)  

 

Chapter 489   STOPPING, STANDING, AND PARKING 
Sections:  

10.48.010 Stopping, standing or parking close to curb. 

10.48.040 Lights on parked vehicles. 

10.48.050 Parking at meters. 

10.48.055 Paying for parking. 

10.48.060 Stopping or parking on public streets and alleys. 

10.48.070 Parking in alleys. 

10.48.080 Parking for certain purposes prohibited. 

10.48.090 Parking of commercial vehicles. 

10.48.100 Compliance with signs required. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 256 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 18 

10.48.105 Curb or pavement markings. 

10.48.110 Parking controlled adjacent to schools. 

10.48.120 Parking controlled on narrow trafficways. 

10.48.130 Parking controlled during certain hours of the day and/or days of the week. 

10.48.150 Stopping, standing or parking controlled in hazardous or congested places. 

10.48.160 Stopping, standing or parking controlled along arterial and collector trafficways. 

10.48.170 On-street loading and parking zones. 

10.48.175 Parking management districts. 

10.48.180 Review of applications for loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.48.190 Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones. 

10.48.200 Use of loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.48.220 Passenger loading zones serving schools. 

10.48.230 Delivery permits. 

10.48.240 Meter bags. 

10.48.250 Residential parking in parking management districts. 

10.48.260 Administration of parking management districts. 

10.48.270 Parking meter enforcement periods and time limits. 

10.48.280 Courtesy parking. 

10.48.290 Unauthorized parking in off-street parking facilities prohibited. 

10.48.300 Rates charged on City owned/operated off-street parking lots and garages. 

 

 

10.4810.9.010 Stopping, standing or parking close to curb. 

10.9.020 Lights on parked vehicles. 

10.9.030 Parking at meters. 

10.9.040 Paying for parking. 

10.9.050 Stopping or parking on public streets and alleys. 

10.9.060 Parking in alleys. 

10.9.070 Parking for certain purposes prohibited. 

10.9.080 Parking of commercial vehicles. 

10.9.090 Compliance with signs required. 

10.9.100 Curb or pavement markings. 

10.9.110 Parking controlled adjacent to schools. 

10.9.120 Parking controlled on narrow traffic ways. 

10.9.130 Parking controlled during certain hours of the day and/or days of the week. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 257 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 19 

10.9.140 Stopping, standing or parking controlled in hazardous or congested places. 

10.9.150 Stopping, standing or parking controlled along arterial and collector traffic ways. 

10.9.160 On-street loading and parking zones. 

10.9.170 Parking management districts. 

10.9.180 Review of applications for loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.9.190 Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones. 

10.9.200 Use of loading and parking zones on public streets. 

10.9.210 Passenger loading zones serving schools. 

10.9.220 Delivery permits. 

10.9.230 Meter bags. 

10.9.240 Residential parking in parking management districts. 

10.9.250 Administration of parking management districts. 

10.9.260 Parking meter enforcement periods and time limits. 

10.9.270 Courtesy parking. 

10.9.280 Unauthorized parking in off-street parking facilities prohibited. 

10.9.290 Rates charged on City owned or operated off-street parking lots, garages, and parking 
meters. 

10.9.300 Parking in construction zones. 

 

 

10.9.010   Stopping, standing or parking close to curb. 

ItUnless otherwise provided in this Chapter, it is unlawful for any person to stop, stand, or park a vehicle, 
other than a motorcycle, in a traffic way other than parallel with the edge of the traffic way headed in the 
direction of the lawful traffic movement for the lane in which it is stopped, standing, or parked and with the 
wheels of the vehicle within eighteen (18) inches of the curb or edge of the traffic way except as otherwise 
provided in Section 10.48.050.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 1987 2(part), 1976: prior code 10-2-12(A))  

10.48.04010.9.020   Lights on parked vehicles. 

Any lighted headlamps upon a parked vehicle shall be depressed or dimmed.  

(Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-12(d))  

10.48.050.9.030   Parking at meters. 

A. Except as directed by an officer or representative of theGreat Falls Fire or Rescue 
(GFFR) Department, Great Falls Police DepartmentsDepartment (GFPD) officer or 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 258 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 20 

representative, or a City parking attendantsofficial, vehicles using metered parking 
spaces shall park within the area and at the angle delineated by the pavement markings.  

B. When thosepavement markings are obscured by snow, wear, or other conditions and there 
is angle parking, vehicles shall be parked to the left side or right side of the appropriate 
meter.  

C. Where there is parallel parking, vehicles shall be parked front end to or rear end to, within 
eighteen (18) inches of the appropriate meter, and within eighteen (18) inches of the curb. 
Failure to comply with this section is a violation of this CodeTitle, subject to the penalties 
and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090Chapter 21 of this titleTitle.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-12(E))  

10.48.055.9.040   Paying for parking. 

A.   Upon parking in a metered parking space, the occupants of the vehicle shall immediately 
pay for parking using coins of the United States or any other means provided for payment 
by the City. , including a mobile electronic device application.  

B. The available means of payment shall be indicated on the meter and/or signs posted on 
the adjoining sidewalk. Alternatively, theThe occupants may display a free parking pass 
issued by the City. Failure to pay for parking or to display a pass is a violation of this 
Code,Title subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090Chapter 21 
of this titleTitle.  

B.  C. A valid free parking pass bears the signature of the Parking Administrator, the City 
Manager, or the City's authorized agent, and an expiration date. Attempted use of a pass 
that does not bear an authorized signature and an expiration date is a violation of this 
CodeTitle, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090Chapter 21 
of this titleTitle.  

C.  It is lawful toD. Vehicle occupants may use unexpired time on a parking meter, but the 
unexpired time counts toward the applicable time limit.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

10.48.0609.050   Stopping or parking on public streets and alleys. 

Except when temporarily necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic, when so directed by ana GFFR or 
GFPD officer of the Fire or Police Departments or representative, City parking attendantsofficial, or where 
a parking space is clearly delineated by pavement markings, it is a violation of this CodeTitle, punishable 
by Chapter 21 of this Title, to park a vehicle in any of the following places:  

A.   In front of (, across) from, or within five (5) feet of a public or private driveway or, an alley, 
or as otherwise indicated by pavement markings and/or official signs, which may prohibit 
parking in a larger area adjacent to the driveway or alley.;  

B.   Within a signed and/or marked fire hydrant zone, or, if the fire hydrant zone is not signed 
and/or marked, within ten (10) feet of a fire hydrant.;  

C.   Within thirty (30) feet in front of any crosswalk (marked or unmarked) at an intersection.;  

D.   Within twenty (20) feet beyond any crosswalk (marked or unmarked) at an intersection.;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 259 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 21 

E.   Within thirty (30) feet in front of or twenty (20) feet beyond any mid-block crosswalk.;  

F.   Upon the paved or main traveled part of a street or alley when it is practical to stop or park 
in a delineated parking space, on the shoulder, or otherwise safely out of the flow of traffic.;  

G.   In a traffic lane for the purpose of discharging or receiving passengers, in which case both 
the driver of the vehicle and the passenger may be cited for a violation.;  

H.   In a marked or signed fire lane.;  

I.   In violation of parking City parking facility rules or lease agreement; or 

J. Any other place where official signs, pavement, or curb markings prohibit parking.  

J.  The violations listed above are subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090 

of this title.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2676 § (part), 1995; Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 2353 §1, 

1984; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-13(A))  

10.48.0709.060   Parking in alleys. 

A.   It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley unless the same shall 
be parallel to and within eighteen (18) inches of the alley line and leaving at least ten (10) 
feet of roadway for movement of through traffic.  

B.   It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley so as to block entry to 
any private driveway, entrance to a building, or at any location which will prevent or hinder 
garbage collection.  

C.   It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any alley at any time in the area 
which may from time to time be designated central business district; save and excepting 
onlyCentral Business District; except commercial vehicles which are attended or in the 
process of loading or unloading. Such alleys shall be properly signed and marked by the 
Public Works Department.  

D.   It is unlawful to stop, stand, or park any vehicle or trailer in any one-way alley, except upon 
the right-hand side of the alley and heading in the proper direction of designated traffic 
flow.  

(Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-13(B))  

10.48.08010.9.070   Parking for certain purposes prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person to do any of the following while a vehicle is parked upon any traffic way of the 
City:  

A.   Display more than one (1) vehicle for sale or advertising of such vehicle on the vehicle 
itself.; or  

B.   Grease, paint, or repair suchany vehicle, except repairs necessitated by an  for non-
emergency purposes.  

(Ord. 2283, 1981: Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976; prior code §10-2-13(C))  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 260 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 22 

10.48.09010.9.080   Parking of commercial vehicles. 

It is unlawful for any motor vehicle used for commercial purposes to park on any traffic way for any 
continuous period in excess of twenty-four (24) hours, unless otherwise provided for hereinin this Title.  

(Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-13(D))  

10.48.10010.9.090   Compliance with signs required. 

When official signs controlling parking are erected upon such traffic ways as authorized hereinby this Title, 
no person shall stop, stand, or park a vehicle upon any such traffic way in violation of any such sign.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(part))  

10.48.105.9.100   Curb or pavement markings. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to approve curb or pavement markings. No such markings shall be applied without prior approval 
from the Public Works Department.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

10.489.110   Parking controlled adjacent to schools. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon either side of any traffic way adjacent to 
any school property when such stopping, standing, or parking would, in the Department's opinion, interfere 
with traffic or create a hazardous situationhazard to health or safety.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code 

§10-2-14(A))  

10.48.9.120   Parking controlled on narrow trafficwaystraffic ways. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon any traffic way when the width of the traffic 
way does not permit safe passage of traffic flow under existing conditions.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(B))  

10.4810.9.130   Parking controlled during certain hours of the day and/or days of the 

week. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking during certain hours of the day and/or days of 
the week upon any traffic way whenever it is deemed necessary.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 261 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 23 

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(C))  

10.48.150.9.140   Stopping, standing, or parking controlled in hazardous or congested 

places. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control the stopping, standing, or parking of vehicles that would 
create an especially hazardous conditiona hazard to health or safety or that would cause unusual delay 
to traffic along certain traffic ways.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(E))  

10.48.160.9.150   Stopping, standing, or parking controlled along arterial and collector 

trafficwaystraffic ways. 

The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of Transportation approval, is 
authorized to install and maintain signs that control parking upon either side of any arterial or collector traffic 
way that may be hereafter designated as such by proper authority.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code § 10-2-14(F))  

10.48.170.9.160   On-street loading and parking zones. 

A.   On-street loading and parking zones may be established following the procedure adopted 
in Section 10.48.180, below.the Chapter.  

B.   The Public Works Department, with appropriate Montana Department of 
Transportation approval, is authorized to install and maintain parking control signs and/or 
curb or pavement markings on public streets for on-street loading and parking zones 
serving properties within the incorporated City limits, including freight or passenger 
loading zones, handicaphandicapped parking zones, and bus parking zones serving 
schools.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 2520 §1, 1989: Ord. 2021 §1, 

1977: Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(G)(1))  

10.48.175.9.170   Parking management districts. 

A.   The City may establish parking management districts in which time limits or, parking 
meters, or both, are used to encourage turnover in the use of parking spaces and/or to 
ensure that adequate parking is available to businesses and residents. Delivery permits, 
meter bags, and monthly meter passes may be used to facilitate the administration of these 
districts.  

B.   The Public Works Department is authorized to install and maintain parking control signs 
and/or curb or pavement markings designating parking management districts.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 262 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 24 

10.489.180   Review of applications for loading and parking zones on public streets. 

A.   The Administrator shall provide forms upon which applications for the establishment of 
loading or parking zones, including handicaphandicapped parking zones, may be filed. 
Upon receipt of such an application accompanied by the application fee established 
pursuant to Section 10.48.190, belowCommission resolution, the Administrator shall 
refer the application to the Public Works and Planning and Community Development 
Departments for review and comment and then, based on those comments:  

1. Approve;  

2. Conditionally approve, conditionally approve,; or deny 

3. Deny the application, with any conditions imposed or reasons for denial stated in 
writing.  

B. In addition to the application fee, applicants will be responsible for the actual costs the City 
incurs in making and erecting signs or installing curb or pavement markings to delineate 
the loading or parking zone.  

B.  C. The extent and location of loading and parking zones may be limited by the Administrator 
to ensure traffic and pedestrian circulation and safety. The Administrator is not required to 
approve an application for a loading or parking zone that interferes with safe circulation.  

C.  D. Loading and parking zones will not be permitted on a public street where the Administrator 
determines that there is adequate space for loading and parking on the applicant's 
property.  

D.  E. The Administrator's decision may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment following the 
procedures established in Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 34 of the Official Code of the City of 
Great FallsOCCGF Title 17.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010; Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 

1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(G)(2))  

10.4810.9.190   Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones. 

Application fees for the establishment of loading and parking zones shall be set by Commission resolution 
of the City Commission with the objective of recovering the administrative costs involved. For the 
convenience of applicants, the Commission may elect to set a flat fee for the installation of residential 
handicap parking zones.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; 2443 §3, 1986: Ord. 2353 §3, 4, 1984; 

Ord. 2305 §1, 1982: Ord. 2021 §2, 1977: Ord. 1987 §2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(G) (3))  

10.48.9.200   Use of loading and parking zones on public streets. 

A.   It is a violation of this Code, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 
10.87.090 of this title,unlawful for any vehicle to stop or park in any loading or parking 
zone established as provided inpursuant to this chapterChapter for any purpose except 
that for which the zone was established.  

B. It is also a violationunlawful for vehicles or materials to be parked or stored in a loading 
zone except where the Administrator permits the temporary use of a loading zone for the 
parking of equipment or storage of materials during construction.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 263 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 25 

B.  C. The Administrator may, after seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory Commission, 
remove any loading or parking zone that is subject to repeated violations by the applicant 
requesting its establishment, that is creating a traffic hazard or congestion, that is no longer 
in use, or that is otherwise failing to function for its intended purpose.:  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010; Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; prior 

code §10-2-14(G) (4) (part))  

10.48.2201. Is subject to repeated violations by the applicant requesting its 

establishment;  

2. Is creating a traffic hazard or congestion;  

3. Is no longer in use; or  

4. Is otherwise failing to function for its intended purpose.  

10.9.210   Passenger loading zones serving schools. 

Section 10.489.200 shall be enforced in passenger loading zones serving schools only between 7:00 a.m. 
and 5:00 p.m. on school days during the school year or, when weekend, summer, or evening sessions 
served by busses are held, and when school is in session.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2951, 2006)  

10.48.2309.220   Delivery permits. 

A.   Delivery permits allow parking in freight loading zones or in any lawful parking space in a 
parking management district without additional payment only while a vehicle is making 
deliveries.  

B.   All vehicles that regularly make deliveries within a parking management district shall 
display a delivery permit issued by the City in a way that is clearly visible to parking 
enforcement personnel. The Administrator may issue more specific instructions for the 
display of these permits.  

C.   Delivery permits must be renewed each year, on or before the anniversary date of their 
issuance.January 1 each year. The cost of a delivery permit will be set by Commission 
resolution of the City Commission.  

D.   Use of a delivery permit to attempt to avoid paying for parking when not making a delivery 
is a violation of this section, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 
10.87.090 of this titleTitle.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by repealing 

former § 10.48.230, and adding a new § 10.48.230. Former § 10.48.230 pertained to passenger 

loading zones, and derived from the prior code, § 10-2-14(G)(4); Ord. 1987 of 1976; and Ord. 

2951 of 2006.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 264 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 26 

10.48.240   Meter bags. 

10.9.230   Meter bags. 

A.   Meter bags may be issued to temporarily to reserve metered parking spaces for 
maintenance or construction activities, while moving, or for other activities being conducted 
by or for the adjoining property owner that require reserved parking at a particular location 
within a parking management district.  

B.   The daily cost of meter bags will be set by Commission resolution of the City Commission..   

C.   Using a meter bag to attempt to avoid paying for parking when not engaged in the activities 
for which the meter bag was issued is a violation of this section, subject to the penalties 
and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090 of this title. It is also a violation to park a vehicle 
in a parking space with a meter bag without the meter bag applicant's permissionTitle.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by repealing 

former § 10.489.240, and adding a new § 10.48.240. Former § 10.48.240 pertained to freight 

loading zones, and derived from the prior code, § 10-2-14(G)(4); and Ord. 1987 of 1976.  

10.48.250   Residential parking in parking management districts. 

A.   Residential parking areas are shown on the Official Parking Management District Map of 
the City of Great Falls that is appended to this title.filed with the Planning and 
Community Development Department. After seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory 
Commission, the City Commission may, by resolution, dissolve, amend, or add residential 
parking areas in any parking management district.  

B.  It is a violation of this Code, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090 
of this title, It is unlawful to stop or park a vehicle for longer than the time limit 
established by the signs posted in a residential parking area except that residents.  

C. Residents of the district, whether owners or lessees, may, upon submitting proof of their 
residence in a residential parking area, obtain a residential parking permit that exempts 
them from the posted time limit. The City Commission may set a fee that covers the 
administrative costs of issuing the residential parking permitsFees for such permits shall 
be set by Commission resolution.  

C.  D Residential parking permits are specific to the vehicle plate number shown on the 
application for the permit and must be used within one block of the place of residence given 
on that application. Residential parking permits may not be used at metered parking 
spaces. Penalties for violations of this section are as set by Commission resolution of the 
City Commission.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by repealing 

former § 10.489.250, and adding a new § 10.48.250. Former § 10.48.250 pertained to delivery 

zones, and derived from the prior code, § 10-2-14(G)(4); Ord. 1987 of 1976; Ord. 2646 of 1994; 

and Ord. No. 3057, adopted August 17, 2010.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 265 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 27 

10.48.260   Administration of parking management districts. 

A.   Parking management districts are shown on the Official Parking Management District Map 
of the City of Great Falls that is appended to this title.filed with the Planning and 
Community Development Department. After seeking the advice of the Parking Advisory 
Commission, the City Commission may, by resolution, dissolve, amend, or add parking 
management districts. These changes shall be promptly added to the Official Parking 
Management District Map of the City of Great Falls that is appended to this title.  

B.   Parking meters may be installed within parking management districts. Meters need not, 
however, be used throughout these districts. The Administrator, in consultation with the 
Parking Advisory Commission, may remove parking meters that are not needed to maintain 
parking turnover or where the cost of servicing a meter exceeds the revenue it generates.  
The Administrator, in consultation with the Parking Advisory Commission, may add 
meters in an established management district.  Where meters are not used within the 
metered parking districts, time limits may be posted and enforced using signs.  

C.   The Administrator may also issue monthly parking passes that can be used at meters in 
areas where meters are underutilized. The fee for monthly parking passes shall be set by 
Commission resolution of the Commission.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2189, 1980; Ord. 1987 §2 (part), 1976: prior code §10-2-

14(G)(5))  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by repealing 

former § 10.48.9.260, and renumbered former § 10.48.280 as a new § 10.48.260. Former § 

10.48.260 pertained to daily use zones and meter bags, and derived from the prior code, § 10-2-

14(G)(4); Ord. 1987 of 1976; Ord. 2353 of 1984; Ord. 2520 of 1989; Ord. 2572 of 1990; and 

Ord. 2646 of 1994.  

10.48.270   Parking meter enforcement periods and time limits. 

A.  Time limits on curb parking, whether metered or not, are established to promote parking 
turnover for the convenience of shoppers and the benefit of downtown businesses. 
 The rates and time limits for parking in parking management districts shall be as 
establishedset by Commission resolution of the City Commission..  

B.   Any type of meter may be used within a parking management district at the discretion of 
the Administrator, with recommendations from the Parking Advisory Commission.  

C.   Enforcement of the parking rates and time limits established by the Commission shall be 
in effect from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on all days except Saturdays, Sundays, and City 
holidays or as otherwise provided by Commission resolution of the Commission. The 
Administrator may temporarily suspend parking meter enforcement for downtown events, 
holidays, or construction projects.  

D.  It is a violation of this Code, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090 
of this title, It is unlawful to park a vehicle in a parking management district for a 
period of time longer than the limit that is adopted by the Commission and posted on the 
meter and/or signs placed by the City. Spaces may be used without regard to the posted 
time limit on Saturdays, Sundays, and City holidays, except where otherwise posted.  

E.   The time limits authorized herein are enforced, among other ways, by chalking tires. 
Consistent with the purpose of time limits, as stated in A., above, a vehicle that has not 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 266 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 28 

been moved far enough to erase the chalk mark is still in violation of the time limits and 
this Code.  

F.   An exception to the posted time limits is hereby granted to individuals with disabilities as 
definedprovided in Mont. Code Ann. Title 49, Chapter 4, to use any metered space without 
regard to the sign-posted time limit.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 

2520 §4, 1989: Ord. 2353 §9, 10, 1984; Ord. 2052 §1, 1979; Ord. 2021 §4, 1977: Ord. 1987 

§2(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-14(G) (6))  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by repealing 

former § 10.48.270, and renumbered former § 10.48.290 as a new § 10.48.270. Former § 

10.48.270 pertained to residential zones, and derived from the prior code, § 10-2-14(G)(4); Ord. 

1987 of 1976; Ord. 2353 of 1984; Ord. 2646 of 1994; and Ord. No. 3057, adopted August 17, 

2010.  

10.48.28010.9.270   Courtesy parking. 

Upon request by the adjoining property owner or tenant and approval of the Administrator, metered spaces 
may be designated as courtesy parking, allowing the removal of the meters and their replacement with a 
sign stating that parking is being provided by the adjoining business. The number and location of spaces 
that may be thus designated will be determined by the Administrator. The fee for designating spaces as 
courtesy parking shall be set by Commission resolution of the City Commission and payable each year on 
the anniversary date of the application. The City will continueprior to enforce the applicable time limit on 
courtesy parking spacesJanuary 1.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 

2443 § 1, 1986; Ord. 2353 §11, 1984)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by 

renumbering former § 10.48.280 as a new § 10.48.260, and renumbered former § 10.48.291 as a 

new § 10.48.280.  

10.48.2909.280   Unauthorized parking in off-street parking facilities prohibited. 

A.  It is a violation of this Code, subject to the penalties and fees authorized by Section 10.87.090 
of this title,A. It is unlawful for any person to stop or park a vehicle in any parking space 
in an off-street parking facility that is owned or leased by the City unless the occupants of 
that vehicle have paid the required fee.  

B.   Parking spaces controlled by parking meters in off-street parking facilities owned or leased 
by the City shall be subject to the same rates, time limits, and periods of enforcement as 
other parking meters, unless otherwise provided by Commission resolution of the 
Commission.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2457 § 1, 1987; Ord. 2383 § 2, 1985; Ord. 2353 § 12, 

1984; Ord. 2188, 1980)  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 267 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 29 

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by 

renumbering former § 10.489.290 as a new § 10.48.270, and renumbered former § 10.48.300 as 

a new § 10.48.290.  

10.48.300   Rates charged on City owned/operated off-street parking lots and garages. 

The City Manager shall, on recommendation of the Parking Advisory Commission, establish the hourly, 

daily, and monthly lease rates charged for parking in City owned or  or operated off-street parking 

lots or, garages. , and parking meters. 

(Ord. No. 3122, § 2, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 2521, 1989)  

Editor's note— Ord. No. 3122, § 2, adopted December 2, 2014, amended the Code by 

renumbering former § 10.48.300 as a new § 10.48.290, and renumbered former § 10.48.310 as a 

new § 10.48.300.  

 

Rates for City-owned or City-operated off-street parking lots, garages, and parking meters shall be 
set by Commission resolution.  

10.9.300   Parking in construction zones. 

The Public Works Department is authorized to relocate vehicles parked in active construction 
zones.  Prior to relocation the Department shall: 

A. Place a no parking notice in the construction zone twenty-four (24) hours prior to 
construction beginning; 

B. Provide notice to the GFPD that a vehicle is located in the construction zone and 
must be removed; and 

C. GFPD shall attempt to locate the registered owner of the vehicle. 

D. If the registered owner is not located, or the vehicle is not removed from the 
construction zone within twenty-four (24) hours, the Public Works Department shall 
remove the vehicle from the construction zone, and the costs of said removal shall 
be charged to the registered owner. 

 

Chapter 5010   VEHICLE IMMOBILIZATION 
Sections:  

10.50.010 Authorization to use vehicle immobilizer. 

10.50.020 Procedure for vehicle immobilization. 

10.50.030 Removal of violation vehicle. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 268 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 30 

10.50.040 Release to the owner. 

10.50.050 Hearing on immobilization. 

10.50.060 Cost liability. 

 

 

10.10.010 Authorization to use vehicle immobilizer. 

10.10.020 Procedure for vehicle immobilization. 

10.10.030 Removal of violation vehicle. 

10.5010.040 Release to the owner. 

10.10.050 Hearing on immobilization. 

 

 

10.10.010   Authorization to use vehicle immobilizer. 

A. Members of the City Police DepartmentGFPD, or other Parking Administrator 
authorized persons, are authorized to use a vehicle immobilizer ("boot") to immobilize 
any vehicle that is parked in a cityCity parking space located in the downtown residential 
district, the parking meter district, or any cityCity owned off-street pay-to-park facility/lot, 
and that has five (5) or more parking tickets unpaid/ or delinquent thirty (30) days or more, 
provided that.  

B. Prior to any vehicle immobilization, the Planning and Community Development 
Department's Parking Division hasis required to either (a) mailed:  

1. Mail the registered owner of the vehicle a final notice for five (5) or more of the 
unpaid/ or delinquent parking tickets; or (b) has filed 

2. File a complaint in courtGreat Falls Municipal Court charging the registered 
owner with unpaid parking tickets on the vehicle, and no individual has appeared 
for arraignment on the complaint.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.5010.020   Procedure for vehicle immobilization. 

A. If parking officials, as defined in section 10.87.010this Chapter, choose to immobilize a 
vehicle with a boot as allowed by section 10.50.010Chapter, then the on-site officers 
immobilizing the vehicle shall ensure that a written notice is conspicuously affixed to the 
vehicle.  

B. The written notice will inform the owner, driver, or person in charge of such vehicle: that 
the: 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 269 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 31 

1. The vehicle has been immobilized by the City for violation of one (1) or more 
provisions ofpursuant to this Chapter 10.48; that release;  

2. Release from such immobilization may be obtained at a designated place; that 
unless 

3. Unless arrangements are made for the release of such vehicle within forty-eight 
(48) hours, the vehicle will be towed and impounded and towed as provided in 
section 10.50.030pursuant to this Chapter; and that removing 

4. Removing or attempting to remove the immobilization device before a release is 
obtained is unlawful.  

C. An immobilized vehicle shall not be released by the City until the immobilization fee is paid, 
together with payment of all outstanding parking fines, or posting of a bond as allowed by 
section 10.50.040this Chapter.  

D. If the vehicle has remained immobilized for a period of forty-eight (48) hours and a release 
has not been obtained, then the parking officialGFPD shall have the vehicle towed and 
impounded and towed as provided in section 10.50.030.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

10.5010.030   Removal of violation vehicle. 

A.   The City is authorized to remove a vehicle or tow a vehicle from parking spaces located in 
the areas listed in section 10.5010.010 to the designated tow site when a vehicle with an 
immobilization device attached remains immobilized for a period of forty-eight (48) hours 
and a release has not been obtained.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

B.   Whenever an officer removes a vehicle from a street or City parking space as authorized 
in this section, and the officer knows or is able to ascertain from the registration records on 
the vehicle the name and address of the vehicle owner thereof, such , the officer shall give 
notice in writing to suchthe owner of the fact of such removal, the violations, and the 
reasons thereof and of the place to which suchwhere the vehicle has been removed. 
relocated.  

C. If any sucha vehicle is stored at a designated tow site, a copy of suchthe notice shall be 
given to the proprietor of such garage. Further, the tow site. The party towing the vehicle 
shall immediately notify the police departmentGFPD dispatcher that a vehicle has been 
towed from a specific location and give the dispatcher a detailed description of the vehicle 
and the location to which it is being towed.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

C.  D. Whenever an officer removes a vehicle from a street under this section and does not know 
and is not able to ascertain the name of the owner, or for any other reason is unable to 
give the notice to the owner as hereinafter provided, and if the vehicle is not returned to 
the owner within a period of three (3) days, then the officer shall send or cause to be sent 
written reportsa report of suchthe removal by mail to the state department whose duty it 
is to register motor vehicles,to the Montana Department of Transportation Motor 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 270 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 32 

Vehicle Division and shall file a copy of suchthe notice with the proprietor of the 
designated tow site in which the vehicle may be stored. Such. The notice shall include a 
complete description of the vehicle, the date, time, and place from which removed, the 
reasons for such removalviolations, and name of the garage or place where the vehicle 
is storedtow site.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

D.  Any officer is authorized to take possession of any motor vehicle owned by any person that 
has violated, as to the vehicle, any of the provisions of Chapter 10.48, and has the authority 
to remove such vehicle from the streets and parking facilities in the areas designated in 
section 10.50.010, and to store and keep possession thereof until the owner of such vehicle 
appears and claims the same. E. The cost of towing or removing suchthe vehicle 
and costs of storing the samevehicle shall be chargeable against the vehicle and shall be 
paid by the owner of the vehicle before the same shall be it is released. The vehicle will 
be stored in a designated tow site. The owner of a vehicle impounded and towed due to 
unpaid parking tickets must secure the release of the vehicle as required by section 
10.50.040(B).  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

E.  F. The taking of possession of a vehicle for violation of any parking ordinance or regulation 
shall not prohibit the filing of a complaint in connection with suchMunicipal Court for the 
violation(s).  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

10.5010.040   Release to the owner. 

A.   A vehicle immobilized for unpaid parking tickets shall be released to the registered owner 
or any other person legally entitled to claim possession of the vehicle, and the vehicle 
immobilization equipment shall be removed, upon payment of all overdue and unpaid 
parking tickets and the immobilization fee. The fee may be paid in the form of a refundable 
bond, pending the outcome of any hearing requested pursuant to section 10.5010.050(D).  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

B.   A vehicle towed and impounded and towed for unpaid parking citations, and in accordance 
with section 10.5010.030, can only be released pursuant to a written order from the 
Municipal Court that all penalties, fines, or forfeitures owed by the registered owner have 
been satisfied by full payment or the posting of a bond pending a hearing.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

10.5010.050   Hearing on immobilization. 

A.   After a vehicle has been immobilized pursuant to this chapterChapter, the registered 
owner, and any other person(s) who reasonably appear to have an interest in the vehicle, 
is entitled to have speedy hearing with the Parking OfficialAdministrator or a designated 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 271 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 33 

representativedesignee to determine if the vehicle was immobilized in accordance with 
sections 10.50.010 and 10.50.020this Chapter.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

B.   If the Parking OfficialAdministrator or designee finds that the immobilization was invalid 
or unjustified, he/ or she will order the vehicle to be immediately released, and the owner 
or any other person(s) who have an interest in the vehicle shall not be held liable for the 
immobilization fee.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

C.   If the Parking OfficialAdministrator finds that the immobilization was valid and justified, 
he/ or she willmay order that the immobilization device remains on the vehicle until 
payment is received for the immobilization fee and all overdue and unpaid parking tickets. 
However, pursuant to section 10.50.030 A., when a vehicle with an immobilization device 
attached remains immobilized for a period of forty-eight (48) hours and a release has not 
been obtained, the vehicle will be towed and impounded.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

D.  The decision of the Parking Official shall be the final decision by the City. Any person aggrieved by a 
decision can request a hearing in Municipal Court. The court shall attempt to have the hearing as soon 
as all parties can be present, preferably on the day the immobilization or towing occurred; but in no 
instance shall the hearing be any later than three (3) business days after towing has occurred. If the 
Municipal Court judge determines that the immobilization or towing was in violation of sections 
10.50.010, 10.50.020 and/or 10.50.030, then the court may order the City to pay or reimburse the fees 
for immobilization or storage.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

10.50.060   Cost liability. 

The cost of removal and storage of any vehicle moved or towed pursuant to this chapter shall be paid by 
the owner or operator of the vehicle unless the Great Falls Municipal Court orders otherwise.  

(Ord. 2815, 2002).  

 

D. The decision of the Parking Administrator may be appealed to the City Manager’s 
Office within fifteen (15) calendar days.  The City Manager or designee shall affirm, 
modify, or reverse the decision of the Parking Administrator by written finding.  An 
adverse finding by the City Manager may be appealed, in writing, within (15) calendar 
days to the City Commission.  The City Commission, after hearing testimony on the 
matter, shall issue a written finding affirming, modifying, or reversing the decision 
of the City Manager. 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 272 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 34 

Chapter 5711   COMMERCIAL VEHICLES 
Sections:  

10.57.010 Definitions. 

10.57.020 Trucks—prohibited where. 

10.57.040 Trucks—parking prohibited where—exception. 

10.57.050 Restriction of vehicles—determined by City Commission—signs to be erected. 

 

 

10.57.010   Definitions. 

"Truck" and other "commercial10.11.010 Commercial vehicles—prohibited where. 

10.11.020 Commercial vehicles" include motor buses. —parking prohibited where—exception. 

(Ord. 1974 §1(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-27(A)).  

10.57.020   Trucks10.11.030 Restriction of vehicles—determined by City Commission—signs to 

be erected. 

 

 

10.11.010   Commercial vehicles—prohibited where. 

A.   It is unlawful and constitutes a public offense for any person to drive or operate, or for the 
owner to cause or knowingly permit to be driven or operated any truck,commercial vehicle 
not involved in local service as defined in subsection B., of this Sectionsection, upon the 
streets and avenues of theany City public way except upon the truck routes designated 
as follows:  

1.   Tenth Avenue South from the west City limits to the east City limits;  

2.   The Northeast Bypass from the intersection at Fifty-seventh Street and Tenth 
Avenue South, north and then westerly to the TenthNinth Street Bridge;  

3.   River Drive from its connection with Tenth Avenue South at or near the Warden 
Bridge to the First Avenue North Bridge;  

i. First Avenue North from Park Drive westerly through the First Avenue North 
Bridge; and  

ii. Central Avenue West from the west end of the First Avenue North Bridge to the 
west City limits on the Vaughn Highway;  

4.   Third Street Northwest and Smelter Avenue from Central Avenue West to the 
northeasterly City limits;  

5.   Second Street from the Tenth Avenue South approaches north to First Avenue 
South;  

6.   First Avenue South from Second Street, west to Park Drive; and  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 273 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 35 

i. Park Drive from First Avenue South to First Avenue North;  

7.   Sixth Street Southwest from Central Avenue West to Tenth Avenue South; and 

8.   River Drive from First Avenue North to the TenthNinth Street Bridge;.  

B.  For the purpose of this section, the following definitions and terms shall apply:  

"Truck" means any motor vehicle designed, used or maintained primarily for the transportation of property, 

which has a gross vehicle weight of over ten thousand (10,000) pounds.  

"Local service" means limiting the authorized use of City streets or avenues to those trucks which have 
either point of origin or destination for immediate business purposes within the corporate limits of the City.  

C.  In any hearing in Municipal Court, unless credible evidence is produced demonstrating such immediate 
business purposes such as a bill of lading or routing schedule, the operation of such truck on a 

prohibited street or avenue shall be prima facie evidence of violation of 10.57.11.020.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 1974 §1(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-27(B) (part); Ord. 2219 

1980).  

10.57.040   Trucks—   Commercial vehicles—parking prohibited where—exception. 

It is unlawful and constitutes a public offense for any person to park a truck (as defined in Section 
10.57.020)commercial vehicle on any streetCity public way, or avenue within the City, and outside of 
that area which may from time to time by the City ordinance be designated as the central business 
districtCentral Business District, except for an emergency or for loading and unloading purposes.  

(Ord. 1974 §1(part), 1976: prior code §10-2-27(D)).  

10.57.05010.11.030   Restriction of vehicles—determined by City Commission—signs to 

be erected. 

A.   The City Commission may, by law or resolutionordinance, prohibit the operation of 
vehicles upon any such streets, avenues, or highways, or impose restrictions as to the 
weight of vehicles to be operated upon any such street, whenever any street by reason of 
deterioration, rain, snow, or other climate conditions will be seriously damaged or 
destroyed unless the use of vehicles thereon is prohibited or the permissible weights 
thereof reduced.  

B.   The City Commission, in enacting any such law or resolution,Public Works Department 
shall erect or cause to be erected and maintained signs designatingpursuant to the 
provisions of the law or resolutionordinance at each end of that portion of any street 
affected thereby, and the law or resolutionordinance shall not be effective unless and until 
such signs are erected and maintained.  

(Prior code §10-2-28).  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 274 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 36 

Chapter 6012   ABANDONED AND JUNKED VEHICLES, MACHINERY, 

TRAILERS, AND PARTS 
Sections:  

10.60.010 Purpose. 

10.60.020 Definitions. 

10.60.030 Exemptions. 

10.60.040 Junk vehicle deemed nuisance. 

10.60.050 Administration and enforcement. 

10.60.060 Administration costs. 

10.60.070 Notices of intention to abate and remove; mailing; form of notices. 

10.60.080 Appeal. 

10.60.090 Abatement and removal. 

10.60.100 Illegal off-street parking. 

10.60.110 Continuing notice. 

10.60.120 Penalty. 

10.60.130 Non-exclusively of this chapter. 

 

 

10.6010.12.010 Purpose. 

10.12.020 Exemptions. 

10.12.030 Junk vehicle deemed nuisance. 

10.12.040 Administration and enforcement. 

10.12.050 Notices of intention to abate and remove; mailing; form of notices. 

10.12.060 Appeal. 

10.12.070 Abatement and removal. 

10.12.080 Illegal off-street parking. 

10.12.090 Continuing notice. 

10.12.100 Penalty. 

 

 

10.12.010   Purpose. 

The City Commission of the City of Great Falls hereby makes, finds and declares that the accumulation 
and storage of abandoned, wrecked, dismantled, or inoperative vehicles, machinery, trailers, or parts 
thereof, on public property or illegally parked on private property is hereby found to create:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 275 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 37 

A. Create a condition tending to reduce the value of private property, to promote;  

B. Promote blight and deterioration, to invite plundering, to create;  

C. Invite criminal activity;  

D. Create fire hazards, to constitute;  

E. Constitute an attractive nuisance creating a hazard to the health and safety of minors, to 
create; and 

F. Create a harbor for rodents and insects, and to be potentially injurious to the health, 
safety, and general welfare.  

G. Therefore, the presence of an abandoned, wrecked, or dismantled or inoperative vehicle, 
or part thereof, on public property or illegally parked on private property, except as 
expressly hereinafter permitted, is hereby declared to constitute a public 
nuisanceNuisance, which may be abated as such in accordance with the provisions of this 
chapterOCCGF Title 8, Chapter 49.  

(Ord. 2819, 2002)  

10.6012.020   Definitions. 

For the purpose of this chapter the following definitions shall apply:  

"Vehicle" means any device by which any person or property may be propelled, moved, or drawn upon a 
street, except a device which is designed to be exclusively moved by human power or used exclusively 
upon stationary rails or tracks. The term vehicle shall include, but is not limited to, an automobile, truck, 
van, sports utility vehicle, recreational vehicle, camper, motorcycle, trailer, watercraft, boat, canoe, jet skis, 
snowmobiles, ATV's or aircraft.  

"Machinery" is synonymous with and means the same as "machine" as defined by the current edition of 
Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary.  

"Trailer" means any vehicle without motive power designed for carrying persons or property and for being 
drawn by a motor vehicle.  

"Parts" means any mechanical, structural, body or decorative part of any vehicle, machinery or trailer.  

"Junk vehicle" means any vehicle, machinery, trailer, or parts thereof, located on public property or illegally 
parked on private property within the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, which, as to a vehicle or 
trailer, does not properly display license plates or stickers indicating current registration and/or, as to any 
vehicle, machinery, trailer, or parts thereof, which has any one (1) or more of the following characteristics:  

A.  Lacks an engine, wheel, tire, properly installed battery or other structural parts which renders the 
vehicle inoperable for use as designed by the manufacturer; provided, that if there is more than 
one (1) vehicle on the real property, there shall be the necessary number of engines, wheels, 
tires, batteries and other structural parts for each respective vehicle;  

B.  Has a broken or missing fender, door, bumper, hood, exterior door handle, running board, 
steering wheel, trunk top, trunk handle, tail pipe, muffler, driver's seat, fuel tank, driveshaft, 
differential, generator, alternator or other structural piece;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 276 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 38 

C.  Has become or the potential to become the breeding ground or habitat of rats, mice, snakes, 
mosquitoes or other vermin, rodents or insects, or is otherwise used for the storage, harbor, 
caging or dwelling for an animal of any kind;  

D.  Has heavy growth of weeds or other noxious vegetation over eight (8) inches in height under or 
immediately next to it.  

E.  Has become a point of collection for stagnant water;  

F.  Has junk, garbage, refuse, gasoline or fuel other than in its fuel tank, paper, cardboard, wood or 
other combustible materials, solid waste or other hazardous material present in it or which is 
primarily used for storage of any materials;  

G.  Has become a source of danger for children through entrapment in areas of confinement that 
cannot be opened from inside, through a danger of the vehicle falling or turning over, or through 
possible injury from exposed surfaces of metal, glass or other rigid materials;  

H.  Has become a potential source of contamination of the soil from petroleum products or other toxic 
liquids being discharged or leaking from the vehicle;  

I.  Has become illegal to operate on the public streets because it is missing one (1) or more parts 
required by law;  

J.  Is an abandoned vehicle; or  

K.  Because of its defective, deteriorated or obsolete condition in any other way constitutes a 
nuisance or a threat to the public's health or safety.  

"Abandoned vehicle" means any of the following. For the purposes of this subsection, the word "vehicle" 
includes a vehicle, machinery, trailer or parts thereof:  

A.  A vehicle that has been left unattended on public property for more than forty-eight (48) hours 
and lacks current registration, plates, or one (1) or more wheels/tires or other parts which renders 
the vehicle totally inoperable;  

B.  A vehicle that has remained illegally parked on public property for more than forty-eight (48) 
hours;  

C.  A vehicle that has been unlawfully parked on private real property or has been placed on private 
property without the consent of the real property owner or person in control of the property for 
more than forty-eight (48) hours;  

D.  A vehicle that has been legally impounded by order of a law enforcement authority and has not 
been reclaimed for a period of five (5) days. However, a law enforcement authority may declare 
the vehicle abandoned within the five-day period by commencing the notification process in Mont. 
Code Annotated Title 61 Chapter 8 (2001).  

E.  Any vehicle parked on a street determined by a law enforcement authority to create a hazard to 
other vehicle traffic.  

"Law enforcement authority" means a peace officer or any City, state or federal department or agency 
operating with arrest authority in Great Falls, Montana.  

"Responsible parties if ascertainable, the last known registered owner of the junk vehicle as indicated in 
the official records of the State of Montana Department of Motor Vehicles or a sister state division of 
transportation or motor vehicles.  

10.60.030   Exemptions. 

This chapterChapter shall not apply to the following:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 277 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 39 

A.   When such storage or parking is necessary to the operation of a lawfully conducted 
business or commercial enterprise on land which such business or enterprise is authorized 
by the City's zoning regulations; or 

B.   A vehicle which was recently involved in a collision, duly documented by a timely report 
filed with the appropriate law enforcement agency or the state department of 
transportationMontana Department of Transportation, or its equivalent in a sister state, 
shall not be deemed a junk vehicle unless the owner/ or operator of said vehicle fails to 
repair or properly cover the same within a reasonable period of time after said collision.  

C.  Nothing in this chapter shall authorize the maintenance of a public or private nuisance as defined 
under provisions of law. (See Title 8 regarding Criminal Nuisances.)  

D.  Nothing in the chapter and none of these exemptions alter any zoning regulations for the land on 
which the vehicle is located. (See Title 17 for zoning regulations)  

10.60.04012.030   Junk vehicle deemed nuisance. 

The keeping, maintaining, or allowing a junk vehicle to be on public or illegally parked on private property, 
except as provided by Section 10.60.030 above12.020, shall constitute a nuisance. The owner of a junk 
vehicle shall be responsible for the maintaining or keeping of a nuisance.Nuisance as defined by OCCGF 
Title 8, Chapter 49.  

10.60.05012.040   Administration and enforcement. 

A. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the provisions of this chapterChapter shall 
be administered and enforced by the Planning and Community Development Director 
and/or the Police Chief, or their respective designees, hereinafter collectively referred to 
as "enforcement officer."  

B. The enforcement officer and any person designated by the enforcement officer to abate 
the nuisance, pursuant to this codethe OCCGF or court order, are hereby authorized 
access to any property upon which a junk vehicle is located for the purpose of carrying out 
any and all actions necessary to enforce this chapterChapter.  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.60.060   Administration costs. 

The City Commission shall determine and fix the administrative fee, an amount to be assessed as 
administrative costs under this chapter. Said administrative fee shall be in addition to the actual costs 
incurred regarding towing, storage and disposal of the vehicle. The administrative fee shall be set by 
resolution.  

10.60.07012.050   Notices of intention to abate and remove; mailing; form of notices. 

A.   A ten-day notice (exclusive of weekends or federally mandated holidays) of intention to 
abate and remove the vehicle or parts thereof as a public nuisanceNuisance shall be given 
to the owner of the land and/or to the owner of the vehicle, if known. The notices of 
intentionnotice shall be in a form promulgated by the Planning and Community 
Development Directorissuing enforcement officer, and shall provide the following 
information at a minimum:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 278 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 40 

1.   A description of the vehicle or parts which constitute(s) a nuisanceNuisance under 
the provisions of the Great Falls Municipal Code;OCCGF;  

2.   That the nuisanceNuisance must be abated within ten (10) days, (exclusive of 
weekends and federally mandated holidays) to-wit: the junk vehicle must be either:  

i.   Brought into a condition that it no longer is defined as a junk vehicle,;  

ii.   Placed in a proper enclosure,; or  

iii.   Removed from the property and properly disposed of or removed from the 
City; and  

3.   Failure to properly abate said nuisanceNuisance as prescribed shall be sufficient 
cause for the removal of the junk vehicle by the enforcement authorityofficer or 
his/her duly designated agentdesignee as set forth by the municipal codeOCCGF.  

B.   The notice required by this section shall be served in any one (1) of the following manners:  

1.  Posting notice on or near the junk vehicle(s) in question and by certified1. By 
regular mail, return receipt requested to the last registered-owner of said vehicle, 
if ascertainable, at the address listed in the state'sState's records concerning 
ownership of the vehicle (for the purposes of this provision, and service shall be 
deemed to have been perfected the day after the notice is mailed);; or  

2.   If the last registered owner's name is not ascertainable, by posting notice on or 
near the junk vehicle(s) in (for the purposes of this provision,, and service shall be 
deemed to have been perfected the day the notice is posted on or near the junk 
vehicle)..  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.60.08012.060   Appeal. 

Any interested party may appeal the decision of the enforcement officer by filing a written notice of appeal 
with the Planning and Community Development Director ten (10) days (exclusive of weekends and federally 
mandated holidays) days after service of notice as required by Section 10.60.070 above. Such appeal shall 
be heard by the Municipal Court Judge which may affirm, amend or reverse the notice/order or take other 
action deemed appropriate. The Clerk of Municipal Court shall give at least five-day written notice of the 
time and place of the hearing to the appellant by first-class mail or personal serviceCity Manager ten (10) 
calendar days after service of notice as required by this Chapter. The City Manager or designee 
shall within fifteen (15) calendar days make a written finding affirming, reversing or modifying the 
enforcement officer’s decision.  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.60.09012.070   Abatement and removal. 

A.   The responsible party, after service of notice is perfected, shall abate the 
nuisanceNuisance within ten (10) calendar days (exclusive of weekends and federally 
mandated holidays) days of service being perfected.. Abatement shall consist of:  

1.   Providing for the current registration of each and everythe vehicle including the 
affixing the registration plate or current sticker to the vehicle;  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 279 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 41 

2.   Repairing any and all conditions which cause suchthe vehicle(s) to be a 
nuisanceNuisance under the provisions of the Municipal CodeOCCGF; and  

3.   Having all of the required equipment and parts for eachthe vehicle which was 
described in the notice; or  

4.   Removing the junk vehicle or causing the junk vehicle to be removed to a licensed 
dismantler, salvage yard, licensed vehicle dealer, a junk dealer, an auto body shop 
or to any otherlegally authorized location provided the same complies with all 
applicable provisions of the Municipal Code..  

B.   If the responsible parties fail to abate the nuisanceNuisance as prescribed, or after such 
abatement has been affirmed by the Court on appealCity Manager, the City, through the 
enforcement officer, may abate such nuisanceNuisance by causing the junk vehicle(s) to 
be removed, impounded and sold, or disposed of as provided for abandoned vehicles 
under the laws of the State of Montana. All costs of such abatement and the administrative 
fee provided by this chapterChapter shall be charged to the responsible parties, jointly and 
severally.  

10.60.10012.080   Illegal off-street parking. 

A.   No person shall park a vehicle onto or upon privately owned real property or area 
developed as an off-street parking facility without the consent of the owner, lessee, or 
person in charge of said property or facility.  

B.   No person shall park a vehicle onto or upon publicly owned real property or area developed 
as an off-street parking facility, if said property is not properly designated and signed for 
parking of private vehicles; contrary to in violation of any signs set forth upon said property 
or facility; or contrary to the laws of the State of Montana, County of Cascade or the City 
of Great Falls without proper consent of said state, county or City.legally authorized 
signage.  

C.   Any vehicle parked in violation of this section shall be deemed an abandoned vehicle.  

10.60.11012.090   Continuing notice. 

A notice issued as provided in Section 10.60.070 abovepursuant to this Chapter shall be deemed a 
continuing notice regarding the vehicle(s) described in the notice for a period of one (1) year from the date 
of service and is valid for all locations within the incorporated City of Great Falls.limits. No further notice 
by an enforcement officer or ten-day period to abate is necessary to abate a nuisanceNuisance created by 
said vehicle(s) within the one-year period.  

10.60.12012.100   Penalty. 

Any person found guilty of a violation of any of the provisions of this chapter shall, upon conviction, be 
subject to the penalty provisions of this Code. Each day that a violation is allowed to continue shall constitute 
a separate and distinct violation.  

10.60.130   Non-exclusively of this chapter. 

This chapter is not the exclusive regulation of abandoned, wrecked, dismantled or inoperative vehicles 
within the City of Great Falls. It shall supplement and be in addition to the other regulatory codes, statutes, 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 280 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 42 

and ordinances heretofore or hereafter enacted by the City, the state, or any other legal entity or agency 
having jurisdiction.  

 

Chapter 61Parking any vehicle in violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a 

fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both.  

 

Chapter 13   ABANDONED, WRECKED, JUNKED OR DISMANTLED 

VEHICLES ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 
Sections:  

10.61.010 Definitions. 

10.61.020 Enforcement. 

10.61.030 Prohibited. 

10.61.040 Permitted in a building. 

10.61.050 Repair. 

10.61.060 Person responsible. 

10.61.070 Notice. 

10.61.080 Violation and penalty. 

 

 

10.61.010   Definitions. 

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation and enforcement of this chapter unless otherwise 
noted:  

When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense include the future, words in the 
plural number include the singular number and words in the singular number include the plural number.  

"Vehicle" means every device in, upon, or by which any person or property may be transported or drawn 
upon a public highway or upon p property, including trailers, semi-trailers, travel or camp trailers, as well as 
machinery used in farming, logging, excavating, but not including mobile homes presently utilized for human 
habitation. "Vehicle" shall not include a bicycle, but shall include motorbikes, motorcycles, motor-scooters, 
tractors, go-carts and golf carts.  

"Abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled motor vehicles" means any motor vehicle described in 61-1-
102, MCA, which does not have lawfully affixed thereto both an unexpired license plate or plates and the 
condition of which is wrecked, dismantled, inoperative, abandoned or discarded.  

"Abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled vehicle" means any vehicle described in Subsection B of this 
section which is not being utilized for its manufactured or intended purpose and has been discarded, 
abandoned, wrecked, junked, dismantled or partially dismantled, including parts thereof.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 281 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 43 

"Person" means any person, firm, partnership, association, corporation, company or organization of any 
kind.  

"Private property" means any real property within the City which is privately owned.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

10.61.020   Enforcement. 

A.  Authority. The Planning and Community Development Director or duly authorized representative, is 
authorized and directed to enforce all the provisions of this chapter, and all enforcement agencies of 
the City shall cooperate in this regard.  

B.  Right of entry. The Planning and Community Development Director or a duly authorized 
representative's right of entry in the enforcement of this chapter shall be in accordance with Section 
17.16.46.020B.4 and 17.16.46.080 of this Code.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.61.030   Prohibited. 

No person shall park, store, keep, place, leave or permit the same, any abandoned, wrecked, junked or 
dismantled motor vehicle or vehicle upon any private property within the City limits for a period in excess 
of seventy-two (72) hours. The presence of any abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled vehicle or motor 
vehicle, or parts thereof, upon private property as specified in this chapter, is declared a public nuisance 
which shall be abated as such in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. This section shall not apply 
to any vehicles enclosed within a building, or covered by a fabric cover specifically designed for covering 
vehicles or motor vehicles or to any vehicle held in connection with a business enterprise lawfully licensed 
and properly operated in an appropriate zone, pursuant to the zoning laws of the City or a vehicle in an 
appropriate storage place or depository maintained in a lawful place and manner by the City or to any 
vehicle or motor vehicle validly and properly retained by the owner thereof for antique collection purposes, 
pursuant to 61-3-411, M.C.A. Any motor vehicle whether in operable or inoperable condition designed, 
adapted or used for dragstrip racing or raceway racing shall be covered, as set forth in this chapter, or 
placed within a building.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

10.61.040   Permitted in a building. 

Storage, service, restoration and repair of an abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled vehicle or motor 
vehicle which is conducted within the confines of a building shall be permitted provided that such vehicle or 
motor vehicle is the property of the owner or occupier of the lot and provided that the storage service, 
service, restoration or repair is not a commercial use of the property.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 282 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 44 

10.61.050   Repair. 

This chapter shall not be construed to prevent any occupant of premises within the City limits from repairing 
his own motor vehicles or vehicle or machinery on his premises even though exposed to public view, so 
long as the person pursues the work to completion with reasonable diligence; provided, however, that any 
vehicle which remains out of running condition with any wheel, tire, engine, body or other major part 
removed there from for a period in excess of twenty (20) days, while remaining exposed to public view, 
shall be deemed to be prima facie evidence that the vehicle or motor vehicle is not being diligently repaired 
and constitutes a violation of this chapter.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

10.61.060   Person responsible. 

The owner of any private property within the City limits shall be absolutely responsible for any violation of 
the chapter.  

(Ord. 2646 §(part), 1994; Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

10.61.070   Notice. 

Whenever it comes to the attention of the Planning and Community Development Director that a nuisance 
exists within the City limits due to the maintenance or presence of abandoned, wrecked, junked or 
dismantled motor vehicles or vehicles upon private property within the City limits, a notice in writing shall 
be served upon the occupant of the land where the nuisance exists, or in the case there is no such occupant, 
then upon the person being the owner of the property, notifying them of the existence of the nuisance and 
ordering its removal in the time specified in this chapter.  

A.  Notice shall be given by United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the occupant or the 
person who is the owner at the last known address as exists upon the records of City. An 
alternative notice may be served in the same manner as other legal process is served in the State.  

B.  The Planning and Community Development Director shall give the notice for the removal of the 
items which constitute the nuisance at least fourteen (14) days before the time of compliance with 
the notice. The notice shall specify clearly the abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled motor 
vehicles or vehicles, or parts thereof upon the private property, which constitutes the nuisance 
and shall order the removal of the same as specified within this chapter. The notice shall advise 
that failure to remove or cover as specified in the notice shall render the person so served subject 
to prosecution for violation of this chapter and the penalty therefore as set forth in this chapter. 
The notice shall contain the name, address and telephone number of the Planning and 
Community Development Department for contact by the occupant or owner.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

10.61.080   Violation and penalty. 

A.  Failure of the person or persons responsible for the removal or covering of abandoned, wrecked, 
junked or dismantled motor vehicles or vehicles or parts thereof to remove or cover the same within 
the time specified in the notice, after the same has been served as provided in this chapter, constitutes 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 283 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 45 

a violation of the chapter which shall be punishable by a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars 
($500.00). It is specifically provided that each day a violation continues after the time for removal or 
covering specified in the notice, constitutes a separate offense, thereby subjecting the person or 
persons in violation thereof to a daily fine until the abandoned, wrecked, junked or dismantled motor 
vehicles or vehicles or parts thereof are removed from the private property, or covered, as provided in 
the notice.  

B.  In any action or proceeding brought for the violation of this chapter, as defined in this chapter, the 
reasonable cost and expense to City in connection with the mailing or serving of notice and the 
inspection of the private property in question, shall be awarded to City as part of the court's sentence.  

(Ord. 2442 §2 Ex. B(part), 1986).  

 

Chapter 66   SNOWMOBILES [1]  
10.13.010 A condition prohibited. 

10.13.020 Repair. 

 

 

10.13.010   A condition prohibited. 

An abandoned or junked vehicle on a private, non-permitted, premises is hereby declared a 
condition prohibited pursuant to OCCGF Title 8, Chapter 51. 

10.13.020   Repair. 

Vehicles may be repaired by non-commercial property owners or occupants in public view.  Said 
repairs must be pursued to completion.  Dismantled vehicles must be covered when not being 
repaired.  Vehicles not fully repaired within twenty (20) calendar days are presumed to be 
abandoned.  

 

Chapter 14   SNOWMOBILES   
Sections:  

10.66.010 Definitions. 

10.66.020 Prohibited where. 

10.14.010 Prohibited where. 

10.14.020 Penalty. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 284 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 46 

10.6614.010   Definitions. 

"Operator" includes every person who operates or is in actual physical control of the operation of the 
snowmobile.  

"Person" includes any individual, partnership, association or corporation, or any other body or groups of 
persons, whether incorporated or not, and regardless of the degree of formal organization.  

"Snowmobile" includes any self-propelled vehicle designed primarily for travel on the snow or ice or natural 
terrain, which may be steered by wheels, skis or runners, and which is not otherwise registered or licensed 
under the laws of the State.  

(Prior code §10-2-30(A)).  

10.66.020   Prohibited where. 

It is unlawful for any person or operator to drive any snowmobile upon any public streets, avenues, 
highways, roadways, alleys or sidewalksrights-of-way within the incorporated City limits, or upon any 
public parks or public grounds within the City.  

(Prior code §10-2-30(B)).  

 

 

FOOTNOTE(S): 

 

--- (1) ---  

For statutory provisions regarding snowmobiles, see RCM 53-1012 et seq. (Back) 

 

10.14.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred 
dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 6915   MOTORCYCLES 
Sections:  

Section:  

10.69.020 Driving on sidewalks and in public parks or grounds prohibited. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 285 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 47 

 

 

10.15.010 Driving on sidewalks and in public parks or grounds prohibited. 

10.6915.020 Penalty. 

 

10.15.010   Driving on sidewalks and in public parks or grounds prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person or operator to drive any motorcycle or other power driven two-wheel vehicle 
upon the sidewalks within the City or upon that portion of any public park or public grounds where no 
roadway is provided.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-10 (2)).  

(Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010)  

 

Chapter 71   HANDICAP ZONE 
Section:  

10.71.010 Handicap zone. 

 

 

10.7110.15.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred 
dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 16   HANDICAPPED ZONE 
Sections:  

10.16.010 Handicapped zone. 

 

 

10.16.010   HandicapHandicapped zone. 

A.   No person shall park a motor vehicle in a parking space designated and reserved for the 
physically handicapped, unless:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 286 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 48 

1.   Such person is physically handicapped in a manner rendering it difficult and 
burdensome for such person to walk, or such person was operating the vehicle 
under the direction of such a physically handicapped person; and  

2.   The vehicle visibly bears or contains the certificate or insignia issued to physically 
handicapped persons by the City or visibly bears or contains a special 
handicapped license plate or permit issued to physically handicapped persons by 
any State or City.  

B.   Notice of such designation of handicapped parking spaces shall be given by posting 
appropriate signs.  

C.   In any prosecution charging a violation of the above provisions, the owner or person or 
corporation in whose name said vehicle is registered shall be held absolutely responsible 
for said violation and subject to the penalty therefore.  

D.   A violation of this section shall constituteis punishable by a misdemeanor. Vehicles in 
violation may be removed, impounded, and kept in custody at the direction of the Chief of 
Policefine set by Commission resolution.  

(Ord. 2676, 1995; Ord. 2646, 1994; Ord. 2353, 1984; Ord. 2031, 1977).  

 

Chapter 72   BICYCLES 
Section:  

10.72.010 Riding on sidewalks—prohibited where—regulation. 

 

 

10.72.010   Riding on sidewalks—prohibited where—regulation. 

A.  It is unlawful for any person to ride a bicycle upon a sidewalk within the central business district east 
of the west line of Park Drive.  

B.  Whenever any person is riding a bicycle upon a sidewalk, such person shall yield the right-of-way to 
any pedestrian and shall give audible signal before overtaking and passing such pedestrian.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-1-19).  

C.  Bicycles operated as part of the City bike patrol program are exempt from 10.72.010(A).  

(Ord. 2708; 1996)  

 

Chapter 7317   TRAILERS 
Section:  

10.73.010 Occupancy regulations. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 287 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 49 

 

 

Sections:  

10.17.010 Occupancy regulations. 

10.7317.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.17.010   Occupancy regulations. 

No trailer, as defined in Section 10.15.010, subsection 32-2105, or motor vehicle as defined in Section 
10.15.010, subsection 32-2101(b),by this Title, shall be occupied either permanently or temporarily as a 
dwelling place, or living abode while parked on any street, avenue, alley or highway, or other public place 
unless otherwise authorized by law. OCCGF Title 17 or other applicable Federal or State law.  

(Ord. 1984, 1976: prior code §10-2-33).  

 

10.17.020 Penalty. 

A violation of this Chapter 75is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred 

dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 18   TOLL LOCATIONS 
Sections:  

Sections:  

10.75.010 Prohibited. 

10.75.020 Exception. 

10.18.010 Tolls prohibited. 

10.18.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.7518.010   ProhibitedTolls prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person, firm, corporation or organization, charitable or otherwise, to occupy, stand in, 
and/or use any portion of any public street, highway or bridgeright-of-way for the purpose of establishing 
a toll location through which vehicular traffic must pass in order to collect funds or make any other contact 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 288 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 50 

or solicitation from the driver or occupant of any vehicle using the public street, highway or bridge within 
the City. without prior written authorization from the City Manager.   

(Prior code §10-2-11).  

10.75.18.020   Exception Penalty. 

The City Manager may approve a toll request provided that:  

A.  The requesters are sworn public safety officers trained in emergency scene management, 
accident prevention, traffic control, personnel and public safety, advanced medical training, and 
are experienced in the appropriate methods to set up and operate a safe tolling exercise.  

(Ord. 2757, 1999).  

B.  The requesters submit a traffic plan which includes the date, time and location for the tolling 
activity, traffic control descriptions for each location, and a one million dollar ($1,000,000.00) 
general liability policy naming the City as additional insured.  

C.  No more than one (1) toll will be granted per calendar year.  

 

Chapter 78A violation of this Chapter is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five-

hundred dollars ($500.00), a term not to exceed six months in jail, or both. 

 

Chapter 19   LIABILITY FOR STREET DAMAGE 
Sections:  

10.78.010 Applicability. 

10.78.020 Owner and driver of vehicle jointly liable. 

10.78.030 Civil action. 

10.19.010 Applicability. 

10.19.020 Owner and driver of vehicle jointly liable. 

10.19.030 Civil action. 

 

 

10.7819.010   Applicability. 

Any person driving any vehicle, object, or contrivancedevice upon any street or street structure shall be 
liable for all damage which the street or structure may sustain as a result of any illegal operation, driving, 
or moving of suchthe vehicle, object, or contrivancedevice, or as a result of operating, driving or moving 
any vehicle, object, or contrivancedevice weighing in excess of the maximum weight in this titleTitle except 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 289 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 51 

Chapters 10.51 and 10.72 but is authorized by a special permit issued as otherwise provided in this title 
except Chapters 10.51 and 10.72or permitted.  

(Prior code §10-2-29(A)).  

10.78.19.020   Owner and driver of vehicle jointly liable. 

A. Whenever such driver is not the owner of such vehicle, object, or contrivancedevice, but 
is so operating, driving, or moving the same with the express or implied permission of the 
owner, then the owner and driver shall be jointly and severally liable for any such damage.  

(Prior code §B. The Public Works Director may, in his or her discretion, authorize an 

individual liable for damage pursuant to this Chapter to repair any damage caused 
to the same or better condition before the damage was caused or to any other legally 
mandated condition. 

10-2-29(B)).  

10.78.19.030   Civil action. 

Such damage may be recovered in a civil action brought by the authoritiesCity in controla Court of such 
streets or street structurecompetent jurisdiction.  

(Prior code §10-2-29(C)).  

 

Chapter 8420   EXCESS SIZE AND WEIGHT PERMITS 
Sections:  

10.84.010 Issuance—conditions. 

10.84.020 Display—violation—penalty. 

10.20.010 Issuance conditions. 

10.20.020 Penalty. 

 

 

10.8420.010   Issuance—conditions. 

The City Engineer is authorized to issue or withhold such special permit at his discretion, or if such permit 
is issued, to limit the number of trips, or to establish seasonal or other time limitations within which the 
vehicle described may be operated on the public streets indicated, or otherwise to limit or prescribe 
conditions of operation of such vehicle or vehicles when necessary to assure against damage to the road 
foundation, surfaces or structures or safety or traffic and may require such undertaking or other security as 
may be deemed necessary to compensate for injury to any street or road structure.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 290 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 52 

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §The City Engineer is authorized to issue, revoke, or deny 

permits for the operation of vehicles of excess size and weight pursuant to adopted written policy 
on file at the Great Falls Public Works Department.  A permit issued pursuant to this Chapter shall 
describe any applicable conditions for the operation of the vehicle subject to the permit. 

10-2-26(A))  

10.84.20.020   Display—violation—penaltyPenalty. 

A.   Any person who knowingly andor willfully misrepresents the size or weight of any load in 
obtaining a special permit orpursuant to this Chapter, does not follow the requirement 
and conditions of the special permit, or who operates any vehicle, the gross weight of which 
is in excess of the maximum for such vehicle may be eligible for license, requiring a permit 
pursuant to this Chapter without first obtaining a speciala permit, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor. punishable by a fine not to exceed five-hundred dollars ($500.00), six 
months in jail, or both.  

B.   Every special permit issued underpursuant to this chapterChapter shall be carried in the 
vehicle or combination of vehicles to which it refers and shall be open to inspection by the 
Police Officerlaw enforcement.  

C.  A complaint filed and a summons or notice to appear issued pertaining to a violation of the gross 
weight regulations in this chapter shall specify the amount of the over-weight which the defendant is 
allowed to have had upon the vehicle or combination of vehicles.  

(Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Ord. 2186, 1980)  

 

Chapter 87   VIOLATION PENALTY 
Sections:  

10.87.010 Definitions. 

10.87.030 Illegally parked vehicle—notice—procedure. 

10.87.040 Illegally parked vehicle—notice—failure to comply. 

10.87.050 Illegally parked vehicle—presumption. 

10.87.060 Illegally parked vehicle—warrant issued when. 

10.87.070 Disposition of fines and parking meter revenue. 

10.87.080 Fines and forfeitures—official misuse. 

10.87.090 Penalties and administrative fees. 

 

 

10.87  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 291 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 53 

Chapter 21   PARKING VIOLATIONS 
Sections:  

10.21.010 Illegally parked vehicle notice. 

10.21.020 Illegally parked vehicle notice of failure to comply. 

10.21.030 Illegally parked vehicle presumption. 

10.21.040 Illegally parked vehicle warrant issued when. 

10.21.050 Disposition of fines and parking meter revenue. 

10.21.060 Fines and forfeitures official misuse. 

10.21.070 Penalties and administrative fees. 

 

 

10.21.010   Definitions. 

"Parking Official" for purposes of Title 10, Chapter 87 means: peace officers and other persons 
designated by the City Commission.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994)  

10.87.030   Illegally parked vehicle— notice—procedure. 

Whenever any motor vehicle without a driver is found parked or stopped in violation of any of theState or 
local restrictions imposed by the laws of this City or by State law, the Parking Official finding such vehicle 
shall take its registration number and may take any other information displayed on the vehicle which may 
identify its owner and shall conspicuously affix to such vehicle a notice in writing on a form provided by the 
City for the owner to answer to or pay the charge against the driver within the time set forth in the notice 
during the hours and at a place specified in the noticepost written notice of the violation on the vehicle 
indicating any applicable penalties and the place where any applicable fines may be paid or 
contested.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994)  

10.87.04021.020   Illegally parked vehicle— notice— of failure to comply. 

If aan alleged violator of the restrictions on stopping, standing, or parking under the traffic lawslegally 
authorized restriction does not appear in response to a notice affixed to such motor vehicle within the 
time set forth in the notice, the City shall implement the following process:  

1.  A. The penalty for a violation of this section occurring in a parking management district must 
be paid within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of the citation. If payment is not received 
within that time, an administrative fee will be added to the violation. The penalties and fees 
will be set by Commission resolution of the City Commission, as provided by Section 
10.87.090 of this chapter.  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 292 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 54 

2.  B. After thirty (30) days without payment, a statement of the amount due for the violation and 
the administrative fee will be sent to the address associated with the license plate in the 
records of vehicle registrations maintained by the appropriate licensing agency or authority.  

3.  C. After sixty (60) days without payment, a second statement of the amount due for the 
violation and the administrative fee will be sent to the address associated with the license 
plate in the records of vehicle registrations maintained by the appropriate licensing agency 
or authority.  

4.  D. After ninety (90) days without payment, a third statement that is clearly marked as a pre-
collection notice of the amount due for the violation and the administrative fee will be sent 
to the address associated with the license plate in the records of vehicle registrations 
maintained by the appropriate licensing agency or authority.  

5.  E. After one hundred twenty (120) days without payment, the amount due for the violation and 
the administrative fee will be referred to a collection agency. If the payment through 
collection efforts is not received within ten (10) months of the date of the citation, the City 
may request an arrest warrant and proceed with an action through the Municipal Court as 
provided by other sections of this chapterChapter.  

6.  F. Proceedings through the Municipal Court for enforcement of this titleTitle must be filed 
within one (1) year of the date of the citation.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2646 § (part), 1994; Prior code §10-2-16(F))  

10.87.050.21.030   Illegally parked vehicle— presumption. 

If any vehicle is found stopped or parked in any manner violative of the provisions of Title 10 of the Official 
Code of the City of Great Fallslegally authorized restrictions, the owner, person, or corporation in whose 
name said vehicle is registered shall be held absolutely responsible for said violation and subject to the 
penalty thereforeapplicable penalties.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2321 § 1, 1983)  

10.87.06021.040   Illegally parked vehicle— warrant issued when. 

In the event any person fails to comply with a notice so given toserved on the person or attached to a 
vehicle or fails to make appearance pursuant to a summons directing an appearance in the municipal 
courtMunicipal Court, or if any person fails or refuses to deposit bail as required and within the time 
permitted by law, Municipal Court may, at its discretion, issue a warrant of arrest.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Prior code § 10-2-16(H))  

10.87.070.21.050   Disposition of fines and parking meter revenue. 

A.   All fines or forfeitures collected upon conviction or upon the forfeiture of bail of any person 
charged with a violation of any of the provisions of this Title except Chapter 10.72 shall be 
paid to the Planning and Community Development Department and deposited in the 
parking fund, to be expended to defray the expense of proper regulation of traffic and 
parking upon the public streets of the City, to provide for the cost of supervision, regulation, 
and control of parking vehicles and to cover the cost of purchase, supervision, operation, 
maintenance, control and use of parking meters.expenses of:  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 293 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 10 VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 55 

1. Proper regulation of traffic;  

2. Parking upon City public streets;  

3. Supervision, regulation, and control of parking vehicles; and 

4. The purchase, supervision, operation, maintenance, control and use of 
parking meters.  

B.   All revenue obtained from and through the use of parking meters shall be appropriated by 
the City to pay for the operation and maintenance of on -street and off -street parking 
facilities.  

(Ord. No. 3122, § 3, 12-2-2014; Ord. No. 3057, § 1, 8-17-2010; Ord. 2646 (part), 1994; Prior 

Code § 10-2-16(I))  

10.87.080.21.060   Fines and forfeitures— official misuse. 

Failure, refusal, or neglect on the part of any judicial or other officer or employee receiving or having custody 
of any such fine or forfeiture, either before or after a deposit in the fund, to comply with the foregoing 
provisions of this chapterChapter, shall constitute misconduct in office and shall be grounds for removal 
therefrom.  

(Prior code § 10-2-16(J))  

10.87.09010.21.070   Penalties and administrative fees. 

Penalties and administrative fees for violations of this titleTitle shall be set by Commission resolution of 
the City Commission. .  

 

(Ord. 3188, 2018; Ord. 3146, 2016; Ord. 3122, 2014; Ord. 3090, 2012; Ord. 3057, 2010; Ord. 3042, 2009; 
Ord. 2951, 2006; Ord. 2867, 2004; Ord. 2819, 2002; Ord. 2815, 2002; Ord. 2802, 2001; Ord. 2790, 2000; 
Ord. 2757, 1999; Ord. 2708, 1996; Ord. 2707, 1996; Ord. 2676, 1995; Ord. 2646, 1994; Ord. 2640, 1994; 
Ord. 2633, 1992; Ord. 2521, 1989; Ord. 2520, 1989; Ord. 2469, 1987; Ord. 2457, 1987; Ord. 2456, 1987; 
Ord. 2446, 1987; Ord. 2443, 1986; Ord. 2442, 1986; Ord. 2383, 1985; Ord. 2353, 1984; Ord. 2321, 1983; 
Ord. 2305, 1982; Ord. 2283, 1981;  Ord. 2245, 1981; Ord. 2219 1980; Ord. 2189, 1980; Ord. No. 3122, § 
3, 12-2-2014; Ord. 2188, 1980; Ord. 2186, 1980; Ord. 2052, 1979; Ord. 2021, 1977; Ord. 1987, 1976; 
Ord. 1974, 1976; Ord. 1627, 1969; Ord. 1471, 1964; Ord. 1454, 1963; Ord. 1217, 1956; Prior codes §§ 
10-1-19; 10-2-1(M); 10-2-2(D), 10-2-2(E); 10-2-3(C), 10-2-3(I); 10-2-5(A), 10-2-5(B); 10-2-7(A), 10-2-7(B), 
10-2-7(C); 10-2-8(A), 10-2-8(B); 10-2-9(F), 10-2-9(G), 10-2-9(L), 10-2-9(M), 10-2-9(Z); 10-2-10(2); 10-2-
11; 10-2-12(A), 10-2-12(D), 10-2-12(E); 10-2-13(A), 10-2-13(B), 10-2-13(C), 10-2-13(D); 10-2-14, 10-2-
14(A), 10-2-14(B), 10-2-14(C), 10-2-14(E), 10-2-14(F), 10-2-14(G)(1), 10-2-14(G)(2), 10-2-14(G)(3), 10-2-
14(G)(4), 10-2-14(G)(5), 10-2-14(G)(6); 10-2-16(F), 10-2-16(H), 10-2-16(I), 10-2-16(J); 10-2-20(A), 10-2-
20(B); 10-2-26(A); 10-2-27(A), 10-2-27(B), 10-2-27(D); 10-2-28; 10-2-29(A), 10-2-29(B), 10-2-29(C); 10-
2-30(A), 10-2-30(B); 10-2-33)2707, 1996; Ord. 2646 (part), 1994; Ord. 2469 § 1, 1987: Ord. 2456 § 1, 
1987: Ord. 2443 § 2, 1986: Ord. 2321 § 2, 1983).  

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 294 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 14.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10248 to Levy and Assess Properties within the Business Improvement District

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Adopt Resolution 10248

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10248."
 

2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10248 to levy and assess properties within the
Business Improvement District (BID). 

Background:
The BID was originally created in 1989, renewed in 1999 and re-created for a third term in 2009, each
for periods of ten years by petition of the property owners within the District.  The BID's overall
purpose is to improve and revitalize the downtown area by utilizing and directing the assessment dollars
collected through the BID tax assessment.  The current BID has not changed in the areas of the district
boundaries since its origination date.  During Fiscal Year 2016/2017, the BID initiated a new tax
assessment formula as requested by property owners, to include a more equitable rate of $50 to be used
on residential properties designated as Residential Condominiums.  The new assessment formula began
on July 1, 2016.
 
On July 17, 2018, as required by MCA Section 7-12-1132 (3) , the BID presented a proposed Work
Plan and Budget and recommended a method of levying an assessment on the properties within the
district that best ensures the assessment on each lot or parcel is equitable in proportion to the benefits to
be received for Fiscal Year 2018/2019.  Following the public hearing held on July 17, 2018, the City
Commission moved to adopt the 2018/2019 Work Plan and Budget for the BID.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 295 of 351                                     



Fiscal Impact:
The assessment formula as presented to the property owners and recommended to the City Commission
is as follows:
 

a flat fee of $200.00 for each lot or parcel
a flat fee of $50.00 for each lot or parcel with a designated Land Use Code of 125 which is a
Residential Condominium
an assessment of $.00165 times the market valuation as provided for by the Montana State
Legislature; and
an assessment of $.015 times the square footage of the land area.

 
The actual assessment for 2018/2019 based on the above assessment formula will generate $244,964.84
in assessment revenue.  The assessment revenue as shown on Exhibit "A" is $3,035.16 less than the BID
adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019 as approved by the City Commission.  The reduction in this year's
assessment revenue can be attributed to decreased market valuations.  The 2018/2019 assessment per lot
or parcel is indicated on the assessment projection summary Exhibit "A" incorporated herein and made a
part of Resolution 10248. 
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose not to adopt Resolution 10248 to assess the property owners within
the BID.  However, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission approved the BID Budget which identifies
the BID assessment as 40% of the operating revenues.  Denial of Resolution 10248 will prevent the BID
from carrying out the BID's Budget which was previously approved by the City Commission.

Concurrences:
The BID partners with several organizations, such as the Downtown Great Falls Association, the
Downtown Development Partnership, the City and the Urban Art Project to carry out the overall purpose
of improving and revitalizing the downtown area.  Finance staff is responsible for assessing and
collecting the revenues.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10248
Resolution 10248 Exhibit "A"
Map of BID Boundaries

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 296 of 351                                     

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

• 
• 

• 

• 



RESOLUTION 10248 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AN ASSESSMENT ON ALL PROPERTIES 

WITHIN THE GREAT FALLS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, is authorized to create and 
administer a business improvement district as provided by 7-12-1101 through 7-12-1151 
M.C.A.; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the purpose of a Business Improvement District is to promote the health, 
safety, prosperity, security and the general welfare of the inhabitants thereof and the people of 
this state; and will be of special benefit to the property within the boundaries of the district 
created; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, on  May 16, 1989, the City Commission approved Resolution 8279 creating 
a Business Improvement District in Great Falls, Montana for a duration of ten (10) years; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 15, 1999, the City Commission approved Resolution 9025, and on 
July 7, 2009 approved Resolution 9833, re-creating said Business Improvement District for a 
duration of ten (10) years each; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a Board of Trustees for the Business Improvement District has been 
appointed and said Board has developed and submitted a Work Plan and Proposed Budget to the 
City Commission of the City of Great Falls; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, is authorized to annually 
assess and collect the entire cost of the district against the entire district using a method, which 
best ensures that the assessment on each lot or parcel is equitable in proportion to the benefits to 
be received as provided by 7-12-1133 M.C.A. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 
 
Section 1 – Adoption of Work Plan and Budget  
On July 17, 2018, the City Commission of the City of Great Falls held a public hearing on any 
objections to the Work Plan and Proposed Budget with the understanding that approval of the 
two documents would necessitate the levying of an assessment on all the property in the district. 
 
Section 2 – Assessment Method   
The assessment formula has been presented to the property owners and recommended to the City 
Commission as follows: 
 

- a flat fee of $200.00 for each lot or parcel, 
- a flat fee of $50.00 for each lot or parcel with a designated Land Use  

Code of 125 which is a Residential Condominium 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 297 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



- an assessment of $.00165 times the phase-in market valuation as 
  provided for by the Montana State Legislatures, and an 
- assessment of $.015 times the square footage of the land area. 

 
The assessment requested for 2018/2019 is based on the above assessment formula and will 
generate TWO HUNDRED FORTY-FOUR THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED SIXTY-FOUR 
AND 84/100 DOLLARS ($244,964.84) in assessment revenue.  Due to overwhelming support 
for a Business Improvement District and concurrence with the assessment formula, the City 
Commission of the City of Great Falls hereby approves the levying of the assessment as 
indicated on the assessment projection summary attached to this resolution as Exhibit “A”. 
 
Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 
Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o’clock p.m. on 
November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
this 18th day of September, 2018. 
 
 
 

                                                      
                                     Bob Kelly, Mayor    
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                               
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 
(Seal of the City) 
 
 
 
APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 
 
 
 
                                                                   
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 298 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



SQ.FT. VALUATION TOTAL B.I.D.

PARCEL PROPERTY OWNER SUB Land Use FLAT TOTAL COST MARKET MARKET VALUATION COST ANNUAL

NO. DIV Code (125) LOT BLOCK FEE SQ.FT. 0.015 VAL. LAND VAL. IMPS. TOTAL 0.00165 ASSESSMENT

1 156750 CHS INC GFO 7,8,9 306 200$       15,000 225.00$            107,625           515,470            623,095          1,028.11$         1,453.11$      

2 156950 SEVENS PRIME LLC GFO  10-14 306 200$       37,500 562.50$            168,375           563,125            731,500          1,206.98$         1,969.48$      

3 157400 COX DOUGLAS J & KENT D GFO  8 307 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              148,620            195,495          322.57$             635.07$         

4 157450 517 LLC GFO  9,10 307 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              542,860            620,110          1,023.18$         1,448.18$      

5 157500 RYSTED PETE GFO  11 307 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              212,337            274,400          452.76$             821.51$         

6 157600 KUNZ JASON R GFO  W1/2 12 307 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              102,560            134,248          221.51$             477.76$         

7 157650 BRANDENBERGER NED R & JENNIFER GFO  E1/2 13 307 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              53,812              85,500            141.08$             397.33$         

8 157750 EASTER SEALS GOODWILL N ROCKY MTN INC GFO  5-10 308 200$       22,500 337.50$            198,750           2,771,750        2,970,500      4,901.33$         5,438.83$      

9 157810 EASTER SEALS GOODWILL N ROCKY MTN INC GFO  11 308 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              175,500            222,375          366.92$             679.42$         

10 158100 THE PENNANT BUILDING LLC GFO  8 309 200$       7,509 112.64$            46,875              716,425            763,300          1,259.45$         1,572.08$      

11 158150 HANSON MICHAEL GFO  9 309 200$       7,507 112.61$            46,875              277,525            324,400          535.26$             847.87$         

12 158250 DESCHENES GARY S ETAL GFO  W28'12 309 200$       4,200 63.00$              33,510              454,890            488,400          805.86$             1,068.86$      

13 158300 DSB TOWER LLC GFO  13,14 309 200$       15,037 225.56$            77,250              13,560              90,810            149.84$             575.39$         

14 158950 TIGER SPRING PROPERTIES GFO  8-9 311 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              1,475,850        1,553,100      2,562.62$         2,987.62$      

15 159150 CAMBRIDGE INVESTORS ONE LP GFO 11-14 311 200$       37,546 563.19$            168,375           1,511,625        1,680,000      2,772.00$         3,535.19$      

16 159225 BUCHANAN-BYRNE BUILDING PARTNERSHIP GFO  1,2,3 312 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           1,100,675        1,208,300      1,993.70$         2,531.20$      

17 159450 REDEAU NICK & VERONICA GFO  8 312 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              200,225            247,100          407.72$             720.22$         

18 159500 RAMSEY ANN C GFO  9,E1/2 10 312 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              189,637            251,700          415.31$             784.06$         

19 159550 BENSLEY MARJORIE M GFO  W1/2 10 312 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              11,512              43,200            71.28$               327.53$         

20 159600 BENSLEY MARJORIE M GFO  E1/2 11 312 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              34,012              65,700            108.41$             364.66$         

21 159650 BENSLEY MARJORIE GFO  W1/2 11 312 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              97,812              129,500          213.68$             469.93$         

22 159700 CONTEXT LLC GFO  E1/2 12 312 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              37,870              69,558            114.77$             371.02$         

23 159725 BUCHANAN BYRNE BUILDING PARTNERSHIP GFO W1/2 12 all 13 312 200$       11,295 169.43$            62,063              9,120                 71,183            117.45$             486.88$         

24 159735 BUCHANAN-BYRNE BUILDING PARTNERSHIP GFO  14 312 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              209,425            256,300          422.90$             735.40$         

25 159800 RELIGIOUS CONGRATATION OF BERLINER CONG GFO  1-7 313 200$       52,490 787.35$            229,125           1,470,875        1,700,000      2,805.00$         3,792.35$      

26 159850 DAVIDSON INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIP LLP GFO 8-14 313 200$       67,500 1,012.50$        306,375           8,478,925        8,785,300      14,495.75$       15,708.25$   

27 160200 DSB TOWER LLC GFO 1-3 314 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           872,375            980,000          1,617.00$         2,154.50$      

28 160300 EKLUNDS APPLIANCE & TV GFO  4-5 314 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              595,570            672,820          1,110.15$         1,535.15$      

29 160450 POBLANO PROPERTIES LLC GFO  7 314 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              546,350            623,600          1,028.94$         1,453.94$      

30 160500 321 ASSOCIATES LLC GFO 8,9 314 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              2,796,400        2,873,650      4,741.52$         5,166.52$      

31 160550 LERAY PROPERTIES LLC GFO  10 314 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              365,025            411,900          679.64$             992.14$         

32 160600 MARSH HOLDINGS LLC GFO  11 314 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              322,225            369,100          609.02$             921.52$         

33 160650 BECKMANS BUILDING LLC GFO  12 314 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              340,025            386,900          638.39$             950.89$         

34 160900 STOCKMAN BANK OF MONTANA GFO  6,7 315 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              228,710            305,960          504.83$             929.83$         

35 160950 BALTHAZAR ENTERPRISES LLC GFO  8,9 315 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              397,150            474,400          782.76$             1,207.76$      

36 161050 HACKETT GARRY L & CHERYL D GFO  11 315 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              729,125            776,000          1,280.40$         1,592.90$      

37 161100 KAUFMAN MARY ANN & IRA M JR GFO  12 315 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              358,025            404,900          668.09$             980.59$         

38 161150 LEE ALAN B GFO  13A A315 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              112,012            143,700          237.11$             493.36$         

39 161200 ENGE RICHARD C GFO  13B B315 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              72,470              104,158          171.86$             428.11$         

40 161250 BIG BROTHERS HOLDING COMPANY LLC GFO  14 315 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              297,925            344,800          568.92$             881.42$         

41 161300 STOCKMAN BANK OF MONTANA GFO  1,2 316 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              1,539,720        1,616,970      2,668.00$         3,093.00$      

42 161450 MASON MARILYN ETAL GFO  W1/2 3 316 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              116,020            147,708          243.72$             499.97$         

43 161600 LITTLE WILLIAM L & SHONNA L GFO E1/2 3-5 W1/2 6 316 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           584,475            692,100          1,141.97$         1,679.47$      

44 161650 SILVER STATE PARTNERS LLC GFO  E1/2 6,7 316 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              326,537            388,600          641.19$             1,009.94$      

45 161700 MONTANA TIMES SQUARE LLC GFO  8-10 316 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           729,175            836,800          1,380.72$         1,918.22$      

46 161750 EVERSON HAROLD O & VICKI S GFO  11 316 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              212,125            259,000          427.35$             739.85$         

47 161800 HACKETT GARRY L & CHERYL D GFO  12 & 13 316 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              188,450            265,700          438.41$             863.41$         

48 162050 JOSCO PROPERTIES INC GFO  8,9 317 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              1,225,050        1,302,300      2,148.80$         2,573.80$      

49 162100 LEMIRE LESLIE GFO  10 317 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              128,125            175,000          288.75$             601.25$         

50 162150 LARSON EDWARD L GFO  E30' 11 317 200$       4,500 67.50$              34,725              89,575              124,300          205.10$             472.60$         

51 162200 LARSON EDWARD L GFO  W20' 11 317 200$       3,000 45.00$              28,650              53,350              82,000            135.30$             380.30$         

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

ASSESSMENTS FY 2019

RESOLUTION #10248 - EXHIBIT "A"

8/29/2018 Page 1 of 4

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 299 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



SQ.FT. VALUATION TOTAL B.I.D.

PARCEL PROPERTY OWNER SUB Land Use FLAT TOTAL COST MARKET MARKET VALUATION COST ANNUAL

NO. DIV Code (125) LOT BLOCK FEE SQ.FT. 0.015 VAL. LAND VAL. IMPS. TOTAL 0.00165 ASSESSMENT

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

ASSESSMENTS FY 2019

RESOLUTION #10248 - EXHIBIT "A"

52 162250 HACKETT GARRY L & CHERYL D GFO  12 317 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              758,525            805,400          1,328.91$         1,641.41$      

53 162300 ROCKY MTN BLDG DEVELOPMENT VENTURE LLC GFO  13,14 317 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              93,810              171,060          282.25$             707.25$         

54 189100 STROMBERG ROBERT C & MARY D GFO  1,2 & 11-14 362 200$       45,000 675.00$            198,750           1,953,550        2,152,300      3,551.30$         4,426.30$      

55 189150 MURPHY REAL ESTATE LLC GFO  3 362 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              667,325            714,200          1,178.43$         1,490.93$      

56 189200 KISER PROPERTIES LLC GFO  4 362 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              135,625            182,500          301.13$             613.63$         

57 189250 SPENCER TIMOTHY W GFO E1/2 5 362 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              128,480            160,168          264.28$             520.53$         

58 189300 NORDRUM ORVILLE M & JOSEPHINE A GFO W1/2 5 362 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              75,790              107,478          177.34$             433.59$         

59 189350 HARRIS DEBRA ANN & DAVID ALAN GFO  E1/2 6 362 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              131,812            163,500          269.78$             526.03$         

60 189400 HAUGEN LESLIE N & V ARLENE GFO  W1/2 6 362 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              131,180            162,868          268.73$             524.98$         

61 189450 SPENCER TIMOTHY GFO  7 362 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              237,910            284,785          469.90$             782.40$         

62 189500 CENTER FOR MENTAL HEALTH INC OF GF MT GFO  8,9 362 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              707,750            785,000          1,295.25$         1,720.25$      

63 189550 CENTER FOR MENTAL HEALTH INC OF GF MT GFO  10 362 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              520,125            567,000          935.55$             1,248.05$      

64 189700 FLY AWAY LLC GFO  1,2 363 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              246,450            323,700          534.11$             959.11$         

65 189750 SCHUBARTH SANDRA GFO  3 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              299,220            346,095          571.06$             883.56$         

66 189800 NOISHT PROPERTIES LLC GFO  4 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              222,825            269,700          445.01$             757.51$         

67 189850 HEISHMAN CARL D ETAL GFO  5 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              330,190            377,065          622.16$             934.66$         

68 189900 ELMORE ROBERTS LLC GFO  6,7 363 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              2,312,350        2,389,600      3,942.84$         4,367.84$      

69 190000 WVH ENTERPRISES LLC GFO  PT8 363 200$       566 8.49$                18,323              1,720                 20,043            33.07$               241.56$         

70 190050 KEILMAN & TRUNKLE ENTERPRISES LLC GFO  PT8 363 200$       5,535 83.03$              38,978              227,322            266,300          439.40$             722.42$         

71 190150 ELMORE ROBERTS LLC GFO  9 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              7,650                 54,525            89.97$               402.47$         

72 190200 ELMORE ROBERTS LLC GFO  10 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              7,650                 54,525            89.97$               402.47$         

73 190250 CENTER FOR MENTAL HEALTH GFO  11 363 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              505,660            552,535          911.68$             1,224.18$      

74 190350 MADILL JASON C & TAMARA L GFO 1-3,9-14 364 200$       67,500 1,012.50$        302,025           1,009,175        1,311,200      2,163.48$         3,375.98$      

75 190450 MONTANA LANDWORKS LLC GFO  4 364 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              309,150            356,025          587.44$             899.94$         

76 190500 GREAT FALLS CENTRAL LLC GFO  W1/2 5 364 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              269,412            301,100          496.82$             753.07$         

77 190550 HICKS ENDEAVORS GFO  E1/2 5,6 364 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              365,537            427,600          705.54$             1,074.29$      

78 190600 M & L RENTALS LLC GFO  7 364 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              1,261,070        1,307,945      2,158.11$         2,470.61$      

79 190650 SEMANSKY JOHN S & LISA SWAN GFO  N1/2 8 364 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              129,350            161,038          265.71$             521.96$         

80 190700 WONG MING & SU GFO  S1/2 8 364 200$       3,750 56.25$              31,688              189,012            220,700          364.16$             620.41$         

81 190800 FIRST BUILDING CORPORATION GFO  1-3 365 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           -                     107,625          177.58$             715.08$         

82 190950 ATLANTIC FINANCIAL GROUP LTD GFO  IMPS 1-3 365 200$       -               -$                  6,312,395        6,312,395      10,415.45$       10,615.45$   

83 191050 ALLEY STEPHEN J GFO  4,5 365 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              926,250            1,003,500      1,655.78$         2,080.78$      

84 191100 WHITE BELLY PROPERTIES LLC GFO  6 365 200$       7,492 112.38$            46,875              598,825            645,700          1,065.41$         1,377.79$      

85 191150 JOVICK LEPARD LLC GFO  7 365 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              680,525            727,400          1,200.21$         1,512.71$      

86 191300 FIRST NATIONAL BANK GFO 13-14 365 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              20,930              98,180            162.00$             587.00$         

87 191400 RICHARDS PHILLIP GFO  1,2 366 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              478,150            555,400          916.41$             1,341.41$      

88 191450 TOVSON LLC GFO  3 366 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              236,890            283,765          468.21$             780.71$         

89 191500 JJS WORLD ENTERPRISES LLC GFO  4-7 366 200$       30,000 450.00$            138,000           1,062,000        1,200,000      1,980.00$         2,630.00$      

90 191550 FIRST NATIONAL BANK GFO  8-14 366 200$       52,500 787.50$            229,125           756,840            985,965          1,626.84$         2,614.34$      

91 191600 MONTANA INSTITUTE OF FAMILY LIVING GFO  1-3 367 200$       22,500 337.50$            107,625           3,582,740        3,690,365      6,089.10$         6,626.60$      

92 191700 MURPHY REAL ESTATE LLC GFO  4,5 W1/2 6 367 200$       18,750 281.25$            92,438              560,062            652,500          1,076.63$         1,557.88$      

93 191750 MURPHY TIMOTHY M & DEBORAH S GFO  E1/2 6,7 367 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              66,937              129,000          212.85$             581.60$         

94 191950 MONTANA INSTITUTE OF FAMILY LIVING GFO  10,11 367 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              3,960                 81,210            134.00$             559.00$         

95 192100 BLANKENSHIP BOBBI GFO  1,2 368  AA 200$       15,333 230.00$            87,642              1,402,958        1,490,600      2,459.49$         2,889.49$      

96 192150 GLACIER STATE ELECTRIC SUPPLY COMPANY GFO  3 W1/2 4 368 200$       11,250 168.75$            62,063              511,637            573,700          946.61$             1,315.36$      

97 192200 ARVON BLOCK DEVELOPMENT VENTURE LLC GFO  E1/2 4,5 368 200$       11,237 168.56$            62,063              3,529,337        3,591,400      5,925.81$         6,294.37$      

98 192300 MURPHY REAL ESTATE LLC GFO  6,7 368 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              2,580,600        2,657,850      4,385.45$         4,810.45$      

99 192350 WEIGAND JOHN W & PEGGY LOU ETAL GFO  8 & 9 368 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              758,950            836,200          1,379.73$         1,804.73$      

100 192450 JENNINGS LAND LIMITED PARTNERSHIP GFO  10 368 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              101,810            148,685          245.33$             557.83$         

101 192500 OIDHREACHT PROPERTIES LLC GFO  11,12 368 200$       20,016 300.24$            94,527              280,820            375,347          619.32$             1,119.56$      

102 192700 MURPHY REAL ESTATE LLC GFO  4 & PT 5-7 369 200$       46,241 693.62$            173,235           29,980              203,215          335.30$             1,228.92$      

103 192850 MURPHY REAL ESTATE LLC GFO  S41.6'5-7 369 200$       6,229 93.44$              41,711              294,650            336,361          555.00$             848.43$         

104 192950 LAWYERS GUNS & MONEY LLC GFO N90' 8-9 369 200$       9,017 135.26$            52,950              1,108,150        1,161,100      1,915.82$         2,251.07$      

8/29/2018 Page 2 of 4

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 300 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



SQ.FT. VALUATION TOTAL B.I.D.

PARCEL PROPERTY OWNER SUB Land Use FLAT TOTAL COST MARKET MARKET VALUATION COST ANNUAL

NO. DIV Code (125) LOT BLOCK FEE SQ.FT. 0.015 VAL. LAND VAL. IMPS. TOTAL 0.00165 ASSESSMENT

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

ASSESSMENTS FY 2019

RESOLUTION #10248 - EXHIBIT "A"

105 193050 CTA BUILDING LLP GFO  S60' 8-9,E44'10 369 200$       12,606 189.09$            67,530              2,614,570        2,682,100      4,425.47$         4,814.56$      

106 193100 CTA BUILDING LLP ETAL GFO  W6'10E6'OF 11 369 200$       1,800 27.00$              23,790              -                     23,790            39.25$               266.25$         

107 193150 KELMAN ZOLLIE ETAL GFO  W6'10 & 11,12 369 200$       14,100 211.50$            73,605              192,490            266,095          439.06$             850.56$         

108 193200 KELMAN ZOLLIE ETAL GFO  13,14 369 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              738,750            816,000          1,346.40$         1,771.40$      

109 193250 THIRD STREET BUILDING EST LLC GFO  1 370 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              553,125            600,000          990.00$             1,302.50$      

110 193300 ROTHSCHILLER VERNON GFO  2 370 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              322,125            369,000          608.85$             921.35$         

111 193350 FERRIN WILLIAM E & MARY SUZANNE TRUST GFO  3 370 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              291,125            338,000          557.70$             870.20$         

112 193450 GREAT FALLS TRANSIT DISTRICT GFO  6,7 370 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              258,230            335,480          553.54$             978.54$         

113 193550 GREAT FALLS RESCUE MISSION GFO  10, 11 370 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              659,320            736,570          1,215.34$         1,640.34$      

114 193650 FERRIN WILLIAM E & MARY SUZANNE TRUST GFO  12 370 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              262,725            309,600          510.84$             823.34$         

115 193700 INTERMOUNTAIN MANAGEMENT & MARKETING INC GFO  13,14 370 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              15,030              92,280            152.26$             577.26$         

116 193900 NEIGHBORHOOD HOUSING SERVICES INC GFO  5 371 200$       7,500 112.50$            46,875              13,660              60,535            99.88$               412.38$         

117 193950 PLACID RENTALS LLC GFO  6,7 371 200$       15,000 225.00$            77,250              167,690            244,940          404.15$             829.15$         

118 194100 CASCADE COUNTY ETAL GFO  8-10 371 200$       60,000 900.00$            259,500           2,126,700        2,386,200      3,937.23$         5,037.23$      

119 224650 PORTNEY ABBY KELMAN GFO  1-3 417 200$       19,483 292.25$            98,658              445,342            544,000          897.60$             1,389.85$      

120 616205 STAM TODD R ETAL 503 UNIT 101 200$       574 8.61$                3,165                173,970            177,135          292.27$             500.88$         

121 616210 FRANK-PLUMLEE KAREN V & ROBERT P 503 125 UNIT 301 50$         450 6.75$                2,483                175,017            177,500          292.88$             349.63$         

122 616215 HAGAN ROGER A 503 125 UNIT 401 50$         308 4.62$                1,701                132,399            134,100          221.27$             275.89$         

123 616220 ROBERTS AARON P 503 125 UNIT 402 50$         291 4.37$                1,607                128,893            130,500          215.33$             269.69$         

124 616225 WORKMAN THOMAS R 503 125 UNIT 403 50$         500 7.50$                2,756                180,140            182,896          301.78$             359.28$         

125 616230 JOHNSTON JOHN T & ANGELA L 503 125 UNIT 404 50$         476 7.14$                2,625                174,910            177,535          292.93$             350.07$         

126 616235 ROY RUSSEL E & GWEN E 503 125 UNIT 405 50$         469 7.04$                2,588                172,512            175,100          288.92$             345.95$         

127 616240 TAMCKE JANET A ETAL 503 125 UNIT 406 50$         268 4.02$                1,477                124,023            125,500          207.08$             261.10$         

128 616245 KUBAS HEATHER 503 125 UNIT 407 50$         416 6.24$                2,296                148,604            150,900          248.99$             305.23$         

129 616250 STAM TODD R 503 UNIT 103 200$       608 9.12$                3,351                228,800            232,151          383.05$             592.17$         

130 616255 STAM TODD R 503 UNIT 105 200$       311 4.67$                1,713                102,087            103,800          171.27$             375.94$         

131 616260 STAM TODD R 503 UNIT 107 200$       441 6.62$                2,433                173,267            175,700          289.91$             496.52$         

132 616265 STAM TODD R 503 UNIT 109 200$       444 6.66$                2,451                141,449            143,900          237.44$             444.10$         

133 616270 SICK PROPERTIES LLC 503 UNIT 111 200$       574 8.61$                3,165                188,260            191,425          315.85$             524.46$         

134 616275 UNDERWOOD JASON M 503 125 UNIT 201 50$         450 6.75$                2,483                171,140            173,623          286.48$             343.23$         

135 616280 DIAMOND R ELAINE ETAL 503 125 UNIT 202 50$         549 8.24$                3,029                197,260            200,289          330.48$             388.71$         

136 616285 BILBRAY-KOHN NOAH B & ERIN K 503 125 UNIT 203 50$         444 6.66$                2,451                167,149            169,600          279.84$             336.50$         

137 616290 YEON JENEE S 503 125 UNIT 204 50$         417 6.26$                2,303                162,730            165,033          272.30$             328.56$         

138 616295 ROBERTS DUSTIN E 503 125 UNIT 205 50$         509 7.64$                2,805                186,290            189,095          312.01$             369.64$         

139 616300 SUK JONG HOON 503 125 UNIT 206 50$         416 6.24$                2,296                158,604            160,900          265.49$             321.73$         

140 616305 QUINN SUSAN E 503 125 UNIT 302 50$         549 8.24$                3,029                197,260            200,289          330.48$             388.71$         

141 616310 EULTGEN DARREN & CINDY 503 125 UNIT 303 50$         444 6.66$                2,451                170,570            173,021          285.48$             342.14$         

142 616315 EULTGEN DARREN & CINDY 503 125 UNIT 304 50$         417 6.26$                2,303                162,310            164,613          271.61$             327.87$         

143 616320 BURGAN VALERIE G 503 125 UNIT 305 50$         509 7.64$                2,805                186,290            189,095          312.01$             369.64$         

144 616325 FITLE DEREK J 503 125 UNIT 306 50$         416 6.24$                2,296                158,104            160,400          264.66$             320.90$         

145 617100 WILLIAMS DONALD E TRUST ETAL FP1 UNIT A 200$       6,665 99.98$              41,578              1,202,469        1,244,047      2,052.68$         2,352.65$      

146 617150 WARD KRAIG ALLAN FP1 UNIT B 200$       871 13.07$              5,297                174,903            180,200          297.33$             510.40$         

147 620650 WADSWORTH SHANNON CAP UNIT A 200$       3,615 54.23$              18,563              90,437              109,000          179.85$             434.08$         

148 620660 WILSON TOM CAP UNIT B 200$       4,574 68.61$              23,523              141,677            165,200          272.58$             541.19$         

149 620670 QHG LLP CAP UNIT C 200$       6,839 102.59$            35,164              136,236            171,400          282.81$             585.40$         

150 628625 SEIDLITZ JOHN E JR & PAMELA HBC UNIT 1A 200$       713 10.70$              11,186              63,814              75,000            123.75$             334.45$         

151 628630 CORDEIRO, CHRIS A HBC UNIT 2A 200$       713 10.70$              11,186              71,314              82,500            136.13$             346.82$         

152 647400 A&E RENTALS LLC EBC UNIT A 200$       10,336 155.04$            101,427           441,275            542,702          895.46$             1,250.50$      

153 647402 UAZ BUILDING PARTNERSHIP EBC UNIT B 200$       4,386 65.79$              49,142              310,458            359,600          593.34$             859.13$         

154 647404 RAILROAD SQUARE LLC EBC UNIT C 200$       11,903 178.55$            110,857           447,343            558,200          921.03$             1,299.58$      

155 647406 UAZ BUILDING PARTNERSHIP EBC UNIT D 200$       4,699 70.49$              49,795              316,005            365,800          603.57$             874.06$         

156 650100 MARTIN SCHULKE & ST JOHN LLP HBB UNIT A 200$       10,000 150.00$            46,000              359,116            405,116          668.44$             1,018.44$      

157 650200 MARTIN SCHULKE & ST JOHN LLP HBB UNIT A1 200$       10,000 150.00$            46,000              359,116            405,116          668.44$             1,018.44$      

158 650300 MARTIN SCHULKE & ST JOHN LLP HBB UNIT B 200$       10,000 150.00$            46,000              359,116            405,116          668.44$             1,018.44$      

8/29/2018 Page 3 of 4

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 301 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



SQ.FT. VALUATION TOTAL B.I.D.

PARCEL PROPERTY OWNER SUB Land Use FLAT TOTAL COST MARKET MARKET VALUATION COST ANNUAL

NO. DIV Code (125) LOT BLOCK FEE SQ.FT. 0.015 VAL. LAND VAL. IMPS. TOTAL 0.00165 ASSESSMENT

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

ASSESSMENTS FY 2019

RESOLUTION #10248 - EXHIBIT "A"

159 651010 MEYER KATTIE & KIRKLEN A JHC UNIT 1A 200$       936 14.04$              5,906                320,394            326,300          538.40$             752.44$         

160 651020 MONTCARE INC JHC UNIT M1B 200$       588 8.82$                3,656                29,915              33,571            55.39$               264.21$         

161 651030 CONNER DENNIS & JANIS JHC UNIT 1C 200$       542 8.13$                2,719                86,681              89,400            147.51$             355.64$         

162 651040 ROCKET CLONE LLC JHC UNIT 2A 200$       560 8.40$                3,234                155,066            158,300          261.20$             469.60$         

163 651050 SUTTON DANNIE R SR JHC UNIT 2B 200$       596 8.94$                4,453                285,747            290,200          478.83$             687.77$         

164 651090 BIALECKI ROBER JHC UNIT 3A 200$       1,430 21.45$              10,080              472,320            482,400          795.96$             1,017.41$      

165 651100 OLSON KENNETH R ETAL JHC UNIT 4A 200$       1,424 21.36$              9,000                473,400            482,400          795.96$             1,017.32$      

166 651115 MARR LIVING TRUST LJC 125 UNIT 501 50$         474 7.11$                3,000                328,380            331,380          546.78$             603.89$         

167 651120 MCCURRY BEATRICE C LJC 125 UNIT 502 50$         474 7.11$                3,000                238,056            241,056          397.74$             454.85$         

168 651125 SALONEN WILLIAM W & SUSAN L LJC 125 UNIT 503 50$         474 7.11$                3,000                184,100            187,100          308.72$             365.83$         

169 651501 L'HEUREUX PAGE WERNER PC KAT UNIT 1 200$       7,601 114.02$            39,025              690,475            729,500          1,203.68$         1,517.69$      

170 651502 MONTANA HOMEOWNERSHIP NETWORK INC KAT UNIT 2 200$       1,668 25.02$              8,653                153,147            161,800          266.97$             491.99$         

171 651503 SILVERTIP LLC KAT UNIT 3 200$       2,224 33.36$              11,624              205,676            217,300          358.55$             591.91$         

172 651504 NEIGHBORHOOD HOUSING SERVICES INC KAT UNIT 4 200$       1,112 16.68$              5,726                122,374            128,100          211.37$             428.05$         

173 651505 NEIGHBORHOOD HOUSING SERVICES INC KAT UNIT 5 200$       2,966 44.49$              15,229              269,571            284,800          469.92$             714.41$         

174 651506 DANSON DEVELOPMENT ETAL KAT UNIT 6 200$       2,966 44.49$              27,369              484,331            511,700          844.31$             1,088.80$      

175 1888300 ENERGY WEST MONTANA INC

SEC 11, 

T20N, R3E 22H 200$       91,000 1,365.00$        385,158           1,338,700        1,723,858      2,844.37$         4,409.37$      

176 1888310 MCMANUS PROPERTIES LLC

SEC 11, 

T20N, R3E 22K 200$       31,363 470.45$            226,564           596,880            823,444          1,358.68$         2,029.13$      

177 1921200 NORTHWESTERN CORP TRANSMISSION & DISTR GF W1/2-12&13 200$       26,250 393.75$            2,276,650        2,276,650      3,756.47$         4,350.22$      

178 1921700 CENTURYLINK INC GF 14 200$       30,000 450.00$            1,709,060        1,709,060      2,819.95$         3,469.95$      

178 TOTALS 32,300$ 1,915,201   28,728.03$      10,036,735$   101,440,129$ 111,476,864 183,936.83$    244,964.84$ 

8/29/2018 Page 4 of 4

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 302 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



1ST ST S
3RD AVE S

3RD AVE S

CENTRAL           AVE

2ND AVE S

1ST AVE S

PA
RK

    
    

DR

1ST AVE N

2ND AVE N

1ST AVE N

PA
RK

 D
R 

N

3R
D 

ST
 N

2N
D 

ST
 N

7T
H 

ST
 N

6T
H 

ST
 N

5T
H 

ST
 N

4T
H 

ST
 N

RIV
ER

 DR
 N

RI
VE

R DR S
3RD AVE N

BROADWATER BAY

PARK

MI
TC

HE
LL

  P
OO

L

CITY

DEPT
POLICE

CE
NT

ER
CI

VIC
MARGARET

PARK

PARK
WHITTIER

OFFICE

POST

TRIBUNE
PLAZA

CONDOS

COUNTY
CASCADE

HOUSE
COURT

HOUSE
COURT

ANNEX
LIBRARY

CITY
COUNTY

JAIL
SIG

HT
 & 

SO
UN

D
PA

RK

ST. ANN'S
CATHEDRAL

GREAT FALLS
TRIBUNE

DA
VI

DS
ON

CO
UR

T

GI
BS

ON
PA

RK

PA
CI

FIC
ST

EE
L

&
RE

CY
CL

IN
G

TO
UR

IST
     

    
     

 PA
RK

ENERGY WEST

RA
ILR

OA
D 

SQ

EX
PR

ES
S B

UI
LD

IN
G

CO
ND

O

CHURCH
OF THE

INCARNATION

FIRST
BAPTIST
CHURCH

FIRST
UNITED

METHODIST
CHURCH

Business Improvement District

Legend
City Owned Properties
Federal Gov't Properties
BID Boundary

This map is for reference only ... to comment
please contact Jeff Hedstrom at 455-8437.±

August 31st, 2015

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 303 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 15.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10249 to Levy and Assess Properties within the Tourism Business Improvement
District

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Adopt Resolution 10249

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10249."
 

2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10249 to levy and assess properties within the
Tourism Business Improvement District (TBID). 

Background:
The TBID was originally created in 2008 and was renewed for a second term in February, 2018 for a
period of ten years by petition of the property owners in the District.  The District's overall purpose is to
promote tourism, conventions, trade shows and travel to the City of Great Falls by utilizing and directing
the assessment dollars collected through the TBID tax assessment. 
 
On July 17, 2018, as required by MCA Section 7-12-1132(3) , the TBID presented a proposed Work
Plan and Budget and recommended a method of levying an assessment on the properties within the
district that best ensures the assessment on each property is equitable and in proportion to the benefits to
be received for Fiscal Year 2018/2019.  Following the public hearing held on July 17, 2018, the City
Commission moved to adopt the 2018/2019 Work Plan and Budget for the TBID.

Fiscal Impact:
The assessment formula as presented to the property owners and recommended to the City Commission
is as follows:

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 304 of 351                                     



 
The applicable hotels shall be subject to an annual assessment of one dollar ($1.00) per occupied
room night as prescribed in Section 7-12-1133 (c) MCA

 
The assessment amount requested by the TBID through their Work Plan and Budget was $404,000.  The
actual assessment for 2018/2019 based on the above assessment formula will generate $380,373 in
assessment revenue.  The reduction of $23,627 in this year's assessment revenue is attributed to
decreased lodging during the assessment time frame.  The 2018/2019 assessment per property is
indicated on the assessment projection summary as Exhibit "A" incorporated herein and made a part of
Resolution 10249.
 
When the TBID was renewed for a second term in February, 2018 for a period of ten years, a new
assessment method was presented.  However, due to the assessment time frame which runs from July 1,
2017 through June 30, 2018, this year's assessment revenue is based on the prior method because the new
method as presented during the renewal process will not begin until July 1, 2018.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to deny Resolution 10249 in assess the property owners within the
TBID.  However, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission approved the TBID Budget which identifies
the TBID assessment as 66% of the operating revenues.  Denial of Resolution 10249 will prevent the
TBID from carrying out the TBID Budget previously approved by the City Commission.

Concurrences:
The TBID partners with several organizations, such as the 4-Seasons Sports Foundation, Great Falls
Public Schools, and the Great Falls Convention and Visitors Bureau to carry out the overall purpose of
promoting tourism, conventions, trade shows and travel to the City of Great Falls.  Finance staff is
responsible for assessing and collecting the revenues.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10249

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 305 of 351                                     

• 

[) 



RESOLUTION 10249 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AN ASSESSMENT ON ALL PROPERTIES 

WITHIN THE GREAT FALLS TOURISM BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

(TBID) NO. 1307 

 
 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission, is authorized to create and administer a business 
improvement district as provided by § 7-12-1101 through § 7-12-1151 MCA; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission is authorized, more specifically by § 7-12-1101 
through § 7-12-1144 MCA, to create a Tourism Business Improvement District (TBID) to 
promote tourism, conventions, trade shows, and travel to the City of Great Falls; and, 
 

WHEREAS, on December 2, 2008, the City Commission approved Resolution 9792 
creating the Tourism Business Improvement District No. 1307 in Great Falls, Montana for a 
duration of ten (10) years; and, 

 
WHEREAS, on February 6, 2018, the City Commission approved Resolution 10222, re-

creating said Tourism Business Improvement District for a duration of ten (10) years; and  
 
 WHEREAS, a Board of Directors for the Tourism Business Improvement District has 
been appointed and said Board has developed and submitted a Work Plan and Proposed Budget 
to the City Commission; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission is required by § 7-12-1132(b) MCA to conduct a 
public hearing to hear objections to the work plan and budget, and may modify as it considers 
necessary and appropriate; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission, is authorized to require all or any portion of the cost 
of funding all uses and projects for tourism promotion within Great Falls, as specified in the 
Great Falls Tourism Business Improvement District budget, be paid by the owners of the 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 306 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



property embraced within the boundaries of such a district; and,  
 

WHEREAS, the City Commission, is authorized to annually assess and collect the entire 
cost of the district against the entire district using a method, which best ensures that the 
assessment on each lot or parcel is equitable in proportion to the benefits to be received as 
provided by § 7-12-1133 MCA. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 
 
Section 1 – Adoption of Work Plan and Budget  
On July 17, 2018, the City Commission held a public hearing on any objections to the Work Plan 
and Proposed Budget with the understanding that approval of the two documents would 
necessitate the levying of an assessment on all the property in the district. 
 
Section 2 – Assessment Method   
All parcels with hotels, with six or more rooms, defined as any structure, or any portion of any 
structure, which is occupied or intended or designed for occupancy by transients for dwelling, 
lodging, or sleeping purposes and includes any hotel, inn, motel, or other similar structure or 
portion thereof, within the boundaries of the district are to be assessed for the costs of operating 
the Tourism Business Improvement District.  Stays by persons who are otherwise exempt from 
paying a transient occupancy tax (a.k.a lodging facility use tax), as provided in § 15-65-101 
through § 15-65-136 MCA, shall be exempt from the assessment.  
 

The assessment formula recommended to the City Commission will be a flat fee 
of one dollar ($1.00) per occupied room night as prescribed in Section 7-12-
1133(c) MCA.  

 
The assessment requested for Fiscal Year 2018/2019 is based on the above assessment formula 
and will generate THREE HUNDRED EIGHTY THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-
THREE DOLLARS ($380,373) in assessment revenue due to the assessment time frame.   
 
During the renewal process for the TBID a new assessment method was approved and the 
new method is scheduled to begin July 1, 2018 as follows: 
 

The assessment will be a flat fee of two dollars ($2.00) per occupied room night 
for establishments with 31-40 rooms (Land Use Code 154) and establishments 
with over 40 rooms (Land Use Code 155) and a flat fee of one dollar ($1.00) per 
occupied room night for establishments with 1-10 rooms (Land Use Code 151), 
11-20 rooms (Land Use Code 152) and for establishments with 21-30 rooms 
(Land Use Code 153) as prescribed in Mont. Code Ann. § 7-12-1133(f).   

 
Due to overwhelming support for a Tourism Business Improvement District and concurrence 
with the assessment formula, the City Commission hereby approves the levying of the 
assessment as indicated on the assessment projection summary attached to this resolution as 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 307 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Exhibit “A”1. 
 
Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 
Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o’clock p.m. on 
November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

this 18th day of September, 2018. 
 
 
 

                                                      
                                     Bob Kelly, Mayor    
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
                                               
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk  
 
 
 
(Seal of the City) 
 
 
APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 
 
 
 
                                                                   
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 
 

                                                 
1 Exhibit not available online; on file in City Clerk’s Office. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 308 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 16.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolutions 10269 and 10270, Annual Tax Levy

From: Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager

Initiated By: Revised Taxable Valuations from the Montana Department of Revenue

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: Adopt Resolution 10269, repealing Resolution 10241 adopted August 21, 2018;
and, Adopt Resolution 10270

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

“I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10269.”
 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for
     the vote.
 
     AND
 
1. Commissioner moves: 

         “I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10270.” 

2. Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
    vote. 

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt Resolution 10269, which repeals Resolution 10241
adopted by the City Commission on August 21, 2018; and, that the City Commission adopt Resolution
10270 and finalize the Fiscal Year 2019 Adopted Budget without any adjustments.
 

Summary:
The City Commission is required to fix an annual tax levy by setting mills to generate property tax
revenues to fund city operations.  The City received its original taxable valuation from the Montana

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 309 of 351                                     



Department of Revenue (MTDOR) on July 30, 2018, and a revised valuation on August 6, 2018.  With
this valuation, the City computed its annual mill levy.  At its August 21, 2018 meeting, the City
Commission adopted Resolution 10241to fix the annual tax levy in mills for the fiscal year beginning
July 1, 2018 and ending June 30, 2019. 
 
On August 31, 2018, Cascade County Commissioner Joe Briggs notified the City that the County
Commission received notice from the Montana Department of Revenue that the revised valuation had a
major error in the 2018 Taxable Market Value and 2018 Total Taxable Value. The Total Taxable Value
that was in error was $111,473,256. The revised value received on September 4, 2018, was
$99,201,290. This means that without the recertification of the mills, the City would lose $12,271.97 per
mill ($1,837,959 in total).
 
During the FY 2019 Budget Adoption Process, the Finance Department projected the City’s newly
taxable property revenue would be $400,000. The projection was based on the seventeen year average
of newly taxable property.  The newly taxable revenue reported by MTDOR is actually $689,968. With
this new valuation the newly taxable revenue will be $781,414, a $91,446 increase.

Background:
The amount of newly taxable property revenue means that the City will have slightly more tax revenue
than projected of $381,414 (2% of total General Fund tax revenue). The City anticipates property
assessment appeals/abatement requests which means the City will not definitively know how much of
this new projected tax revenue will be available until those appeals/abatement requests are processed. 
 
For example, in Fiscal Year 2018 the newly taxable property revenue was certified to be $437,295, and
the City has still not received this additional revenue.
 
The newly taxable property increases the taxable value per mill from $94,164 in FY 2018 to $97,185 in
FY 2019.  The increase in value also indicates that the Great Falls tax base has expanded. 
 
One immediate benefit to the City’s budget is to the Great Falls Public Library.  The library receives
nine (9) mills under its agreement with the City.  With the newly taxable value, this translates into an
additional $27,189 from FY2018. But this change in mill value will result in a decrease of $110,448
from the original certification for the library for FY 2019. 
 
Included in the mills are the following:
 
Debt Service
 

1.76 mills for soccer park debt service payments ($6,908 increase from last year)
 
The annual soccer park debt payments with expenses total $169,751, which are included in the
$19,557,045 mill levy total.
 
The soccer park bonds were issued June 14, 2004, for $2,500,000 for twenty years and refinanced in
April 2014. The outstanding balance of the soccer bonds as of June 30, 2018 was $910,000. The bond
maturity date is July 1, 2024. Fiscal Year 2017 was the last year for the  swimming pool debt.
 
Permissive Medical Levy

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 310 of 351                                     

• 



29.86 mills ($300,000 increase from last year)
 

Total Mill Levy Summary
Last year’s mill levy for Tax Year 2017 (FY 2018) certified revenue of $18,341,320. The differences
between the mill levy of $18.3 million (what the City milled last year) and $19,557,045 (what the City
will mill this year) include the following:
 
General
 

$781,414 for newly taxable property, a $91,446 increase from first certification.
$127,721 for the inflationary adjustment,
$300,000 for the “Permissive Medical Levy”, and,
$(318) from previous taxable value adjustments.

 
Voted General Obligation Debt 
 

$6,908 for the increase in the revenue needed for the soccer park debt.

Fiscal Impact:
The total mill levy for Tax Year 2018 (FY 2019) is 201.24 mills totaling $19,557,045.   The new taxable
value revenue of $781,414 may result in a slight increase of $381,414 in undesignated fund balance for
the General Fund if received by the City in FY 2019. The recertification does not change the projected
impact for taxpayers.

 
As proposed, the projected impact on a $100,000 home with a taxable market value is as follows:
 
Inflationary Adjustment ($127,721)                $ 1.84
Permissive Medical Levy ($300,000)             $ 4.30
                                                 Total              $ 6.14
 

Alternatives:
State law requires that the City adopt a FY 2019 Budget which includes setting the annual mill levy
amounts on or before the first Thursday after the first Tuesday in September or 30 days after receiving
taxable valuation from the Montana Department of Revenue, whichever is later.
 
The City Commission could reduce the amount of its levies – either the inflationary adjustment or the
Permissive Medical Levy. The City Commission could also accept the tax levies as presented, allow
any tax appeals/abatement requests to run their course, and after the first of the year reconsider any
needed budget adjustments.  This timeframe also provides the City Commission with ample time to
review, consider, and prioritize deferred capital and operational needs which may be addressed by the
slight increase of the General Fund fund balance.  Budget adjustments can then be made as necessary
with review from city department heads and the public. 

Concurrences:
The FY 2019 Budget was adopted July 17, 2018.  Recertifying the mills for Tax Year 2018 (FY 2019)
should be the last step in the adoption of the FY 2019 City of Great Falls Budget.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 311 of 351                                     

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 



ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10269 Repealing Resolution 10241
Resolution 10270
Resolution 10270 Appendix A
2018 Certified Taxable Valuation
Taxable Valuation History

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 312 of 351                                     

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

RESOLUTION 10269 

 
A RESOLUTION REPEALING RESOLUTION 10241 TITLED: 

“RESOLUTION TO FIX ANNUAL TAX LEVY - A RESOLUTION 

PROVIDING FOR THE ANNUAL TAX LEVY IN MILLS FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 

2019”  
 

  

WHEREAS, the City Commission is required to fix an annual tax levy by setting mills to 

generate property tax revenues to fund city operations; and 

 

WHEREAS, after receiving the Revised 2018 Certified Taxable Valuation Information 

from the Montana Department of Revenue (MTDOR) on August 6, 2018, City staff 

considered newly taxable property, inflationary adjustment, permissive medical levy and 

debt service to compute the annual mill levy amounts for City Commission consideration; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, at its regular meeting held August 21, 2018, the City Commission adopted 

Resolution 10241, as required to complete the last step in adoption of the City of Great 

Falls’ FY 2019 Budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution 10241 was recorded with the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder 

(R0360033 GRS), and a copy hand delivered to the Cascade County Treasurer on August 

24, 2018; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 31, 2018, Cascade County Commissioner Joe Briggs notified 

Finance Director Melissa Kinzler via email that the County Commission received notice 

from the MTDOR that it made a significant error in its 2018 Certified Taxable Valuation 

Information provided to the taxing jurisdictions and, as such, a 2018 revised certification 

of values would be forthcoming from the MTDOR for the governing bodies of local entities 

to base mill levy calculations; and 

 

WHEREAS, on September 4, 2018, Finance Director Melissa Kinzler received the 

“Revised 9/4/2018 2018 Certified Taxable Valuation Information” via email from the 

MTDOR.   

   

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 313 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Commission of the City of Great 

Falls, Montana, that Resolution 10241 adopted August 21, 2018, and recorded with the 

Cascade County Clerk and Recorder (R0360033 GRS) on August 24, 2018, is hereby 

repealed. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

on this 18th day of September, 2018. 
 

 

            

      Bob Kelly, Mayor 
 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

      

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of the City) 

 

 

 

 
APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

      

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

 
 

 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 314 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 RESOLUTION NO.  10270 

 RESOLUTION TO FIX ANNUAL TAX LEVY 
 A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ANNUAL TAX 

 LEVY IN MILLS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 

 JULY 1, 2018 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2019 

 

WHEREAS, Montana Code Annotated (MCA), 7-1-114, states "(1) A local government with 

self-governing powers is subject to …(g) except as provided in subsection (3), 

any law regulating the budget, finance, or borrowing procedures and powers of 

local governments…(3) (b) The provisions of 15-10-420 apply to self-governing 

local government units.” 

 

WHEREAS,  The City of Great Falls, Montana adopted a self-governing charter in 1986.   

 Article I, Section 3 of the Charter of the City of Great Falls, Montana   

 states: "The total mill levy shall not exceed that allowed to general powers  

 cities of the first class by Montana Law.” 

 

WHEREAS, Section 7-6-4036, MCA, requires the City Commission to fix the tax levy for each 

taxing jurisdiction by the later of the first Thursday after the first Tuesday in 

September or within 30 calendar days after receiving certified taxable values. 

Certified taxable values were received July 30, 2018.  Revised values were 

received August 6, 2018, and again on September 4, 2018. 

 

WHEREAS, Section 15-10-420, MCA provides: 

 (1)(a)  Subject to the provisions of this section, a governmental entity that is 

authorized to impose mills may impose a mill levy sufficient to generate the 

amount of property taxes actually assessed in the prior year plus one-half of the 

average rate of inflation for the prior 3 years.  The maximum number of mills that 

a governmental entity may impose is established by calculating the number of 

mills required to generate the amount of property tax actually assessed in the 

governmental unit in the prior year based on the current year taxable value, less 

the current year’s value of newly taxable property plus one-half the average rate 

of inflation for the prior 3 years. 

 (2)  … plus any additional levies authorized by the voters … 

(9) (a) The provisions of subsection (1) do not prevent or restrict:…(vi) the 

portion that is the amount in excess of the base contribution of a governmental 

entity’s property tax levy for contributions for group benefits excluded under 2-9-

212 or 2-18-703. 

         

WHEREAS, Section 15-10-201, MCA, requires the City Commission to fix its tax levy in mills 

 and tenths and hundredths of mills. 

 

WHEREAS, The Department of Revenue’s certified taxable value for the City of Great Falls is 

$99,201,290 which equates to $99,201 per mill; when the incremental value of the 

tax increment finance district is removed the value is $97,185 per mill.  This 

includes $781,414 or $4,607 per mill, of newly taxable property. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 315 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

Section 1. - Determination of Mill Levy Limit 

 

 Appendix A shows the determination of the total mill levy limit of 169.62 mills.   

 An additional 29.86 “Permissive Medical Levy” is allowed under 15-10-420(9)(a)(vi) for 

increased health insurance premiums not included in the Appendix A calculation.  

 An additional 1.76 mills is allowed under 15-10-420(2) for additional voter supported mills. 

On November 4, 2003, a $2.5 million general obligation bond was approved by voters for 

construction of a soccer park. It has been determined that 1.76 mills for soccer park debt 

service payments is needed for Fiscal Year 2019.   

 

 Section 2. - Tax Levy Amounts 

 

A 201.24 mill levy will generate: 

 

a. $ 15,703,127 from the $92,578 certified value per mill for Previously Taxable Property; 

 

b. $      781,414 from the $4,607 certified value per mill for Newly Taxable Property;  

 

c.         $   2,901,751 from the $97,185 certified value per mill for increased Health Insurance  

            premiums “Permissive Medical Levy”,     

 

d.         $     170,753 from the $97,185 certified value per mill for soccer park debt service  

                                 payments, and, 

 

e. $19,557,045 in total City tax for 2018 Tax Year from the $97,185 total certified value  

         per mill. 

 

This does not reflect delinquent collections or tax increments withheld. 

 

Section 3. - Tax Levy Required and Set 

 

a. 169.62 mill levy- The City Commission has determined a $16,484,541 tax levy, requiring 

a 169.62 mill levy, is necessary to balance the General Fund Budget. 

 

b. 29.86 mill levy- The City Commission has determined a $2,901,751 “Permissive Medical 

Levy”, requiring a 29.86 mill levy, is necessary for increased health premium costs to 

balance the General Fund Budget. 

  

c. 1.76 mill levy- The City Commission has determined a $170,753 tax levy, requiring a 

1.76 mill levy, is necessary for the soccer park debt service payment. 

 

d. Total 201.24 - The City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana hereby fixes the 

tax levy for the fiscal year July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 at 201.24 mills. 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 316 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

September 18, 2018.  

 

 

 

                                                                                    ____________________________  

                                                                                    Bob Kelly, Mayor   

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

___________________________  

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

 

(Seal of the City)  

 

 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT:  

 

____________________________   

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 317 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Enter amounts in 

yellow cells 

Enter Ad valorem tax revenue ACTUALLY assessed in the prior year (from Prior Year's form Line 

17) 15,575,724$              15,575,724$            

Add:  Current year inflation adjustment @ 0.82% 
127,721$                 

Subtract:  Ad valorem tax revenue ACTUALLY assessed in the prior year for Class 1 and 2 

property, (net and gross proceeds) (from Prior Year's form Line 20)- (enter as negative) -$                             

Adjusted ad valorem tax revenue

15,703,445$            

ENTERING TAXABLE VALUES  

Enter 'Total Taxable Value' - from Department of Revenue Certified Taxable Valuation Information 

form, line # 2 99,201,290$              99,201.290$            

Subtract: 'Total Incremental Value' of all tax increment financing districts (TIF Districts) - from 

Department of Revenue Certified Taxable Valuation Information  form, line # 6 

(enter as negative) (2,016,163)$               (2,016.163)$             

Taxable value per mill (after adjustment for removal of TIF per mill incremental district value)
97,185.127$            

Subtract:  'Total Value of Newly Taxable Property' - from Department of Revenue Certified 

Taxable Valuation Information  form, line # 3 (enter as negative) (4,606,852)$               (4,606.852)$             

Subtract:  'Taxable Value of Net and Gross Proceeds, (Class 1 & 2 properties)' - from Department 

of Revenue Certified Taxable Valuation Information  form, line # 5 

(enter as negative) -$                               -$                       

Adjusted Taxable value per mill
92,578.275$            

CURRENT YEAR calculated mill levy

169.62

CURRENT YEAR calculated ad valorem tax revenue

16,484,541$            

CURRENT YEAR AUTHORIZED LEVY/ASSESSMENT 

Enter total number of carry forward mills from prior year (from Prior Year's form Line 22)

0.00 0.00

Total current year authorized mill levy, including Prior Years' carry forward mills

169.62

Total current year authorized ad valorem tax revenue assessment 
16,484,541$            

CURRENT YEAR ACTUALLY LEVIED/ASSESSED

Enter number of mills actually levied in current year 

(Number should equal total non-voted mills, which includes the number of carry forward mills, 

actually imposed per the final approved current year budget document. Do Not include voted or 

permissve mills imposed in the current year.) 169.62 169.62

Total ad valorem tax revenue actually assessed in current year

16,484,541$            

RECAPITULATION OF ACTUAL:

Ad valorem tax revenue actually assessed

15,703,127$            

Ad valorem tax revenue actually assessed for newly taxable property 781,414$                 

Ad valorem tax revenue actually assessed for Class 1 & 2 properties (net-gross proceeds)
-$                             

Total ad valorem tax revenue actually assessed in current year
16,484,541$            

Total carry forward mills that may be levied in a subsequent year 

(Number should be equal to or greater than zero. A (negative) number indicates an over levy.) 
0.00

Determination of Tax Revenue and Mill Levy Limitations

City of Great Falls, Resolution 10270, Appendix A

Section 15-10-420, MCA

Aggregate of all Funds

FYE June 30, 2019

Auto-Calculation

(If completing manually 

enter amounts as 

instructed) 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 318 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

I 
.----I ----, 

I 

CJD 
I I 



1. 2018
2. 2018
3. 2018
4. 2018
5. 2018

6. TIF Districts

Total Incremental Value

Date

I. Value Included in "newly taxable" property
II. Total value exclusive of "newly taxable" property

EAST INDUSTRIAL PARK 467,686                                 2,322                                       465,364                            

GF INT'L AIRPORT 155,466                                 107,149                                  48,317                              
GF DOWNTOWN URBAN RENEWAL 3,933,236                             3,643,698                               289,538                            

For Information Purposes Only
2018 taxable value of centrally assessed property having a market value of $1 million or more, which has 
transferred to a different ownership in compliance with 15-10-202(2), MCA.

-$                                   
-$                                   

INT'L MALTING PLANT 802,165                                 362,124                                  440,041                            
WEST BANK RENEWAL 1,065,439                             

2,016,163$                       

Preparer Joan Vining 9/4/2018

1Market value does not include class 1 and class 2 value
2Taxable value is calculated after abatements have been applied
3This value is the taxable value less total incremental value of all tax increment financing districts
4The taxable value of class 1 and class 2 is included in the taxable value totals

292,536                                  772,903                            

Taxable Value less Incremental Taxable Value3 97,185,127$                     
Taxable Value of Net and Gross Proceeds4

-$                                       

Tax Increment
District Name

Current Taxable
Value2

Base Taxable
Value

Incremental
Value

Total Market Value1 5,761,235,361$               
Total Taxable Value2 99,201,290$                     

4,606,852$                       

Revised 9/4/2018

2018 Certified Taxable Valuation Information
(15-10-202, MCA)
Cascade County

CITY OF GREAT FALLS

Certified values are now available online at property.mt.gov/cov

MONTANA
Form AB-72T

Rev. 3-12

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 319 of 351                                     Attachment # 4

~ REV NUE 

Taxable Value of Newly Taxable Property ........................................................... . ---------

(Class 1 and Class 2) ............................................................................................ . ---------



Tax 

Levy 

Year

Fiscal 

Year

Total Taxable 

Value**
Downtown

Pasta MT/ 

General 

Mills

Int'l 

Malting 

Plant

West Bank 

Urban 

Renewal 

Plan

Great 

Falls Int'l 

Airport

East 

Industrial 

Park

Net Taxable 

Value

% Increase 

(Decrease) 

Prior Year 

Net Taxable 

Value

New 

Property 

Value

% Increase 

(Decrease) 

Prior Year 

Newly 

Taxable 

Property

 Levy 

in Mills  

2001 FY 2002 $65,437,840 $4,511,569 $552,276 NA NA NA NA $60,373,995 0.33% $1,011,770 -47.8% 111.32

2002 FY 2003 $65,117,051 $4,364,549 $595,357 NA NA NA NA $60,157,145 -0.36% $1,302,597 28.7% 119.00

2003 FY 2004 $65,328,553 $4,102,725 $700,009 NA NA NA NA $60,525,819 0.61% $1,041,336 -20.1% 124.33

2004 FY 2005 $66,377,650 $3,343,580 NA NA NA NA NA $63,034,070 4.14% $2,030,124 95.0% 131.64

2005 FY 2006 $68,609,562 $3,402,127 NA NA NA NA NA $65,207,435 3.45% $2,748,377 35.4% 138.27

2006 FY 2007 $70,990,415 $3,832,568 NA $141,345 NA NA NA $67,016,502 2.77% $2,873,541 4.6% 140.94

2007 FY 2008 $73,776,332 $4,064,883 NA $225,476 NA NA NA $69,485,973 3.68% $2,387,436 -16.9% 158.21

2008 FY 2009 $76,405,690 $4,107,804 NA $294,210 $30,733 NA NA $71,972,943 3.58% $2,138,961 -10.4% 162.68

2009 FY 2010 $76,862,700 NA NA $309,168 $205,857 NA NA $76,347,675 6.08% $6,947,574 224.8% 169.04

2010 FY 2011 $78,275,702 NA NA $195,477 $574,725 $728 NA $77,504,772 1.52% $2,931,771 -57.8% 173.10

2011 FY 2012 $78,709,035 NA NA $176,312 $553,480 6,659$   NA $77,972,584 0.60% $5,295,716 80.6% 183.24

2012 FY 2013 $77,852,991 NA NA $157,225 $557,385 6,333$   NA $77,132,048 -1.08% $1,278,348 -75.9% 193.57

2013 FY 2014 $78,054,590 $105 NA $155,000 $560,136 11,171$ NA $77,328,178 0.25% $787,945 -38.4% 198.74

2014 FY 2015 $76,098,354 $41,765 NA $386,390 $575,135 11,275$ 31,452$   $75,052,337 -2.94% $312,611 -60.3% 204.54

2015 FY 2016 $88,577,771 $444,316 NA $504,796 $579,885 42,030$ 42,557$   $86,964,187 15.87% $5,072,060 1522.5% 190.29

2016 FY 2017 $91,113,880 $0 NA $512,371 $537,828 43,717$ 41,662$   $89,978,302 3.47% $5,238,618 3.3% 198.24

2017 FY 2018 $95,822,493 $252,609 NA $383,849 $654,253 47,867$ 319,573$ $94,164,342 4.65% $2,643,701 -49.5% 194.78

2018 FY 2019 $99,201,290 $289,538 NA $440,041 $772,903 48,317$ 465,364$ $97,185,127 3.21% $4,606,852 74.3% 201.24

Note: Starting in 1999 mill levies were "floated" in order to achieve the statutorily limited tax revenues.

Voters approved a 2 mill increase for the Library in November, 2000. 

Voters approved a $2.5 million general obligation bond for a soccer park  November 4, 2003. 

Voters approved a $2.27 million general obligation bond for repair and improvement of city pool facilities November 7,2006.

**Total taxable value at time of certification 

Tax Increment Districts

City of Great Falls Taxable Valuation History

 7City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 320 of 351                                     Attachment # 5



Agenda # 17.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Ordinance 3192, "An Ordinance Amending Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 2, Section 050 of The
Official Code of The City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining to Burden of Proof".

From: Legal Department

Initiated By: Legal Department

Presented By: Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney

Action Requested: Adopt Ordinance 3192 on second reading.     

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
          "I move that the City Commission (adopt/not adopt) Ordinance 3192."
 
2.     Mayor calls for a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt Ordinance 3192. 

Background:
The Great Falls Board of Adjustment (BOA) is the quasi-judicial body that hears appeals regarding
Land Use Decisions including variances and appeals regarding allocation of Community Development
Block Grant allocations decisions.  The burden of proof for proceedings conducted by the BOA is
established by OCCGF §17.16.2.050.
 
The Ordinance under consideration would amend OCCGF §17.16.2.050.  The proposed amendment
would require the individual or applicant appealing a decision to the BOA to maintain the burden of
proving the decision which is being appealed should be reversed or modified.  The BOA is a quasi-
judicial appellate body.  This amendment is appropriate because, traditionally, a party to a judicial or
quasi-judicial action has the burden of showing that the decision of the authority being appealed from
should be overturned or modified.   
 
Ordinance 3192 was accepted unanimously on first reading.  There was no Commission discussion or
public comment at the first reading. However Commissioner Moe provided Legal staff with some
comments on the draft and the Legal Department has updated Ord. 3192 Exhibit “A” following first

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 321 of 351                                     



reading.  Subsection (A.) was amended replacing “this Title” with “the Official Code of The City of
Great Falls (OCCGF)”.  Subsection (B.) was amended to insert “is inconsistent with the OCCGF,
should be reversed, and/or how it should be modified”.  Subsection (C.) was amended to replace “this
Title” with “OCCGF”.  These amendments are appropriate to improve procedural consistency.
 
Ordinance 3192 Exhibit “A” illustrates the proposed additional language to OCCGF §17.16.2.050 in
bold and removed language in strikethrough.  Ordinance 3192 Exhibit “B”, attached to this report,
illustrates the changes if accepted in clean format.
 

Fiscal Impact:
None. 

Concurrences:
City Manager's Office
Planning and Community Development
City Clerk's Office

ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 3192
Ord. 3192 Exhibit "A" (Updated from First Reading)
Ord. 3192 Exhibit "B" (Updated from First Reading)

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 322 of 351                                     

[) 

[) 

[) 



ORDINANCE 3192 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 17, CHAPTER 16, ARTICLE 2, 

SECTION 050 OF THE OFFICIAL CODE OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS (OCCGF), PERTAINING TO BURDEN OF PROOF 

********************* 

WHEREAS, OCCGF § 17.16.050 specifies what party bears the burden of proof in Land 

Use application decisions and Board of Adjustment appeal proceedings; and 

WHEREAS, when an administrative unit or department decision is appealed to the Great 

Falls Board of Adjustment, the administrative unit or department bears the burden of proof that 

such decision is correct; and 

WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to require the applicant or individual appealing 

such a decision to bear the burden of proof that the administrative unit or department decision 

should be modified or reversed. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 

Section 1. Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 2, Section 050, of the OCCGF pertaining to 

burden of proof shall be amended as depicted by Exhibit “A”, attached 

hereto, which removes any language indicated by a strike-out and adds any 

language which is bolded; and, 

 

Section 2: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after second 

reading and final adoption by the City Commission. 

 

APPROVED by the City Commission on first reading September 4, 2018. 

ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second 

reading September 18, 2018. 

______________________________ 

Bob Kelly, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________   (CITY SEAL) 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 323 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

___________________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

State of Montana  ) 

County of Cascade  : ss 

City of Great Falls  ) 

 

I, Lisa Kunz, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did post as 

required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3192 in three 

conspicuous places within the limits of said City to-wit: 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Courthouse; 

On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

 

 

____________________________________ 

(CITY SEAL)     Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 324 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



Exhibit “A” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 17 LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

Chapter 16 – ADMINISTRATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES 

Article 2 - GENERALLY 

 

 

17.16.2.050   Burden of proof. 

A. During application process. During the application processes, the applicant has the 
burden of proof to show that the proposed action or development is consistent with this 
Title. the Official Code of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF).  

B. During appeal of an administrative decision.  In instances where an applicant or 
individual appeals an administrative decision to the Board of Adjustment, the 
administrative unit or department making said decision applicant or individual has the 
burden of proof to show that the administrative unit or department decision is consistent 
inconsistent with this Title. the OCCGF, should be reversed, and/or how it should be 
modified.  

C. During enforcement proceedings. During enforcement proceedings, the administrative 
unit or department taking enforcement action has the burden of proof to show that the 
action or development is in violation of this Title the OCCGF.  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 325 of 351                                     Attachment # 2



Exhibit “B” (Updated from First Reading) 

Title 17 LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

Chapter 16 – ADMINISTRATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES 

Article 2 - GENERALLY 

 

17.16.2.050   Burden of proof. 

A. During the application processes, the applicant has the burden of proof to show that the 
proposed development is consistent with the Official Code of the City of Great Falls 
(OCCGF).  

B. In instances where an applicant or individual appeals an administrative decision to the 
Board of Adjustment, the applicant or individual has the burden of proof to show that the 
administrative unit or department decision is inconsistent with the OCCGF, should be 
reversed, and/or how it should be modified.  

C. During enforcement proceedings, the administrative unit or department taking enforcement 
action has the burden of proof to show that the action or development is in violation of the 
OCCGF.  

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 326 of 351                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 18.
Commission Meeting Date: September 18, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Ordinance 3193 - An Ordinance by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls to assign PUD
Planned Unit Development zoning to the properties legally described as Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended
Plat of Lot 4 of the Medical Tech Park Minor Subdivision.

From: Erin Borland, Planner II, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: NWGF Development, LLC

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: City Commission accept Ordinance 3193 on first reading and set a public hearing
for October 16, 2018.

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (accept/not accept) Ordinance 3193 on first reading and set a
public hearing for October 16, 2018."
 

2. Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the applicant's proposed PUD zoning request. At the conclusion of a
public hearing held on August 14, 2018, the Zoning Commission recommended the City Commission
approve the establishment of zoning for the subject properties to PUD Planned Unit Development,
subject to the fulfillment of the following Conditions of Approval:
 
Conditions of Approval for Planned Unit Development:
 
1. General Code Compliance. The proposed project shall be developed consistent with the conditions
in this report, and all codes and ordinances of the City of Great Falls, the State of Montana, and all other
applicable regulatory agencies.
 
2. Final Plat. Provide a Final Plat of the subject properties which shall incorporate corrections of any
errors or omissions noted by Staff.
 
3. Utilities. The final engineering drawings and specifications for public improvements for the subject

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 327 of 351                                     



properties shall be submitted to the City Public Works Department for review and approval.
 
4. Land Use & Zoning. The development standards and land uses for the subject properties shall be
consistent with the submitted PUD Planned Unit Development zoning ordinance submitted by the
applicant.
 
5. Subsequent modifications and additions. If after establishment of the PUD, the owner proposes to
expand or modify the use, buildings, and/or structures, the Director of the Planning and Community
Development Department shall determine in writing if such proposed change would alter the finding for
one or more review criteria. If such proposed changes would alter a finding, the proposal shall be
submitted for review as a new development application. If such proposed changes would not alter a
finding, the owner shall obtain all other permits as may be required.
 

Summary:
The applicant, NeighborWorks Great Falls (NWGF), is proposing the annexation, establishment
of Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning, and a major subdivision for two parcels of land that total
approximately 20.5 acres. The subject properties are undeveloped land located in Cascade County
adjacent to Great Falls along 20th Street South and 24th Avenue South. The applicant is proposing an
85-lot subdivision, fully developed with the establishment of several proposed roadways and alleys to
access the lots, sidewalks to create pedestrian circulation, and City utilities to provide services to the
subject properties.  Development of the site will be a major transformation of the properties from bare
land to a new residential neighborhood.
 
The proposed residential community includes 50 lots dedicated to the NWGF Mutual Self-Help
Program.  Each year over the next five years, ten families will work together to construct their own
homes in a program executed by NWGF and funded by the United States Department of Agriculture
Rural Development Agency. The NWGF Mutual Self-Help program has been successfully providing
homeownership for low to low/moderate income families since 2005 and has resulted in 124 homes
being constructed. NWGF is currently working in the Thaniel Addition subdivision to construct this
housing product, but is beginning to run out of available lots.  Additionally, it has been difficult to keep
home prices affordable due to the size of lots that were created in the Thaniel Addition subdivision.
 
In addition to the proposed 50 Mutual Self-Help lots, another 33 lots will be developed into one and
two-bedroom Cottage style homes ranging from 800 square feet to approximately 1200 square feet.  The
Cottage homes could be developed in four phases over the next five years.  Three model homes will be
developed in Phase 1 of the Cottage project in the summer of 2019.  As demand for new affordable
housing continues to grow, these smaller homes are geared to active adults looking to downsize or young
couples just starting out. 
 
During the public hearing for the Planning Advisory Board/ Zoning Commission on August 14, 2018,
several questions and concerns were brought up by the public. These included concerns about increased
traffic, dust control in the area, and sidewalk requirements for several neighboring property owners due
to the installation and dedication of 20th  Street South with the applicant's project.  All concerns were
addressed by Staff with the information that was available at that time. A question was asked by a local
citizen in that area if the elementary school could accommodate the increased volume of students that this
subdivision could potentially have.  Staff has since contacted the Great Falls Public Schools and
verified that Sunnyside Elementary School is not at capacity and they welcome new homes in the area. 
If there was a large increase in students because of the proposed development, the School would adjust

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 328 of 351                                     



to accommodate.

Background:
Assignment of Zoning: Planned Unit Development (PUD)
 
The applicant proposes lot layouts that are generally alley-accessed for the Mutual Self-help homes with
detached garages, and lot layouts that are street-accessed for the Cottage style homes with attached
garages. In order to create a development that is feasible for the affordable homes that are being
proposed, the applicant is proposing lots that range from 5,948 square feet to 6,989 square feet. The
proposed lot sizes, as well as minimum lot widths and setbacks, are more constrained than the most
closely related zoning district in the Land Development Code - the R-3 Single-family high density
district. Therefore, to accommodate the proposed development standards, the applicant has requested a
Planned Unit Development zoning designation. The use of the PUD zoning district allows for a
residential development to be established with unique development standards, pursuant to OCCGF
§17.20.2.040 Establishment and purpose of districts, which states:
 

A Planned Unit Development district is a special type of zoning district that is proposed by the
developer to account for a desired mix of uses. Each district is unique and therefore has its own set
of development standards which are documented in the approval.

 
A full land use and development standards proposal has been submitted by the applicant along with a
conceptual site plan and typical lot layout for the various types of house products being proposed. The
City Commission will be considering the proposed PUD zoning as well as annexation and the final plat
at a public hearing set after first reading of the ordinance.
 
The basis for decision on Planned Unit Development requests is listed in OCCGF §17.16.29.050. The
recommendation of the Zoning Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum
consider the criteria which are attached as Findings of Fact/Basis of Decision – Planned Unit
Development.
 
Improvements
 
Roadways and Alleys
Pursuant to the attached Improvement Agreement, the applicant proposes to construct 20th Street South,
21st Avenue South, 22nd Avenue South, 22nd Street South, 23rd Avenue South, and three (3) cul-de-sacs
in order to provide access to the proposed lots in the subdivision. In addition, alleys are also shown on
the site plan to access lots with detached garages.  The roadways and alleys are to be constructed
consistent with City standards. All necessary property for the construction and maintenance of City
streets and alleys shall be dedicated to the public on final plats that will be recorded with the Cascade
County Clerk and Recorder. All street and alley improvements are to be owned and maintained by the
City upon completion. 
 
Traffic Analysis
According to the ITE Trip Generation Manual (9th Edition), the average trip generation rate for a single
family detached housing unit is 9.52 trips per occupied dwelling unit on a weekday. For the 83 homes
proposed in the subdivision, this equates to approximately 790 daily trips.
 
The trip distribution percentages for vehicles entering/exiting the proposed subdivision are estimated to
be:

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 329 of 351                                     



15% north on 20th Street South (119 vehicle trips per day)
15% east on 21st Avenue South (119 vehicle trips per day)
15% east on 23rd Avenue South (119 vehicle trips per day)
15% south on 22nd Street South (119 vehicle trips per day)
40% south on 20th Street South (316 vehicle trips per day)
Negligible traffic will be using the unpaved 20th, 21st, 22nd, and 23rd Avenues to the west (County
jurisdiction).

 
The existing and proposed roadway layout is expected to have sufficient capacity to accommodate traffic
generated by the proposed subdivision. Several improvements were required to accompany the project,
which have been agreed to by the applicant. This includes construction of 20th Street South as a
collector in order to accommodate expected future traffic volumes. The applicant is also requires to
construct a small portion of 20th Street South just north of the property to connect the new street to 20th
Avenue South.  The City will facilitate reimbursement to the applicant for this construction. Additionally,
stop signs must be installed at the avenues meeting 20th Street South as well as the streets meeting 24th
Avenue South. A full traffic analysis by Andrew Finch, Senior Transportation Planner, is attached for
review.
 
Local Services
The subject properties are on the southern periphery of the City limits and currently located in the rural
county fire district.  In this district, emergency services are not as robust as is typically found within City
limits. Due to the location of the subdivision, the emergency services response time in this area would be
roughly between seven and eight minutes. This is beyond what is considered ideal for City emergency
service response. This is an issue that is concerning to Staff and cannot be ignored.  In light of this
concern, the development is required to provide multiple points of public access for emergency services.
Theses multiple street access points will also aid in evacuation of the subdivision if it is necessary for
an emergency situation.
 
Utilities
The applicant is responsible for the installation of all public utilities in order to serve the proposed
subdivision. These public utilities include: 1) the installation of a looped and upsized public water main,
including the addition of fire hydrants and all water service lines stubbed to all lots shown on the
preliminary plat, and 2) extension of the public sanitary sewer main and installation of all sewer service
lines stubbed to all lots as shown on the preliminary plat. These improvements are to be installed
consistent with City standards and submitted plans approved by the City of Great Falls Engineering
Division. Additionally, the applicant shall provide the opportunity to the City to purchase a lot that will
facilitate possible future construction of a water booster station.
 
Stormwater Management
The applicant is responsible for the installation of stormwater quality and quantity improvements
consistent with City standards and submitted plans approved by the City of Great Falls Public Works
Department. The applicant is proposing to construct a stormwater detention pond on Lot 85 of the
development. This lot will be dedicated to the City during the final plat process of Phase I. The
applicant is also proposing to extend and construct new stormwater pipe to convey stormwater from the
development to the detention pond.
 
Open Space
The applicant has also been required to provide an open space parcel to provide passive recreational
opportunities for future residents.  This open space parcel shall be maintained by the applicant.
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 330 of 351                                     

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 



Neighborhood Council Input
The subject properties are located in Neighborhood Council #5.  The applicant presented the project at
Neighborhood Council #5 on August 20, 2018. Staff also attended the meeting. The Council was
concerned with the traffic increase in the area as well as the small lot sizes that would be allowed under
the PUD zoning request. The Council voted to not take action on the item.

Fiscal Impact:
Services will be provided by the City, and the cost of infrastructure improvements will be borne by the
applicant per the agreed upon terms of the attached Improvement Agreement. The City will reimburse the
applicant for the proportionate share of costs of public improvements as outlined in the Improvement
Agreement. The annexation and subdivision will provide 85 new residential lots, which to a limited
extent as compared to commercial or other development, will  increase the City’s tax base and minimally
increase revenue. 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could deny acceptance of Ordinance 3193 on first reading and not set the public
hearing.

Concurrences:
Representatives from the City’s Public Works, Legal, Park and Recreation, and Fire/Rescue
Departments have been involved throughout the review and approval process for this project, and will
continue throughout the permit approval process. Both the Engineering and Environmental Divisions of
Public Works have collaborated on the submitted Improvement Agreement as well as the design of the
proposed infrastructure improvements.

ATTACHMENTS:

Aerial Map
Zoning Map
Vicinity Map
Ordinance 3193
Ordinanace 3193 Exhibit A
Existing Conditions
Project Narrative
Findings of Fact/Basis of Decision - Planned Unit Development
Site Plan
Typical Lot Design - Mutual Self Help
Typical Lot Design - Cottages
Typical Road Section
Traffic Analysis

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 331 of 351                                     

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 

[) 



AERIAL MAP

FE
RR

ET
   W

AY

BADGER   WAY

24TH AVE S

25TH AVE S

27TH AVE S

26TH AVE S

24TH  AVE  S
23

RD
  S

T  
S

21ST AVE S

19
TH

 ST
 S

20
TH

 ST
 S

19TH AVE S

20TH AVE S

18
TH

 ST
 S

18TH AVE S

17
TH

 ST
 S

21ST AVE S

23RD AVE S

22ND AVE S

20
TH

 ST
 S

21ST  AVE  S

18TH AVE S

23RD AVE S

22
ND

 AV
E 

S

23
RD

 ST
 S

 Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus
DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

500 0 500250 Feet

Subject Properties
Adjoining24thROW
Tracts of Land ¯

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 332 of 351                                     Attachment # 1



ZONING MAP

24TH  AVE  S

23
RD

  S
T  

S

21ST AVE S

19
TH

 S
T S

20
TH

 S
T S

20
TH

 S
T S

23RD AVE S
22

ND
 AV

E S 23
RD

 ST
 S

 Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus
DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

320 0 320160 Feet

Subject Properties
Adjoining24thROW
R-3  Single-family High Density
PUD  Planned Unit Development
M-1  Mixed-use District
PLI  Public Lands and Institutional
U   Unincorporated Enclave
Tracts of Land ¯City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 333 of 351                                     Attachment # 2I I 



G
E

O
R

G
E

R
Y

A
N

DESTIN

TAMER

SPENCER

& KARLIE

WEI

3

VICINITY / REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION MAP

City

Center

GREAT FALLS
MT

10th Ave S

U
S

 H
w

y 8
9

River Dr N

3
r

d
 S

t
 N

W

NW Bypass

In
t

e
r

s
t

a
t

e
 1

5

U
S

 H
w

y
 8

7

Project

Site

5
7

t
h

 S
t

 N

1
5

t
h

 S
t

 N

6
t

h
 S

t
 N

W

M
E

D
 T

E
C

H
 P

A
R

K
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 U
N

IT
 D

E
V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
G

R
E

A
T
 F

A
L
L
S

, 
M

T

W
OI

TH
 E

NG
IN

EE
RI

NG
,  

IN
C.

EN
GI

NE
ER

S 
& 

SU
RV

EY
OR

S
W

O
IT

HE
NG

.C
O

M
G

RE
AT

 F
AL

LS
   

   
M

IS
SO

UL
A

40
6-

76
1-

19
55

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 334 of 351                                     Attachment # 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
COCHRANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL TO COCHRANE DAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESMT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT  /  ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPPER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRWAY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCKY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OASIS CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PALM CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAND CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROADWATER DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELLA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALSAM CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSPECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSPECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNN CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRWAY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINERIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLOWCREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEERFIELD  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEFFERSON CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
51ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLD  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOCKETT  RD  -  227

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWIFT  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESCENT CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
   CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNDANCE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHICKADEE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
IVY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELM CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAHLIA CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERNANDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN       DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N RIVER RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMELTER      AVE          NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERNANDO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
E 50TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13A ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOLK TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALERIA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHOWEN    SPRINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHOWEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHILLIPS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHILLIPS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERWOOD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODBIRD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNRISE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
45TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRUCE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERRET   WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE MILL LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPPER CREEK LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLD MINE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN      VALLEY      LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMESTONE             LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIANT  SPRINGS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIANT  SPRINGS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAUGHN RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNSET       RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLAND CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCKEY   RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
INT - 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE - 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
INT - 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW   BYPASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW   BYPASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESCENT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNIPER    AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INT - SPUR  315

AutoCAD SHX Text
COYOTE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWAN  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANAGER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COYOTE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBIN  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDPIPER DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK GARDEN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACACIA     WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST     WEST    HILL    DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND WEST HILL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD WEST HILL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH WEST HILL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAUGHN  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29A AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3A ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH  ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUMMIT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA   AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE MILL  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHICAGO  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER       AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHVIEW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOWER  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLANCHARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK  RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALASKA TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
46TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
63RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
50TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
49TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
48TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
47TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
46TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
47TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
49TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DORIS DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
39TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH    AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH    AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH    AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST   ST   NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD    AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH     AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH     AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH   ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH     AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3A ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD     AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIVISION RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
29 AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMBER  LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALISSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYARD  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUCKEY RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH  ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH  ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA   AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE MILL  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMELTER  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOOTLEGGER TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S.  HIGHWAY   87

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD HAVRE HIGHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33A AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33B AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
34A AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
 AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH  AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACAJAWEA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7A ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACAJAWEA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH  ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5A ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5B

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE         DR NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW       DR  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW    DR    E

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMELTER AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW 5 E

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  4  E

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  3  E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIVISION  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  1  E

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  2  E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIVISION  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  A

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  B

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMELTER  AVE  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  C

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND  AVE  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST  AVE  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  D

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  5  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  6  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  7  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW 8 W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  6  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  7  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOWARD AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMES AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  3  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW  4  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA        AVE      NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLORADO         AVE     NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERMONT AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASSACHUSETTS       AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNECTICUT AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINNIPEG ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE A NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY VIEW DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE E NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH  ST  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE D NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE C NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE B NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY VIEW DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE D

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE   C    NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH   ST  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE B NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIVISION  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH      AVE      NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL AVE W

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST  AVE    NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRPORT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRPORT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRPORT  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
POULSEN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
KIWANIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERALD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOB. HOME CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STROBEL'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHERN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWAIN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRING SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURLINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
RHODES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF FLOOD LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF FLOOD LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOOMINGDALE      PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST GF  FLOOD  LEVEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEMENTARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRT RIDERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
INCORPORATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXPO

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOSQUITO

AutoCAD SHX Text
&

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEED

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAILWAY   CO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISTRICT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENNIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE  P.U.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.137 AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BETHEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK   PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.115 AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNHOMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
COTTONWOODS

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIFTWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTRY CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTRY CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RV  PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DICK'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERMAN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOWERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIL PROCESSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FACILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MT. STATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPT. OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MT. STATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPT. OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL DISTRICT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANDE VISTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETENTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUDLEY -

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANDERSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNRISE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARA      PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAYBILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLF COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEREN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE DEAF AND BLIND

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE OF MONTANA SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS & CLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST  MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. PETER &

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAUL CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE HIGHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE HIGHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLIANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.M.RUSSELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDDIE'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOSTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LITTLE LEAGUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLF COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOWELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(FORMER)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNTAIN  VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N.O.P.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENTAL  CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAND HILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEACON

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEDICAL FACILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENEFIS  EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHARLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUSSELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDWOOD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCKY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TARGET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MCLAUGHLIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESEARCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MSU COLLEGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TECHNOLOGY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROADWATER BAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDWEST INN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUR LADY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOURDES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
INN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENTAL  PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN MEDICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LONGFELLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODDFELLOWS  PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. FRANCIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EPISCOPAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISTRICT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELAIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSOURI MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIG SKY VILLAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSHORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADA'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLEASANT VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
H I G H L A N D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C E M E T E R Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H I G H L A N D

AutoCAD SHX Text
AYRSHIRE  DAIRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEMORIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLCREST  LAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANDVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLIDAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
INN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCOUTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEALTH  CARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNNYSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNNYSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRYANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL  DISTRICT  NO.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADMINISTRATION  OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAMPLIGHTER  LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEASONAL TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERLOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROADWATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERT. PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON-AGRA FERT. PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBCO

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHWOODS MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHWOODS  MOBILE  HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COBBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MORNINGSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRVIEW  BAPTIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GF

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENEFIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESERT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER  LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER  LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAPTIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASCADE COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASEBALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FACILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MADER'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORDE'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NURSERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANACONDA

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOYAL ORDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE MOOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLESSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCO PROPERTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GT FLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT FLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT FLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT FLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERLOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS & CLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERLOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAPTIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MADISON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWILITE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAL-MART

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINI

AutoCAD SHX Text
MART

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOPPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACAJAWEA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACAJAWEA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY PUBLIC WORKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPLEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
KRTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
KFBB

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/S 3386

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TENNIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.M.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOPKO

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
H & H

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE EDUCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHARLES M. RUSSELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANIMAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLYING J

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAGENSTROM'S  CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPEEDWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. LUKE'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW DAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERLOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MT STATE DEPT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FISH,WILDLIFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
&

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAMPLIGHTER LANE CONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL  MILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STADIUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S  EDGE  TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOPPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MITCHELL POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPT

AutoCAD SHX Text
POLICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIVIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARGARET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITTIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASCADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANNEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGHT & SOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S  EDGE  TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S  EDGE  TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. ANN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATHEDRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASHINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASHINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LARGENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.M. RUSSELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GALLERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUSEUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRESBYTERIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUR SAVIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS MEDICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGNET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDO'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOMEN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRE-RELEASE CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER OF LIFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEMORIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIG STACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNITED   MATERIALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
O'CONNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUNERAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. GERARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOSEVELT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOSEVELT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
URSULINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACADEMY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISHOP'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAMILY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITTIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAVIDSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARMERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNION

AutoCAD SHX Text
OIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMMACULATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEART

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEMORIAL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ART HIGGINS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA   REFINING   COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWAGE TREATMENT PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PACIFIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANSPORTATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPARTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORWEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
&

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECYCLING

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAILRACE  ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
(  STREET  CLOSED  )

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH  SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
KRANZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHOWEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISON

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLIDAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOPPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALBERTSON'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALBERTSON'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETENTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANDVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSOURI    RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
( Nursing Home Facility )

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATERPILLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUTHERAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUTHERAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF GF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTANA SPECIALTY MILL LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURGER

AutoCAD SHX Text
KING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUTHERAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOUSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTHORITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER'S  EDGE  TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWILITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERPRETIVE CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS & CLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MDFW&P

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEADQUARTERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADMINISTRATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS & CLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERPRETIVE CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTATES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE TRAINING CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER TANK SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SIEBEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SOCCER

AutoCAD SHX Text
   PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMETERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLIVET

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAPTIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST         BANK         PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISITOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
   INTERNATIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
 MALTING COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
        LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDWARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW ENERGY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  HOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GALLATIN-JAYCEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPTIMIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY VIEW PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOAH'S ARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINSKI

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYLANDE HEIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH  KIWANIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
      PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MORONY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATATORUIM -

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULTI-SPORTS SOFTBALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPLEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOURIST PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACAJAWEA  ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLE VISTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOMINIUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERALD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADE TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOBILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDWARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAM'S CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNRISE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIANT SPRINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE PICNIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
      AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELK'S  RIVERSIDE  PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATSON COULEE RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAUGHN  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL          AVE  W

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
       BAY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL        AVE   W

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH  AVE     SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEOGH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEOGH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUFFMAN  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUFFMAN AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILES CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUSSELL AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUFFMAN  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMERICAN  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  FARM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST             AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  FARM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  GARDEN  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADOBE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISON LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANTELOPE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COYOTE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRIZZLY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOVE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALCON CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRIZZLY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAY CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGLET CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  FARM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREASURE STATE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREASURE           STATE           DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  ST  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  GARDEN  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD   RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELMAR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENCINO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MADERA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSITA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRENADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARIA        DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELMAR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARMEL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADOBE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARMEL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANITA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALAMO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONITA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADOBE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUENA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FIESTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL PASO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERGUSON DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARLOS DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DURANGO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DERBY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD   RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEARGRASS   DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMAS DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELEA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERGUSON DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALPINE            DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  FARM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH  ST SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARKET  PLACE  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACACIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOVER  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACACIA         WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITTERROOT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN     DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERN  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENBRIAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIG RANCH RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IVY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACACIA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGWOOD  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASPER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENNIAL  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
POPLAR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENNIAL  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERN            DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUCKLEBERRY     DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
45TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND VIEW DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLOWDALE      LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  FARM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
45TH  AVE  SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUCKLEBERRY  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INT - 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASPER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
47TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK  EAGLE  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW          DAM             RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW DAM RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW DAM RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW DAM RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW  DAM  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIANT SPRINGS RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER  DR  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH PARK TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH PARK TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH STAR BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH STAR BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILWAUKEE TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH STAR BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
57TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
48TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
49TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE    N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
42A ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
44TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
45TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
43RD ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
39TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
39A ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
42ND  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
44TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
42ND  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
44TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
57TH  ST  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHWOOD RD  -  228

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHWOOD RD  -  228

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HIGHWAY 89

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HIGHWAY 89

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAVER CREEK LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
YARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COAL MINE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HIGHWAY 89

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
60TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON FLATS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EATON   AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON  FLATS  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHLAND  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHLAND  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELLEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARILLYN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARLIE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOWER  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHARON DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPPER RIVER RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPPER  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3A ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOWER RIVER RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERLOOK DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPPER  RIVER  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSPECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSPECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2B ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2A ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYLANDE  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERDE  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENWOOD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENEFIS CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE PINES WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
47TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
43RD  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
43RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
39TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
39TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNTAIN  VIEW  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHISPERING RIDGE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESERT  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
11TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNNYSIDE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND     AVE    S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD      AVE     S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1A ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER  DRIVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH  ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL           AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL            AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL          AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL            AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL        AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILD ROSE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARBOR WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK        DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAILROAD SQ

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
33RD ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
35TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
37TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
34TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
31ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
30TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
26TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
18TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 1TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER  DR  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
42ND  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
46TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
44TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARK  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
57TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
51ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
53RD ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
54TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
55TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
56TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE     S

AutoCAD SHX Text
50TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAROL  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIANA  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
7TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH  AVE  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
BETH  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAROL  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
40TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
5TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
6TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
36TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELLA  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALICE  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BETH  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAROL  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DORIS  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELLA  AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK QUARRY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE HILL                    LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COBBLESTONE                     LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARN WOOD LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
57TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HIGHWAY 89

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE VIEW DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
17TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIXIE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVER MINE          LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK QUARRY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOOTHILLS  LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
44TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KESTREL CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEREGRINE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
27TH       AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK VIEW DR S

AutoCAD SHX Text
32ND AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED  FOX  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIG  SKY  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK      GARDEN             RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARLEY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
13TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER DR N

AutoCAD SHX Text
PASTA MONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
VETERANS MEMORIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
50TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINI-STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 EVERGREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT CONDOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
9A ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
41ST AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK GARDEN EST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK  EAGLE  RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE     PINES DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
25TH      AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
16TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
28TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
37TH       AVE  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALMSTROM

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIR FORCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND  AVE  N

AutoCAD SHX Text
52ND ST N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALMSTROM  AIR  FORCE  BASE  BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.A.F.B. BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERVIEW   DR  E

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD  ST  NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
19TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8TH AVE SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE VIEW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOBCAT  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
57TH  ST  S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N RIVER RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
10TH  ST  NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
29TH       AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PASTA  PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUCKLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLEASANT PARK MOBILE HOME COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERS SHORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH   AVE   N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9TH AVE N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
City of Great Falls

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF GREAT FALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
27A

AutoCAD SHX Text
26A

AutoCAD SHX Text
     THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIRE FACTORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
37TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
38TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
39TH AVE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12TH ST NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSOURI RIVER



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3193 

 

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF PUD 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT TO THE PROPERTIES LEGALLY 

DESCRIBED AS: LOT 4B AND 4C OF THE AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 4 

OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK MINOR SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN 

THE SW1/4 SE1/4 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 

EAST, P.M.M. CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA AND THE ADJOINING 

RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 24TH AVENUE SOUTH. 

 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

WHEREAS, the property owner, NWGF Development, LLC, has petitioned the City of 

Great Falls to annex the subject properties, consisting of ±20.5 acres, as legally described above; 

and,  

 

WHEREAS, NWGF Development, LLC has petitioned the City of Great Falls to assign a 

zoning classification of PUD Planned Unit Development to the subject properties, upon annexation 

to the City; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on August 

14, 2018, to consider said assignment of zoning of PUD Planned Unit Development district and, 

at the conclusion of said hearing, passed a motion recommending the City Commission assign said 

zoning to the properties legally described as Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended Plat of Lot 4 of the 

Medical Tech Park Minor Subdivision located in the SW1/4 SE 1/4 of Section 18, T20N, R4E, 

P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of assigning said zoning classification to the subject property was 

published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 

would be held on the 16th day of October, 2018, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and decided that the assignment 

of PUD zoning on said properties meets the Basis of Decision requirements in the Official Code 

of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Section 17.16.29.050, and that the said zoning designation be 

made. 

 

 

 

  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 335 of 351                                     Attachment # 4



  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested PUD zoning request meets the criteria 

and guidelines cited in Mont. Code Ann. §76-2-304, and Section 17.16.29.050 of the OCCGF.  

 

 Section 2. That the zoning classification of “PUD Planned Unit Development” be assigned 

to the properties legally described as: Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended Plat of Lot 4 of the Medical 

Tech Park Minor Subdivision located in the SW1/4 SE 1/4 of Section 18, T20N, R4E, P.M.M., 

Cascade County, Montana, subject to the setbacks, and other development standards attached 

hereto as Attachment A, and by this reference made a part hereof, as well as all other applicable 

regulatory codes and ordinances. 

 

 Section 3. Except for the development standards in Attachment A, where the OCCGF 

regulations apply to a specific zoning district, the R-3 Single-family high density district 

regulations shall apply to the properties within the PUD.  

 

           Section 4. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage 

and adoption by the City Commission. 

 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first reading 

September 18, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second reading 

October 16, 2018. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Sara Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 336 of 351                                     Attachment # 4



State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

 

 I, Lisa Kunz, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did post as 

required by law and as prescribed and directed by the City Commission, Ordinance 3193 on the 

Great Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

 

 

   

 Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 337 of 351                                     Attachment # 4



City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 338 of 351                                     Attachment # 5

Exhibit A 

Med Tech Park Subdivision 
PUD ZONING STANDARDS 

Standard PUD R-3 

Residential density - -

Minimum lot size for newly created lots 5,800 7,500 

Minimum lot w idth for newly created CUL-DE-SAC lots 27 60 

Minimum lot width for newly created MUTUAL SELF-HELP lots 52 60 

Minimum lot width for newly created COTTAGE lots 44 60 

Lot proportions for newly created CUL-DE-SAC lots (max depth to width) 4.2 :1 2.5:1 

Lot proportions for newly created MUTUAL SELF-HELP lots (max depth to width) 3.3 :1 2.5:1 

Lot proportions for newly created COTTAGE lots (max depth to width) 2.7 :1 2.5:1 

Maximum building height of principal building 35 feet 35 Feet 

Maximum building height of detached garage 
24 feet but not higher than 24 feet but not higher than 

principal building principal bui lding 

Maximum building height of other accessory structures and buildings 12 feet 12 feet 

Minimum front yard setback 20 feet 20 feet 

10 feet for lots less than 150 

Minimum rear yard set back 10 feet ft in depth; 15 feet for lots 

over 150 feet in depth 

Minimum rear yard set back - CUL-DE-SAC 5 feet 

Accessory structures and buildings rear yard set back 5 feet 2 feet 

Minimum side yard set back 6 feet 6 feet 

Minimum WEST side yard set back - LOT 1 1 foot -

Maximum lot coverage of principal and accessory bui ldings 
CORNER LOT 55%, CORNER LOT 55%, 

OTHER50% OTHER 50% 

BOULEVARD TREES REQUIRED 1 2 

PARKING REQUIREMENT 1 OFF STREET 2 OFF STREET 



LOT 4A1

2.862 ACRES

124,687 SF

LOT 4C

18.999 ACRES

LOT 4B

2.047 ACRES

LOT 4A5

0.708 ACRES

30,858 SF

LOT 4A4

1.222 ACRES

53,215 SF

LOT 4A3

1.077 ACRES

46,925 SF

LOT 4A2

0.806 ACRES

35,092 SF

M
E

D
 T

E
C

H
 P

A
R

K
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 U
N

IT
 D

E
V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
G

R
E

A
T
 F

A
L
L
S

, 
M

T

W
OI

TH
 E

NG
IN

EE
RI

NG
,  

IN
C.

EN
GI

NE
ER

S 
& 

SU
RV

EY
OR

S
W

O
IT

HE
NG

.C
O

M
G

RE
AT

 F
AL

LS
   

   
M

IS
SO

UL
A

40
6-

76
1-

19
55

JOHN H SHEFFELS, ETAL

39 PROSPECT DR

GREAT FALLS, MT 59405-4123

S18, T20 N, R04E

4

EXISTING CONDITIONS
0 150

1" = 150'

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 339 of 351                                     Attachment # 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH ST S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2A, BLOCK 1 AMENDED PLAT OF LOTS 2 & 3 OF BLOCK 1, AND ALL OF BLOCKS 2, 3, & 4, OF THE AMENDED PLAT OF VO-TECH ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3A AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3E AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3F AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3H AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2A AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 1A AND 1B OF THE AMENDED PLAT OF LOTS 1 AND 5 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK MINOR SUBDIVISION, PLAT NO. P-2005-0000018; AND LOT 2 OF A PLAT OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK MINOR SUBDIVISION, PLAT NO. P-2004-0000034

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
20TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 28 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 28 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 25 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 15 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 14 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 14 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 1 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 1 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH ALLEY S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ALLEY S

AutoCAD SHX Text
22ND ALLEY S

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST ALLEY S

AutoCAD SHX Text
24TH AVE S

AutoCAD SHX Text
23RD ST S



6 MED TECH PARK
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT

GREAT FALLS, MT

WOITH ENGINEERING,  INC.
ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS

WOITHENG.COMGREAT FALLS      MISSOULA 406-761-1955

W
e have annotated the City of Great Falls Developm

ent Application checklist, form
 date 5/1/14, to assist you and your staff in evaluating the

subm
ission. The follow

ing is intended to supplem
ent the checklist annotation:

PU
RPO

SE AN
D IN

TEN
T

a)
Project O

verview
 and G

oals

The proposed residential com
m

unity w
ill offer hom

es in a new
 neighborhood adjacent to a developing area of tow

n. The project w
ill be

adjacent to a new
ly im

proved roadw
ay to the south w

ith w
ide sidew

alks for w
alking or jogging and the im

provem
ents w

ill im
prove the

character of the area by adding storm
w

ater control m
easures as w

ell as landscaping to an existing vacant lot.  Existing streets that are
currently broken up w

ill be connected to provide easier routes for circulation. For these reasons and m
ore, the applicant respectfully

requests a PU
D zoning to help further prom

ote flexibility in developm
ent design.

b)
O

verall design concept to include, use categories, them
es, or other significant features

The location of the developm
ent and the topography of the existing property drove the design and layout of the proposed developm

ent. A
connected neighborhood / com

m
unity w

as the prim
ary design concept w

ith a desire to provide tw
o different housing options for

prospective hom
e buyers. Included lot layouts are alley-loaded single fam

ily hom
es w

ith detached garages for the N
W

G
F M

utual Self-help
(M

SH) housing program
, and the other option for hom

es w
ill be Cottage style hom

es w
hich are ranch style w

ith attached garages.

Land U
se Plan

a)
Description of proposed land use categories, include acreages and location if m

ore than one land use category is proposed

The overall concept of the project is to develop streets and infrastructure for residential hom
es.

b)
Brief discussion of the Conceptual Site Plan

The m
ain idea of the layout of the site w

as to im
prove 20th Street S from

 the 24 th Ave S all the w
ay to the north property line w

hich w
ould

provide access from
 the new

ly im
proved 24 th Ave S roadw

ay to the new
 hom

e sites and provide access to the existing residents that w
as a

step up from
 the existing gravel roadw

ay. Cottage hom
e sites w

ill be located along the north end and the m
ost southern and eastern

boundaries w
ith the M

SH concept lots located in the center blocks of the site.

N
atural topography w

as follow
ed as closely as possible and roadw

ays w
ere laid out to connect existing roads together throughout the site.

N
on-m

otorized access around the site w
ill be provided w

ith boulevard sidew
alk on all roads.

Site Conditions and Location

a)
Acreage

The overall site proposed for the developm
ent contains 20.60 acres.

b)
Location in relation to m

ajor intersections or areas of regional significance

The developm
ent is located to the north of 24th Ave South w

hich w
as recently im

proved as a part of an M
DT project. O

ther higher density
residential projects have been constructed or are in the process of being built to the east of the proposed site along w

ith the associated
infrastructure im

provem
ents.

c)
Topography and natural features

The elevations on the site are highest on the south boundary and slope dow
nw

ard as you m
ove to the north w

ith som
e higher areas along

the east side of the property. Drainage on the site conveys storm
w

ater from
 the southeast to the northw

est.

Zoning and Land U
se Com

patibility

a)
Describe existing zoning on and adjacent to site, to include conform

ance w
ith the objectives, policies, design guidelines, and planned

land uses and intensities of all applicable planning areas

The current zoning assigned to the proposed lots are county urban residential w
hich is the sam

e as the zoning assigned to the adjacent lots
to the w

est.

b)
Describe existing land uses on and adjacent to site

The site proposed for developm
ent is currently vacant land used for pasture and is located outside of the G

reat Falls city lim
its. Properties to

the w
est have sim

ilar land use to the subject property but have been developed in the county as hom
e sites. The properties to the east have

been annexed into the City and are being developed into apartm
ent buildings. N

orth of the site a parcel ow
ned by the G

reat Falls College
that is m

ostly vacant w
ith one school building on the far east end adjacent to 23 rd St S.

c)
Describe existing and adjacent character

Developm
ent of the site w

ill be a m
ajor transform

ation of the site from
 a bare land to a new

 and exciting neighborhood and com
m

unity that
w

ill bring new
 life and energy to this side of tow

n in addition to the new
 residential developm

ents that are proposed to be constructed to
the east.

List of U
ses

a)
Perm

itted U
ses

Land uses for this developm
ent w

ill follow
 the perm

itted zoning regulations for R-3 zoning. The prim
ary use w

ill be single fam
ily detached

but any use designated in R-3 w
ill be allow

ed. Also w
e are in discussion w

ith the City of G
reat Falls to sell them

 one of the M
SH lots to use as

a w
ater system

 booster pum
p station so this w

ill be included as a specific conditional use.

Developm
ent Standards

a)
Density and num

ber of dw
elling units

The developm
ent w

ill contain 83 residential parcels, one open space parcel, and another open space parcel for the storm
 w

ater pond.

b)
M

inim
um

 lot w
idth/depth

c)
Building setbacks/build to lines

( See attached PU
D Zoning Standards table

d)
Landscape setbacks

for item
s b - h )

e)
Building separation

f)
Height

g)
Lot coverage

- Assum
ed m

axim
um

 building footprints:
M

SH
30' x 52' 

= 1,560 sf
CO

TTAG
E

30.75' x 42' 
= 1,291.5 sf

- Assum
ed a 25 x 25 detached garage for M

SH hom
es w

ith a 20' w
ide drivew

ay from
 setback to alley (12')

= 865 sf
- Assum

ed a 16' w
ide drivew

ay for Cottages from
 setback to sidew

alk (21')
= 336 sf

Total lot im
pervious coverage area 

M
SH

2,425 sf
CO

TTAG
E

1,628 sf

h)
Division of U

ses
N

/A

Design G
uidelines

The Guidelines for Design Review
 section of the Zoning O

rdinance establishes m
inim

um
 design guidelines for developm

ent. The PU
D N

arrative
is expected to exceed these standards by m

eeting the O
bjectives outlined in the Planned U

nit Developm
ent Basis of Decision (17.16.29.050)

Signs

a)
Location

Road signage w
ill be placed at each intersection closely follow

ing standard City of G
reat Falls standards.

b)
Size

Road signs w
ill closely follow

 City standards for size.

Infrastructure

a)
Circulation System

s (streets, pedestrian circulation, trails, etc.)

Road layout can be seen on the overall site layout plan and w
as configured to follow

 the existing pattern of the surrounding sites. An overall
pedestrian boulevard sidew

alk system
 follow

ing City standards has been incorporated into the site plan.

b)
G

rading and Drainage

The site has been graded to closely follow
 existing topography w

here possible. 20 th Ave S w
ill be low

ered from
 the existing grades to allow

for surface drainage to the northw
est corner of the site w

hich w
ill be the prim

ary m
ethod for runoff collection and conveyance. Runoff w

ill
be directed to street gutters w

hich w
ill convey it to the northw

est to the proposed underground storm
 drain collection system

. This system
w

ill convey flow
s to the proposed detention pond on the north end of 20 th St S.

c)
W

ater and W
astew

ater Services

Public w
ater m

ain w
ill be extended onto the site from

 a new
 system

 that w
ill be installed for the residential developm

ents to the east of the
project as w

ell as being extended from
 an existing system

 previously installed through the north end of the site.

A public w
astew

ater system
 w

ill also be constructed that w
ill collect flow

s and gravity drain them
 to the northw

est into an existing public
sanitary sew

er system
.

Phasing Plan

a)
If no Phasing plan is proposed, state that there is no Phasing Plan

Site construction phasing w
ill be determ

ined by N
eighborW

orks in conjunction w
ith the City of G

reat Falls and w
ill be as show

n on the
Prelim

inary Plat.

C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 340 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 7



1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT/BASIS OF DECISION – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended Plat of Lot 4 of the Medical Tech Park Minor Subdivision located 
in the SW1/4 SE1/4 of Section 18, T20N, R4E, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana and the 
adjoining right-of-way of 24th Avenue South. 
 
PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 

The basis for decision on planned unit developments is listed in Official Code of the City of 

Great Falls § 17.16.29.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 

Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 
criteria: 
 

1. The development project is consistent with the City's growth policy;  

The proposed development is consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the 2013 City 
Growth Policy Update. This project is strongly supported by the Social and Physical portions of 
the Growth Policy, specifically the goals and principles to 1) encourage a diverse, safe, and 
affordable supply of housing in the City; and 2) encourage a balanced mix of land uses throughout 
the City.  

 

Additionally, the development specifically supports the following goals and policies: 
 

Social - Housing  
 
Soc1.4.1 Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing opportunities in the city. 
Soc1.4.2  Expand the supply of residential opportunities including single family homes, apartments, 

manufactured homes, and assisted living facilities.  
Soc1.4.3  Encourage, promote and support adequate and affordable home ownership in the City.  
Soc1.4.6  Encourage a variety of housing types and densities so that residents can choose by price or 

rent, location, and place of work.   

Soc1.4.9 Continue to ensure that the City promotes equal opportunity housing and access to housing 
for all residents and is in compliance with Federal and State requirements aimed at preventing 
housing discrimination. 

Soc1.4.12 When annexing land for residential development, consider the timing, phasing, and 
connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 

 
Physical – Land Use 
 
Phy4.1.4  Foster the development of safe, walkable, neighborhoods with a mix of uses and diversity of 

housing types. 
Phy4.1.7  Encourage vehicular access to lots from alleys so as so maintain the safety and design 

attributes of traditional streets in the City. 
Physical – Zoning 
 
Phy4.2  Implement the City’s land use codes to protect the health, safety and welfare of its residents. 
Phy4.2.5      Promote orderly development and the rational extension of infrastructure and City services. 
 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 341 of 351                                     Attachment # 8



2 
 

Physical - Efficient Infrastructure 
 
Phy4.3  Optimize the efficiency and use of the City’s public facilities and utilities. 
Phy4.3.2     Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, where needed, to support 

development. 
 
Physical – Transportation and Mobility 
 
Phy4.4  Increase mobility and the access of citizens to transportation alternatives throughout the City. 
Phy4.4.4  Create a built environment that promotes easy access to safe walking, biking and other 

opportunities for physical activity. 

 

The Growth Policy identifies that the City needs balanced, compatible growth, while at the same 
time sets the task to review the zoning districts that are proposed for each development.  As 
stated in the agenda report, a Planned Unit Development (PUD) district is a special type of zoning 
district that is proposed by the developer to account for a desired mix of uses. Even though each 
district is unique and has its own set of development standards, it is still reviewed for 
compatibility with the goals and principles of the growth policy. 
 

2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any;  

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 
Plans for any of the Councils within the City. The subject properties are located in Neighborhood 
Council #5. The applicant presented the project at Neighborhood Council #5 on August 20, 2018. 
Staff also attended the meeting. The Council was concerned with the traffic increase in the area 
as well as the small lot sizes that would be allowed under the PUD zoning request. The Council 
voted to not take action on the item. 

 

3. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be 

detrimental to, or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 

Any development proposed to be annexed and developed is required to be reviewed for how the 
development will impact the public health, safety and general welfare. It is not anticipated that 
the proposed PUD will have any negative impact. Public health issues have been addressed 
through the provision of City utilities. To an extent, public safety will be enhanced on the subject 
properties as it is currently located in the rural county fire district where emergency services are 
not as robust as is typically found in an urban area. That being said, the first phase of the 
development will provide multiple points of public access to the development for these services, 
but since the subject properties are on the southern periphery of the City limits, response times 
are beyond what is considered ideal in the urban context. In light of that, the City will need to be 
aware of budgeting priorities and consider careful long-range planning to ensure proper levels of 
service as the community continues to grow. 

 

4. The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 

in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 

impair property values within the neighborhood; 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 342 of 351                                     Attachment # 8



3 
 

The proposed PUD provide two types of housing types, the Mutual Self-help homes and single-
family Cottage homes, both of which have been outlined in the agenda report. The project will 
increase density in the area but will provide homes in an area that is currently an expanding 
residential area. The proposal will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 
the immediate vicinity, nor substantially diminish and impair property values in the 
neighborhood. New infrastructure, roadways and alleys, sidewalks, and open space will be 
constructed and provided in this area with compatibly scaled homes which will improve the 
vacant property.  
 

5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

The proposed PUD is located in an area that is proposed to expand the City limits in an area with 
proposed multi-family residential to the east, as well as an existing residential subdivision in the 
county to the west. Therefore, the proposed PUD is not anticipated to impede on the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted.  
 

6. The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired 

character of the neighborhood; 

The proposed PUD development is proposed in area that will extend the City limit line.  The 
surrounding structures are currently single-family homes in the county and vacant land.  With 
the proposal of this development and the recent multi-family development proposed to the east 
a new neighborhood will be created that is compatible with desired character of the 
neighborhoods that exist throughout the City. 

 

7. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are 

being provided;   
The Owner has worked with the various City departments for the proposal of all City services. 
The City Public Works Department has verified that the capacity is adequate to provide these 
services. A full description of the various public services and improvements that will be provided 
to the development has been outlined in the agenda report as well as in the attached 
Improvement Agreement.   

 

8. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; 

The proposed improvements for all proposed roads in the development are consistent with City 
transportation planning documents. A full traffic analysis has been included in the agenda report. 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 343 of 351                                     Attachment # 8



15
.7

1
'

5
2

.2
1

'

56.32' 11.02'

C

L
O

T
 1

4

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

3
6

.1
7

'
3

7
.1

8
'

6
9.71'

3
4

.2
9

'

L
O

T
 8

4

3
4

,9
3

1
 S

F

0
.8

0
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 9

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 1

0

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 1

1

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 1

2

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 1

3

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

7
1

.2
7

'

1
1

1
.7

7
'

77.34'

1
1

5
.0

4
'

6
9

.0
6

'

8
9

.3
7

'

71.8
4'

1
1

1
.7

7
'

77.34'

1
1

5
.0

4
'

6
9

.0
6

'

8
9

.3
7

'

5
5

.0
9

'
5

4
.3

1
'

5
4

.0
5

'
5

3
.7

8
'

5
3

.5
3

'
5

3
.2

7
'

5
3

.0
2

'
5

2
.7

7
'

5
2

.5
3

'
5

2
.2

9
'

66.44'72.04'

C

L
O

T
 7

2

6
,2

7
5

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

70.34'36.32'

M

L
O

T
 8

1

5
,9

4
8

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

0

6
,2

1
1

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

9

6
,0

4
3

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

CC

L
O

T
 7

8

6
,0

4
3

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

7

6
,0

4
3

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

6

6
,6

0
8

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

5

6
,0

0
8

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

4

6
,1

7
7

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

3

6
,1

9
6

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 7

1

6
,3

7
0

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

117.99'27.94'

9
4

.2
3

'7
0

.5
9

'

93.34'

93.73'

7
0

.1
5

'

9
5

.8
4

'

M

L
O

T
 8

3

5
,9

4
8

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 8

2

5
,9

4
8

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 8

0

5
,9

4
8

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

64.63'5.72'61.22'8.73'

8
4

.8
0

'

8
5

.2
6

'

8
4

.8
0

'

8
5

.2
6

'

M

L
O

T
 2

2

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

3

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 1

9

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

0

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

1

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 1

7

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 1

8

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

130.06'

120.38'

121.17'

5
1

.9
3

'

5
3

.1
4

'
5

3
.8

9
'

5
2

.4
2

'

5
4

.6
6

'

123.22'

3
9

.1
0

'

5
5

.4
8

'
5

5
.4

7
'

5
6

.0
2

'
2

4
.2

2
'

128.33'

110.35'

126.58'

124.80'

123.00'

121.17'

130.06'

128.33'

126.58'

124.80'

123.00'

M

L
O

T
 1

5

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 1

6

6
,7

6
5

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

123.22'

120.38'

M

L
O

T
 3

3

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

4

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

5

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

6

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

7

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

8

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

9

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

0

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

1

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

2

6
,6

2
4

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

133.73'

5
0

.2
7

'

5
0

.8
4

'
5

1
.1

3
'

5
1

.4
3

'

5
2

.3
9

'

5
0

.5
6

'

5
1

.7
3

'

4
9

.6
0

'

5
0

.0
0

'

4
9

.7
2

'

133.01'

132.28'

131.55'

130.81'

130.07'

129.33'

128.58'

127.82'

133.73'

133.01'

132.28'

131.55'

130.81'

130.07'

129.33'

128.58'

127.82'

M

L
O

T
 4

4

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

4

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

5

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

6

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

7

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

8

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

9

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 4

0

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 4

1

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 4

2

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 4

3

6
,9

7
8

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

5
2

.1
6

'
5

2
.2

3
'

5
2

.4
7

'
5

2
.7

2
'

5
2

.9
7

'
5

3
.2

3
'

5
3

.4
9

'
5

3
.7

5
'

5
4

.0
2

'
5

4
.2

9
'

5
5

.6
4

'

133.95'

133.33'

132.70'

132.08'

131.45'

130.81'

130.18'

129.54'

128.90'

128.25'

133.95'

133.33'

132.70'

132.08'

131.45'

130.81'

130.18'

129.54'

128.90'

128.25'

M

L
O

T
 5

1

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 6

1

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 6

0

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

9

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

8

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

7

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

6

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

5

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

4

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

3

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 5

2

6
,9

8
9

 S
F

0
.1

6
 A

C

134.00'

133.39'

132.78'

132.16'

131.54'

130.92'

130.30'

129.67'

129.04'

128.40'

134.00'

133.39'

132.78'

132.16'

131.54'

130.92'

130.30'

129.67'

129.04'

128.40'

C

L
O

T
 6

2

6
,2

1
0

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

3

6
,2

1
0

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

4

6
,2

1
0

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

5

6
,5

2
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

6

6
,2

0
9

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

7

6
,4

4
6

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

8

6
,2

1
1

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

C

L
O

T
 6

9

6
,2

1
1

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

9
5

.8
6

'

7
0

.4
1

'1
1

0
.5

1
'

97.29'

95.6
8'

7
0

.0
5

'

9
4

.1
7

'

9
5

.8
6

'

7
0

.4
1

'1
1

0
.5

1
'

97.29'

95.6
8'

27.94'

7
0

.0
5

'

9
4

.1
7

'

M

L
O

T
 5

6
,4

4
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 1

6
,4

4
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 2

6
,4

4
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 3

6
,4

4
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 4

6
,4

4
1

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

M

L
O

T
 6

6
,4

4
8

 S
F

0
.1

5
 A

C

141.33'

58.68' 7.79'

142.41'

143.48'

144.54'

145.59'

141.33'

142.41'

143.48'

144.54'

145.59'

4
4

.2
1

'

4
4

.4
8

'

C

L
O

T
 7

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

3
2

.9
2

'

8
9

.6
6

'

C

L
O

T
 8

5
,8

8
2

 S
F

0
.1

4
 A

C

L
O

T
 8

5

2
5

,1
9

1
 S

F

0
.5

8
 A

C

1
2

0
.0

0
'

56.60'

3
9

.9
1

'

5
4

.7
1

'
5

2
.0

4
'

98.43'

99.43'90.65'65.77'

1
8

.4
3

'

15
.7

8
'

1
0

3
.9

5
'

1
0

4
.3

8
'

7
9

.2
6

'

1
0

0
.8

2
'

37.9
3'

1
0

2
.7

4
'

340.33'

1
0

2
.7

5
'

1
6

0
.0

0
'

1
3

.4
3

'

8.61'

7
9

.2
6

'

2
3

.2
9

'
3

3
.7

8
'

5
5

.6
0

'

5
4

.7
8

'

5
4

.0
0

'

5
3

.2
5

'

5
2

.5
4

'

4
1

.1
9

'

84.07'

56.60'56.60'56.60'56.60'

56.60'56.60'56.60'46.60'

5
4

.1
0

'

56.62'

19.78'

8
6

.5
7

'
8

3
.4

5
'

15.7
1

'

56.44'30.68'

5
2

.5
8

'4
2

.30'

2
7

.5
5

'

3
7

.
5

7
'

2
7

.5
5

'

4
3.7

6'
50

.81'

32.12' 55.00'

1
5

.7
1'

7
6

.4
6

'

15.8

2
'

54.89'69.45'118.62'31.28'

8
.3

4
'

6
4

.3
0

'
1

0
1

.4
8

'
7

6
.4

8
'

7
4

.0
7

'
1

0
1

.0
6

'
7

5
.2

3
'

8
3

.8
8

'

70.73' 70.34' 69.96' 59.36'

1
5

.6

5'

34.40'

7
5

.7
8

'
8

3
.4

5
'

15.7
1

'

54.63'

4
9

.5
5

'

4
9

.5
5'42.89'

2
9

.0
5

'

3
8

.1
8

'

2
7

.0
2

'

4
2.84'

1
0

8
.5

6
'

1
1

2
.7

6
'

5
2

.5
8

'

30.68' 56.44'

8
4

.3
4

'
8

4
.3

4
'

3
.
0

7
'

16.5

3
'

120.92'

5
1

.1
0

'
5

1
.4

0
'

5
1

.7
0

'
5

1
.6

5
'

127.04'

124.80'

4
9

.6
9

'
4

9
.9

7
'

5
0

.2
4

'
5

0
.5

2
'

15
.3

6
'

5
0

.8
1

'

4
6

.2
5

'

2
7

.1
9

'
5

4
.3

0
'

5
4

.0
3

'
5

3
.7

7
'

5
3

.5
0

'
5

3
.2

5
'

5
2

.9
9

'
5

2
.7

4
'

5
2

.4
9

'
5

2
.2

5
'

4
1

.8
3

'

16.0

5
'

124.22'124.72'

15
.6

0
'

4
2

.3
1

'
5

2
.2

8
'

5
2

.5
2

'
5

2
.7

6
'

5
3

.0
1

'
5

3
.2

6
'

5
3

.5
2

'
5

3
.7

7
'

5
4

.0
4

'
5

4
.3

0
'

4
4

.3
5

'
1

5
.7

6
' 117.70'

1
5

.7
1'

1
1

4
.5

9
'

1
1

4
.5

9
'

3
6

.8
3

'
4

5
.5

6
'

4
5

.2
2

'
4

4
.8

8
'

4
4

.5
5

'
4

4
.2

8
'

7
8

.7
9

'

1
6

.4

8
'

62.56'

4
4

.8
1

'

4
5

.1
4

'

4
5

.4
8

'

4
5

.9
6

'

131.04'

14.8

8
'

92.85'

L
O

T
 6

5
4

7
,4

5
3

 S
F

0
.1

7
 A

C

2
6

9
.5

8
'

85.42'

L
O

T
 6

5
5

7
,3

3
7

 S
F

0
.1

7
 A

C

L
O

T
 6

5
6

7
,3

5
8

 S
F

0
.1

7
 A

C

L
O

T
 6

5
7

7
,3

5
8

 S
F

0
.1

7
 A

C

L
O

T
 6

5
8

7
,3

5
8

 S
F

0
.1

7
 A

C

L
O

T
 6

5
9

9
,1

9
4

 S
F

0
.2

1
 A

C

1
3

7
.8

7
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
2

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

37.9
3'

1
1

1
.4

6
'

1
3

7
.8

7
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

1
3

0
.0

0
'

C

C

E
F

E
F

E
F

E
F

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

T
T

T

W

W

W

XGXGXGXGXGXGXGXGXGXG

XGXG

XG
XG

XG
XGXGXGXG

XG
XG

XG

XG

XG

XGXGXGXG

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

X
G

XGXGXGXGXGXGXG

XG

XGXG

XO

X
O

X
O

X
O

XO XO XO XO

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

XSXSXSXSXSXS

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
U

X
U

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

X
S

XO XO XO XO XO

S
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
D

X
U

X
U

X
U

X
U

X
U

X
U

X
U

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
F

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

XWXWXWXWXWXW

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

X
W

XDXDXDXDXDXD

X
W

X
S

XWXWXWXWXWXWXWXWXWXW

S S S S S S S S S S

S
S

S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S S S S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S S S

S S S

S SS

XS XS XS XS XS XS XS XS

F
H

F
H

F
H

FH

FH

WWWWWWWWWWWW

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

WWWW

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

WWWW

W W W

WWW

WWW

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

L
O

T
 
4
A

5

0
.
7
0
8
 
A

C
R

E
S

3
0
,
8
5
8
 
S

F

L
O

T
 
4
A

4

1
.
2
2
2
 
A

C
R

E
S

5
3
,
2
1
5
 
S

F

X
G

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 G
A

S

X
S

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
A

N
IT

A
R

Y
 S

E
W

E
R

X
W

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 W
A

T
E

R

X
O

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 O
V

E
R

H
E

A
D

 P
O

W
E

R
 L

IN
E

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
S

X
U

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 U
N

D
E

R
G

R
O

U
N

D
 P

O
W

E
R

 L
IN

E

X
D

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
T

O
R

M
 D

R
A

IN

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

 L
IN

E
S

X
F

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 F
IB

E
R

 C
A

B
L

E

S
S

S
A

N
IT

A
R

Y
 S

E
W

E
R

W
W

W
A

T
E

R
 M

A
IN

S
D

S
D

S
T

O
R

M
 D

R
A

IN

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
S

0
8

0

1
"

 =
 8

0
'

Know what's

R

L
E

G
E

N
D

S
E

W
E

R
 M

A
IN

S
E

E
  S

H
E

E
T

 C
X

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
 B

Y

H
O

M
E

 O
W

N
E

R
, T

Y
P

1
7

.5
'

D
E

T
E

N
T

IO
N

P
O

N
D

3
5

'

6
0

'

1
7

.5
'

3
5

'

6
0

'

1
7

.5
'

3
5

'

8
0

'

1
7

.5
'

3
5

'

6
0

'

1
7

.5
'

3
5

'

6
0

'

2
0

'

2
0

'

2
0

'

2
1

.4
'

2
0

'

2
0

'

W
A

T
E

R
 M

A
IN

S
E

E
  S

H
E

E
T

 C
X

R
5

5
'

R
4

2
.5

'

2
4

T
H

 A
V

E
 S

2
4

T
H

 A
L

L
E

Y
 S

2
3

R
D

 A
V

E
 S

2
3

R
D

 A
L

L
E

Y
 S

2
2

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

2
2

N
D

 A
L

L
E

Y
 S

2
1

S
T

 A
V

E
 S

2
1

S
T

 A
L

L
E

Y
 S

2
1

S
T

 A
V

E
 S

2
3

R
D

 A
V

E
 S

AREY CT

22ND ST S

20TH ST S
20TH ST S

 O
P

E
N

S
P

A
C

E

2
1

S
T

 A
V

E
 S

2
2

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

GEORGE CT

N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

NELSON CT

R
5

5
'

R
4

2
.5

'

1
7

.5
'

3
5

'

6
0

'

2
0

'

3
5

'
3

5
'

D
E

M
O

 E
X

IS
T

IN
G

A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

 A
N

D

R
E

B
U

IL
D

3
5

'

4
0

'

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

O
V

E
R

H
E

A
D

 P
O

W
E

R

P
O

L
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

R
5

5
'

R
4

2
.5

'

C
IT

Y

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

C
L

E
A

R
 V

IS
IO

N

T
R

IA
N

G
L

E

7

MED TECH PARK SUBDIVISION

GREAT FALLS, MONTANA

DESCRIPTION DATE JOB #:

FB:

DRAWN:

DESIGN:

QA:

DATE:

1808

GPS

DW

RB

RB

7/3/2018

P:\1808 - MED TECH PARK SUBDIVISION\DWG\SHEETS\1808 - MTP - C2 - SITE PLAN.DWG PLOTTED BY:RYAN BUFFINGTON ON Aug/09/2018

COPYRIGHT © WOITH ENGINEERING, INC., 2016

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN

#

C
IT

Y

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

8
"

1
5

"

8
"

1
6

"1
5

"

8
"

8
"

8
"

8
"

8
"

8
"

8
"

1
6

"1
5

"

8
"

1
5

"

1
6

"

8
"

8
"

S
T

O
R

M
 D

R
A

IN

S
E

E
  S

H
E

E
T

 C
X

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

W
A

T
E

R
 M

A
IN

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

S
E

W
E

R
 M

A
IN

M

L
O

T
 0

0
0

0
 S

F

0
.0

0
 A

C

M
U

T
U

A
L

 S
E

L
F

 H
E

L
P

 L
O

T
 (

5
1

)

C

L
O

T
 0

0
0

0
 S

F

0
.0

0
 A

C

C
O

T
T

A
G

E
 L

O
T

 (
3

2
)

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

G
A

S
 M

A
IN

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

S
T

O
R

M

D
R

A
IN

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

G
A

S
 M

A
IN

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

,

W
A

T
E

R
 M

A
IN

,

A
N

D
 S

E
W

E
R

 M
A

IN

T
O

 B
E

 B
U

IL
T

 W
IT

H

R
O

C
K

C
R

E
S

S

C
O

M
M

O
N

S

P
O

T
E

N
T

IA
L

L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
 F

O
R

C
IT

Y
 B

O
O

S
T

E
R

P
U

M
P

 S
T

A
T

IO
N

C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 344 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 9

C') 
I» --C" 
CD 
o' C" 
~ ~ 
'< 0 
g :E 
0.. cp· 

,-, - '! 1 
--,_ -, 7:-=-) 7(") 

-,I ~ -;, - l ::-.-:::::: , -. r - - - ~ 
'7 ::-, L 

1
,-- "... ~ ' ~ )> Ji 7] -"' U' L_ , __ , - ,_) • . • ,·, ( ,, 7., -< - --< 

I- --I __,.J _ J_> LI• 1~1 j, ,7 __ I )..., , ,..: 

J.> ~/l 7 ( ~ " ---<;, 7-: _ ;>':: (f'. I :::: ,,. ·' ----'· 
_Cl--< ~~ ;JU)___,. C-) 'v'J -' ,--,:.., I ~fl.-~ I 
/\_) r, ----' ;...:::: j~, - ' '---) ------" (-A I ':." ';1 I - L/' ___,. 
')li.

1 

'-) ({' 11 /A U'- I"-' I '•r-~ 
'.<, ~ i!J , I '', u; I - ," ~ 1 n !_ --'-, l '

1
; c' u,,_.,,i -u,___, T,:'0 '7'~r._J r-,J,, I O~· 

7l i-' ~; ,', C U · I ',, C ;-) -~ - ':i 7) - c -;:: c:, 
I ' • ,--- . ' 7J . () - V - u:: I I - -
C) ~) _'-' ' ) - - -~ - - ':"J:1 - ~ r- I u --:i I 

- 1 u - ....:::::. r:> ~ w Tl, 1 '-, ~-; ~ ,-
1 

::c:, s S2 
, n - u 1

•
1 1 •-- -z-c_, -- -':-:- 1 , ,,-,, 

~--- TT1 ·-"...:_ =~1 ::1 c; J> ~ c:::: -< ~ c, /u ~'; c ; I ~ 7 ;;:; 
r--_, ~ C' ---- -- ,:::.1 7J 'I :-) -~ --;, F A /_ A -I 
'::::7~1.c=:, Al,!~ A7A ~ I ~ 
A 7 A >, L, _ ___, _ :-· ..L 

;' I ,,0 

'I 

rs 
----C) ~ './') 
.-·J I,,:: 
0 v, 
,,, 
~:1 :./J_ 
I (_ r,.~ 
,,-_; l, ,- ~. 

'---1 7J >· 
I 

- [I' ru 
-;__; s:: :-
:..,_1 11 C) 
A ... < C 

---,;,c 

---,~ 
C 

I I 

I I 

I 
I 
I 
I . 

7-- () 

,: ' ,~ 
r-, U, 

(j './) 
: ') 
::..., li", 

:':"l ~ CJ 
( ) _::_: .. 
-----j ,_, 

- ,J 
n i7 I 

_):;. -s: 0 
)v 1_:,, ~) 
A/_::>, 

" 0 ::) 

I l'~l~l~~fJF --- J 1 ,. - //~{r ./L / - ~ k" '~ ~--¼ ·· - :~,'.'- .~ ~ ~ ~1 ,. i:i:: 
Yi " \_ / ,-. -,._ I - .,- . - =t : ~· :<\ ,rf0i / ...I< 11C 

- --- - I ----'t, - -,--- / -,"' \ i i // /;.. - i ; )"" I If ---------- r< 1-1 --; ·1·-·1 1 r , ,. __ · - -- "'7 11 ,,_ - 1 1 1 -. ,. ' ' 1 1-f ~ - - - - - - , ,. - - ' 
1
f-

1 
-k-F1

1 
-. r ,. 1 1 .,-.•• -+ t-1-, '!;;'r - ' · " · II I' ' I I _-

1 
I I _ / 

1 
le! r, : 

I · 1 ' I I · I . !1 I I I . I I I ,1, L_, t! 

I '\. I I I ' I I' 1 I I I I I I' I : : !1 • - - - - - ----;---, ; I i /1 1 ' - 11 1 l "' i : I I I L-- -\- ~ ,_ - - - - - -, 1 I I ' -- ------, I I-- - - - - - ----; ! : ; !1 • I : : 11 

I 11 11 1 ', I - --- 111' 11 1 , I /1: ·1' ii ; :i' --- ; 1 1 /1' : -.I'• 
L ~~ ' I 1I ,1L ·1,1 1,1 I 1 : 11 : ·· 1 
:________ ' : , / I ___ ___J ~--------, I I I I ------, I I ----- • 1;1 : /ii ' i ~ I,.;_ 

I I 2=~~~ I' I / I I I, I I !; :! ---- i I I 
1 +- ~ ,----, 1 / , L /', ;1 1 i , 

I I 11 '1 . •1· I I ' 1 ' I r----------, I ----- : !' I i ,/ I i : :i! I ·1•.·_· 
1/ I '· ____ ____J 1---------, ' I I I I I I , I I I -----1 I ···1 

:; : :/ L ---- - - ~~ ' I I I I I I I' I I /1 I 1' ; ! I .' ; ' - - - - I i : .•·· 
11 i i1 i =r ,, --.. ' ' / - - -- - -~ i II i I - i '° ::1· 

:: I :: : I' /, : -----7' II L.- ------ ' • /I I 11I • 11: - ------- ' !i ~I ----------;: I - ·.-- I ·.•· 
i! i i/ ' , : I I I I ' 11 ' I I I /i' ! I ii ' t 1 ·1 

:: :: i \ , L __ ----, : ' 4 / : - - - - - ----, ! >--- _ _ _ _ _ - /1 ! ! ! ;1 ,-- _ _ _ _ " -, 

I ,, 
/I ii 

ii'i' I ii i 

I 11 1: , 1 ~-------r--- ----7 1 1 '------ ,-------rr-

1

' , ~ -- I 1
1
, i' I 1:1 1 , 

' r '41 ' , ' i 'I I , , :I: Jj/ +i · ------,//' 1:: : ,:1· : ' / I /, 

' /I Ii ,, / 
/I 

1,1 
/I 

,1 
I /1 

/I I 

i I' ·,, ~~ , -~ ----, ,----- ,, , 1 I I r------- r : :,1 -- _______._ ,, I 

,~ r= =•< ~ )! / / I I / / / ----~ /1 I 1I : ,11 , .. [ I -- /'/ '\~_.' -- i ' _·' [41 ' _J I ~--- - II I I i I I I ~----- ' It :"•, __ --
,, 
/I 
1/ 

/1 

/I 

I ,, I 
/1, 

I /I', 1
. 

111, 

: 11 I 

- ( ~ -_ _ ~ - - - - - I ' I I : 1 , 1/ j ) I I ! , ;3 
\\ oi:- - _.,;;;; - _ -~ , I I I 1 · 11 · 7§-.~=~n 

, -

; 1/ 
I I ----i 11 "C;:~r\ ",, I I 

I I 11 I 1; L_____ - 1~
1 

11 :
1 

~-----,: !___ ---- I :I I ' 

I ' , I ---,, ------1 r- I I I I I --- . \ I 

I I l I I r--------~ ~---- ---,.,••,11 I 11 I I ' I I 

I I I I ,'~ ----rs ' ! ~ __: I I I ,I ' - ;:_ I I 

r I/ I I C-- ..,:, -t-----1 =,:/ J 7 ) C c, ;,: I' -, U -i I I 

/ ! I / ?7'',,' 7_ ,. I J- -- ;--_- j 
' - --- ._) ' - - ' ---, I ' ---, :<> I 

z ---,!-" ('i(J1_ 
---;:iT .c:::Tr-ri .

1 

I 1 1 I I ~! !. ' I -

1 

! i i i i ! I: I I I v~ 11 

II I I L --1

- - ! :L .L .. l .. J .. J .. ,: I Cc! I ' 1 '~
1 

I 

I I : I I_ - - - I' I "',, , c', I I ,_1/' I I I 0 1 LN ric-_; 
I '. ,_,_ 0-----, 

I 

I II I 
I I '7 

I I , -'---w 
I I 

\ : I r=-=--T I I 11 I ~I - I I I 

! 

1

/ ' 111 I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

I ! 

\\v/7__ WOITH ENGINEERING, INC. 
w- ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS 

GREAT FALLS • MISSOULA• WOITliENG.COM • 406-761-1955 

I I 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3A AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3E AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3F AMENDED PLAT OF LOT 3 OF THE MEDICAL TECH PARK ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 28 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 28 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 25 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 15 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 14 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 14 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 11-20, BLOCK 1 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 1 FINLAY'S SUPPLEMENT TO PROSPECT PARK



MED TECH PARK
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT

GREAT FALLS, MT

WOITH ENGINEERING,  INC.
ENGINEERS & SURVEYORS

WOITHENG.COMGREAT FALLS      MISSOULA 406-761-1955

8

L
O

T
 D

E
SIG

N
 -

M
U

T
U

A
L

 SE
L

F H
E

L
P (M

SH
)

(A
L

L
E

Y
 L

O
A

D
E

D
)2
0

' M
IN

F
R

O
N

T
 Y

A
R

D

6
' M

IN

S
ID

E

Y
A

R
D

A
L

L
E

Y

L
O

C
A

L
 R

O
A

D

F
U

T
U

R
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
 (

 B
Y

 O
W

N
E

R
 )

B
O

U
L

E
V

A
R

D

L
A

R
G

E
S

T

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

F
O

O
T

P
R

IN
T

3
0

' x
 5

2
'

1
,5

6
0

 S
F

D
E

P
T

H
1

2
0

' M
IN

, 1
3

5
' M

A
X

F
R

O
N

T
 Y

A
R

D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
2

0
' M

IN

S
ID

E
 Y

A
R

D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
6

' M
IN

R
E

A
R

 Y
A

R
D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
1

0
' M

IN

P
O

R
C

H
E

S
M

A
Y

 E
X

T
E

N
D

 IN
T

O
 T

H
E

 F
R

O
N

T

Y
A

R
D

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K
, N

O
 M

O
R

E
 T

H
A

N

9
', T

O
T

A
L

 A
R

E
A

 N
O

T
 T

O
 B

E
 M

O
R

E

T
H

A
N

 6
0

%
 O

F
 H

O
U

S
E

 C
O

V
E

R
A

G
E

.

G
A

R
A

G
E

R
E

A
R

 (
A

L
L

E
Y

)

T
h

e
 M

S
H

 A
l

l
e

y
 L

o
a

d
e

d
 H

o
m

e
s

 w
il

l
 b

e
 b

u
il

t
 b

y
 N

W
G

F

w
it

h
 a

s
s

is
t

a
n

c
e

 b
y

 t
h

e
 p

r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 h

o
m

e
o

w
n

e
r

. L
o

c
a

t
e

d
 in

t
h

e
 in

t
e

r
io

r
 b

l
o

c
k

s
 o

f
 t

h
e

 d
e

v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
, t

h
e

s
e

a
f

f
o

r
d

a
b

l
e

 h
o

m
e

s
 w

il
l

 c
o

n
s

is
t

 o
f

 a
n

 a
s

s
o

r
t

m
e

n
t

 o
f

f
l

o
o

r
 p

l
a

n
s

 d
e

v
e

l
o

p
e

d
 b

y
 N

W
G

F
 a

n
d

 w
il

l
 b

e
 a

l
l

e
y

l
o

a
d

e
d

 w
it

h
 d

e
t

a
c

h
e

d
 g

a
r

a
g

e
s

 f
a

c
in

g
 p

r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 a

l
l

e
y

s
.

G
A

R
A

G
E

2
5

' x
 2

5
'

6
2

5
 S

F

ALLEY

1
0

' M
IN

R
E

A
R

Y
A

R
D

L
O

T
 D

E
SIG

N
 -

M
U

T
U

A
L

 SE
L

F H
E

L
P (M

SH
)

(N
O

 A
L

L
E

Y
)

2
0

' M
IN

F
R

O
N

T
 Y

A
R

D

6
' M

IN

S
ID

E

Y
A

R
D

L
O

C
A

L
 R

O
A

D

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
 (

 B
Y

 O
W

N
E

R
 )

B
O

U
L

E
V

A
R

D

L
A

R
G

E
S

T

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

F
O

O
T

P
R

IN
T

3
0

' x
 5

2
'

1
,5

6
0

 S
F

D
E

P
T

H
1

4
1

' m
in

, 1
4

6
' m

a
x

F
R

O
N

T
 Y

A
R

D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
2

0
' m

in

S
ID

E
 Y

A
R

D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
6

' m
in

R
E

A
R

 Y
A

R
D

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
1

0
' M

IN

P
O

R
C

H
E

S
M

A
Y

 E
X

T
E

N
D

 IN
T

O
 T

H
E

 F
R

O
N

T

Y
A

R
D

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K
, N

O
 M

O
R

E
 T

H
A

N

9
', T

O
T

A
L

 A
R

E
A

 N
O

T
 T

O
 B

E
 M

O
R

E

T
H

A
N

 6
0

%
 O

F
 H

O
U

S
E

 C
O

V
E

R
A

G
E

.

G
A

R
A

G
E

F
R

O
N

T
 (

A
T

T
A

C
H

E
D

)

T
h

e
s

e
 M

S
H

 H
o

m
e

s
 w

il
l

 b
e

 b
u

il
t

 b
y

 N
W

G
F

 w
it

h
 a

s
s

is
t

a
n

c
e

b
y

 t
h

e
 p

r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 h

o
m

e
o

w
n

e
r

. L
o

c
a

t
e

d
 o

n
 t

h
e

 e
x

t
e

r
io

r

b
l

o
c

k
s

 o
f

 t
h

e
 d

e
v

e
l

o
p

m
e

n
t

, t
h

e
s

e
 a

f
f

o
r

d
a

b
l

e
 h

o
m

e
s

w
il

l
 c

o
n

s
is

t
 o

f
 a

 c
o

u
p

l
e

 o
f

 s
p

e
c

if
ic

 f
l

o
o

r
 p

l
a

n
s

d
e

v
e

l
o

p
e

d
 b

y
 N

W
G

F
 a

n
d

 w
il

l
 b

e
 f

r
o

n
t

 l
o

a
d

e
d

 w
it

h

a
t

t
a

c
h

e
d

 g
a

r
a

g
e

s
 f

a
c

in
g

 p
r

o
p

o
s

e
d

 l
o

c
a

l
 r

o
a

d
w

a
y

s
.

1
0

' M
IN

R
E

A
R

Y
A

R
D

C
ity C

om
m

ission M
eeting - Septem

ber 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 345 of 351                                     
A

ttachm
ent # 10



9

M
E

D
 T

E
C

H
 P

A
R

K
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 U
N

IT
 D

E
V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
G

R
E

A
T
 F

A
L
L
S

, 
M

T

W
OI

TH
 E

NG
IN

EE
RI

NG
,  

IN
C.

EN
GI

NE
ER

S 
& 

SU
RV

EY
OR

S
W

O
IT

HE
NG

.C
O

M
G

RE
AT

 F
AL

LS
   

   
M

IS
SO

UL
A

40
6-

76
1-

19
55

20' MIN

FRONT YARD

10' MIN

REAR

YARD

6' MIN

SIDE

YARD

LOCAL ROAD

FUTURE SIDEWALK ( BY OWNER )

BOULEVARD

BUILDING

FOOTPRINT

30.75' x 42'

1,291.5 SF

LOCAL ROAD

L
O

C
A

L
 R

O
A

D

LOT DESIGN -
COTTAGE

DEPTH 132' min, 162' max

FRONT YARD

SETBACK 20' min

SIDE YARD

SETBACK 6' min

REAR YARD

SETBACK 10' min

PORCHES MAY EXTEND INTO THE FRONT

YARD SETBACK, NO MORE THAN 9',

TOTAL AREA NOT TO BE MORE

THAN 60% OF HOUSE COVERAGE.

GARAGE FRONT (SINGLE CAR)

The Cottage Homes will be built by NWGF. Located in

the north, south, and east blocks of the

development, these affordable homes will consist of

a standard of floor plan developed by NWGF and

will have single car garages  facing the street.

20' MIN

FRONT YARD
5' MIN

REAR

YARD

6' MIN

SIDE

YARD

CUL-DE-SAC

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

B
O

U
L

E
V

A
R

D

BUILDING

FOOTPRINT

30.75' x 42'

1,291.5 SF

LOT DESIGN -
CUL-DE-SAC

DEPTH 69' min, 115' max

FRONT YARD

SETBACK 20' min

SIDE YARD

SETBACK 6' min

REAR YARD

SETBACK 5' min

PORCHES MAY EXTEND INTO THE FRONT

YARD SETBACK, NO MORE THAN 9',

TOTAL AREA NOT TO BE MORE

THAN 60% OF HOUSE COVERAGE.

GARAGE FRONT (SINGLE CAR)

The homes in the cul-de-sac areas will be Cottage

Homes and will be built by NWGF. Located in the

north, south, and east blocks of the development,

these affordable homes will consist of a standard

of floor plan developed by NWGF and will have

single car garages  facing the street.

(
 B

Y
 O

W
N

E
R

 )

10' MIN

REAR

YARD

CUL-DE-SAC

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
B

O
U

L
E

V
A

R
D

(
 B

Y
 O

W
N

E
R

 )

BUILDING

FOOTPRINT

30.75' x 42'

1,291.5 SF

6' MIN

SIDE

YARD

10' MIN

REAR

YARD

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 346 of 351                                     Attachment # 11



60'

C L

LOCAL STREET SECTION

CURB &

GUTTER

6.5'5'1'

35'

17.5' 6.5' 5' 1'17.5'

6
0

' 
R

O
W

6
0

' 
R

O
W

8
0

' 
R

O
W

8
0

' 
R

O
W

10

M
E

D
 T

E
C

H
 P

A
R

K
P

L
A

N
N

E
D

 U
N

IT
 D

E
V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
G

R
E

A
T
 F

A
L
L
S

, 
M

T

W
OI

TH
 E

NG
IN

EE
RI

NG
,  

IN
C.

EN
GI

NE
ER

S 
& 

SU
RV

EY
OR

S
W

O
IT

HE
NG

.C
O

M
G

RE
AT

 F
AL

LS
   

   
M

IS
SO

UL
A

40
6-

76
1-

19
55

TYPICAL ROADWAY SECTION
Standard city local road design layout

will be used throughout the project. The

local roadway typical section will be used

within the 80' arterial right-of-way as well.

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 347 of 351                                     Attachment # 12



July 2018 

1 
 

 
Med Tech Park Subdivision 
Traffic Analysis 
 
Proposed Development Characteristics: A small-lot, single-family Planned Unit Development is 
proposed for subdivision and annexation upon a parcel of land lying generally north of 24th Avenue 
South, between 20th Street South and 22nd Street South.  The first phase (Phase 1) will include 18 lots 
along the full northern edge of the subdivision, along with all streets, alleys, and water mains, 
sanitary sewer mains and storm water management improvements for the entire subdivision.  Future 
phases will be developed according to the phasing schedule shown on the attached Exhibit A.  At 
full build-out, the subdivision will include 83 single-family homes. 
 
Existing Conditions: The parcels immediately to the east are scheduled to be developed as a multi-
family complex referred to as “Rockcress Commons”, which will construct 23rd Street South from 
21st Avenue South to 24th Avenue South; and, 23rd Avenue South from the extended 23rd Street 
South to (and including) a new segment of 22nd Street South between 23rd and 24th Avenues South.  
Construction is scheduled to start in late summer 2018. 
 
To the west, sub-standard gravel roadways and alleys exist within a semi-rural subdivision outside 
the incorporated City limits.  Existing unpaved roadways connecting to the proposed subdivision 
include 21st, 22nd and 23rd Avenues South. A sub-standard 20th Street South runs down the west side 
of the property, upon a recently-created easement. As the street was not a legal roadway until the 
easement was created in 2017, it has never been developed or maintained to any standard. 
 
To the north, 20th Street South connects to a paved City street, 19th Avenue South, as well as the 
unpaved City street 20th Avenue South.  20th Street South is shown as a future Collector roadway in 
the Great Falls Long Range Transportation Plan’s “Future Roadway Network” map. 
 
Finally, the recently improved major collector roadway, 24th Avenue South, abuts the proposed 
subdivision on the south.  Along with reconstruction of 24th Avenue South, a 10-foot paved 
pedestrian/bicycle path was constructed on the north side of the right-of-way, running the length of 
the property. 
 
The new trail along 24th Avenue South is the only bicycle or pedestrian facility in the area. However, 
the Rockcress Commons development will install sidewalks that connect to 23rd Street South.  The 
nearest sidewalk on the west side of the proposed subdivision is on the north side of the intersection 
of 19th Avenue South and 20th Street South. 
 
Future Improvements: Other than the streets and sidewalks to be constructed within the Rockcress 
Commons development, no roadway, bicycle or pedestrian improvements are planned in the area. 
 
Trip Generation: From the ITE Trip Generation Manual (9th edition), the average trip generation 
rate for single-family detached housing units is 9.52 trips per occupied dwelling unit on a weekday.  
For the 83 homes proposed in the subdivision, this equates to approximately 790 daily trips. 
 
Trip Distribution:  
Primary access to and from the proposed subdivision would be mainly the north/south 20th Street 
South on the west;  the north/south 23rd Street South on the east; the east/west 24th Avenue South; 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 348 of 351                                     Attachment # 13



July 2018 

2 
 

and, the east/west 21st Avenue South. Little traffic is anticipated to use the gravel roads west of the 
subdivision. 
 
Because drivers’ route decisions are based upon various factors such as direction of their destination, 
travel time, safety, and convenience (i.e., minimal turning movements, stopping/starting or other 
influences that require fluctuations in speed), drivers are expected to take one of multiple routes to 
access/exit the proposed subdivision and these routes are expected to vary from trip to trip. 
 
The trip distribution percentages for vehicles entering/exiting the proposed subdivision are 
estimated to be: 

 15% north on 20th Street South (119 vehicle trips per day) 

 15% east on 21st Avenue South (119 vehicle trips per day) 

 15% east on 23rd Avenue South (119 vehicle trips per day) 

 15% south on 22nd Street South (119 vehicle trips per day) 

 40% south on 20th Street South (316 vehicle trips per day) 

 Negligible traffic using the unpaved 20th, 21st, 22nd, and 23rd Avenues to the west 
 
Distribution Notes: 

1. Many of the trips north on 20th Street South are expected to be elementary school-related, as 
there are no direct routes to the community. If 20th Street South is ever constructed as a 
through-street northward, connecting to the segment past the universities, this roadway will 
carry more trips.  

 
2. If the gravel streets to the east are ever paved, they will attract a bit more traffic, though not 

a significant amount. 
 

3. Construction of the new roadways in the area will provide improved access to and from the 
rural neighborhood to the west. However, the number of vehicles accessing the proposed 
subdivision’s streets from the west is not expected to be significant. It is expected that 20th 
Street South will attract a small amount of trips serving properties from outside the 
subdivision. 
 

4. 23rd Avenue South and 21st Avenue South within the proposed subdivision will also attract 
some trips from both the new Rockcress Commons as well as the Talus apartments located 
to the east on 21st Avenue South. Most of the trips from these properties to the east would 
most likely be associated with Sunnyside Elementary School located to the northwest of the 
proposed subdivision.  

 
5. 24th Avenue South, as the most direct and highest-speed roadway, is expected to be the main 

travel route between the proposed subdivision and the greater community, channeling 
vehicles west to 13th Street South and east to 26th Street South. 

 
Transit and Non-motorized Travel: 
Sidewalks will be constructed along each lot frontage at the time of home construction, and will 
connect to an existing sidewalk network.  No extension of transit service to the development is 
proposed, as the area is outside of the Transit District boundary. Bicycle travel is expected to utilize 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 349 of 351                                     Attachment # 13



July 2018 

3 
 

the shared-use path along 24th Avenue South, providing direct bicycle access to the proposed 
subdivision.  
 
Analysis, Conclusions and Recommendations: 
The existing transportation network and proposed roadway layout is expected to have sufficient 
capacity to accommodate traffic generated by the proposed subdivision. The nearness of the newly 
reconstructed 24th Avenue South and the pending extension of 23rd Street South will provide easy 
access to and from the development.  Lack of paving of the streets to the west will discourage traffic 
through the existing neighborhood, and the shared use path along 24th Avenue South will allow 
bicyclists and pedestrians to safely travel to and from their homes.  However, a “gap” in paving and 
sidewalks at the northwest corner of the proposed subdivision (on 20th Street South) is a safety and 
maintenance concern, as it would be the main connection to the elementary school serving the 
neighborhood. 
 
24th Avenue South carries around 2,064 AADT (Annual Average Daily Traffic).  With the widening 
and reconstruction of 24th Avenue South to minor arterial standards, there is ample capacity on the 
roadway to accommodate additional trips from both the proposed and the adjoining Rockcress 
Commons developments. 
 
The following recommendations are based upon review of the proposed development and analysis 
of its impact upon the transportation network: 

 Paving of 20th Street South between the subdivision boundary and the paved section of 19th 
Avenue South should occur during Phase I. This should include sidewalk along the east side 
of the street to the existing sidewalk on 19th Avenue South, to provide a safe route for 
school children. 

 20th Street South should be constructed as a collector, to accommodate expected future 
traffic volumes. 

 Utility service lines must be installed prior to paving of the streets, to preserve the long-term 
integrity of the new streets.  

 Alleys must be paved, to City standards. Dry utilities in the alleys should be installed prior to 
paving of the alleys. 

 Stop signs should be installed at the avenues meeting 20th Street South and the streets 
meeting 24th Avenue South, and should be considered at other intersections in the 
neighborhood. 

 Sidewalks must be installed adjacent to any non-residential lots within the proposed 
subdivision at the time of paving of the roadways and installation of curb and gutter. 

 
  

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 350 of 351                                     Attachment # 13



July 2018 

4 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - September 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 351 of 351                                     Attachment # 13

··'··-···--

M"'•-•-- .......... 

....... ~~ 

__ ....,, 

-.... 
---

- -- •& 

-

.1 

\ 

,· 

,. 
! ·~ 
w 

.U) 
<( 
I ... 

' 
i-'." - -
[,_ 

-
I ' 
1 PHASE 2 . . ' ' .. ,...:., ..... 1 ""·· \ .... .. ..... , ' • 

·- • :,,: ·.:u ' 'f';: ~"t: !":;'.. --... . _ ... _..., ,. 
........ u ; ";?\ ,... . . . - .,___ .. 

•{- ... ,eo·t.· -•.~-r ,7 ,,• •-:. · '.J ,2 ~ , ',J ... ~ ' .. ' ..... .,, . 
.;. • :!,. ·1 .,. 1:..;- -..,.,:.,. ~ "· ---1= ~":'~ -r.:~ , ..... , -:-:: 

'- F ' 
~'"'J: 
#:;, \ ~? ,,. ' ' ' . 

~: ~ PHASE 3 : '.-,. PH4 

t 
t".::' 

Tr . ' . 
' • r.--·-', .... "!1 - ~ 

--+ 
,, 

' ' " I "- .i;,~ i I ! 

I 
.<: o. IJ J 

~~::, ( 1' 1'· ,., "' '- .. I 
r,f;, 1 ~~ ~-:-, • ~ l~~ i Ii I . 

, 

. ·-

-------------··-·- ·--
----

= 
ti . ! 

\ ~OlTAGEs I \ ··, .. \).(":";" •~ ' 
~~ , . ·1· ..... .r i2 ; •,. , ( t;,;, · 1 1 
~ \ ~~ ~:: I \ ·::::, .. I I 

• I ---· , • ,' ·1···--····-•··--•---•••-----••• . . .. . .. . . -·--·--·- ' 
I , 

-· 


	Meeting Agenda
	Minutes, September 4, 2018, City Commission Meeting
	Total Expenditures of $1,687,361 for the period of August 15, 2018 through September 5, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $1,300,669.
	Contracts List
	Change Order #1 and Final Payment - ADA Handicap Ramps 2nd Street NW, OF 1730.1
	Construction Contract Award:  Public Works Facilities Repairs - O.F. 1733
	Amendment to the Citywide 911 Emergency Ambulance Services Contract with Great Falls Emergency Services
	Resolution 10255 Public Hearing to Establish Residential and Commercial Water, Sewer, and Storm Drain Utility Service rates effective October 1, 2018
	Public Hearing - Resolution 10268 to annex a 21.10 acre tract identified as Parcel 1 on Certificate of Survey #5162, Ordinance 3180 to establish Planned Unit Development zoning, and Preliminary Plat for a Major Subdivision to create 40 lots for Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I
	Ordinance 3188, "An Ordinance Repealing and Replacing Title 10, of The Official Code of The City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining To Vehicles and Traffic".
	Resolution 10248 to Levy and Assess Properties within the Business Improvement District
	Resolution 10249 to Levy and Assess Properties within the Tourism Business Improvement District
	Resolutions 10269 and 10270, Annual Tax Levy
	Ordinance 3192, "An Ordinance Amending Title 17, Chapter 16, Article 2, Section 050 of The Official Code of The City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Pertaining to Burden of Proof".
	Ordinance 3193 - An Ordinance by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls to assign PUD Planned Unit Development zoning to the properties legally described as Lot 4B and 4C of the Amended Plat of Lot 4 of the Medical Tech Park Minor Subdivision.



